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This novel was written over the course of three years on the www.frugalsquirrels.com fiction forum. You can
monitor the progress of similar efforts and browse through comments given by readers there by creating an
account and logging in yourself.

I have been given permission to compile this document into *.pdf and *.txt files and post them on my website.
The author’s only stipulation is that I add a message to the beginning and request that any comments (good or
bad), suggestions, or corrections be sent to him at

dcrawford@email.com.

Since I am also attempting to find and correct any errors, please feel free to send me

notice as well. I can be contacted at gltweasl@giltweasel.com. Spelling or continuity errors in the document
and formatting itself will be corrected for the final “current” version.

Current version is located at:

http://www.giltweasel.com/stuff/LightsOut-Current.pdf

Thank you for reading and I'm sure the author greatly appreciates your interest.

Enjoy!

As of March 2008 the PDF file for this book has been requested and downloaded from my website well over 3
million times. I cannot give a precise number because the links to the file that are scattered among several fo-
rums on the internet have outlived the reliability of at least two of my servers and over 15 distinctly different
revisions. I am thankful to all of the readers who have emailed David and me with corrections and encourag-
ing comments. If I was going to post a list of everyone who contributed it would have to take several pages
and 'm more concerned with economizing this “final” version. I would eventually like to see a publishable
version with appendices and annotations based on some of the events and information contained within the
story. To that end I have tried to reformat the file to be more easily printed and read on paper. I believe I have
resolved all of the continuity issues and found most grammar and spelling errors. Also, I have attempted to
standardize all stylistic and discretionary questions for consistency within the manuscript itself. I was taught
to use the Oxford comma in 2nd grade and it has stuck with me ever since. I have tried, on the other hand, not
to be a grammar nazi where there are obvious gray areas of editorial concern.

As before, if you notice any glaring errors or formatting problems, please let me know. I will be attempting to
put on the finishing touches over the course of 2008 and I hope to have a truly “final” version uploaded by the
end of the year.

Thank you!
Giltweasel

gltweasl@giltweasel.com

http://www.giltweasel.com/LightsOut/
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Prologue

The old man looked at his gold Rolex. ‘Any minute now, he thought as he smiled to himself. It was all
so ironic. He was killing off his best customers and using the money they paid him to do it. Yes, he was hurt-
ing his business, but he had more money than even his grandchildren could spend in their lifetimes. All of
them, that was, except for his favorite grandson. The infidels had killed him in Afghanistan. Such an idealist,
the young man reminded the rich oilman of himself when he was younger. It was so tragic, the young sheik
was shot from afar by a cowardly sniper from the Great Satan for trying to live up to his convictions. Well
now the United States and her whore allies would pay. The radicals that his grandson had been involved with
would never be able to pull off anything like this. They had had some moments, like with the jetliners in New
York, but they were mostly talk and when they did strike, they struck at symbols. He was action. He had the
means. And, he knew what would hurt them the most. He would kill them all, and the best part was, they
would do all the killing themselves. He would just get the ball rolling.

It had been so easy. Eight nuclear tipped ballistic missiles that the former Soviet Union had reported
as destroyed. And at only five million soon to be worthless dollars apiece, they were quite a bargain. Then,
three million for a Chinese scientist to tweak them for the desired effect. Of course the scientist was smart
enough to demand his payment in gold. But that was no problem; it was pocket change to the billionaire.
The oilman already had the tankers to deliver the payload. He had just modified them so that each one had a
launch tube that would be very difficult to find, even if the idiots who imported his oil bothered to look.

The smile on the old man’s face grew bigger as the second hand swept around the dial. How long, he
wondered, until all of the westerners turned on each other once it was Lights Out?
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Chapter 1 - The Burst

“Damn it!” He exclaimed.

Mark Turner didn’t curse often, but he was pissed. It wasn't the fact that the lights went out that upset him.
They did that three or four times a year in this older industrial section of town. What bothered him was the fact that
the UPS unit hadn’t kept his computer running this time and he had lost over an hour’s worth of work. He picked up
the phone to call computer support to bring him a new UPS and dialed their number with the help of the dim glow of
the emergency lights. Nothing. He hung the phone up and then picked it up again, putting it up to his ear this time. No
dial tone could be heard.

“Crap!” He thought, “What ever happened took the phone system down too.”

Mark stepped out into the hall and some of the other accountants were already there.

“Hey, Mark.”

“Hey yourself, Jim?”

Jim Davis was Mark’s closest friend at work. No one could have guessed it by looking at them. They were
complete opposites. Jim was six foot three, 215 pounds and had super jock written all over him. Mark was barely five
foot nine, 185 pounds, and starting to go bald. Despite holding a black belt in karate and being a pretty good runner, he
looked like a computer nerd. The two of them had spent countless weekends together hunting and fishing much to the
chagrin of their wives.

“What’s the matter?” Jim asked.

“Oh, it’s just that my UPS went bad and I lost a bunch of work” Mark answered.

“That’s strange, my UPS went down too. Maybe they bought a bad lot of them. Well, hopefully we'll get to go
home early with the power out and we can worry about it tomorrow.”

“Now, Jim..” Mark said looking over the top of his reading glasses with a sadistic smile, “you know that com-
pany policy says that we have to wait 30 minutes before we leave to see if the power comes back on, and you know that
it will in 29 and a half minutes.”

“Yeah, I guess you're right.”

After five or ten minutes of discussing the upcoming football season, the guys were interrupted by Suzy Smith,
the office worry wart.

“Something is really wrong!” she said.

“No joke” Jim replied. “The power went out again.”

“No”” she answered, oblivious to the sarcasm, “It’s more than that. I went out to my car to listen to the news to
see what happened. The radio won’t work and the car won't start either. So, I pulled out my cell phone to call my hus-
band and it’s dead too.”

“Probably your car battery is dead and the power outage knocked out all the close cell sites.” Jim said.

“I don’t thinks so. The car will turn over...it just won't start, and my cell phone is D-E-A-D, dead and I charged
it up last night?”

“Let’s go take a look at your car” Mark suggested.

When they got outside Mark noticed that there wasn't a cloud in the sky and it was already starting to get
warm outside.

“Man,” said Mark, “it’s not even 10 oclock yet and it’s already hot”

“Yeah,” Jim replied with a big smile, “That’s what I like about South Texas... you never have to wonder what the
weather is going to be like in August”

When they got to Suzy’s late model Mustang, Mark asked her to pop the hood.

“Now, try and start it

Suzy turned the key and the motor turned over but would not catch.
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“See what I mean?” Suzy said mostly to Jim.

Mark reached down and pulled a plug wire loose and held it close to the engine block.

“Try it one more time, Suzy””

Suzy engaged the starter again.

“OK, Suzy, that’s enough?”

“What’s wrong with it?” she asked.

“Well, I don’t know exactly why, but you don’t have any fire”

“What do you mean?”

“You see, you only need two things for an engine to run...fuel and fire. Gas and an electrical spark to ignite it,
in other words. And, you don’t have any spark.”

“Why not?”

“I don’t know, Suze, I'm just an accountant.”

“Look at that!” Jim shouted pointing to the north.
There were four distinct columns of smoke rising into the air. Three were in the direction of the airport and one was
further to the east. One of the columns, the one that looked closest to the airport, was significantly bigger than the
other three.

“I'm thinking that Suzy is right. Something IS really wrong!” Jim exclaimed. He looked at Mark, “Are you
thinking what I'm thinking?”

“EMP?”

Jim nodded his head.

“What’s E-M-P?” Suzy asked.

“It stands for Electromagnetic Pulse.” Jim told her, “It’s a byproduct of a nuclear explosion and it knocks out
electronics in the blast area.”

“You-you-you mean we've been nuked?” Suzy stammered.

“Let’s not jump to any conclusions.” Mark advised, “We obviously haven't taken a direct nuclear hit or we
wouldn’t be standing here. Jim, go try your car and I'll try mine.”

As Jim walked toward his car, Suzy followed Mark to his Jeep.

“Well, if it’s not EMP, what else could it be? Oh, God, this is bad. I have to get home. What if we were nuked
and we just don’t know it yet? What if...”

“Suze! Calm down. We don’t know enough to even guess what’s going on and panicking is not going to help no
matter what.”

Jim tried the Jeep, but just like Suzy’s car it would turn over but not start. Jim had hoped that since it was a
1978 model and didn’t have a computer that it would be okay.

“My truck won't start either.” Jim said as he walked up.

“What do we do now?” Suzy asked.

“Let’s go back to my office and see if my portable radio will work” Mark answered.

When they got to MarK’s office he opened his bottom desk drawer and pulled out a small radio. He turned it on
and all they heard was static.

“Well at least it comes on”” Jim stated.

“Why wouldn't my car radio work?” Suzy whispered.

“If we got hit by EMP it probably burned out your car radio, but this one may have been protected some by the
building and by Mark’s metal desk. Try 1200, Mark”
Mark rolled the dial to 1200.

...Is the Emergency Alert System. Please tune to 640 AM for further instructions. .. This is 1200 AM, broadcasting on
reduced backup power... This is the Emergency Alert System. Please tune to 640 AM for further instructions. .. This is
1200 AM, broadcast...
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Mark spun the dial to 640.

...five minutes. This is the Emergency Alert System. Please stand by for an important announcement in five minutes.
This is the Emergency Al ..

Mark turned the volume down.

“I guess we'll know what’s going on in five minutes.” He said.

As word got around that Mark had a working radio, his office began to fill up with people asking all kinds of
questions and telling everyone what they thought was going on. When his office could hold no one else, Mark sug-
gested that they all go to the break room. People kept pouring into the break room. After five minutes, Mark turned the
radio up.

...... Ladies and Gentlemen, the Vice-president of the United States.

My fellow Americans, as you know; 27 minutes ago the power went out. Also affected were most of the communication
and transportation systems in the continental United States, most of Canada, and parts of Mexico. This seems to the
effect of a large EMP burst. We are not sure at this time of the source of the burst and we do not know if was accidental,
an act of God, or a malicious attack. We do know that the burst is NOT the result of a nuclear attack. I repeat, we have
NOT been attacked with nuclear weapons. As many of you know; the President and most of his cabinet were en route
to his ranch in Téxas on Air Force One. Since the burst, we have not had any contact with them.

“Oh my God....the President is dead!” Someone in the room cried.
“SHHHHHHH!!” Many replied.

/am assuming command until we can contact the President. I am activating all of the reserve units of the military unti/
we can determine the cause and source of the EMP burst. [ am asking all of the state Governors to call up the National
Guard to help local authorities until we can get the power back on. All off-duty police, fire, and emergency person-

nel should report for duty as soon as possible. I am asking all other Americans to remain calm and to try to get to

your homes. Most of your vehicles will not run until the electronics have been replaced. If you have a running vehicle,
Pplease help your friends and nejghbors to get to their families. FEMA will be setting up shelters in the major cities for
those of you that can not get home. You can get information on these shelters here on these EAS stations, as it becomes
available. Our first priority Is to get the power, communications, and transportation systems back on line as quickly

as possible. However it may take a day or two to get the power back in the major cities and the rural areas may take a
little longer than that. Please stay in your homes and follow the instructions of your local authorities. I am imposing a
curfew for all Americans effective at dark.

This is an emergency that we Americans have not had to face before. I know that if we all pull together just as we on
September 11th, we will emerge from this stronger and wiser as a nation. We will keep you as updated as possible.
Thank you for your cooperation and God bless.

This is 640 AM. We will be back in a moment with a list of FEMA shelters for the city.

Mark turned the radio off.

“What are we going to do now?” someone yelled.

“Everybody just simmer down, now.” Todd Rosenburg, the company CEO, instructed as he stepped up on a
chair so everyone could hear him, “I would like to meet with all the department heads in the conference room in five
minutes. Is Tom Baskins here?”

“Right here, Todd”
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“Good, Tom will you go see how many of the delivery trucks will run and then come to the conference room?”

“On my way.”

“OK...everybody else, please go out and see if your car will start. If it will, come back and give your name and
where you live to Mark Turner here. If it won't, don’t panic, we'll find a way to get you home. Come back to the break
room or go wait in your office and just relax...everything is going to be okay.”

Almost everyone made a mass exit toward the parking lot.

“Mark, can you get a pad and write down where everyone lives whose car will run?”

“Sure thing”

“And do you think you can dig up a map of the city?”

“I have one in the Jeep”

“Great. Just try to keep everyone calm, okay?”

“Okay, Todd. Just one question.”

“Yes”

“Who’s supposed to keep me calm?”

Todd smiled at the joke and then turned and walked toward the conference room.

Chapter 2 - The Exodus

Mark was worried about his family. As he walked to his Jeep to get the map he thought about how he was go-
ing to get them home. Jessica, his wife, and David, his 13-year-old were at the junior high. He knew that there was no
way that Jess’s brand new SUV was going to start. Samantha was at the high school where she was a junior. The junior
high was only about four miles from the house, but the high school was a lot further than that. Mark wasn’t really sure,
but he figured it was between 12 and 15 miles...a long way to walk. Not nearly as long as the 32 miles he might have to
walk just to get home. It was comforting to him to know that they should be safe at the schools until he could get there.
As he was walking back into the building he heard a car start. It was Joe BabcocKk’s old Volkswagen Rabbit. He walked
over to the car.

“Hey, Joe. Looks like you're going to be Mr. Popular”

“Yeah. Lucky me! I bought this Diesel Rabbit for the gas mileage, not because it was EMP proof. Look, Mark, I
have got to get home. I think I'm just going to bug out right now”

“Joe, I don’t know how smart that would be. Everyone is going to hate you if you just leave and they won't
forget it when the power comes back on either. Why don’t you stay long enough to hear what Mr. Rosenburg and the
department heads come up with. Probably they just want you to give a ride to the people that live closest to you. If not
and you don't like the plan, you can leave then”

“I guess you're right. This whole thing is just kind of freaking me out. I'm sorry”

“Don’t worry about it. We all feel the same way and if my Jeep would start I would think about leaving too.
Now, what part of town do you live in?”

When Mark got back to the break room, there were three people waiting for him. Two had diesel pickups and
one had a diesel Cadillac. Mark was encouraged that perhaps the old diesel pickup that he had at home would run. He
unfolded the map on one of the tables and started marking where the diesel owners lived. As he finished, Todd and the
department heads came into the room.

“What have you got, Mark?” Todd asked.

“We have four running cars and trucks, all diesels by the way. Two live on the north side, one out just west of
town, and the last one lives about 25 miles south of town, close to Poteet. What did you all come up with?”

“Well, best count we have 168 people to get home. Two of the bobtails will run, the older ones, the new one
won't start, and the oldest semi tractor will run too. They're all diesels, too. Tom thinks that he can get the old gasoline
flatbed truck that maintenance uses to run if he can get a new coil and points and something else, I can’t remember
what he called it”
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“Condenser?”

“Yeah, that’s it, since it doesn’t have a computer he thinks that that is all it will take. Anyway, maintenance is
going to build some benches to put in the back of the bobtails and well use them like busses, they can hold about 40
people each. While they work on one, Tom is going to take the other to see if he can find the parts for the flatbed. The
semi is kind of worthless though because all the trailers we own have metal floors and there is no way to secure any
benches down. Anyway, we are going to get everyone out into the parking lot and figure out where they need to go”

“Todd, my old Jeep probably just needs the same parts that the flatbed does. Do you think that Tom could pick
them up for me while he’s out?”

“That’s a good idea. We'll see if anyone else has an older car that he thinks we can get started as well. You seem
to know a little about cars, maybe you can help him?”

“Well, I was kind of a gear head back in high school, but that was all older stuft. I don’t know much about these
new cars.”

“It’s not the new ones we’re worried about though, is it?”

“I guess you're right”

The two men walked out into the parking lot. While they were waiting for everyone to arrive, they listened to
Mark’s radio again. The station was restating what the Vice President had said and giving the locations of the FEMA
shelters. Mark thought to himself that things would have to be really bad for him to go to one of those shelters. When it
looked like most everyone was there, Todd stepped up into the bed of his brand new pickup. It struck Mark as strange
that just the week before he had been envious of the truck. Now it was serving the most useful purpose that it could...
as a platform. Just as he was beginning to speak, Billy Newman, the head of maintenance, ran up and whispered some-
thing to Todd, then ran back off toward the maintenance building.

“OK, this is where were at. We have two bobtails that will run and maintenance is going to build some benches
for the back and we can get you all home in them. It won't be comfortable, but it’s better than walking. Tom and Mark
are going to try to get some of the older vehicles fixed. If your car doesn’t have a computer, come see one of them and
they will try to help you. We have four personal vehicles that will run and were asking them to carpool some of you
home that live close to them. We have several hundred gallons each of gas and diesel for our trucks, and anyone that
helps take people home is welcome to some if they need it. Billy just told me that the gasoline generator is working and
that he can get the bobtails ready pretty quickly now that they can use the power tools. Tom was going to take one of
the bobtails to get parts for the cars, but now that Billy can work on both of them quickly, would one of you that has a
running car be willing to take Tom and Mark to the auto parts place?”

“I can take them?” One of the men with a diesel pickup said.

“Thanks, that will help a lot. OK, Mark has a map of the city and Billy should be bringing us a board to tack
it up on in a minute. Suzy has got some pushpins and I would like everyone to come up in an orderly fashion and put
a pushpin where you live. If you don't live in town then put a pin on the edge in the direction that you live. I know
that you are all nervous to get home, and we are going to try to work it out so that we can get the most people home
the quickest. If you live close and want to walk, that is fine. Human Resources has list of everyone and if you decide to
walk, please let them know so that we make sure we don’t lose anyone. Make sure you drink plenty of water before you
leave. It’s going to be really hot today. I wish we had some canteens or something so you could carry some with you.”

“Excuse me, Todd”” It was James Houseman from marketing. “We have some of those promotional sports bot-
tles left over from year before last”

“Really? How many?”

“At least a couple of hundred, I would guess.”

“That’s great. OK, if youre going to walk home see James and get a sports bottle for water before you leave.”
Todd paused. “Here comes Billy with the board for the map. So, if you have an older car, see Tom and Mark. If you
want to walk home see James and Mary from HR. Everyone else get a pushpin from Suzy and put it on the map. As
soon as we get the bobtails ready we'll get started. Any questions?”

A woman in the back raised her hand.
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“Yes?”

“My mother lives with me and she is on an electric oxygen pump. She can’t go more than an hour or two with-
out it, so I really need to get home to check on her”

“Good point. Does anyone else need to get home quick?”

About 40 hands went up.

“OK, I know we are all anxious, but does anyone else have a life or death situation?”

No one said anything.

“Where do you live, Sarah?”

Mark was always impressed by Todd’s ability to remember everyone’s name.

“Over close to the medical center”

“Mark, do any of the running car owners live close to there?”

“No.” Mark answered thinking fast, “But I bet that Joe Babcock would be willing to take her”

“How about it Joe?” Todd asked.

“Sure thing!” Joe responded giving Mark a grateful look. “Cindy and Bill live close to me and I can take them
too.

“OK, then you guys check out with HR and get going. Joe, do you need any gas?”

“You mean diesel. But, no I don’t need any. I filled up last night.”

“OK, everyone else know what to do, right?”

About 30 people came over to where Tom and Mark were standing.

Mark asked the first one, “What kind of car do you have?”

“An ’88 Taurus.”

“OK, everyone listen.” Tom began. “If you have a car with fuel injection we can’t help you. Everything since
about ‘85 has fuel injection and that means they have a computer. If you're not sure we can go look and tell for sure.”

Almost two thirds of the group left with a dejected look. After looking at several of the other cars and eliminat-
ing them for having a computer they were left with four cars plus the Jeep and flatbed that they thought might be easily
salvageable. Dave Thomson, the man that volunteered to take Tom and Mark, started up his truck and they all loaded
up. On the way, Mark thought about his family and hoped they were OK. A look at the other men told him that they
were thinking similar thoughts. It was hard for Mark to think that it was only about an hour ago that the lights had
gone off. They listened to the radio and heard mostly the same news as before, except that the mayor had come on and
asked all the police and fire personnel to report for duty. He said that the new city busses that were propane powered to
reduce pollution were not working, but that about 20% of the fleet were still the old diesel engine busses and that they
were still working. He said that they were working on a revised route schedule and would be passing it on as soon as it
was ready.

When they got to the parts store, it was an independent store much to Mark’s amazement. He thought that
they had all been run out of business by the big chain stores. Tom knew the owner and they had no problem getting
the parts they needed and charging it to the company. Mark noticed that he had 9-volt batteries for his little radio and
bought some. Dave figured it would be good idea to get a new serpentine belt for his truck and when he didn’t have
quite enough cash the owner just put it on an invoice and said that Dave could come back and pay for it when the lights
came back on. On the way back, Tom commented on how he could have saved the company a little money by buying at
one of the big chains, but that he and Todd thought it was a good idea to support local businesses when they could.

“It sure paid oft for us right now” He added. “Just try getting a favor like that from Manny, Moe, and Jack! If
the computer is down those people don’t even know how to make change”

When they got back to work, they decided that the flatbed was the priority and in less than fifteen minutes they
had it running. There was a cheer from a group of onlookers that had come over to watch. Mark really wanted to work
on the Jeep next, but he knew that everyone else was just as anxious as he was. He told Tom that he could wait until last
and Tom thanked him and asked him to drive the flatbed over to Billy. After he delivered the truck he walked over to
Todd and the map.

“Hey, Mark. Howd it go?”
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“We got the flatbed running and Billy is working on the benches for it right now. He said it should be done in
about 20 minutes and it will hold about 18 or 20 people. How’s it going over here?”

“Good, so far we had 34 people leave on foot, 21 left in the 3 private vehicles and we have 77 out in the bob-
tails. That leaves us with 36 to still get home. As soon as the flat bed is ready we have a group of 17 to take to the north-
east side. How about the Jeep, is it running?”

“Not yet, I told Tom that we could work on the others first. How are you going to get home?”

“Well, three others and I don’t live that far from Dave so I'm going to ask him to take us as soon as every one
else is gone”

“That’s good. Well, I better get back to helping Tom.

“OK, but make sure you come see me before you go home.”

“Sure thing” Mark answered wondering what Todd might want.

As he was walking over to where Tom was working on the next car, Jim caught up with him.

“Hey, old bestest buddy in the whole wild world, if you get the Jeep running will you give me ride home?”

“Well of course, under one condition.”

“What’s that?”

“If we don’t get it running, you help ME push it home.” Mark said with a sadistic smile.

“OK, deal, smartass!”

“Well since it’s my Jeep, I think it'’s ‘Mr. Smartass’ to you.”

Mark and Jim went over and helped Tom with the older cars. As they got them running, the owners would
thank them and then drive over to see Todd, pick up some passengers and head out. Tom couldn’t get the third car to
start even with the new parts. They worked on it for a while but finally had to give up. The dejected owner went to see
Todd about getting a ride with someone else. When they got the new parts installed in the Jeep, Mark was nervous as
he turned the key. When the CJ caught and fired his apprehension faded away. The three men climbed into the Jeep
and headed over to see Todd.

“Good you got it running. You wouldn't want to trade even for a brand new truck would you?”

“Todd, last week I would have said yes in a New York minute, but today I think I'll just stick with my old rust
bucket”

“I don’t blame you. Do you need some gas?”

“Well, I don’t really NEED it, but I would like to top off the tank, if that’s OK”

“Sure, why don’t you let Jim and Tom do that while we talk for a minute.”

Tom nodded at Todd and he and Jim drove the Jeep over to the fuel storage tanks.

“Mark, I want you to come to a meeting here at the office in the morning”

“What is the meeting about, Todd?” Mark asked wondering what could be so important to meet about when
the power would probably still be off.

“You'll see in the morning, say 7:30. And, bring Jim with you”

“OK, Todd. Whatever you say. Hey, where’s Dave? Isn't he supposed to take you home?”

“I sent him on with the others. They were getting pretty antsy. Tom is going to take the flatbed and drop me oft
before he goes home” About then Jim drove back up in the Jeep. He got out and headed around to the passenger side.

“All gassed up and ready to go., he told Mark.

“OK?” Todd said before Mark could reply. “You guys get going and I'll see you both in the morning”

“OK, Bye” The two friends replied in unison.

They climbed into the Jeep, Mark put it gear and they headed out the gate.

Chapter 3 - The Trip Home

Mark glanced at his watch. It said 1:52. It had been almost four and a half hours since the burst. The first hour
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had drug by, but the last three and a half had gone pretty quickly.

“What do you think the meeting is going to be about?” Jim asked.

“I don’t know. Maybe about how much the power is going to affect the bottom line? But, if it’s that, I don't
know why it couldn’t wait until the power comes back on. I just can’t imagine what could be so important.” Mark an-
swered.

“Hey, does the radio work?”

Mark reached over and turned on the Jeep’s radio. He spun the dial, but there was nothing.

“Looks like it’s fried” He informed Jim. “Turn on the portable”

...confirmation that Air Force One has been found in the mountains of eastern Tennessee. There is no word yet on
survivors. Rescue crews are in route and we will update you as soon as we have any more information.

It appears that most commercial airliners were disabled by the burst and there are hundreds of crashes being reported.
One plane inbound to Las Vegas was able to crash land on a highway in the desert. The passengers and crew sustained
mostly minor injuries, but all are expected to recover fully: Most of the aircraft that were airborne at the time of the
burst were not so lucky. The dead, both from the air and on the ground, are expected to number in the tens of thou-
sands. The devastation around the airports of major cities is indescribable.

The city of Cincinnati is awash in riots. The local police have been overwhelmed and deaths are reported to be upwards
of 600 and rising. Between the fires from the jet crashes and those set by the rioters, the Cincinnati Fire Department
has said that they can only hope to keep the fires from spreading to other parts of the city. The Governor of Ohio has
called up the National Guard to put down the rioters and to protect the firefighters with ‘whatever means necessary.”
Riots have also been reported in Detroit and Seattle.

The Vice President has scheduled a press conference for 6 PM eastern time.
This is the CBS radjo network. We now return you to your local programming.
This is KSTX in San Antonio, Téxas. News 640 AM.

The six airliner crashes inside the city limits are pushing the San Antonio Fire Department to their limits. The three on
the airport property are being allowed to burn and all effort is being put into the fires in residential areas. The drop in
water pressure caused by the loss of electricity is seriously hampering their efforts. The Fire Marshall is asking that all
municipal and volunteer fire departments from area communities that have tanker trucks that they could send to help
to please do so. Please report to the temporary fire command center at the corner of Broadway and Loop 410.

City Power and Light has stated that it may take several days to restore power throughout the city. A spokesperson
stated that the first priority is medical centers and nursing homes that have no back up power generators.

All local hospitals are closed to non-life threatening injuries and illnesses. They have been inundated by the burns and
injuries sustained by victims of the airliner crashes.

FEMA shelters are now open at most area high schools. Generators are being delivered to Judson, Madison, and South
San high schools. Only the infirm and elderly who are at risk from the sever summer heat are being admitted at these
locations.

The sunset curfew put into place by the Vice President will go into effect in the San Antonio area at 8:11 PM. SAPD has
stated that anyone found on the streets after that time without a legitimate emergency will be arrested.
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This is KSTX, 640 AM. We'll be right back after this break.

Do you suffer from the embarrassing effects of dandruff? If so, then we invite you try our new and improved...

Jim turned off the radio.

“Damn! It’s like the end of the world and they’re playing commercials?” Jim stated.

Mark ignored the rhetorical question. “Jim, if we had rioting here, like they are in Cincinnati, what would you
do?”

“Well right now I would just get behind you. After all, you're a bona fide Billy Bob bad ass black belt. Plus you
have your concealed handgun license, and I know you have at least one hand cannon in this Jeep.” Jim said with a big
evil grin.

“No, I'm serious. What would you do?”

“Well, if we could get out of town, we would go stay with Lisa’s parents in Uvalde. If not, then I would batten
down the hatches and hope for the best”

“Wouldn't you be scared?”

“Yes and no”

“How’s that?”

“Well, ‘yes’ because I would be scared for Lisa and the girls if things went really bad. And ‘no’ because have you
forgotten who lives next door?”

“You mean Gunny?”

“Yeah, before a mob could even get to me they would have to get past Gunny and that old Garand of his, and
he loves the girls like they were his own grandchildren” Jim paused. “The other thing I might do is to stay at your place.
I doubt that rioters would get that far out.”

“I agree. Why don’t you guys come out and stay until this blows over? Besides, it would save me from having to
come pick you up in the morning.”

“When we get to the house, I'll ask Lisa.”

When the guys pulled into Jim’s driveway Gunnery Sergeant Marcus T. Pickwell, USMC (Retired) was in his
front yard nailing a piece of plywood over a window.

“Hey, Gunny, what are you doing?” Jim called.

Gunny limped over to where Jim and Mark were standing as fast as his one artificial and other soon to be
replaced knees would allow.

“I don’t trust these worthless sumbitches ‘round here to not go riotin’ like they’re doing in Cinci” Gunny be-
gan. “I'm boardin’ up the winders on the front of my place in case they come by and start some shit. ‘Course I'm leaving
a slot big enough at the bottom for Bertha. If'n I was you Jimbo, I'd do the same.”

“Well, I hope it doesn’t come to that, Gunny. Do you remember my friend Mark, from work?”

“The karate man, right?” Gunny said as he stuck out his hand. “That’s a pretty nice horseless carriage you got
there, Karate man. Use to drive one kinda like it in Korea. Howd you get it to run? My old piece of shit truck won’t
start.”

“We replaced all the ignition parts” Mark told him. “That’s probably all yours needs too.”

“Well, we better get in and check on the girls, Gunny.” Jim stated.

“I been keepin’ an eye on ‘em for ya, Jimbo.”

“Thanks, Gunny, I knew you would and it made me feel better knowing that you were next door”

“What’s neighbors fer?” Gunny replied as Jim and Mark went in through the garage door.

“Who's Bertha?” Mark asked.

“That’s Gunny’s 12 gauge riot gun. You wouldn’t want to get into an argument with her!” Jim informed him.
“Man he sure likes your Jeep. The only thing of mine that he ever admired that much, except for the girls, is my M1A.”

When Jim’s girls saw him they both ran up and each hugged a leg. Lindsey and Lacy were 8 year old twins. Lisa
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was right behind them and grabbed Jim around the waist. She was almost as tall as Mark, thin with long blond hair and
probably could have been a model if she hadn’t married her college’s star tight end. Before the twins were born she had
worked as an operating room RN. When their first child turned out to be two children, she and Jim decided that she
should stay at home to take care of them. Now she was home schooling them as well.

“Oh, Honey”” She said. “I was so worried about you. I'm so glad youre home. Nothing’s working in the house
and even my car won't start. It’s so hot in the house, but I was afraid to leave the front door open. Gunny told me that
the President is dead and that all the planes crashed and that they were already rioting in some of the big cities and ...”

“It's OK, baby.” Jim said soothingly. “I'm here now and nothing bad is going to happen to us”

“I know, but it’s just that this is the worst thing I have ever heard of...Oh, hi Mark”

“Hi, Lisa”

“Baby, Mark wanted to know if we would like to go spend a night or two at his place?”

“I don’t know...I mean I'm sure that he and Jessica have enough to worry about without having guests, and I
don’t know if it’s a good idea to leave the house”

“T'll tell you what” Mark told her. “It’s probably too hot to sleep in our house too. How about we pull your pop-
up camper over to our place and you can set it up in the back. We're probably going to spend the night in our camper
too. If the generator still works we can use it to run the AC long enough to cool off the campers like we did at Big Bend.
At least every body will get some sleep that way.”

“Well, if you're sure it’s no trouble. I know I would probably feel better out in the country than in town.”

“OK, here’s the plan then. You guys pack all the stuff you want to bring over. Put the most important stuff in
the camper. I have got to run to pick up my crew from their schools and then I'll be back. If I can get the truck started,
I'll bring that and you’ll have room for a lot of stuff. If not, I'll bring the Jeep back and what you get in the camper will
be about all there’s room for. It's almost 2:30 now. I'll be back by, let’s say, 4:00.”

“That sounds great, Mark.” Lisa said. “Thank you so much.”

“No problem. After all...what’s neighbors fer?” Mark said as he winked at Jim.

On his way home, Mark figured he should probably stop by the house to see if Jess or the kids had perhaps
gotten a ride home. As he was driving through one of the poorer sections of town, he noticed a lot of people eyeing the
Jeep. He reached under the seat, unzipped a case, and put his Colt Lightweight Commander under his thigh. If some-
one wanted to car jack him, he figured the .45 was way better than the little .32 he always carried in his back pocket. As
he drove he thought about what they might need. They had their own well and could run the pump with the gasoline
generator. Mark was pretty sure that it would work since it was similar to the one that Billy had been using at work.

He could fill up the camper tanks, and he had a couple of plastic 55 gallon barrels that he hauled water down to the
deer lease in. That would take care of water. Food might be a problem. Jess was notoriously bad about waiting until
there was nothing to eat before she went to the store. He knew that the camper had some food in it, but he wasn’t sure
how much was there or how old it might be. There was most of the deer he had killed last year still in the freezer. They
would have to do something with that anyway with the power out. Before he knew it, he was turning into his subdi-
vision. It was just over the Wilson county line and consisted of about 60 one to five acre lots, about 50 of which had
homes on them. Silver Hills was surrounded by mostly medium size farms. Mark’s four acres were toward the back,
and when he pulled into the driveway, David was shooting a basketball at the goal over the garage.

“Hey, Dad!” David shouted as he ran toward the Jeep.

“How did you get home?” Mark asked.

“Mom and I walked. It only took us about an hour”

“What about your sister?”

“The school bus brought her”

“That’s great!” Mark said as he headed toward the front door.

As he walked through the door, he noticed how hot the house was. It wasn't as hot as Jim’s had been since all the doors
and windows were open.

“God, I'm glad you're home.” Jess said as she came around the corner. She was 5°3” with red hair and green eyes
and was just starting to get the tiniest bit plump. Mark remembered that the first time he saw her he thought she was
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the prettiest girl he had ever seen. She was still pretty, and had an Irish temper that Mark had learned to avoid when
possible. She had studied to become a marine biologist, but when there was no work in her field to be had, she had
gone back to school to get her teaching certificate and now taught 8th grade biology and 7th grade earth science.

“I'm so glad you're all home. I figured I would have to pick you all up”

“No. David and I walked home before it got too hot, and Samantha got a ride home on the bus.”

“Are all of the school busses running?”

“No. Only about half. Just the old ones. Remember that school bond that got voted down last year and how
mad I was about it?”

“Yeah”

“Well, some of that money was going to replace the old busses. Now I'm kind of glad it didn’t pass”

“Do you know everything that’s going on?”

“Pretty much I think. We heard some at school and when I got home I went out to your shed and got your
short-wave radio. I had to get batteries out of some of the flashlights to get it to work, but I've been listening off and on
for the last two hours.”

“The short-wave works?” Mark asked surprised.

“Well, duh...It was in a metal cabinet in a metal building”

“Good maybe everything in the shed was protected.”

“Maybe. But we don’t have any water. We only flushed a couple of times and washed our hands and then the
pressure dropped to nothing.”

“Well, duh, Miss Science Wiz, the pressure tank is only seven gallons”

“That’s stupid. It should be a lot bigger”

“Well it’s not. But I think I can use the generator to run the pump””

“Good. Can you do it now”

“No. I have to go pick up Jim and Lisa and I want to see if the truck will run. We are going to bring their
camper over and I figured that we could stay in ours until the lights come back on too. By the way, when was the last
time you went to the store?”

“Day before yesterday, but I didn’t buy that much.”

“Is there enough to get us by for three or four days”

“Yes, I think so”

“OK, I'm going out to check the truck and the camper out”

“Oh, before you go, Jon Olsen, you know that ex-marine that runs by the house early every morning, came
over earlier and said that he and some of the other men were going to have a meeting at his house after the Vice Presi-
dent’s speech. He said they were going to talk about putting some kind of guard at the entrance of the subdivision. He
said he really wanted you to come”

“Not another meeting!” Mark explained to Jess that he and Jim had to go into work tomorrow for a meeting.
He agreed with her that it seemed silly, but since his boss insisted, what could he do. “Besides,” he added, “I've kind of
gotten used to eating on a regular basis, and having a paycheck insures that I can keep doing it”

“Well, I guess you got me on that one mister. What do you think about what Mr. Olsen wants to do?”

“I think that all of these old Marines are just a little more gung-ho than I like and they need to cool their jets
just a little bit”

“I agree”

With that, Mark saluted his commander, smartly turned around and headed out the back door. He walked
along the side of the shed and climbed up into the 1991 Ford F-350. He turned the key on and the “Wait to Start’ light
came on. Mark waited...and waited...and waited. When it wouldn’t go off he figured that the glow plug controller must
have gone bad. He started to crank the truck and after several minutes of cranking it started and ran rough until the
engine warmed up. He figured that if it was that hard to start when it was almost 100 degrees out side, it would be next
to impossible at 75 or less. He let the truck run and went back to the camper that sat in its bed. The Lance slide in truck
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camper, or cabover camper as they were sometimes called, had served the Turner crew very well for a lot of years. He
checked the water pump, the hot water heater, the propane refrigerator, and the built in stereo. Everything seemed to
work. Probably the fact that the camper was sided with aluminum had helped to protect the components. When he
tried to fire the built in propane powered generator, it wouldn’t even turn over. Mark was disappointed, but he still had
the old gasoline generator in the shed and he was pretty sure that it would work. It was noisier than the Onan in the
camper, but it had a 220-volt outlet that he would need for the well. The camper was equipped with four electric jacks
to lift it off of the truck. However, when Mark tried them, only the two that were closest to the shed would work.

“Damn.” He said to himself. That was the second time he had cursed that day. That meant that he owed his ‘bad
word box’ two dollars. He couldn’t remember the last time he had a two dollar day.

Mark put the two working jacks down and then retrieved the emergency hand crank for the other two. After
cranking for about 20 minutes, and now dripping with sweat he had the two broken jacks lowered to the ground. He
loosened the turnbuckles that attached the camper to the truck and with several turns of the jacks on one side and just
a push of the buttons on the other he was able to drive the truck out from under the camper. The camper would need
to be lowered closer to the ground for them to stay in it, but that could be done later. He would have to hurry if he was
to get back to Jim’s house by four. He put the tailgate back on the truck and drove it up next to the house. He turned the
truck off as it was thoroughly warmed up now and should start easy for the next half-hour or so. He ran into the house
changed into a clean shirt and headed back outside. He got his .45 out of the Jeep and put it into the truck. 3:22 is what
his watch said. He would get to Jimss a little before 4:00, he figured, but since he had the truck there would be a lot to
load, knowing Lisa, and he could help Jim so that they could get back to the house before the VP’s speech.

When he got to Jim and Lisas, Jim already had the pop-up pulled out of the garage and loaded. Lisa had the
things she wanted to bring stacked up in the garage where the camper had been. There wasn't as much as Mark had
expected. Mark backed up to the camper and he and Jim hooked it up. Then they loaded up the back of the truck.

“Do you think I should bring some of my guns?” Jim asked.

“If it makes you feel better” Mark said, thinking it was unnecessary.

“I'm just going to bring the Python and a shotgun for just in case.”

“That sounds pretty good, I guess.”

Jim went over to his gun safe that Lisa had made him put in the garage because it was too ugly to go in the
house. He opened it and withdrew the .357 and the 12 gauge. He took out a holster for the revolver and some ammo
and put everything except the shotgun into a small duffel bag. The shotgun he put in a soft case and then he placed all
of this behind the back seat of the four-door pick-up.

About that time Gunny came hobbling over. “Gonna get the hell out of Dodge, huh?”

“We're going out to stay with Mark until the power comes back on.” Jim explained.

“Gonna be gone a while, then. I'll keep an eye on your place”

“Thanks, Gunny. But we should just be gone a day or two and then the power will be back on”

“You really believe what you hear on the radio? Them slimy sumbiches in Washington are lying through their
teeth. No way the lights are coming back on in less than a month, or maybe forever!” Gunny protested.

“Well, I hope you're wrong this time, Gunny. But thanks for watching the house. If you need anything, you
know where the key is. We got to get going. Mark wants to be back home for the Vice President’s press conference.”

Mark pulled the truck and camper into the street, then he helped Jim push Lisa’s car into the garage. Jim locked
the house then they all loaded up into the truck and took off with the girls waving at Gunny standing out in his front
yard. Mark drove a different route home this time. It was a little further this way, but it missed the bad section that he
had driven through before. When they got back to the house, Jim set up his camper and Mark lowered his with some
help from David. They almost had the campers ready when it was 5:00 and time for the press conference. They headed
up to the deck where Jess had a cold pitcher of lemonade and Mark turned on the radio and sank into one of the lawn
chairs.

Chapter 4 - The First Night
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When the Vice President came on he really had no news to report. He confirmed that Air Force One had been
found, but there was still no definite word on the President. Condolences were offered to those who had lost loved ones
and promises of help were made to those who had lost their homes. He reported that the experts were still working on
the source of the burst. He encouraged everyone to work with FEMA and their local authorities and he rebuked those
who would start riots and make a bad situation worse. He assured everyone that most of the power would be back on
in two or three days at the most. He promised that he would be speaking to the nation every day at this time until the
situation was back to normal. Afterwards, one of the network’s ‘talking heads’ came on to micro-analyze what the VP
had said.

“I guess we don’t need to listen to this.” Mark said as he turned off the radio. “Jim, would you walk down to this
meeting with me? Maybe your experiences in dealing with Gunny will come in handy”

The two men walked down the road and discussed what they had to get done before dark. Finishing setting up
the campers was the first priority and then pumping some water was next. The women could fix dinner as soon as the
campers were set up. Mark wanted to plug the deep freeze into the generator for a while too. Everything else could wait
until tomorrow. When they got to Jon Olsen’s house there were 15 or 20 men already there. Mark knew some of them
and he introduced Jim to them. They were all cordial but none were very friendly. By the time Jon called the meeting to
order, 5 or 6 more had shown up.

“I think the first thing we need to do is to put a 24 hour guard at the entrance to the subdivision. I think it
should be two men at a time for four hour shifts” Jon began. “That means we need twelve men each day. If we have 24
volunteers then everyone will just have to do one shift every other day. We can alternate the shifts every week between
day and night. That way nobody gets stuck on a bad shift forever”

Mark was watching most of the other men nodding their heads. “Excuse me, Jon, but even if we needed
guards, why would we need them for weeks? The power is going to be back on in two or three days, or maybe a little
longer than that out here, but it isn’t going to be weeks.”

“I know that’s what they are saying, Mark, but we don't think it’s true. Tell them Scott.”

“OK?” He said to Jon, and then turned to face everyone. “My name is Scott Simmons. Most of you don’t know
me, but those that do, know that I work for City Power and Light. I do repair work and today we were not too far from
our office when the burst hit. We walked back to the office and they told us to get home however we could and that
they would announce on the radio when they needed us to come back in”

“I don’t see what that proves.” Mark stated flatly.

“Let me finish. You see we heard that they also sent home the crews from the two coal powered generating
plants. Supposedly the whole plants and most of the spare parts were fried by the burst. Some of those parts have a six
month lead time when things are normal. The factory that makes our control circuits supplies almost all of them for
most of North America. The factory runs on electricity which they don’'t have. Even if they get it running on backup
power, no telling how long it is going to take to make replacements for all of the generating stations in just the major
cities. It's kind of funny if you think about it... They can’t make electricity without the circuit boards and they can't
make the circuit boards without electricity.”

“The good news is that our auxiliary LP powered generators were not online that early in the day. They only
kick them in during the peak demand which is usually between 3 and 6 in the afternoon when it’s the hottest. They said
that they might be able to get them running again in a few days, BUT...they can only supply about 10 to 15 percent of
the city’s normal power demand, AND they run on propane that has to be pumped by, you guessed it...electric pumps.
Then there is the job of replacing every transformer in town. I work for CPL and I don’t even know how many there
are, but they have to number in the tens of thousands. We have crews to replace 150 to maybe 200 in a 24 hour period.
The worst thunder storm we have had in the last ten years took out just over 300 transformers. Think about it, some-
times after a bad storm some areas don’t have power for two days and that’s just to replace 200 or 300 transformers.
Now we have to replace maybe one hundred thousand? All of the spares we had were on the ground outside behind
the offices. One of the engineers told me that the EMP cooked them even though they weren’t connected to the grid.
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You see the burst charged them and they grounded out through the ground. Now I don’t know how long it is going to
take the transformer companies to produce enough transformers to replace every one in America, but you can bet your
sweet ass that it’s going to take more than three days!”

“Did the engineers tell you all of that?” Mark asked.

“Parts of it. The rest is just common sense.” Scott replied defensively.

“OK, let’s assume that Scott is right and it’s going to be months or maybe even years before we have power
again. What do you think that placing two guards at the entry is going to accomplish?” Mark argued.

“They can make sure that nobody gets in here if they don’t live here or have business here” Someone in the
group answered.

“How are they going to do that...shoot anybody they don't know?”

“They could shoot out their tires” A man Mark didn’t recognize said, and by doing so walked right into his
trap.

“Well first of all, about 99% of the cars aren’t running and even if some kids did come out here in a running car
what are you going to do after you shoot out their tires? Now they’re stuck here. Who's going to put them up and feed
them? Or were you going to reinstitute the firing squad?”

No one answered for a long moment.

“Well, some of us would just feel better having a couple of guys with rifles at the entrance just to, if nothing
else, discourage the riff-raft” Jon said.

“Is it even legal for us to put armed guards on the road?” Ted Petrie, a professor at San Antonio College, asked.

“It’s a private road. We can do whatever we damn well please!” the tire shooter said with a smug look.

“If they were having riots in San Antonio, then I might agree to the guards. But until then, I think it’s silly””
Mark really wanted to use the word ‘stupid’ but thought better of it. He looked around and only saw three or four peo-
ple nodding in agreement with him.

“Let’s take a vote. I think that only subdivision homeowners should vote though.” Jon said looking at Jim. “Any-
one disagree?” No one said anything.

“All those that think we should post some guards and would be willing to volunteer, raise your hand.

Almost all the hands went up. “Looks like the ayes have it. If it’s OK with you guys I'll make the schedule for
the first week?”

Everyone who voted yes nodded their head.

“OK, then, I think that’s enough for now. If there’s nothing else?”

“Jon, can I say one more thing?” Mark asked.

“Who could stop you?” Jon said, rolling his eyes.

Mark ignored the sarcasm. “I may disagree about the guards, but we are still all neighbors. Jim and I are going
home and hooking up a gasoline generator to my well. If any of you need water, just bring down something to put it in.
Heck, if you don’t have anything to put it in, just come down and we’ll figure out how to get it back to your place”

All of the men that had scowled so hard at him just a moment ago now looked at him like he was their best
friend.

“Thanks, Mark” Jon said. “I know we all appreciate that”

The two friends had hardly gotten home when Scott showed up with a red wagon that had two five gallon
buckets on it. He also had some electrical tools and offered to help wire up the pump. Scott said that they could pull
the 220-volt receptacle off of the generator and wire it direct to the pump, but Mark told him that he wanted to be able
to easily move the generator around. Scott asked him if he had any 220 plugs around. Mark didn’t and the only one
he knew of was on the clothes dryer. After making him promise 15 times to buy a new plug as soon as possible, Jess
reluctantly agreed to let them cut the plug off of the dryer. Ten minutes later the plug was spliced onto the pump and
when Mark pulled the starter cord the second time the generator roared to life. They let it warm up for a moment and
then plugged in the pump. The pressure gauge began to rise, and Mark felt the same way he had when the Jeep started.
By this time there were almost 35 people at Mark’s house with everything from empty 2 liter coke bottles to a huge
wheelbarrow with a visqueen liner in it. Everyone thanked Mark profusely and some even offered to pay. Mark thanked
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them for the offer, but declined saying that it was only the neighborly thing to do. After a while, when some were show-
ing up for their third or fourth trip and others who had just gotten the word were showing up for the first time, Mark
put Samantha and David in charge of the hose with strict orders not to accept any money. Then he went to the back to
finish setting the camper up.

When he got to the back, Jim’s pop-up was all set up, and Jim was standing next to Mark’s charcoal barbeque
pit cooking burgers.

“Man, that smells good” Mark stated, realizing he had not eaten anything since breakfast.

“They do, don’t they” Jim said. “Listen, on the water, Jess and Lisa filled up both bathtubs, I estimated they hold
at least 100 gallons each, and I filled your two 55 gallon drums and those three 5 gallon water jugs you have. I also filled
up my camper tank, it holds 25 gallons, and I got the keys from Jess and filled your freshwater tank too. I figured your
tank was at least as big as mine and that should give us at least 375 gallons.”

“That sounds like a lot, but I bet it won't last long. Thankfully it won't have to since we can pump as much as we
need” Mark stated as he stared at the fire. He then leveled the camper, opened all the windows and vents, and turned
on the refrigerator and the hot water heater. The camper ready, he helped Jim finish the burgers.

When the burgers were done, all of the water borrowers had gotten what they needed, and the two families
sat down at the picnic table on the deck to eat. Mark said grace, and asked for the Lord to protect them and give them
wisdom in the midst of this crisis. Jess had only bought one package of buns, which was usually more than enough for
four, so anyone who ate a second burger had to eat it on plain white bread. When Mark and Jim were on their second
burger, and David was on his third, a small older lady came around the corner of the house with an empty half-gallon
milk jug in her hand.

“Excuse me, but are you the ones giving away the water?”

“Yes ma'am.” Mark said as he stood up.

“Could I bother you for some?”

“It’s no bother. But don’t you need more than just a half of a gallon?”

“I could use more, but this was the only clean container I had” She explained.

Mark walked over to the woman. “Hi, my name is Mark Turner”

“Hello, I'm Abigail Petersen.” She said as she extended her hand to Mark.

“It’s nice to meet you.” Mark said as he shook her hand. “I have several 5 gallon jugs that are already full. Would
you like to borrow one?”

“I would never be able to carry that much.” The woman who looked to be around 70 answered.

“Mrs. Petersen, that is why God put teenagers on the earth, just so we adults don’t have to carry the heavy
stuft”

“David!” Mark called.

“Yes, Dad” David answered with his mouth half full of hamburger.

“Go to the shed and get the water jug with the spigot on it and take it over to Mrs. Petersen’s house.”

“Yes sir!” The boy answered swallowing the last bite of his burger and running toward the shed.

“He doesn’t have to do that” Mrs. Petersen objected.

“Mrs. Petersen, the boy just ate about a half of a cow. Youre doing him a favor by letting him get some exer-
cise!

A moment later David appeared with a wagon with the water jug in it. Mrs. Petersen thanked Mark and she
and David started out to her house. In just a few minutes David was back with a ‘Risk’ board game in the wagon.

“Where did you get that?” His mother asked.

“Mrs. Petersen gave it to me. She said that she used to play it with her grandchildren, but that they were all
grown up now.” David said.

“I thought I told you not to take anything for the water” Mark chastised.

“You said not to take any money.”

“Is that what I said?”
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“It is, Dad” Samantha came to the defense of her brother, which was something that did not happen often.

“Well, OK then, but I think you should consider it a loan, not a gift”

“OK, Dad. Man, you should have seen the den in her house. It was full of animal heads. Most were from Africa,
but she had some of the biggest whitetail deer that you have ever seen. She told me that her husband was a big time
hunter, but he died about two years ago. Her house was so cool”

“I'm glad you like it, because you are probably going to be hauling water over there on a regular basis until the
power comes back on” Mark told his son.

Mark looked at his watch and it said 8:07. The curfew took effect in four minutes. Mark and Jim moved the
generator to where they could plug both campers into it. It was a 4000 watt model that was pretty quiet. They cranked
it up, turned on the A/C units in the RVs, and then ran a 100’ extension cord from it to the deep freeze. On their sum-
mer trips to Big Bend National Park they had discovered that if you ran the A/C for about two hours once the sun went
down to cool off the inside of the camper, it would not be miserably hot when you went to sleep. Mark also figured that
two or three hours for the deep freeze would keep everything frozen for a while. Jess, with Lisa’s help, moved as much
of the contents of the refrigerator in the house to the ones in the campers, but there were some things that would not
fit. Mark got his 100 quart Igloo ice chest and put 4 of his ‘ice bottles’ in it. He had found that if he took a 3 liter plastic
coke bottle and filled it full of water and then put it in the freezer that it would freeze at colder than 32 degrees. The
pressure caused by the expanding water would lower the freezing point. He wasn't sure how cold they actually got, but
he had found on his fishing trips to the coast that they would last a long time. He then placed the remainder of the food
from the refrigerator in the ice chest.

With all of the work that had to be done finished and all of the children occupied, the four adults sat down at
the picnic table and discussed the events of the day. They spoke mostly of what Scott Simmons had told the men. Jess
and Lisa felt that, although Scott was nice fellow, he was just a repairman at the power company and he didn’t know
what he was talking about. After all, why would the Vice President lie about how long it was going to take to restore
the power? They wondered what the meeting with Todd was about for a while and then the discussion drifted to how
it must have been to have lived before there was electricity. After what seemed like a short while, Mark looked at his
watch again. It now read 10:33. Mark announced that he was going to take a quick shower in the camper and go to bed.
Jim stated that he was going to do the same. The women decided to talk a while longer and said that they would round
up the kids and come to bed in a little while and that they would shut off the generator before they did. Before he
headed to the camper, Mark went into his bedroom and with a flashlight found the black box on his dresser. He pulled
two dollar bills out of his wallet and put them in the box. After his shower, Mark wound up and set the alarm clock that
stayed in the camper and climbed up into the bed. The last thing he remembered thinking was that so much had hap-
pened in the last fourteen hours.

Chapter 5 - The Big Meeting

When the alarm went off at 6:00 it startled Mark out of a deep sleep. He reached for the alarm, but could not
find it. It took him a moment to remember that he was in the camper. He found the alarm clock, turned it off, and
looked at his watch. He was calculating if he could get a few more minutes of sleep when Jess rolled over.

“What time is it?” She asked.

“Six oclock, go back to sleep.”

“OK She rolled back over and pulled the sheet up around her neck.

Mark remembered that last night he had figured that he better get up at 6 if he was to make Todd’s meeting at
7:30. He usually gave himself 45 minutes to make the normally 35 minute trip to work, but with all of the stalled cars it
might take an hour to get there. Most of the cars had been pushed to the side of the road, but there were a few that were
still in the roads. He pulled on a clean pair of jeans and a polo shirt, put on his socks and shoes, then headed over to
Jim’s camper to see if his friend was awake yet. There was a light on in the camper.

“Jim” Mark whispered.
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“Be right out” He heard Jim whisper back. A moment later the door opened and Jim stepped out of the pop-
up. He was dressed much the same way that Mark was.

“Which vehicle are we going to take?” He asked.

“Let’s try to get the truck started, I would rather take it, but if it won't start pretty quick we'll take the Jeep.”
Mark answered.

They walked over to the truck and Mark cranked on it for five minutes or so with no luck. He was ready to
give up when Jim asked if he had any starting fluid. Jim remembered hearing an old truck driver talking about using
ether to start semis before they had glow plugs. Mark found an old can of starting fluid in the shed and gave it to Jim.
When he engaged the starter, Jim sprayed the fluid into the air cleaner intake. The truck started almost immediately,
but ran roughly for the first couple of minutes. While they were waiting for the engine to warm up, Mark got two metal
and three plastic jerry cans out of the shed and put them in the back of the truck. He hoped that Todd would let him
borrow some gas for the generator. When the idle smoothed out, both men climbed in and Mark eased the truck into
gear and slowly let his foot off of the clutch. When they approached the entrance to Silver Hills, it was just getting light
enough to make out the two armed guards. Mark stopped the truck and Manuel Hernandez stepped up to the win-
dow. Mark didn’t know the other man, but he recognized him from the meeting at Jon’s house and from the water line.
Manuel was holding an old Winchester .30-30 and it looked like the other man had a short barreled Mossberg shotgun.

“Good morning, Manny.” Mark said. “Everything go OK last night?”

“Good morning to you, gentlemen.” Manny replied. “No problems so far. Where are you fellows off to so
early?”

“Our boss told us to come in to work today” Mark paused. “Hey, will you do me a favor?”

“Sure”

“I don’t know how long we are going to be gone, but will you tell the guards to expect us back. I wouldn’t want
to get MY tires shot out.” He said with a wink.

“No problem. We'll keep an eye out for you” Manny promised. “Listen.” He was whispering now. “The chickens
have been laying pretty good. I usually give the extra eggs away at work, but since I won’t be going in for a while, Rosa
and I want you all to have them”

“Thanks, Manny. We'll come get them when we get home. That is very kind of you.”

“It was very kind of you to give all of us water, especially when you disagreed with us”

“It was the right thing to do and you would have done the same.” Mark said humbly.

“Maybe. But I don't think that some people would have.”

“Perhaps not” Mark patted Manny on the hand as he eased the truck forward and onto the road.

The two men again discussed what could be so important that Todd would have them come in for. They came
to the conclusion that Todd probably wanted to know how much money the company could spare to help its employees
since they would be missing at least three or four days work. The company was always very generous to its workers,
especially during hard times.

They didn't see another car until they were well into town. Even then it was only a couple of cars and a few of
the city busses. At least on the major roads, someone must have moved all of the cars that had not been pushed to the
side. They were making better time than they thought they would. Jim commented that they were lucky that the burst
had not come at the peak traffic time.

“Think about the west coast” He told Mark. “The burst hit them at about 7:30. The way their highway system is
always packed, they will never be able to get all the cars to the side”

When they pulled up to the gate at work, Tom was there and opened it. Mark pulled the truck through and
Tom closed and locked the gate. He then climbed into the bed of the big Ford and patted on the roof to signal that he
was ready to go. Mark parked in front of the main office building and the three men got out of the truck and headed to
the conference room. Todd was already in there and they all took seats, Jim and Mark on one side and Todd and Tom
across from them.

“Good morning. You both have probably been wondering why I wanted you here today.” Todd started.
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Both Jim and Mark nodded their heads.

“First off, how are you and your families doing so far?”

“Pretty good.” Jim answered first. “Mark pulled my pop-up camper over to his place and Lisa and the girls and
I stayed over there last night.”

“You’re not on city water are you, Mark?”

Mark shook his head.

“What was it like with no power and no water?”

The two friends looked at each other and grinned sheepishly.

“What, did I miss something?”

“I have a gasoline generator that we use for camping and at the deer lease. One of the neighbors helped us wire
up the pump on my well, so we could plug it in to the generator. Almost the whole neighborhood came over and got
water last night. Then we plugged our campers up and ran the A/Cs long enough so that we could sleep comfortably”

Todd and Tom looked at each other. Mark couldn't tell if the look they were giving each other was one of
amazement or humor; or, perhaps it was a little of both.

“Tell me guys,” Todd turned his attention back to across the table. “What would you do if the power was off for
several months to a year?”

“Why are you asking that?” Mark questioned. “You're the third person in 24 hours to suggest to us that the
lights aren’t going to be back on in a few days. Do you really know something or are you just speculating?”

“For now let’s just play ‘what if’, OK?”

“OK? It was Jim who spoke this time. “The first things to worry about would be water, food, and shelter”

“That’s a good start. Let’s take those one at a time.” Todd said. “It looks like you guys have water covered as long
as you have gas for the generator. What about food?”

“We probably only have enough at our house for the eight of us for another week at most. We would need to
buy some. And, if you were talking about closer to the year, I would try to put in a garden and raise some livestock like
chickens and goats, I guess.” Mark stated.

“Probably we have enough food at my house for another two weeks or maybe three” Jim added. “Since Lisa
doesn’t work she buys a lot of stuff in bulk to save money and if something goes on sale she buys a lot of it. We would
have to haul it over to Mark’s, though. Lisa knows quite a bit about gardening and small livestock since she grew up in
the country”

“Then for shelter” Mark took back over. “We obviously have our houses. But they are not meant to be lived in
without power. Even with all the doors and windows open it was really hot in our house yesterday afternoon. If you
had an old house that was built before they had central air and heat, you could get by pretty well. We would probably
stay in our RVs. At least we would until it cooled oft enough to stay in the house.”

“That all sounds pretty good.” Todd noted. “What else would you be concerned about?”

Mark answered first. “The next thing I would be worried about would be medical care and then the education
of my children and our personal safety”

“I would be worried about our families and friends.” Jim added. “Lisa is already worried about her parents...
What is the point to all of these questions, Todd?”

“What do you all know about the founder and chairman of the board of our company?” Todd asked.

“You mean Mr. Davis?”

Todd nodded his head.

“They say he’s crazy as a loon. Kind of a modern day Howard Hughes.” Jim answered.

“Crazy like a fox, maybe. That would be closer to the truth” Tom spoke for the first time since the meeting
started.

“You see, Mr. Davis has been concerned for some time that something might happen to disrupt our way of life.
He bought a big ranch down where they built Choke Canyon Reservoir” Todd explained. “He has about 2500 acres
right on the upper portion of the lake. It is good farm land and is game rich. The lake is one of the better fishing lakes
in the state”
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“We've fished and duck hunted on Choke. In fact our deer lease is not too far from there.” Jim offered.

“We know.” Tom continued. “We have a group of people, 19 families right now, that have been hand selected to
move down there in case of, shall we say, a worst case scenario. We have very reliable information that the power can
not be totally restored in less than 18 to 24 months. In that amount of time who knows what is going to happen. We
know for sure that there will be more riots like they have had up north. It would be silly to think that when people can’t
get food and water they won't go ballistic. We expect full scale rioting in every major city in the United States in the
next two to three weeks.”

“So you are a group of those crazy survivalists?” Tact had never been one of Jim’s strong suits.

“Well, I don’t think we're crazy, especially if what we think is going to happen comes to pass. But, yes. I guess
you could say that we are survivalists.”

“Even if you're right about the power, what does that have to do with us?” Mark asked.

“I think in a few days we’ll all know if I'm right or not” Todd started. “But to answer your question, we have
been watching the two of you for quite some time. You both have qualities and skills that we are looking for. We prob-
ably would have been talking to you anyway in the next 6 to 8 months and trying to slowly incorporate you both into
the group, but the lights going out has forced us to accelerate our plans.”

“What do you mean you’ve been watching us?” Mark was slightly indignant.

“Exactly what it sounds like.” Todd explained not the least bit apologetic. “We know a lot about you and your
wives. We are very selective about who we bring into the group. We don’t want any surprises, so we research our pro-
spective members thoroughly”

“I don’t like the fact that you have been spying on us, but what is it that makes you think you want us in your
‘group’?”

“You both have outdoors skills. You know how to hunt and fish and we don't have anyone that has real skills
in those areas. Mark, we were impressed by the fact that you're a black belt and teach a karate class. We want the whole
group to learn karate for both fitness and defense. Your wife is a school teacher and we have a lot of children who are
going to need educating. Jim, we know that you are an accomplished marksman. You shoot long range rifle matches
and you almost always come in first, second, or third in those pistol matches you go to...what do you call them?” Todd
asked Tom.

“IDPA” Tom informed him.

“Yeah, that’s it” Todd continued. “We want someone who can teach our people to shoot. Plus your wife is a real
treasure trove of skills. She has skill with livestock, knows how to home school, and is an RN. We have a doctor in the
group, but we could really use a nurse, especially one who has experience in the operating room. We know you both go
to protestant churches regularly, and that you are both fairly conservative politically. Your family values fit in with our
philosophy and you would be welcomed members to our group.”

“So why would WE want to join your group?” Jim inquired.

“Well we are totally set up logistically. We have enough food stored for everyone for three full years. Plus we
have a tractor and seed to plant and grow our own food. We have cattle, chickens, and rabbits. We have a good well and
a diesel generator for the pump with enough fuel to last 10 years. We have running vehicles and gas. We not only have
a doctor, but we have medical supplies and a good supply of medicine. Each family has their own cabin to live in that is
set up for no or little power like you were talking about, Mark. The location is very remote and secure. Just in case, we
have weapons and security measures for the possibility of someone attacking us. We have the means to make it through
almost any crisis. Your families would be fed, sheltered, and protected with us. It is an ideal situation to be in if ‘the shit
hits the fan”

“It sounds like you've thought of everything.” Jim said.

“We've tried to” Todd responded. “And Mr. Davis has spared no expense to make sure that we have everything
we might need”

“You mentioned that we fit in with your philosophy. Can you tell us exactly what your philosophy is?” Mark
asked.
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“We are conservative and believe in the constitution. We want to protect and maintain the ideas that created
this great nation. That is the belief in God, hard work, and the right to life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness. I'm
starting to sound a little corny. Basically, we are all protestant, we...”

“Excuse me Todd, you're protestant?” Mark asked in disbelief.

“Yes”

“I always thought you were Jewish.”

“The Rosenberg threw you, huh?” Todd smiled. “My great-grandfather was a Jew from Russia. He came to
America in 1896 and converted to Christianity. I go to a Baptist church. In fact that is were I first met Mr. Davis.”

“I'm sorry, I just assumed...” Mark started to apologize.

“That’s OK, you're not the first to make that assumption, and you probably won't be the last. Anyway, back to
our philosophy. We believe that charity is the church’s job, not the government’s. We believe that if a man wants to eat,
he has to work. That the destruction of the family unit has become the downfall of our nation. Mr. Davis feels that a
national tragedy just might bring our country back to our core values and morality”

“Well, I think that Mark and I agree with all of that, right buddy?” Jim stated.

“Yes, I agree. So what is next?”

“We want you and your families to come out and see the ranch whenever you would like. It’s best if you can
stay two or three days. Here is a map of how to get there. We think that once you see it, it will be easy to decide. But,
no matter what you decide, we want you and your families to be OK. With the power out, the ATMs won't work, and
no one is going to take a check or credit card. Cash is king, at least until everyone figures out that it's worthless. We are
advancing each of you your next $10,000 of salary in cash. Also we are going to give you your Christmas bonus now.
It is $2,000 face value in pre 65 silver coin. Yesterday morning it was worth about $7,000. Today, who knows? Use the
cash until people won't take it any more, then use the silver”

“I don’t know what to say, Todd.” Mark said with his mouth half open.

“Me either. I'm speechless” Stammered Jim.

“Just say ‘thank you” Todd said with a big smile as he handed each man a briefcase.

“Thank you.” They both said in unison.

“Is there anything else that we could do for you?” Todd asked.

“I was wondering if I could fill up my truck with diesel and take some gasoline for my generator?” Mark asked
back.

“Take all you need. Tom and I are moving our families down to the ranch this afternoon and we are not com-
ing back until this all blows over”

“Shoot! I was hoping to try and fix my truck and get it out of here in the next day or two.” Jim said.

“Here, take my keys to the gate and to the fuel tanks” Tom offered. “That way you can get your truck whenever
you want and get fuel whenever you need it. At least until the riots start. I wouldn’t get caught in town once that hap-
pens.”

“Thanks.”

“Anything else?” Todd asked.

“I don’t think so. I don’t know how to thank you guys.”

“Well, we hope you do it by joining us at the ranch, but if not, you can thank us by making it through this
mess.” Tom answered.

“Just two more things” Todd was talking this time as everyone was shaking hands. “First, when you come out
to visit, tie this yellow bandana on the antenna of your truck. That way, we’ll know it’s you. Second, and this maybe the
tough one, the offer to join with us and stay at the ranch is only for you and your wives and children. No relatives or
friends. We just don’t have the resources to take in everyone.”

“We understand. We'll talk it over with the girls and then I'm sure we’ll be out to visit.” Mark promised.

Chapter 6 - Favors
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The two men were still in shock as they walked back to the truck.

“What do we do now?” Mark asked Jim.

“Let’s talk about it while we're getting the fuel.” Jim suggested.

Mark drove the truck over to the fuel tanks and he filled up the truck while Jim worked on the jerry cans. They
thanked Todd and Tom again when the pair stopped in the flatbed to say goodbye and remind the friends to lock the
gate. Jim really wanted to see if he could get his truck fixed so they decided to go back to the auto parts store to try to
get the parts. Mark was a little uncomfortable with having over $30,000 dollars in the truck. He pulled the Colt out
from under the seat, pulled out his shirttail and put the .45 in an inside the waist band holster on his right hip. He also
snapped a double magazine holder onto his belt on his left side. They each took $500 out of their briefcases and then
placed them behind the back seat of the truck where they couldn’t be seen. After they locked the gate, Mark drove to
the parts store that he had gone to yesterday with Tom. They noticed that most of the small Mom and Pop stores were
open and that most of the big chain stores were closed. When they got to the auto parts, Mark thought it best for him
to stay in the truck with the money. He gave Jim a list of parts he wanted for the truck and the Jeep. Jim was in the
store for 20 or 25 minutes. When he came out the shop owner was helping him carry out some bags. The owner shook
Mark’s hand and then handed him a small box.

“This is the glow plug controller for you truck. But, I don’t know if the burst got to it or not. If you’ll just sign
this invoice for it, you can pay me later or bring it back if it'’s no good.” He told Mark.

“Let me pay for it” Mark argued. “I don’t like to owe people.”

“No. I insist.” The parts man said. “I owe Tom and your company so much. If it wasn’t for you all, I might not
still be in business. Your friend paid me for everything else, but I won't take money for a part that might not be good”

“OK. Thank you.” Mark said as he signed the invoice.

“No problem. You fellas just come back if you need anything else”

Jim climbed back into the truck and thanked the parts man one more time. They backed out of the parking
lot and headed back to Jim’s truck. Jim explained to Mark that the parts store owner had told him that the computer
on the ‘91 Chevy only controlled the spark advance and the fuel mixture for the throttle body. He said that Chevrolet
had been making basically the same small block motor since 1955 and that lots of the parts were interchangeable over
most of those years. He sold Jim an aftermarket performance intake manifold and carburetor, and a vacuum advanced
distributor with everything he needed to convert his truck. He told Jim how to install the parts and told him that it
should only take two or three hours. Jim figured that the money for the new parts was wasted if the lights came back
on, but if they didn’t it was a good investment. It was worth the gamble to make sure he had transportation, he figured.
When they got back to work, they pushed Jim’s truck into the shade, pulled the toolbox out of Mark’s truck, and started
to work.

“Do you think that Todd is right about the power?” Mark asked.

“I don’t know. Like you said, he’s the third one to say it. Gunny is kind of a conspiracy theorist, so I take eve-
rything he tells me about that kind of stuff with a big grain of salt. But, sometimes, he is right. I thought that Scott was
a complete nut job at first, but he seemed pretty normal when he came over and helped us last night. And, now Todd
tells us the same thing. We know he is intelligent, and I have never known him to lie. Heck, I can’t ever remember him
being wrong since I've known him.” Jim rambled.

“What do you think so far about joining their group?”

“Well, Lisa is not going to like it if we can’t have her parents out. But we have to at least go see the ranch.”

“I agree...Hand me that 9/16 inch socket...The way I see it, we have three ways to go. First, if Todd is wrong,
then we just go back to the way things were. But, if he’s right, then we could go to the ranch or we could stay right
where we are. You and Lisa are welcome to stay with us as long as you like, and it wouldn’t be a problem for her parents
to stay either. Heck, if we have to start raising our own food, I'd kill to have her dad’s expertise”

“Thanks, Mark, if the power stays off I don’t think we would want to be in town. I agree with Todd and Tom on
that at least. If things go back to normal or if we go stay at the ranch we don’t really need anything. But if things go bad
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and we stay at your place what do we need?”

“Man, a ton of stuff. Fuel, gardening stuff, canned food, building materials, fencing, animals, ammo, medical
supplies...I can’t even imagine what all we might need.”

“When we get back to your house we can sit down with the girls and make a list. Theyre about twice as smart
as we are anyway. Jim grinned.

“They’re not that smart!” Mark retorted. “After all, they married us!”

After about two and a half hours, Jim tried the starter. The Chevy Z71seemed like it wanted to start, but just
wouldn’t quite fire. Mark got a wrench and loosened the new distributor. He turned it counter clockwise about 20 de-
grees.

“Try it now Jim.”

Jim hit the starter and the engine roared to life.

“Hot damn! It runs. What did you do?”

“I just retarded the timing a little. It sounds like the idle circuit on the carb needs adjusting. Hand me a regular
screwdriver.

Mark made a few adjustments to the Holly carburetor and the new distributor, then he replaced the air cleaner.
Jim pulled the truck over to the gas storage tank and they topped off his tank. Mark was glad that they had gotten Jim’s
truck running. It was lifted and had 35 inch tires on it. It would go almost anywhere the Jeep would, but unlike the
Jeep had the capacity to carry a decent load. It had a winch on the front that was useful for many chores. It would make
their lives easier to have two running trucks.

“What now?” Mark asked.

“Feel like working on another truck? I bought the parts for Gunny’s truck. Plus, I think I want to get the rest of
my guns and clean out our cupboard.”

“OK. His should be easy to fix next to this one. While I'm working on it, you can get what you want out of the
house”

Jim led the way, and he went through the bad neighborhood. Mark wished that he had gone the long way. He
wondered if Jim remembered how much money he had in the truck. He reached down and made sure the Colt was in
a position where he could get to it with the seat belt on. Mark noticed that there were more people out and in larger
groups than the last time he drove through here. He was nervous, but no one tried anything, although they received
a hard look from more than one of the groups. When they got to Jim’s house, Jim backed his truck up into the drive-
way and then Mark backed in right beside him. He figured that Jim might have more than he could put into his truck.
About the time that Mark got out of his truck, Gunny came limping out of his house.

“Hey, Jimbo!” He called. “You got that sissy wagon running, huh?”

“Yeah, Gunny”” Jim answered. “Mark helped me fix it

“Ah, Karate man. You good with a wrench too?”

“You better hope so, Gunny. I bought some parts for your old truck and Mark is going to try to fix it for you.”

“Really?”

“Yes, Gunny.” Mark said as he pulled his toolbox out of the bed of his truck. “Should we get started before it
gets too hot?”

“What ever you say, Karate Man.”

Mark worked on the old Dodge while Gunny paced and fretted like an expectant father. He wasn't as fast as
Tom, but it was still only 30 minutes before the engine was resurrected. Then Mark took one of the Jerry cans and
topped off Gunny’s tank. Gunny was so happy he shook Mark’s hand until Mark was sure his shoulder joint was worn
out. Then Mark went to see how far along Jim was. When he got into the house, Jim just about had all of the canned
and dry food in boxes. Mark started carrying them out to the trucks. When all of the food was loaded, Jim opened his
safe and put all of his long guns in cases and placed them in the extended cab of his truck. Then he got all of the pistols
and revolvers, they were already in cases or boxes, and stacked them on top of the rifles and shotguns. His ammunition
was all in metal GI ammo cans that were clearly labeled as to what was in them. These he placed in the bed of Mark’s
truck as the back of his was quite full. When they were getting into the trucks, Gunny came out of his house with a box
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of his own.

“Here are some books that you guys might find useful” Gunny offered.

Mark looked down in the box and saw a series of books called “Foxfire” and a large book named “Back to
Basics” Mark didn’t really want to take the books, but his Grandfather had taught him many years ago that people don’t
offer anything that they don’t want you to take. “So,” His Grandpa used to say. “if they offer, you take it and say “Thank
you’

“Thank you, Gunny” Mark said as he took the box. “Listen, yesterday you said that the lights won’t be back on
for quite a while. Why do you think that?”

“That EMP is some bad shit.” Gunny started. “We studied it in the Marines. It cooks everything electrical un-
less it’s protected. All of our trucks and radios and stuft had special parts that were supposed to be EMP proof...I just
don't see how there’s any way they can fix all of the damage that the burst did in two or three days. It'll take months, at
least.

“But, the Vice President is saying that they can do it” Jim argued.

“Jimbo, you have a tendency to hear what you want to hear. You remember the President that said “Read my
lips...”? I believed that President, but that didn’t make what he said true, now did it? Well this guy we got now used to
work for that President. I don’t blame him though, and he’s a damn sight better than the donkey boys we almost ended
up with if that mess in Florida had gone the other way. You see, he has to say they can fix everything. Otherwise the
whole shebang will come crashing down. When people figure out that the power isn’t coming back on, they’re going
to go feral and do what ever they have to do to get by. Most of the people around here think that bread, milk, and eggs
come from the grocery store. They have no idea how or the means to provide for themselves. When the grocery store
shelves are empty and the faucets won't run the shit is really gonna hit the fan. The VP is just trying to postpone the
inevitable, I suppose. Now you boys get going, you hear”

“Gunny, here’s a map to my house. If things get bad, you come on out, OK”

Gunny took the map, looked at it, and then handed it back to Mark.

“I appreciate that, Karate Man. But you boys don’'t need a broken down old geezer like me to worry about. Now
scoot before I put a boot up your ass.” With that he turned and walked back into his house.

Chapter 7 - Dilemmas

The two men just stared at the door that slammed behind Gunny.

“That’s the closest I've ever seen him get to being emotional” Jim said in disbelief. “Oh well, first time for a lot
of things in the last two days. What do you want to do now, Bud?”

“I need to run by the hardware store and I wouldn’t mind getting a little more ammo from the gun store, but
with all this stuff in the trucks, I'm as nervous as a long tailed cat in a room full of rocking chairs. Let’s go home. I'll feel
a lot better when all this money is in the safe”

“Hey, do you think we should move my safe over to your house?”

“If the power isn't back in a couple of days, then that is probably a good idea. We'll need a couple of more guys
to help put that heavy bastard in the truck though?” There goes another dollar, Mark thought.

Mark had started putting money in his ‘bad word box’ when he became a brown belt. It was part of his training
to become a black belt. His instructor required him to put a quarter in the box for every curse word. It had really made
a difference in his language. When he got his black belt, he was no longer required to do it, but he did and even decided
to up the charge to a dollar. After all, Mark believed, being a black belt is about discipline and self control. And, anyone
with a black belt should be able to control his own mouth.

The two men got into their trucks and slowly worked their way out of the subdivision. When the two trucks
approached the entrance to ‘Silver Hills™ it was almost 2:00. Mark slowed his truck way down and stuck his hand out of
the window to wave at the guards. They waved back and he made the turn into the subdivision. Jon and Scott were on
duty.
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“Hey, Jon, Scott.”

Jon was holding a pre-ban Colt AR-15 and Scott had a scoped bolt-action hunting rifle slung over his shoulder.
Jon also had a Beretta pistol in a military holster on his side.

“Hey, Mark.” Jon returned. “Are you going to pump water again today?”

“I can. What time do you think is good for everyone?”

“We are going to get together at my house after the Vice President’s speech again today, just to discuss what’s
going on. How about right after that, just like last night?” Jon suggested.

“Sounds good”

Mark and Jim drove to the back of the subdivision and parked their trucks behind the house. The girls were on
the deck, under the awning. Lisa was going over some math with the twins, and Jess was reading a book. Samantha and
David were nowhere to be seen.

“Jim, you got your truck running?” Lisa shouted as he got out.

“Yes, maam.” He answered.

“How did the meeting go?” Jess asked as the men stepped onto the deck with the brief cases.

“Pretty good.” Mark said with a big smile. “Wouldn’t you say that it went pretty good, Jim?”

“As a matter of fact, I would” Jim grinned.

“You guys look like the cat that just swallowed the canary” Lisa accused. “What’s up?”

“Oh, just this!” Jim stated as both men set the briefcases down and opened them for the women to see.

Both of the women’s jaws fell open.

“Where did you get that?” Jess stammered.

“Todd gave it to us.” Mark answered as Jess reached out to touch the money;, like she wanted to make sure it
was real. “It is an advance on our salaries and an early Christmas bonus.”

“How much is it?” Lisa inquired.

“It’s $10,000 in cash.” Jim answered.

“What’s with the rolls of coins?” Jess wanted to know.

“That’s the Christmas bonus.” Mark responded to even more quizzical looks on the girls’ faces. “You see these
are all pre 65 dimes, quarters, and half dollars. That means that they are 90% silver. They have real value and will be
worth something if and when the paper money is not”

“But, I don’t understand. Why would Todd give you all of this when you’ll be back at work next week?”

“He doesn’t think we will be back at work anytime soon.” Mark said.

Lisa shooed the twins away to go play and the adults all sat down at the picnic table. Mark and Jim explained
to the women what they had been told at the meeting and about the offer to stay at the ranch with the group. Jess was a
little skeptical, but Lisa didn’t like it at all. The four of them debated the pros and cons of Todd’s offer. After discussing
it for a while, they agreed that they owed it to themselves to at least go look at the group’s setup at the ranch. But, the
women wanted to wait and see if the power would come back on first. They decided that if the lights weren’t back on
in the city by day after tomorrow at noon, they would make their visit. They also discussed what to do with the money
in case they decided to stay where they were. Lisa suggested that they each work on a list independently and then that
they compare them later.

“After all, it’s not like we need to spend it if the lights come on.” She said.

Every one agreed that this was a reasonable course of action. The men carried the cases into the den and Mark
opened his large gun safe. They put the cases on the top shelf of the safe and then carried in Jim’s guns. The handguns
all fit easily but there wasn’t room for all of the long guns. The men decided to remove some of the less expensive .22’s
and shotguns and place them in a locking closet. They then carried all of the food into the house and put all of Jim’s
ammo in the shed next to Mark’s. Mark put Gunny’s box of books in a cabinet in the shed. While they were doing that,
Jess was warming up some soup and making grilled cheese sandwiches for the men. The gas stove would at least work
until the propane ran out. While Mark and Jim were eating, the women sat down with them, and they all discussed
what might happen if the power didn’t come back on pretty soon. They all agreed that things could get quite bad.
When it came to food, most people could get by for a week or maybe two without having to buy much. Some couldn’t,
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but even they could probably borrow enough for a while. And then there was water. As soon as there wasn't enough
water pressure in town for drinking and flushing, people would panic. None of them knew how or for how long the
City Water Board could keep pressure if the lights didn’t come back on. The women thought that maybe it would be a
good idea to go ahead and buy some food if the grocery store was open. After all, they needed to eat whether they had
lights or not. So, the food wouldn’t go to waste. And, it might be too late if they waited.

While they were talking about groceries, Mark remembered that Manny had promised him some eggs. He
asked where David was so that he could send him over to the Hernandez house, but was told that he was over at his
friend’s house. Samantha, he learned, was in the camper listening to her CD’s on a walkman and generally feeling sorry
for herself. Mark called her out of the camper to see what was wrong. It seemed that no one could be expected to live
without a telephone, especially a 16-year-old. Mark instructed her that people had lived for centuries without tele-
phones and that they walked to other people’s houses to visit. Just so that she could see how it was done, she could walk
over to the Hernandez’s and get the eggs that Manny had offered.

“But, Dad. Do I hafta?” She whined.

“Yes. You hafta!” Mark whined back in a sarcastic voice. “Now get going and just be glad he’s not giving us a
side of beef”

Samantha rolled her eyes at her father as her mother handed her an empty egg carton. She turned and walked
off, slightly stomping her feet, knowing exactly how far she could push it and not get into trouble.

“That girl” Mark thought to himself, “Why does she always have to be so moody? Jess isn't like that...I wonder
where she gets it from. If I had told David to go get the eggs, he would have just said “Yes, Sir’ and been back in less
time than I spent arguing with her”

Mark sat back down at the picnic table with the rest of the adults and they listened to the news on the radio.

The city of Cincinnati has been almost totally burned to the ground. Fire crews were unable to successtully battle the
hundreds of fires that were set by the rioters. The National Guard was not able to squash the riots in time to save the
city. Most of the citizens were able to evacuate, many just on foot as most of the streets in the city were blocked by
burning cars. However, it is estimated that fifty to sixty thousand were trapped by the fires and unable to escape.

The situation in Detroit is much the same. Over half of the city is lost. Fire crews are gallantly trying to save the area
where most of the automotive plants are located. The Mayor of Detroit has asked the Governor of Michigan to send
National Guard troops in to put down the rioters, and to seize fire fighting equipment from other cities to help fight the
fires in his city. The Governor called up the National Guard, but as of now; there has been no word from the capitol on
seizing the property of other municipalities.

The riots in Seattle were quieted quickly once the Mayor of that city ordered police to shoot arsonists on sight. Police
report over 400 arrests connected with the riots and twelve deaths. Fire crews in Seattle were helped by the rain that
has been falling there since yesterday:

Sources inside the Pentagon have hinted that the burst was the result of a nuclear explosion in space. Our CBS experts
have theorized that such an explosion would pose little or no risk of radjoactive fallout to the United States, but would
cause the kind of wide spread system disruptions we have seen. There was no word on who may have caused the explo-
sion or how:

It is rumored that in his speech to the nation tonight, the Vice President will confirm that the body of the President has
been recovered and identified.

In State news, the Texas Governor has called up all of the National Guard troops in the state. The Governor is guoted as
saying “we need them ready, just in case.”
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In Houston, the once proud Enron Building was burned to the ground today. Fire crews in Houston, still busy fighting
fires in residential areas could spare only enough manpower to ensure that the fire did not spread to other buildings in
the downtown area.

Locally, the San Antonio Police Department is reporting a city record 23 murders last night. Most appear to be drug
or gang related. However; a spokesman for the department said, with the communication interruptions there may be
more that we don't know about yet. The Mayor has asked for all residents to stay in their homes affer dark. The sunset
curfew goes into effect at 8:10 PM today.

Now for the weather. It will be hot and dry today with highs reaching near one hundred degrees. The low tonight will
be in the mid-seventies with a slight chance of rain after dark. For tomorrow; you can expect more of the same.

This is KSTX, 640 AM. We'll be back affer this break.

Mark turned off the radio.

“Thank God we don’t live in Cincinnati!” Lisa exclaimed.

“You can say that again.” Jess agreed as the men nodded their heads.

Mark looked at Jim. “You want to help me with that glow plug controller on my truck?”

“Sure thing, buddy”

“Yes, you boys go play while Lisa and I work on a grocery list” Jess dictated.

“Yes Maam!”

Jim and Mark started working on the Ford diesel. Mark noticed that Sam had come back and given the eggs to
her mother and then returned to the camper and probably her sulking. They had just removed the old controller when
Jim noticed that it was time for the Vice President’s speech. Mark called Lisa and Jess to bring the radio over to the
truck so that they could keep working. They all stood around the engine as Mark turned wrenches and the VP spoke.
The news was right that they had found the President’s body. The VP asked for all Americans to pray for our coun-
try during these troubling times. He indicated that he would be taking the oath of office after the President’s funeral
and would be submitting his nominee for Vice President to the congress as his first order of business as President. He
indicated that they were very close to restoring limited power to some of the major cities on the East Coast. He encour
aged everyone to help and watch out for his or her neighbors. He assured the country, and the world, that the United
States would emerge from this crisis stronger and more resilient. He warned those who would try to take advantage of
this situation, both domestic and foreign, that punishment would be swift and sure. He once again asked Americans to
pray, but this time it was so that God would give him wisdom.

When the VP was done, Jess turned off the radio. No one said anything for a while.

“Let’s all go down to Jon’s and see what’s going on.” Mark suggested somberly.

“Good idea.” Jess agreed. “T’ll get Sam to watch the girls for you Lisa”

The four of them walked to the corner where Jon’s house was. Many of the men had brought their wives this
afternoon. Everyone milled around and met the neighbors that they did not know. The main subjects of interest were
the President’s death, and whether or not the VP was telling the truth about the power. Opinions were split. Generally,
the women believed the Vice President and the men did not, there were exceptions of course, but not many. Mark and
Jim talked it over and agreed that they should help stand watch at the gate. They spoke to Jon about taking a shift.

“What made you change your mind about needing guards?” Jon asked.

“Oh, we still don’t think it’s needed, but we want to do our fair share” Mark explained.

“I see” said Jon, “Listen, I already have the schedule made up and posted for the next week. Could I use you
two for alternates until I make the new schedule, and then I'll work you in to the rotation?”

“That would be fine with us, Jon”

Before he left, Mark announced that he would be running the pump for about an hour starting as soon as he
got home. He and Jim moved the generator and plugged in the pump. Mark put Sam and David in charge from the
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start today. He and Jim went back to the truck. They finished hooking up the new controller and Mark climbed into the
truck to start it. The engine had cooled completely off, so this would be a good test. He turned the key on and the ‘Wait
to Start’ light came on. After about 15 seconds, it went off and Mark engaged the starter. The big diesel turned over,
caught, and idled like a sewing machine. He turned the truck off, whispering a prayer of thanks.

When everyone had gotten water, Mark and Jim moved the generator back by the campers. Mrs. Petersen had
brought back the 5-gallon container and David had refilled it and carried it back to her house. Mark plugged in the
campers and the deep freeze. They wouldn’t be able to waste the gas to run the A/Cs everyday if the power didn't come
back on. But Mark thought it was best to acclimate everyone slowly, so they could do it for a week or so. He checked
the freezer and it wasn’t as cold as he thought it should be. He may need to run the generator for a while each morning
to keep everything frozen, at least until the weather cooled oft some. He took out four fresh ice bottles and replaced
the four in the cooler. The food in the cooler was still cool. Then he put the four from last night back in the freezer. The
bottles that he took out of the ice chest were still frozen in the very center. It wouldn't take too long to freeze them back
solid.

Mark heard Jess calling him. He walked back to the deck and saw the kids playing the Risk game that Mrs. Pe-
tersen had given them on the picnic table. He noticed that Jess had brought the card table and chairs out onto the deck.
On top of the table was a rack of dominos and a score pad. The adults sat and played 42 until almost eleven oclock. It
was the boys against the girls. Mark was an excellent player, however, tonight he couldn’t seem to focus on the game.
The girls beat them three games to two.

When they were done, Mark went into the house and put a dollar in the box. Then he turned off the genera-
tor and went to the camper to go to bed. He tried to go to sleep, but his mind was racing. It was a long time before he
finally dozed off.

Chapter 8 - Showdown at the Kroger Corral

When the alarm went off at 6:30, Mark was already awake. He had just slept on and off last night. He lay in bed
and looked through the vent in the roof of the camper for a moment. The sky was just starting to turn pink. What day
was it? The burst hit on Tuesday, so today was Thursday. It was hard to believe how much had transpired in less than
48 hours. He got out of bed, pulled on his jeans, and went into the house. He found a pair of running shorts, a t-shirt,
and his running shoes with the help of a flashlight. He put these on and headed out the door. He stretched his back
and then his calves. Then he began running. He started oft at a moderate pace, about a ten minute mile, he figured.
Running was something that he used to hate. Once he passed his brown belt test, he was required to run five days a
week. He did it only because he had to if he wanted his black belt. However, over the course of the 18 months that he
was required to run, he began to enjoy it. It was a strange type of enjoyment, though. He didn't look forward to it, like
hunting or fishing. It was more that he missed it if he didn’t do it. Everything was clearer when he ran, and it made his
whole day more productive. When he started running, it was all he could do to break a 13 minute mile. By the time he
took his black belt test, he was flirting with 7 flat. Not bad for a fat boy with short legs, his instructor once told him. He
ran to the corner and turned toward the entrance of the subdivision.

He began thinking about what they would need if they decided not to go stay at the ranch. There was so much.
He couldn't see any choice but to join the group. Even with Jim and his family they didn’t have enough resources or
manpower to provide for themselves. He really wanted to believe that the power would be back on. That would make
everything OK. But, there was something that the VP had said last night that Mark knew was a lie. He didn’t know
what it was, but somehow he knew inside that the power wouldn’t be back on. Maybe he was just getting paranoid.
What was that someone had once told him that paranoia was...the rational reaction to the realization of reality? Some-
thing like that.

His karate class was supposed to have been last night. Of course they couldn’t have it. The lights were out
and the school was locked up. Mark missed it. The best part of the martial arts to him was teaching. Seeing a kid who
thought he couldn’t suddenly begin to think ‘T can’ It was the same kind of transformation that he had seen in himself.
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The self doubt that he always kept bottled up inside himself and tried to never let anyone see was suddenly gone. Pass-
ing the five day black belt test had been the hardest thing he had ever done. Jess joked with him that it still wasn't as
hard as having a baby. But he now believed that he could do anything if he worked at it hard enough.

How had his thoughts gotten so far off from where he started? He was approaching the half mile mark and if
he wanted to just run his usual mile he would turn around and run back home. But, he thought, I don't have to go to
work, just a little further. A tenth of a mile further he was at the entrance to Silver Hills.

“Good morning, Adam.” He said to one of the guards.

“Good morning, Mark. Nice morning for a run, huh?”

“I think so.” He had met the other guard last night, but couldn’t remember his name. “How’s it going for you
this morning?”

“Pretty good.” The guard answered.

Mark wondered whether to turn east or west for about a half a second. He turned east to be able to see the sun
rise. Too bad they didn’t have some solar panels. With them and a battery bank, they could at least have some light in
the house. Maybe run some twelve volt ceiling fans. Oh well. What was he thinking about? Oh yeah, how could they
not go to the ranch. There just wasn't anyway to get all the stuff they needed. Even if they could find it, there just wasn’t
enough money. But how would he convince the women? Wait, he didn’t have to, the lists would. They would see that it
was hopeless to stay here. Wouldn't they? By the time he knew it he must have been over 2 miles from the house. Even
on his long runs he didn’t usually go over 3 miles. And he had missed the sunrise. He was sure he had seen it, but he
couldn’t remember. He turned around and started running back. What was he going to do about Sam? David seemed
to be taking it all in stride. But he could care less about going to school and most of his friends lived in the subdivision.
Sam was a social animal. She had lots of friends and they lived all over. He needed to get her involved in something,
but what? He would talk to Jess about it. What of the rest of his family? His parents and brother and sister and their
families lived in Waco. Would they be OK where they were? What about Jess’s sister in California? What about Lisa’s
folks? And Jim's Mom? And his brother? What was the matter? Running was supposed to make things more clear for
him. This time he ended up with more questions than answers. Why couldn’t he see the answer?

Mark could just make out the sign that said Silver Hills ahead. He quickened his pace a little. When he turned
into the subdivision he waved at the guards as he passed. It was slightly uphill to his house from here. His calves were
burning, but he put his head down and picked up his pace a little more. Perhaps the answers could be found in pushing
himself harder. When he turned the corner, he broke into a sprint. “Harder.” He thought. But no answers came to him.
When he reached the front of the house, he looked at his watch. 7:34, it said. He walked to the corner and back to cool
down. He must have run close to 5 miles. Surprisingly, he didn't feel that tired. He stretched some more to cool down.

Mark got some clean clothes out of the house and then went back out to the camper to shower. When he got
out Jess was frying up the eggs that Manny had given them. Jim and Lisa were up, but all of the kids except for Sam
were still asleep. They all sat down at the picnic table to eat breakfast. Mark noticed that the yolks on these eggs were
much darker than the eggs they bought at Kroger. They also tasted better. As they ate they talked about what they each
wanted to get accomplished for the day. Jess wanted to start working on a curriculum for Sam and David. She said that
they would need it whether they stayed here or went to the ranch. Lisa wanted to get to the grocery store with the list
that she and Jess had made the night before. Sam asked if she could go with Lisa and Lisa said she would be glad to
have the company. Lisa asked Jim if he would work with the twins on their math this morning. She told the others that
Jim always had more success with the girls on math than she did. She said it was because their brains worked the same
way. Mark wanted to go pay for the glow plug controller, go to the hardware store for the plug to the dryer, and maybe
run by the gun store for some ammo. It was decided that Mark, Lisa, and Sam would go to town, and Jim and Jess
would ‘hold down the fort.

The three shoppers loaded up in MarKk’s truck and headed to town. They first stopped at the Helping Hand
Hardware store. It was a small independently owned hardware store that had been run by the same family for almost
60 years. The store hadn’t changed much in those 60 years. Mark found the plug he needed to replace the one he had
stolen from the dryer. The girls had wandered oft and were looking through the store. Sam found Mark and pulled him
over to where Lisa was looking at some kerosene lamps.
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“Look, Mark” She said. “They have kerosene lamps and lanterns. They also have big tubs and wash boards. If
the power doesn’t come back on and we stay at your place, we are going to have to come back here”

“Boy, I hope it doesn’t come down to washing our clothes with wash boards” Samantha said. “That would be
cruel and unusual punishment, and the Constitution prohibits that, doesn’t it? Besides, we have the generator that will
run the washer, right Dad?”

“Yes, it will. But, I don’t think we will be able to spare the gas to wash clothes for very long” Mark explained,
hoping that everyone would start to realize that they would need to save all the gas for the generator just for pumping
water if this went on as long as some were saying it could.

Mark paid for the plug, and they headed to the gun store. When they got there, Mark was a little surprised that it was
closed. The Drew family ran the store and it was not like them to close. The Mom and Dad had started the business in
the early 60’s. Both of their sons now worked at the store, Jerry ran the front and Dale was an excellent gunsmith. He
had been taught by his father and now ran the back of the store. Perhaps Mark would run by Jerry’s house later and see
if everything was OK.

When they got to the Kroger, there was a line to get into the store. All three in the truck wondered what was
going on. Mark parked the truck out in the parking lot a ways, as was his custom. It could be very difficult to get the
168 inch wheel base truck out of a parking space if people parked too close. They got out and walked up to the en-
trance. When they got to the entrance there was a table with one of the managers sitting behind it. Standing next to
him was a San Antonio police officer. The manager explained that they had a run on the store when the lights went out
and that since they didn’t know when they would be resupplied, they were limiting each family to $50 worth of grocer-
ies for now. He told them that the store was only accepting cash or public assistance cards. He asked for one of their
ID’s. Mark handed the man his driver’s license. The manager looked at it and opened a notebook to the T’s. He looked
for Turner and at each one he found he compared the address to the one on Mark’s Driver license. When he didn’t
find a match, he wrote Mark’s name and address down in the book. He gave Mark a number and told him that when
his number was called a sales associate would take them through the store with a flashlight and add up their items on
a calculator. Mark informed the manager that he had just brought Lisa to the store and she had her own family. He
checked and recorded Lisa’s license and gave her a number too. Then they went and stood in line. Lisa pulled out the
list and started numbering the items on it by importance. When she got to the point where she knew she was over
$100, she got a piece of paper out of her purse and wrote some of the items on a new list. She then scratched them oft of
the original list. She gave the new list to Mark and told him to get as far down it as he could. It took almost 45 minutes
before their numbers were called. Mark went with his assigned associate and Sam elected to wait and go with Lisa. It
didn’t take Mark too long to finish his list. He got 25 pounds of rice, 50 pounds of pinto beans, 10 pounds of spaghetti,
some canned pasta sauces, and most of the canned fruits and vegetables that finished off his list. The associate took him
to the front of the store and he paid in cash as they bagged his groceries. It was only a minute or two until Lisa and Sam
were done paying for their food. They put all the bags into one basket and pushed it toward the truck. When they got
to the truck, Mark opened the back door and they started stacking the groceries in the floorboard of the back seat. As
they were unloading the basket, Mark noticed three scrufty looking guys walking past the truck toward the store. His
radar went up a little. Once the men passed the truck, Mark felt better. He realized that he too probably looked a little
scrufly. After all, it had been two days since he had shaved. Once all the groceries were loaded, the girls got into the
truck and Mark pushed the basket over to the cart corral. When he turned to go back, the three men were between the
truck and him. Mark’s senses went into overdrive. He looked at the truck. The girls had the doors closed and, he hoped,
locked. He looked side to side, but there was no one else this far out in the parking lot. He felt trapped with the cor-
ral right behind him, so he stepped to the left enough so that he could back up if he needed to. He looked at the three
men. The one on the left was tall and muscular. The middle one was average height and skinny. The one to the right was
moderately overweight.

The middle one spoke to Mark. “Hey, mister, what’s the deal with the long line to get into the store?”

Mark tried to answer in a natural voice. “They’re only letting everyone have $50 worth of groceries. The em-
ployees take you through the store with flashli...” Mark saw the knife. Skinny had it. Mark took half a step back. They
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were too close for him to get his .32 out without getting stabbed. He figured that his best option if he had to fight was to
use his hands and try to create enough space to bring his gun to bear.

When Skinny saw that Mark had seen the knife, he extended it toward Mark’s midsection. “Listen up, asshole,
give us the keys to the truck and no one gets hurt.” Tubby stuck his hand out toward Mark for the keys.

Mark thought that the truck and the groceries were not worth getting killed for. But he also knew that if these guys had
a gun, they would be using it. He had no intention of providing them with one by letting them have his Colt that was in
the truck. More importantly, what might these criminals do to Lisa and Sam?

Mark reached into his left front pocket and pulled out his office keys. He figured that if he dropped them,
Tubby might bend over to pick them up and he could kick him into Knife boy. Mark reached his hand out toward the
car jackers, praying that they wouldn’t notice that the keys weren't car keys. He dropped the keys right in front of the
man with the knife. At that instant, everything seemed to go to slow motion.

The man’s eyes got wide with anger and he lunged at Mark’s stomach with the knife. “You motherfu...” He
started to scream, but was not able to finish. When he lunged, Mark thrust his hands forward and grabbed the man’s
knife hand around the wrist. At the same time he pulled his hips back to get his midsection as far away as possible
from the knife. Mark stepped to his left and jerked the man’s arm past him. The knife wielder, with his weight going
forward from his own thrust, went flying by with the assistance of Mark pulling him and he landed face first onto the
asphalt. The big man to Marks left stepped in and badly telegraphed a right handed punch. Mark stepped to the left
and brought his right arm up in a circular motion and chopped his right hand into the puncher’s forearm. Mark then
slid his right hand down to the man’s wrist and grabbed. The palm heel of his left hand slammed into the back of the
attacker’s elbow. It was odd in this situation, but in a way it was somehow comical to see his arm bent back the wrong
way. Mark then side kicked to the man’s knee. With the adrenaline pumping he kicked too high. The kick landed in the
man’s thigh and knocked him down. Mark looked back and Knife boy was still down on all fours groaning. He changed
his focus to the last man. Tubby was standing wide-eyed and frozen. When Mark looked at him, a dark stain appeared
in the crotch of his jeans. Mark backed up toward the truck and pulled the Kel-Tec out of his pocket and pointed it in
the direction of the three men. Tubby, seeing this, took off running at a pace that could have set a world record. The
other two looked at Tubby and then seeing why he was running did their best to catch up with him.

Mark was still pointing the pistol at the men even after they were well out of range. Even though he had been
in karate for six years and had his Concealed Handgun License for almost four, this was the first time he had ever had
to defend himself. He stood there shaking from the adrenaline dump. Sam rolled down the window of the truck.

“Dad...Dad...DAD!”

“Yes?” Mark finally answered. Time sped back up to a normal pace.

“Are you OK?”

“Yes, I think so.”

“Dad, you were so awesome. I was so scared, but you kicked butt. I know we practice that stuft in karate, but
seeing you go full speed, I never thought that it would be that effective.”

“Honey, I never thought it would be either, but thank God it is”

“Let me check you to make sure you're not injured.” Lisa insisted. She looked Mark over and could not find any
cuts or even bruises for that matter. “Did you even get hit?” She asked.

“I don’t think so.”

“What do we do now?” Lisa asked.

“I guess I should go make a report with that policeman at the entrance.” Mark said as he put the .32 back into
his pocket.

The trio got into the truck and Mark drove up to the entrance. He pulled the truck up to the curb and got out.

“Hey buddy, you can’t park there” The policeman admonished.

“I was just attacked out in the parking lot” Mark informed him.

“Are you OK? What did they get?”

“Yes, I'm alright and they didn’t get anything.” Mark finished telling the policeman what had happened.

“Did you shoot them?” The policeman asked.
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“No. I didn't even fire a shot, but I dislocated one of their elbows, and the other guy could have fallen on his
knife”

“Can I see your CHL?” The officer requested.

Mark started to reach for his wallet in his left hip pocket. “I'm just getting my wallet” He wanted to make sure
the policeman was at ease.

“TI understand. Just do it real slow.”

The policeman took out a little notebook from his breast pocket and wrote down Mark’s name and CHL
number. He then gave Mark back his license.

“OK, I wrote down your name and address in case we have any questions.”

“Aren’t you going to take a formal report?”

“Mr. Turner, if these were normal times, yes, I would take a formal report. Under the circumstances though, I
won't. The PD is swamped. You didn’t get hurt, nothing was stolen, and the three guys that tried to attack you only got
what was coming to them. You should be thanking God and your training that things went so well for you. I have your
information if anything comes up. Go home and next time, watch your six better!”

“Thank you, Officer, I will.” With that Mark got back into his truck. His hands were shaking so bad that he
could barely find first gear.

Chapter 9 - Fallout

Mark drove back over to the cart corral. He asked Sam if she would pick up the keys that were still on the
ground. She hopped out and picked up the keys. When she got back in, Mark eased out on the clutch and turned the
truck toward home.

“I thought you wanted to go by Jerry Drew’s house, Dad.” Sam said.

“Not now, Honey, I just want to go home.”

“Mark, would you like me to drive?” Lisa asked noticing that his hands were not very steady.

“Maybe. I think I'll be OK. I'll let you know in a couple of minutes.” Mark answered.

The ride home was quiet and uneventful. When Mark parked the truck, they carried the groceries in. Sam was
talking a mile a minute, relating the Kroger parking lot incident. Jess was shocked. Jim was impressed. And, David just
said it was “COOL”".

Mark snapped at him. “It was not cool!” He was almost yelling. “Someone could have gotten killed. Maybe
even me, or your sister, or Mrs. Davis. Would you still think it's ‘COOL then?”

Mark saw the hurt in his son’s eyes the same time that Jess put her hand on his arm. It was her way of letting
him know that he had gone too far.

“I'm sorry, Dave. I didn’t mean to yell at you. 'm not mad at you. It’s just that I'm still kind of freaked out by
what happened. Will you forgive me?”

David nodded his head. Mark pulled him and hugged him. That was something that David rarely let him do in
front of other people. When they released the embrace, David had tears in his eyes.

“I am going out to the shed to check the freezer” Mark announced just wanting to get away from everybody for
a minute.

When Mark walked outside, Jim followed him. Jim could see that his friend was still shaking, even though it
had been almost an hour since the incident.

“Wanna talk?” Jim asked.

“NO...Yes...I don't know.”

“Are you upset that you hurt those guys?”

“Hell no. They got oft lucky as far as I am concerned. Once I got my gun out I would have shot them in a heart-
beat if they had kept attacking. It’s just that I was scared shitless.” There went a dollar. “If I didn’t know how to defend
myself, or if I hadn’t had my .32, no telling what might have happened. I was scared the most of what those assholes
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would have done to Lisa and Sam given half a chance” Two dollars. “I can tell you this. That .32 probably saved my
life, but it felt like a pea shooter in my hand. I was cursing myself for not having the .45. I will never leave the house
to go anywhere without it and a couple of extra magazines on my hip from now on. The .32 is good for a backup, but I
can tell you that if you really need a gun you want the biggest fucking gun that you can hold” There was a word Mark
almost never used. Well, if he was going to owe three dollars in less than a minute, he might as well get his money’s
worth. “I think that my FAL would have felt like a BB gun.”

“You learned something from this then. Maybe it wasn't totally a bad thing.” Jim rationalized.

“Yeah, I learned how vulnerable we all are...I'm careful Jim, but if those guys had a brain between them, they
would have killed me. If all three would have attacked at the same time, I would be dead right now. And, things are
only going to get worse if the power doesn’'t come back on. We're not safe here. We have to go stay at the ranch. It’s the
only way to be sure that nothing will happen to the girls and the kids. Besides, there is no way that we can buy every-
thing we would need to live here. There is just too much that we need to make it if the power is off more than a month
or two. I know that the girls don’t really like the idea of moving out there, but hopefully with what happened today and
when we look at the lists of what we need, they will see that there is no choice”

“Mark, I think you might be overreacting a little bit. We might all agree to move to the ranch with Todd, I
mean we still need to go look it over, but I don’t think you should let one incident influence you so much.”

“Well, I can see how you might think I'm overreacting,” Mark snapped. “But when it’s you in that moment,
knowing that all that stands between your daughter and best friend’s wife getting assaulted and maybe killed is just you,
you might think differently”

“Maybe so. But when you start ranting, there’s no sense in arguing with you. If you want to talk instead of
squabble come get me.” And with that Jim left.

Mark checked the freezer. It was still pretty cold. He poked at a big piece of venison that was wrapped in butch-
er paper. It was still as hard as a rock. He had run the generator longer last night, maybe that was enough, he thought.
He was glad that Jim had come out with him, but was glad that he had left too. Mark was exhausted. The adrenaline
had done its job and turned him into a mama grizzly defending her cubs, but now that it had worn off, he was as tired
as he could ever remember being.

He went back into the house. When he walked in, everyone got real quiet so Mark knew that they had been
talking about him. He didn’t care. He told Jess that he was going to go rest in the camper for a while. When he got into
the camper, taking his shoes off seemed to take all of the energy he had. He climbed up onto the bed and just lay down
on top of the blanket.

When Mark woke up, he felt like he had slept for days. Was it dusk or dawn, he couldn’t tell. He looked at his
watch. It was almost curfew. Mark got up and put on his shoes. He walked out of the camper and could see everyone
else up on the deck with the Coleman lantern burning close enough to light the Monopoly game that they were play-
ing. He stepped up onto the deck and Jess was the first one to see him.

“Hey, Stranger, how was your nap?”

“I don’t remember.” He said as he rubbed the back of his head.

“Man, you were really out of it” Jess informed him. “I tried to get you up to help Jim with the generator, but
you were dead to the world”

“You mean you guys ran the generator?”

Everyone nodded their heads.

“I got Jon to help me.” Jim said.

“Wow...I never heard it. Listen, I want to apologize to everyone for how I acted. Especially to David and Jim.”

“Don’t worry about it Jim replied.

“It's OK, Dad. You must have been pretty stressed.” David responded.

“That is no excuse for the way I acted. I'm really sorry” Mark then changed the subject. “Did you guys listen to
the news and the Vice President?”

“Yes, we did” Jim told him. “It was pretty much the same old news. Rioting in a few more cities. Baltimore and
Chicago, I think. The VP said that they were not moving quite as fast as they thought on the power, but that it should
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only be another day or two before the lights would be back on in some cities.”

“Hmmm.” Was all Mark had to say.

“Then we all went down to Jon’s” Lisa continued to fill him in. “There were a lot more people there tonight.
Everyone was talking about one of three things. The third most popular topic of conversation was the power. Less peo-
ple believe that the power is going to be back on in a couple of days. Now there is a group in the middle that believes
it may be several weeks to a month or two before the power is restored...The second favorite topic was the $50 limit at
Kroger. And the most talked about item at the Silver Hills community meeting for today was..., drum roll, please” Jim
beat his hands on the picnic table. “...the amazing Kung-fu feats of one Mister Mark Turner!”

“You didn’t” Mark protested.

“It seems that your son told one of his friends,” Jess explained, “and by the time the meeting rolled around you
were the neighborhood hero.”

“Of course, the rumor mill had upped the opponents to 8 and they all had knives. But that was OK, because
you just jump into a phone booth and came out with tights, a cape, and a big red ‘S’ on your chest.” Lisa kidded.

Mark groaned.

“Seriously though, some people came up and asked me if you might be willing to teach a self defense course for
the neighborhood.” Jim told him.

“Well, I would, if we were going to stay here.” Mark informed them.

“Don’t we all get a say in that?” Jess inquired.

“Of course you do, but I think you’ll come to the same conclusion that I have. There just isn't any other choice.
We don’t have what we need to live here for an extended period, and even if we did, it’s not safe”

“What do you mean ‘it’s not safe’? You don't even think that Jon’s guards are necessary.” Jess chided him.

“My thinking has changed some since this morning. The guards may be able to stop a carload of teenagers
from TPing someone’s house, but there is no way they’re going to stop a hungry and determined bunch of rioters and
looters”

“We could beef up the guards if it looks like that is a possibility.” Jim told him.

“So you think we shouldn’t go, too?” Mark accused.

“I didn’t say that. I'm still leaning toward staying at the ranch, but I haven't made my mind up yet. I think we
have to see it first, and then weigh all of our options.” Jim retorted.

“You all just can’t see that we have no options. You are clinging to the fantasy that civilization still exists. I got a
hard lesson today in reality, and I can see what’s coming. I thought that it would be obvious to all of you as well. I guess
it doesn’t matter though, when we sit down with our lists, it's going to be obvious that we have to go” Mark ranted.

“That may be true, Mark?” Jess shot back. “But we need to see the ranch and review our lists first. I won't be
forced into making a decision based on one isolated incident. I know it must have been scary. I was scared just hearing
about it. But we can't let our fears start dictating what we do. I know how you get when you make your mind up about
something. But, this is too important a decision to not look at everything and everyone involved.”

“Well, we leave for the ranch at noon tomorrow. In the mean time, I'm going to work on my list” Mark
wheeled around and marched oft much the same as Sam had the day before.

“When you're ready, we have our lists done.” Jess called after him.

* k%

Mark woke up at 6:30 again. When he climbed out of bed he noticed that he was a little stiff. He went into the
house to find his running cloths and got dressed. He spent some extra time this morning stretching. When he started
running, he could really feel the 5 miles he did yesterday. He set a pace that was a little slower than usual and figured
that a mile and a half or two would work out the soreness. He started thinking about the ranch and how he hoped the
others would see how obvious it was that they go. When he passed the guards, they razzed him.

“There he is” Said the first. “The famous Silver Hill’s kung-fu master, himself. Be careful, one look from him
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will make you wet your pants.”

“I heard he could catch a bullet in his teeth” The second guard teased.

“You guys go back to sleep” Mark waved them off. “Besides, everybody knows that real kung-fu masters don't
have any teeth.”

As Mark turned east the sun was just peeking over the horizon. He made a conscious effort to watch it come up
this morning. When he was about a mile from his house he turned around and picked up his pace just a tad. His legs
were beginning to feel better. When he got back to the house, he walked to the end of the street and back to cool down.
Then he spent several minutes stretching again. When he was done with that, he did 100 pushups and 100 sit-ups. Then
he found some clean clothes and showered in the camper. When he got out, Jess was just getting up.

“Would you like some breakfast?” She asked.

“That would be great” Mark answered.

“Pancakes or biscuits and gravy?”

“Either would be fine”

“Are you doing anything this morning, or are we just getting ready to go to the ranch?” Jess asked.

“I still need to pay for the truck part and I want to go see Jerry Drew to see if they need anything and try and
get some ammo, but I guess that can wait until we get back. Let’s eat and then go over our lists. Then we can get ready
and head out to visit the ranch.”

Jess and Mark cooked breakfast together. There was still tension about the disagreement from the day before,
so they both steered clear of that subject. Just before the pancakes were ready, Mark woke everyone up. They all ate
and then the adults got their lists and went through them. Mark had more on his than anyone else did. They discussed
them for a couple of hours but were making only a little progress. Jim finally suggested that they table the discussion
until they got back from the ranch. After they had loaded their trucks to go on their visit, Mark walked down to ask Jon
to keep an eye on their place and to pump water for the neighbors until they got back. He asked Jon to please remem-
ber to take water to Mrs. Petersen and to plug up his freezer for three or four hours each day. When Mark got back to
the house, they decided to go ahead and leave even though it wasn't quite noon yet. When the two trucks pulled out of
the subdivision, Jim was in the lead. Mark looked in his rearview mirror and saw the Silver Hills sign. He then moved
his eyes back to the road in front of him. He reached his hand down and felt the Colt Commander on his hip. They
should be at the ranch in a little over an hour. He said a little prayer that the visit would go good enough to convince
the others that he was right.

Chapter 10 - The Ranch

They were almost halfway to the ranch when Mark’s watch said 12:00 noon. They were taking their time, and
Jim was slowing down every time they topped a hill as there were still a few cars stalled on the highway. Mark asked
Jess to turn on the portable radio.

This is KSTX, 640 AM. Its 93 degrees with sunny skies at strait up 12 oclock. Now for the news.

The President’ funeral is scheduled at 3 PM eastern time. The Vice President will take the presidential oath of office im-
mediately following. Both proceedings will be carried live on this CBS radio station.

The European and Pacific Rim markets were down for the third straight day. The Nikkei is now down over 20% since
the burst and other world markets are not far behind. Japanese officials are talking about suspending trading until the
New York Markets are back online. It is expected that all of the markets will follow the Japanese lead.

The riots in Chicago have been halted by the Illinois National Guard. Before they could be brought in, however; the
Mayors house was burned to the ground. The rioters in Baltimore are still marching through the streets destroying eve-
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rything in their path. Even though the Governor has dispatched the Maryland National Guard, they have been unable
to contain the lawlessness. There is an unconfirmed report that less than half of the states guardsmen have reported for
duty: The city of Cincinnati is now considered to be a total loss. Damage estimates are in the billions. The Detroit Fire
Department was able to save almost a quarter of the city’s automotive production facilities. The Mayor of Detroit has
squared off against the Governor for not acting to save his city. So far there has been no response from the Michigan
capitol.

In local news, gunfire tore through a low income housing development last night in apparent gang warfare. Eleven peo-
ple were killed and twenty-three were wounded. Many of the victims were reported to be innocent bystanders, includ-
ing several children.

Kroger stores have instituted a fifty dollar limit per family on groceries. This has worked well throughout most of the
city. However; a large number of people were arrested at the store at 281 and Thousand Oaks. An unidentified man,
insisting that he should be allowed to buy as much as he wanted, incited a crowd to riot. There are also several reports
of people being mugged for their groceries.

The City Water Board is asking all residents to be very conservative with their water usage. A spokesman reported that
backup generators are unable to keep up with the current demand for water pressure. He assured us that with strict
conservation, there is plenty of water for everyone. He asked that citizens not fill up their bathtubs or other containers,
and for those who have, to please use that water up before running their faucets.

City Power and Light is reporting that they should have power to medical facilities that do not have their own backup
power by the end of the weekend, or Monday morning at the latest. When asked about restoration of power to the
whole city; the spokesman would not give a definite answer but said that it should not be too much longer.

Now; for the weather. Todays high will be in the mid...

Jess turned the radio off. “Nothing but more bad news. Looks more and more like Todd and Scott are right
about the power”

Mark didn’t say anything.

When Jim turned off of the county road to go through the first gate to the ranch he tied the yellow bandana
to his antenna. They had to pass though several ranches and gates to get to the group’s ranch. When they were going
through the last ranch before they reached their destination, Mark noticed that the power lines that had followed the
road they were on stopped. At the gate they were met by two men in a camouflage pattern that Mark did not recognize
who were carrying pre-ban AR-15s. Mark noted that the gate was made of heavy pipe. It had long heavy spikes extend-
ing from it. If someone tried to crash through it with a pickup or SUV they would at least ruin their radiator. The gate
was hung on huge 12 inch pipe fence posts that were cemented into the ground. In addition to the no-climb fencing,
called that because the wire mesh was too closed to get a foothold in, and three strands of barbed wire across the top of
the eight foot high fence, a heavy cable ran from metal fence post to metal fence post about 24 inches above the ground
back into the brush as far as Mark could see. There would be no way for anything less than a tank to make an unfriend-
ly entrance to the ranch. Mark felt that if the rest of the ranch security was anywhere close to as good as the gate and
fence, they would be very safe here.

The two guards spoke into a radio and then opened the gate. They told the families to follow the road they were
on until they reached the main complex. The nicely graded road wound through the mesquite trees and scrub brush.
When they reached the complex there was an eight foot tall chain link fence around it. However, the gate was open this
time. Todd was standing just inside it. He pointed to where they should park. When they got out of the trucks, Todd
shook everyone’s hand.
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“It’s so good to see you all. Welcome to the New Age Ranch. Let me show you to your quarters, then I'll give
you the nickel tour”

Todd showed each family to their cabin. They were actual log cabins with three bedrooms and a large bath.
Down stairs there was a large living area with a big fireplace and the master bedroom and bathroom. The ceiling in
the living area was vaulted and over twenty feet high in the center. The upstairs loft, which only covered the area of the
master bedroom and the bath, was divided into two smaller bedrooms. All three bedrooms had a small wood burn-
ing stove in them as well as a small propane heater. The furniture was modest but of high quality. Jess asked why there
was no kitchen and Todd told her that the group always ate together in the community dining room. Todd showed
the families that each cabin had a bank of batteries to run the twelve-volt lights and ceiling fans in each room. There
were solar panels on the roof to keep the batteries charged. The bathrooms had running water supplied by a twelve-volt
pump and a small propane hot water heater. There was no air conditioning, but the cabins were designed to stay toler-
able without it. It was mid afternoon in the middle of August and must have been in the mid-90s outside; however, it
was very comfortable in the cabin with the ceiling fan on. It felt like it was about 78 or 80 degrees. Todd said that one
reason they did all the cooking in one place was to keep from heating up the cabins. When both of the families had car-
ried their clothes into their cabins and got settled in a bit, they met Todd at the community dining and meeting room.
Todd showed them the huge kitchen and the food storage area. He told them that they had enough canned food to last
100 people for 3 years without adding anything by farming, ranching, hunting, or fishing. There were enough of some
staples like flour, sugar, and salt, for ten years if they were careful. They had a large room just for skinning and quarter-
ing game or livestock with a large walk in cooler attached. In the dining room, there were about 30 tables. Todd told
them that not only did they eat in here, but also used the room for meetings and daily prayer services. He asked Mark
if it was big enough for a karate class and Mark told him that they could probably train 25 or 30 people at a time if they
moved the tables to one side. Todd mentioned that they also used it for entertainment. They had a piano for music,
many board, card, and domino games to play, and a big screen TV with a DVD player and lots of movies that had been
protected from the surge.

Todd then took them outside to the garden. It was at least as big as Mark’s four acres, he figured. Only a small
portion of it was planted and Todd told them that they would be planting all of it with fall crops as soon as it cooled
off just a little. They had chickens, rabbits, and two milk cows in the barn. There was a lot of hay and a medium sized
John Deere tractor stored in the barn as well. Todd told them that they had about 50 head of beef cattle on the ranch
too. He explained that their goal was to produce everything they needed and not have to deplete their stored food. He
explained that everyone had several jobs assigned to them. Most everyone had one primary job and then helped out in
two or three other areas. He told them that even the small children had to help with some things like feeding the live-
stock, gathering eggs, and milking the cows. Mark noticed that Sam really wrinkled her nose at the last one. Todd took
them by the clinic where they met Dr. Smith. He was Suzy the Worrywarts husband. Lisa was very impressed with how
well equipped and stocked the clinic was. Next they went by the laundry. There were several big commercial washers
and gas dryers. Jim asked how they were powered and Todd told them that they had several generators. The biggest was
a diesel powered 12000-watt model. They also had a couple of smaller generators, one diesel and one propane. They
had lots of diesel stored in an underground tank and there were separate buried 1000-gallon propane tanks for each of
the cabins and more for the kitchen and laundry. They figured that there was enough fuel for three years without any
resupply. He told them that each family was assigned one of the washers one day a week and that they hung the clothes
to dry unless the weather wouldn’t permit it. The next building that they visited was the combination library and
school. There were several small class rooms and a modest library. Todd told them that they had schoolbooks for all
grades and subjects and that they would start teaching school in a few days. Now they were giving everyone a chance
to settle in. They already had two teachers, one was an English major and the other was a math major. He told Jess that
they were really looking forward to having her for the science classes. The last building in the complex was a combi-
nation garage and armory. The garage was huge and they had a couple of new jeeps and about a dozen Polaris ATV’s
inside. David was very taken with the ATV’s. Todd said that they would take some out to look over the ranch, but since
it was so close to dinner time they would have to wait until tomorrow morning. There were tools, both mechanic and
carpentry, air compressors, welders, and much more in the shop. On one end there were stacks of lumber that reached

Page 41
©2002-2005 David Crawford All Rights Reserved



Lights Out by HalfFast --- www.frugalsquirrels.com

almost to the ceiling. One wall had parts bins along it that were full of almost everything you could find at a hardware
or auto supply store. The other end of the building held the armory. Todd told the men that everyone stored most of
their personal weapons in the armory. They also had a number of battle rifles that Mr. Davis had bought in the event
that they needed to defend the ranch. As they walked into the room, Mark could see that every family had a small sec-
tion for their own weapons. They mostly consisted of deer rifles and bird guns with an occasional battle rifle thrown in.
When he saw the weapons that Mr. Davis had bought, he was impressed. There were 10 or 12 each of pre-ban AR-15’%s,
H&K 91’s, Mossberg 590, and there were two Barrett M82A1’s. Mark whistled when he saw the Barretts. He had al-
ways wanted a .50 BMG rifle, but just couldn’t justify it.

“You like the big boy toys?” Todd asked him.

“Man. Those are sweet, Todd.”

“We also have a complete reloading room over there. We can reload most of the major calibers in handgun and
rifle and we have 12 and 20 gauge shotgun reloaders.”

Todd pointed to a door and the men looked at the reloading equipment. Mark had never reloaded, but Jim did,
and Mark had looked at some of the catalogs that were on Jim’s reloading bench. He noticed that the presses were all
high dollar Dillons. When they finished looking the armory over, Todd asked the women and children if they would
like to go back to their cabins and get cleaned up for dinner while he took the men to meet Mr. Davis. They agreed,
although Jess and Lisa didn’t seem to like being dismissed.

When everyone else left, the three men started walking toward Mr. Davis’s cabin.

“Hey, Mark, I bet one of those .50’s wouldn't have felt like a pea shooter when those three dirtbags attacked
you.” Jim observed.

“You're right about that”

“What are you talking about?” Todd asked.

The two friends filled Todd in about Mark’s encounter at the grocery store. Mark gave the bare facts and Jim
filled in the more juicy parts as Mark was way too modest. Todd was very impressed by the story. When they got to the
cabin, Mark noticed that it was significantly bigger than the others. Todd knocked on the door and it was answered by
an older woman.

“Yes, Todd?” She said.

“Hi, Millie. I have Mark Turner and Jim Davis here. He wanted to meet them.”

“Of course. Please follow me.”

The three men followed the woman into a large sitting room. She then disappeared.

“Is that Mrs. Davis?” Mark asked.

Todd chuckled. “No, Mr. Davis is not married. That is his assistant, Millie”

A moment later a man came into the room. He was about five foot seven or eight, trim, and bald. He held out
his hand to Jim and introduced himself.

“Nice to meet you...Reginald Davis” He said.

“It’s nice to meet you, Mr. Davis. I'm Jim Davis.”

“You have any relatives from Pennsylvania?”

“No. As far back as I know, were all from Texas.”

“Then I guess we're not related. Good thing if you knew my family” The gentleman said with a smile.

“I was just thinking the same thing about my relatives.” Jim returned.

The man turned his attention to Mark and reached his hand out.

“You must be Mark Turner”

“Yes, sir, Mr. Davis.” Mark said while shaking his hand. “It’s so nice to meet you.”

“The pleasure is all mine. Please, gentlemen, have a seat. I assume that Todd has shown you around.”

“I showed them around the complex. We are going to look over the ranch in the morning.”

“Good. I know that Todd has probably told you quite a bit about what we are trying to do here, but let me tell
you a little about why we are doing this. We believe that America has been on the wrong path for quite some time now.
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The hard workers such as yourselves are no longer rewarded for your efforts, but instead are punished with high taxes
and restrictions on your God given rights. Instead, the lazy are rewarded by a system that becomes more and more
socialistic every year. Entitlement programs, funny name...somehow people who refuse to work are entitled to food,
housing, education...everything that you work so hard to provide for your families. Anyway, entitlement programs are
bankrupting this country both financially and morally. Our government has become the problem instead of the solu-
tion. We knew that sooner or later something would happen that would throw this country into turmoil. We want to
make sure that people come out on the other side that can put America back on the right track. People that share the
philosophy that a man who doesn’t work shouldn’t eat. People that feel like government should serve the people, not
the other way around”

“I agree with you, Mr. Davis, but do you think that 20 or 25 families will be enough to turn the tide?” Mark
asked.

“No. Twenty to twenty-five families are not enough. But what if you had over 100 locations with 20 to 100
families in each location? People who after a crisis have the knowledge and desire to reshape America into the nation
that she was meant to be. People who are leaders, teachers, and hard working professionals who want America to hold
a future for their children. People who are not afraid to make some hard choices to insure that this once great nation
becomes what the founding fathers intended it to be”

“Depending on how bad the crisis was, that number of people could make a huge impact.” Mark answered.
“Do you really have that many locations?”

“No, I only have this location. But, we are part of a network of many groups. I don’t even know where all the
groups are or even how many there are for sure, but I can assure you that there are well over 100. Some have been in
existence for over twenty years. Some are newer, like us. But we all share the same goals”

“Are the groups under the control of a central headquarters or something?” Jim asked.

“No. Each group is independent and autonomous. There is no central command. We just have an alliance with
the other groups” Mr. Davis explained. “Any other questions?”

Mark had lots of questions, but something in Mr. Davis’s tone told him that ‘Any other questions?’ meant
“That’s all for now Jim must have gotten the same message because he was just shaking his head and saying no. Mark
copied his friend.

“OK, then. It's almost dinnertime. You'll excuse me if I don’t join you tonight, but I have a lot of work to do.
We hope that you will decide to stay with us. We really need hardworking team players to make our goals into reality. I
believe that both of you would be assets to the group. I can see why Todd speaks so highly of you. Have a good dinner,
and after you look over the ranch in the morning, come back to see me and we'll chat again” Mr. Davis instructed.

The men stood up and shook hands. Todd led them outside and advised them to go back to their cabins and
clean up a little if they wanted to. Dinner would be at 5 sharp, he informed them. Mark looked at his watch. He had
about 15 minutes. When he walked into their cabin, Jess was waiting for him.

“How did it go? What is he like?” She asked.

“He’s not at all what I expected, but I guess it went OK”

“So what’s the drill? How does all of this work?” She fired in rapid succession.

“We have to meet with him tomorrow after we tour the ranch. I'm sure he'll tell us more then. However, he
said that there were over 100 different groups like this one throughout the country. They are all run separately, but have
common goals.”

“What are the goals?”

“To put America back like it is supposed to be”

“How is it supposed to be?”

Mark explained to her exactly what Mr. Davis had said.

“I see” She said. “And who gets to decide what the ‘hard choices’ are?”

“I don’t know, but Ill try to find out tomorrow.” He answered. He tried to use the same tone that Mr. Davis had
used when he didn't want to answer any more questions.

Jess must have gotten his point. He went into the bathroom and washed his face and hands. Then he combed
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his hair. When he came out, Jess and the kids were ready to go. They stepped outside, met Jim and his family and
headed to the dining room. When they got into the room everyone was chatting. Todd asked for everyone’s attention
and then he introduced the families to everyone. Todd asked Dr. Smith to say grace, and then they all lined up to eat.
The food was served cafeteria style. That night they had meatloaf, mashed potatoes and gravy, and green beans. The
Davises and Turners were invited to go through the line first with Todd’s family. Then they sat down at a long table to
eat. Todd, Jim, and Mark sat at one end and their wives sat at the other with the kids in the middle.

“So, what did you think about the meeting with Mr. Davis?” Todd asked the men.

“He wasn't what I was expecting” Mark answered.

“Me, either” Jim agreed. “But, I agree with everything he was saying.”

The men talked more about what Mr. Davis had said and then conversation turned to security around the
ranch.

“We have the two guards at the entrance, two more are on patrol on the four wheelers mostly around the fence
line, and at night we have two on duty inside the complex. Guard shifts are 6 hours long and we use FRS radios for
communications.” Todd informed them.

“What kind of camouflage was it that the guards were wearing?” Mark asked.

“It’s called ‘Pear Flat. It's supposed to blend in to this environment better than anything else does. Mr. Davis
bought a bunch of it for the men to wear on guard duty.” Todd told him.

Mark looked down to the other end of the table and saw that Jess and Lisa were talking with Todd’s wife,
Andrea. Mark thought that they were probably gossiping about who had the nicest cabin. The men’s talk drifted to the
ranch’s water supply. Todd explained that there were several wells already on the ranch when Mr. Davis bought it. They
were all just for the cattle and were pumped by windmill. The closest one to the camp had been fitted with a solar jack
pump that used solar panels and a DC current pump. The brighter the sun shone, the more water it would pump. It
filled a 3000 gallon tank that gravity fed an identical tank in the complex. Each cabin was hooked into that tank and
had a 12 volt RV pressure pump that was hooked into that cabin’s batteries to provide running water. When both 3000
gallon tanks were full, the overflow was piped to a freshwater tank on the ranch. Mark and Jim both thought that it was
an ingenious system.

When dinner was over, the women that had been serving cleared the tables. Some of the children got board
games and played quietly on one side of the room. Most of the children went outside to play and a couple of the moth-
ers went out to watch them. The rest of the adults and some of the teenagers gathered to listen to the new President’s
speech.

The President didn’t have a lot to say. He said that he hoped he could do as good a job as his predecessor did
and asked the country to pray for and support him. He said that some power should be on any time now, but that it
may take a little while to totally restore power. He assured the world that the US would get the power back on to Wall
Street as soon as possible and that they should remain bullish on America. He ended by saying what a great loss the
country had already endured and that everyone needed to concentrate their efforts to rebuilding America, not rioting
and looting.

After the speech, everyone talked about it much like the talk that happened at Jon’s house every night. The big
difference that Mark noticed was that everyone here pretty much agreed on what they heard. They all believed that the
President was covering up the truth. The only difference of opinion here was to the degree he was lying.

After a while some of the adults excused themselves to do some of the chores that needed to be finished before
dark. Others started getting games out and playing. Many of the women were playing Scrabble. Jess and Lisa joined
them. Some of the men were playing dominoes. Todd asked Jim and Mark if they knew how to play 42. When they said
yes, he asked if they would like to play him and Tom. When Mark and Jim had won three games in a row, Todd com-
mented good naturedly that he should have known better than to challenge two number crunchers. By that time, it was
about 8:30 and dark. Everyone started drifting off to their cabins. Jim decided that it was time to do the same and said
good night to everyone. Mark and his family were right behind them. Before they left, Todd told them that breakfast
was at 7:00 AM and that they would tour the rest of the ranch right after.
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When they got back to their cabin, Mark asked everyone what they thought so far. David thought that it would
be great to live here. Sam said that she hated it, which was no big surprise. Jess told Mark that she thought it was a
great setup, but that she was holding her opinion until she saw a little more. Mark was pleased that she was being so
open-minded. Perhaps there was a chance that she would see the logic of moving here. Everyone took their turn at the
shower, and then they went to bed.

Mark woke up a little after 6:00. It had been the best night’s sleep he had since the burst. The cabin was pretty
comfortable with the ceiling fan and the fact that the complex had security didn’t hurt either. He got out of bed and
thought about running. Since he didn’t know exactly what the security routine was he decided to take the day oft from
running. Instead, he did some stretching and some pushups and sit-ups. After that, he got dressed and woke everyone
up. A few minutes before 7:00, they headed over to the dining room. Todd was already there talking with a few of the
men about some things that they needed to get accomplished. A couple of minutes later, Jim and his family came in.
For breakfast they were served scrambled eggs with biscuits and gravy. When they were done eating, Todd invited both
families to go on the tour. He said that he would drive the women in a Jeep and the guys could ride the ATV’s. Jess,
Lisa, and Sam asked if it would be OK for them to just hang around the complex. Todd told them that was fine and
the three men with David in tow headed to the garage. The AT V’s were all new Polaris four stokes. Todd asked David
if he had ever ridden one, and David told him that one of his friends had one and that he rode it all the time. The men
climbed on the four that were closest to the door and took off. When they left the complex, they headed toward the
lake single file.

At the lake they stopped the ATV’s and got oft. Todd showed them the boats that they had. There were two 16-
foot Jon boats with Mercury 25 HP four stroke engines. There was a 17-foot canoe and an 18-foot Carolina Skiff with
a center console and a Honda 90 horse motor. All were tied to a floating dock with a walkway out to it from the bank,
except the canoe was turned upside down on the dock.

“Nice boats.” David said.

“Do you think these are what we need?” Todd asked the men.

Jim answered. “The Jon boats are great for duck hunting and running trot lines. The skiff will be nice to fish out
of. I don’t know how much you’ll use the canoe, unless you run out of gas for the motors.”

Mark smiled. “I don’t know how comfortable I would be in a canoe with the size of some of the gators I've seen
in this lake.”

“What’s the biggest you've seen?” Todd inquired.

“Maybe fourteen feet long. But, I didn’t put a tape measure on him if you know what I mean.” Mark winked.

“I guess I see what you mean.”

The men climbed back onto the four wheelers and rode around the perimeter of the ranch. They saw deer, tur-
keys, and signs of feral hogs. The ranch was loaded with rabbits, and had lots of dove and some quail. When they rode
up to the freshwater tank that the solar jack pump overflowed into, they scared 10 or 12 bluewing teal off.

“It looks like there is lots of game.” Mark observed. “You just need to manage it a little and it should supple-
ment the food supply nicely”

“That’s one of the things that we want you guys for” Todd stated. “What do you say we head back and have
some lunch. Then we can talk to Mr. Davis again”

They made the short trip back to the complex just in time for lunch. Todd excused himself to report to Mr.
Davis. He told the men that he would come get them when lunch was over. Mark and Jim found their wives and they
headed over to eat lunch. Lunch was a simple meal of tomato soup and grilled cheese sandwiches. The couples sat to-
gether and the men told the women about what they had seen on the tour. When they were done filling in the women,
Jess and Lisa had some things to fill the guys in on.

“We visited with a lot of the women here while you were on the tour.” Jess began. “And they are not treated as
equals here. They have little say in what goes on and how the work is split up. In fact, Mr. Davis makes the work assign-
ments and he makes it clear that it’s his way or the highway”

“That’s not all we noticed”” Lisa continued. “What percentage of the population of South Texas would you say
that Hispanics represent?”
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“Probably 60 to 70 percent, I would guess.” Jim answered as Mark nodded his head in agreement.

“Well, I don’t know the exact number, but you're probably close. However there is not a Hispanic family or a
Black family here”

“That’s interesting.” Jim said.

“None of that means anything necessarily” Mark stated. “The women are just not used to having to work under
crisis conditions and maybe they just haven’t found any Mexican families that fit into what they need yet.”

“Mark Turner, where there’s smoke there’s probably fire. You need to look at this whole thing objectively.”

“You just can't see that I am the only one here who is looking at things objectively”” Mark whispered rather than
raised his voice and caused a scene. “Maybe things aren’t perfect here, but they don’t look that bad to me. At least here
we know that we'll be fed and protected. That’s something that we don’t have any assurances of at home.”

“Well, I'm not real comfortable discussing this here. Why don't you go have your meeting with Mr. Davis and
then let’s go home so we can make a decision with no outside pressure.” Jess suggested.

“I want to stay another day.” Mark blurted.

“I don’t” Jess shot back. “Let’s take a vote”

“I'm with Jess on this one.” Lisa said meekly.

“I think I am too, Mark.” Jim told him.

“I thought you were my friend?” Mark said sarcastically.

“I am your friend, even when it’s hard to be your friend like right now.” Jim told him. “Look, we've seen what
we need to see. Let’s see what Mr. Davis has to say and then let’s go home and make a decision.”

“Damn you all!” Mark was so mad he saw red. “I think youre conspiring against me sometimes. But since I'm
‘outvoted; I guess we'll just fucking go home this afternoon.” He got up and walked outside.

Why did he get so mad so fast lately, he wondered to himself? He should be able to control his temper better than that.
But the others would not look at the reality of how serious this could be. What was more important, equal and civil
rights or survival? He would just have to find a way to convince them. He had to stay cool and logical if he was going to
do it.

A few minutes later he walked back into the dining room and sat down.

“I'm sorry I lost my temper. I still disagree with you all, but that was no reason to lose my temper.” He said.

“That’s OK, buddy.” Jim squeezed his shoulder and shook him a little.

About that time Todd came in and asked the men if they were ready. They walked over to Mr. Davis’s cabin and
knocked on the door. Millie showed to the same room as last night and Mr. Davis was already there.

“So what did you think of the ranch?” He asked.

“It’s beautiful” Jim answered.

Mr. Davis beamed. “We think we have a good setup here, and everything we need to weather this thing
through. The biggest challenge is getting the right people to make it work. We believe that you two and your families
are the right people. But there are some things that we want to go over with you. First, we can only take in the eight of
you. No extended family or friends. We just don’t have the resources to feed or house a lot more people.”

“Todd made that clear to us before.” Jim told the older man.

“Good. The second thing is that this is not a democracy. We will listen to input from everyone, but in the end,
there can only be one leader. Right now, that leader is me. If something were to happen to me, then Todd would take
over.”

“We understand.” Mark said.

“Lastly, once you come, there will be a verbal contract between us. If you decide to leave, or in the unlikely
event that we ask you to leave, you will never be allowed back.”

“What would cause you to ask someone to leave?” Jim asked.

“Not pulling their weight, refusing to follow orders, stealing, or some major infraction. We haven't had to do
that and we don't expect to ever have to. But it’s best if everyone knows all the rules up front”

“That only sounds reasonable.” Mark affirmed.
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“OK, now that we have that out of the way, I want to tell you what we want you and your wives to be respon-
sible for. Both of you will be in charge of supplementing our stored food by hunting and fishing. We will assign men
to help you as you need them and as their schedules permit. Mark, we want you to be in charge of the group’s physical
fitness and to start a martial arts and self defense class. Let us know how many times per week you think that people
should train and we will work it into everyone’s schedule. Jim, you will be responsible to teach the men and the boys
to shoot. We were thinking about a comprehensive course for everyone and then regular refreshers, but it will be up
to you to present us with what you think we should do. Both of you will also have to pull some guard duty. Jim, Lisa
will be assigned to the clinic. And Mark, Jessica will be in charge of teaching science at the school. And the women
will have to help in the kitchen on a regular basis. The children will be given responsibilities in line with their age and
ability. Everyone will be expected to help with the gardening and with the animals from time to time. That is what we
want from you. In return you will be full members of the group with all the benefits that living here provides...food,
shelter, security, and a sense of community. Plus a chance to be a real force in the rebuilding of this country when we
get through this thing”

“That sounds really good to me.” Mark said.

“But we need to talk it over with our wives and make sure that we are doing the best thing for our families.” Jim
interjected.

“Of course” Mr. Davis said. “You are welcome to stay here as long as you wish or if you want to go home to
make up your mind, that is fine. We will expect your answer in within a week”

“The women want to go home to talk about it, so we will be leaving this afternoon. But, we will have an answer
in a week” Mark explained.

“That’s fine” Todd spoke for the first time.

“I have a couple of questions.” Jim stated.

“OK” Mr. Davis looked at Jim.

“I noticed that the men and the women don’t often share the same responsibilities. Some might consider that
the women are not seen as equal to the men on the ranch.” Jim was being unusually tactful and Mark wondered if Lisa
had coached him on what to say.

Mr. Davis thought for a moment. “Equal and the same are two different things. The women are treated equally,
but they do not always do the same jobs that the men do. Everyone is expected to help out where they are the most use-
ful. It would do us little good to put you in the clinic to help Dr. Smith, right?”

“I see your point.” Jim answered. “I also noticed that there were no minority families here. Is there a reason for
that?”

“We are not prejudiced if that is what you are asking” Mr. Davis answered flatly. “We have a certain profile that
we look for in prospective members. They must be hard working, conservative in their politics, have family values and
be moral. We also require them to be of a Protestant religion. And, most of all, they must bring skills that we need to
the table. Most Hispanics are Catholic. And the majority of Blacks were raised in urban areas and they have no skills
that would be useful to the group. If we could have found someone who was a minority that fit the profile, 'm sure we
would have made them the same offer we are making you.”

“I figured it was something like that” Mark said looking at Jim.

“Gentlemen, if there is nothing else I must excuse myself. I look forward to hearing from you in the next week”
Mr. Davis shook each man’s hand and then walked out of the room.

Todd, Jim, and Mark walked outside. Todd shook the hands of the two guests and then explained that he had
to go check on some work to make sure that it was getting done. He told the two friends how much they would be ap-
preciated at the ranch and expressed his hope that they would decide to move here. He told them to use the yellow ban-
dana again when they came back. Jim and Mark thanked him for the group’s hospitality and told him that they would
see him in about a week.

When the men got back to the cabins, the women and children had already loaded the trucks. The families
loaded up and headed for home. Mark wondered if they would ever be back.
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Chapter 11 - Duties and DGI’s

The trip home was uneventful. On the way, Mark told Jess about what all Mr. Davis had said. Jess was still very
skeptical. Mark knew that she would be a hard sell, and he would have to be at the top of his game if he was going to
have any chance of convincing her. Mark wondered why his wife and friends couldn’t see that the ranch was their best
chance to make it through this mess. It seemed like politics was more important to them than survival. The only legiti-
mate reason he could see for not going to the ranch was the fact that they could not bring their extended families. Mark
felt that the obligation to his immediate family outweighed his responsibilities to his extended family. He owed it to his
children to see that they got the best chance to not only survive, but to prosper after this crisis had passed.

When they got to the ‘Silver Hills’ entrance, one of the men on guard duty, Mark couldn’t remember his name,
waved them down.

“Hi, Mark. How was your trip?” The man asked.

“Pretty good” Mark answered wondering how he knew they were on a trip. “How did things go around here?”

“It’s been quiet. Listen, Jon wanted to know if you could go see him as soon as you got home?”

“Sure thing”

“OK. Thanks.

When the families got back to the Turner house, Mark told the Davises what the guard had asked. Lisa and
Jess told Mark and Jim to go see what he wanted while they got unloaded and started supper. When the men got to
Jon’s house, they knocked on the door. Jon answered wearing his Baretta on his hip. A few days ago, Mark would have
thought that it was ridiculous to wear a pistol around the house. Now he thought it might be a good idea.

“Hi guys.” Jon greeted them. “I was hoping you would be back today” Jon invited them inside. The house was
hot, but with all the windows open it was bearable. The three men sat down in the living room?”

“There are a couple of things that I want to talk to you about, Mark.” Jon started. “First of all, we picked up on
the fact that you and Jim were going to look at a place to move to until things settled down.”

“Where did you hear that?” Mark wanted to know.

“Your wives mentioned it to my wife the night that you didn’t come to the meeting.”

Mark started getting red in the face. Why couldn’t women keep their mouths shut?

“Please don’t be mad. I'm glad we found out. It made me look at how much we need you around here. I know
that you and I are two ends of the spectrum, and that we rarely agree. But, you are respected by a lot of people in the
neighborhood, me included. I need you to help balance me out. You make me look at the other side of the problem.

If you move off, we lose that. Plus, if you move, a lot of other people are going to start feeling insecure around here.
I guess what I am saying is that I don’t want you to leave. We talked about it some at the meeting last night and just
about everyone else feels the same way”

“That’s nice to hear, Jon. To be honest with you, we haven’t decided what we’re going to do. But, it's mostly go-
ing to come down to what is best for our families”

“I understand. Just please give a little thought to what is best for your neighbors too”

“We will” Mark promised. “What was the other thing that you wanted me for?”

“Some of us are getting a little low on groceries. We were wondering if you would run us to the store to get our
$50 worth since no one else has a running car?”

Mark couldn’t help but wonder if this was the real reason that they didn’t want him to leave. He and Jim did
have the only running vehicles in Silver Hills and he was the only one that had a generator to pump water as far as he
knew. “Sure, Jon, we would be happy to. How many people want to go?”

“Everybody”” Jon said sheepishly.

“Oh. I see” Mark was a little overwhelmed. Did they really expect him to take everyone to the store?

“We know we can't all go in one trip. We made a list of who needs to go the most and they can go first. The rest
can go as you can take us” Jon explained.

“When did the first ones want to go?” Mark asked.
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“About ten families are real short on food. Do you think there is anyway you could go today?”

“Sure” Mark answered cheerfully. He wasn't so cheerful on the inside though. “Why don’t you get them over to
my house as soon as possible. As long as some don’t mind riding in the back of my truck, we can take 10 people easily”

“Thanks, Mark. I'll have them over to your place within 30 minutes.”

While Jim and Mark were walking back to the house, Jim suggested that they run by the office and get more
gas for the generator as long as they were making a trip to town. Mark thought that was a good idea. They could go get
the gas while the others were waiting to get into the store. When they got home they told the women what Jon had said
and about the request he had made.

“Why do you have to take them?” Jess questioned.

“Who else can?” Mark answered seeing an opportunity to make a point. “It must be 30 miles round trip and
nobody else has any running vehicles. If we stay here, we are going to have to be doing this kind of thing all the time””

Jess didn’t say anything. Mark and Jim went to the shed to get the jerry cans. Two were completely empty and
the third was only about half full. They poured the two and a half cans of gas into Jim’s truck and then loaded all five
cans into the bed of Mark’s truck. While they were doing this, they talked about what they might need in case they got
attacked again. Mark and Jim then went back into the house and opened the gun safe. Mark got his FAL out and put
it into a soft case that had 5 pockets on one side. He then took five 20 round magazines out of the closet and loaded
them with South African surplus ammo and put one in each pocket on the gun case. Jim got his Mossberg 590 out of
the safe and found a box of 25 rounds of 12 gauge three inch magnum triple ought buckshot to go with it. The shotgun
went into a soft case. He then got his Glock 34 out of its box and loaded three magazines with 9mm hollow points. One
magazine was inserted into the pistol and the other two were out in a mag holder on his left hip. He then put the Glock
in a paddle holster and put it on his right hip. Since the Glock magazines were all pre-ban full capacity, they held 17
rounds each. This gave Jim a total of 52 rounds of ammo including the one in the chamber. Mark checked his .45 and
the magazines for it. Since the 1911 magazines only held 8 rounds each, Mark had a total of 25 rounds including the
one in the pipe of his Colt. Both men had on T-shirts with unbuttoned and untucked denim shirts over them to hide
the pistols. They carried the cases out to the truck and put them behind the back seat. About that time, the first of Jon’s
shoppers showed up. Within 5 minutes, all ten had arrived at Mark’s. Eight were men and only two were women. They
were thanking Mark incessantly. The two women and one of the men climbed into the back seat of the big Ford. The
other men got into the bed and sat down. Mark and Jim sat in the front seat and Mark started the truck. On the way to
the store, Mark, Jim, and the three in the back seat chatted. Mark told them that he and Jim were going to drop them
oft and go get some fuel for the generator. Hopefully they would be back about the time they were through shopping.
If not, Mark advised, just stay close to the store and wait until they got back. The two friends dropped oft the shoppers
and headed to the office. When they got there, Jim opened the gate and Mark pulled through. Jim locked the gate be-
hind them and walked over to where the fuel tanks were. Mark filled the truck with diesel while Jim filled the jerry cans
with gas.

“Do you think we could get these tanks to your place?” Jim asked.

“If we had a trailer, I guess we could move them. But, I think we would have to empty them first, otherwise
they would be too heavy”

“If we decide to stay at your house, that'’s something that maybe we should think about.”

“I reckon” Was all Mark had to say.

“Anything else we could use from here?” Jim asked looking around.

“Probably” Mark answered seeming to warm up a little. “We have to bring another group to the store tomor-
row. Whatcha say we swing by here again and see what we can find?”

“Sounds good to me”

With the gas in the back and the Ford’s two tanks full, the men headed back to the store. When they got there,
their passengers were still in the store. After about 5 minutes the first came out and got into the truck. Ten minutes
after that the last was loaded up and ready to go. On the way home, the main topic of conversation was what the store
was out of.

“They were out of canned meat, beef stew, and candles.” Sherri Henderson reported.
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“I couldn’t get any canned meat either. I never thought that Kroger would run out of Spam. They were out of
some canned fruits and vegetables as well and they didn’t have any matches” The other woman said. Mark didn’t know
her name.

Scott Simmons was sitting inside for the trip home. “They were also out of AA, C, and D batteries. All they had
were AAA, 9-volt, and those big 6-volt lantern batteries. I noticed that they were pretty low on Coleman lantern fuel
too. I guess some people don’'t know that you can use unleaded gas in the lanterns and stoves.”

“The man at the table said that they were supposed to get resupplied sometime the middle of next week even if
the power was still off. He said they would allow every family another $50 worth if that was the case.” Sherri informed
Mark and Jim.

“That’s encouraging.” Jim said.

“Sure is” Mark agreed.

By the time they got home, the president’s speech was over. Mark had forgotten to take the portable with him.
Jess and Lisa filled the men in on what the president had said as they walked to Jon’s for the daily gathering.

“Mostly he just said that they had run into a few ‘unexpected snags’ on the power but that it shouldn’t take
more than another two or three days to get it back on.” Jess said.

“I'm starting to agree with everyone that thinks it’s going to be a while before we have power. It’s been what?
Five days. They said two or three days when the Burst hit on Tuesday. Now it’s still going to be ‘two or three days’ It’s
just starting to sound like a broken record.” Lisa admitted.

Mark thought that might be a sign that the women were softening their position. Maybe he did have a chance
to convince them to move. When they got to Jon’s, Mark noticed that just about everyone from the neighborhood was
at the meeting. He also noticed that the mood was a little gloomy. The shoppers filled everyone in about what they were
and were not able to buy at Kroger. Mark and Jim announced that they would make two trips to Kroger the next day.
They would take both trucks so they could handle 20 shoppers per trip as long as some didn’t mind sitting in the back
again. They said they would make the first trip about 8 and the second probably around 2 in the afternoon. The list of
shoppers was brought out and the next twenty were told to be at Marks by 7:45. Jon asked Mark and Jim if they would
mind filling in on guard duty from Midnight to four oclock. He said that he hated to ask since they were taking every-
one to the store tomorrow, but one of the men who was scheduled for the shift was sick and the other had filled in the
night before for someone else. The men agreed to do it since everyone else had taken their turn. Mark really wanted
to talk over going to the ranch with Jim and the women, but if he was going to be on guard duty for four hours he had
better get some sleep. Maybe this was good, he thought. He and Jim would have plenty of time to talk alone this way. If
he could convince Jim, then he would have an ally in trying to convince the women. The old divide and conquer might
just work. When the meeting was winding down, Jon asked if anyone had anything else to bring up. Abigail Petersen
raised her hand.

“Yes, Mrs. Petersen?”

“I was thinking that we might have a street dance one of these nights. It would help to take everyone’s minds
off of their problems at least for a little while.”

A murmur of approval went through the crowd.

“I have a big Boombox with fresh batteries that will play CD’s and cassettes.” Someone volunteered.

“What about lights?” Someone else shouted.

“We could push a couple of cars over and use the headlights” A third person suggested. “At least we could get
some use from the worthless pieces of junk that way”

“It sounds like a good idea to me.” Jon said. “Does anyone see a problem with it?”

Everyone just shook their heads.

“OK, Abigail, you thought of it, so I guess you're in charge. If you want to help, see Mrs. Petersen. When you
have everything set just let us know.”

Everyone left Jon’s house in a pretty good mood. Mark was surprised how quickly everyone’s spirit picked up
at the mention of a dance. It was funny how little things could make a big difference in people’s attitudes. Jess and Lisa
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were talking about how they could make some cake or cookies to take to the dance. Mark just shook his head. If they
didn’t go to the ranch, he had no idea how they were going to eat next month, and the girls are talking about baking
cookies. They just didn't get it.

Chapter 12 - Paradigm Shift

When the alarm went off at 11:30, Mark got out of bed. He pulled on his clothes, put his Colt on his hip, and
grabbed the day pack he had loaded before he went to bed. It contained a big flashlight, his camouflaged rain jacket,

a couple of bags of peanuts, a canteen of water, and the magazines for his Marlin Camp .45. He had chosen the .45
carbine for night time guard duty mostly because it had a Leupold red dot scope on it. It was not a night vision scope,
but if you could make out the silhouette of the target, you could put the lighted dot on it and shoot. Mark had killed a
couple of feral hogs in the dark on his deer lease with it and he had a lot of confidence in this carbine. It had an effec-
tive range of only about 75 yards, but it made a big hole and was light and handy. When he stepped out of the camper,
he noticed the cool front that the weather man had predicted had arrived. It was in the low 70’s and a light wind was
blowing out of the north. It might be in the upper 60’s by dawn. What a welcome change that would be. Jim stepped
out of his pop up with his Glock on his hip. He was carrying his Mossberg shotgun and a day pack similar to MarKks.
The two men walked down to the entrance of the subdivision. They chatted with the two men that they were reliev-
ing for a couple of minutes and then took their post by the ‘Silver Hills’ sign. Jim loaded the magazine on his shotgun
and Mark inserted a magazine into the Camp .45. Neither man chambered a round. Someone had left a couple of lawn
chairs and the two men put their packs on the ground and then sat holding their long guns across their laps.

“I guess this makes everyone feel better, but I still think it's a waste of time.” Mark said.

“Why do you say that?” Jim asked.

“Because just the two of us alone probably couldn't stop a few mutant zombie bikers from just driving into the
subdivision. We might slow them down a little or give them something to think about, but we couldn’t stop them from
driving through the field or even just running over us. If we had security like they have at the ranch, we could do some
good, but not like this”

“You think the ranch security was good?”

“Heck, yeah” ‘Heck’ wasn't a dollar word. “Didn’t you?”

“Well, the gate and fence were impressive.” Jim admitted.

“Impressive, hell!” ‘Hell’ was a dollar word. “Nothing less than a tank is going to get through that gate”

“I'm not sure they are any better off in some respects than we are. I was thinking that maybe we should run by
Gunny’s house tomorrow and see what he thinks about the ranch’s security”

“They have those guys at the gate in that good camo that you can’t see, two roving guards, and two guards in
the complex after dark. Plus they have real weapons, not Grandpa’s old deer rifle. How could you not think that they
are light years ahead of us here?” Mark asked.

“In some ways, they are. But I think they may have some holes too. If we talk to Gunny, we’ll know for sure.
What could that hurt?”

“It won't hurt anything. But I think he’ll be pretty impressed when we tell him about their setup.”

“Maybe so. What do you think about the rest of the setup they have?” Jim asked his friend.

“I thought it was great, didn’'t you?”

“Yes, but Lisa pointed out a couple of things that concern me some.”

“You mean the women and minority issue?”

“Well, that too. But some other things as well”

“Like what?”

“Like some of the seeds they had for the garden were hybrids.” Jim said.

“So?”

“You see, hybrid seeds are engineered to produce better fruit, but they cannot produce viable seed to replant.
So after you run out of store bought seeds, you're out of luck”
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“I didn’t know that”

“Neither did I. And, that’s not all she pointed out to me.”

“What else?” Mark asked.

“Well she noticed that they had a lot of hay in the barn, but they didn’t have any equipment to cut or bale their
own once they run out. She said that if it didn’t rain for several months, the cattle could go through all of their hay
pretty quickly”

“Maybe they have the equipment and we just didn’t see it.”

“That’s what I said, but she asked around while we were touring the ranch. Some of the men told her that all of
the equipment was in the barn”

“Hmmm?”

“Another thing she asked about was canning equipment. There isn't any, so they don’'t have any way to store
what they get from the garden except to freeze it. That’s OK, but what about if they run out of fuel for the generator and
can’t use the freezer?”

“I guess that could be a problem down the road.” Mark admitted.

“I noticed a couple of things too. You saw all the reloading equipment, right?”

“Yes. It all looked like top of the line stuft”

“It is. But it was all brand new””

“What’s wrong with that?”

“Nothing in and of itself. It’s just that I don’t think they know how to use it. They have bought a lot of the
things that they need, but if you don’t know how to use it, what good is it?” Jim asked rhetorically. “It’s like those Bar-
rett’s they have. They look impressive, but if you don't have someone who really knows how to use one, they aren’t any
better than grandpa’s old deer rifle”

“At least they have the stuft” Mark said emphatically. “And, they can learn to use it can’t they?”

“Maybe so, but what if their survival depends on something they haven't figured out yet. There is little room
for error in a survival situation. If this thing goes for a long time and gets as bad as they think it might, they can’t afford
many mistakes. If the cattle die because they can’t make hay, where will they get more? If they can’t grow food next year
because they grew hybrid strains of vegetables, who is going to give them more seeds? If they need to reload ammo for
the fifty calibers and no one in the group knew that they needed a particular powder, where are they going to buy it?
Knowledge is the one thing that you can’t just go out and buy. We say all the time that the mind is your best weapon.
Well, in a survival situation, knowledge and experience are your best tools. Plus, what if they did get attacked by a gang
of mutant zombie bikers? Do they have enough manpower to really defend against a large group? I just don’t know...
that's why I want to talk to Gunny. The other thing that really concerns me about the ranch is Mr. Davis”

“How so?” Mark asked.

“It’s his attitude. How did Jess put it? ‘My way or the highway’ It just rubs me the wrong way that he just stays
in his cabin while everyone else carries out his wishes. It’s his ranch so he can do what the wants, but I would like to
have some say in things that effect me and mine”

The two men just sat quietly for a while.

“Well then, if we decide not to go to the ranch, what are we going to do?” Mark asked his friend.

“I think we have several options. We could haul the campers down to the deer lease and stay there. It is far
enough from any large city and far enough off of the paved road that we should be safe there, but we would also be
isolated from help if we needed it. We could go to Lisa’s parents in Uvalde. Her dad stopped farming after his stroke
and he sold off most of his land. He still has about ten acres, though. There is plenty of room for all of us, but it’s pretty
close to town. Uvalde is fairly small, but if there was rioting there, I don’t know how safe it would be. But, I think you're
sitting against the best answer”

Mark looked over his shoulder at the sign. “What? Plywood?”

“No, Mr. Literal. Silver Hills”

“How do you figure that? It’s still just our two families.”
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“It’s not just us. You have good neighbors. That is obvious from the meetings at Jon’s house. With a little leader-
ship, this subdivision could evolve into a real community. There is room for gardening and we could raise some small
animals here. We have room here for all of our families too. There are enough people here to do a lot of work and you
have a pretty diverse group. I don't know if we could hold off a big group of mutant zombie bikers any better than they
could at the ranch, but we have a lot more man power. Jon should be able to come up with some kind of defense plan
since he was in the Marines.”

“I guess if everyone worked together, it could be a viable option.” Mark admitted. “So you've made up your
mind to not go the ranch?”

“No. I still think that the ranch has a lot going for it and it might be our best option despite all of the negatives.
But, I think that we really need to look close at all of our options. Once we choose, we might not be in a position to
change our minds”

“I guess I've been really narrow minded the last few days” Mark said apologetically.

“As a matter of fact, you have. But we all knew that you were just overreacting to what happened at Kroger.
And, we also knew that you would calm down eventually. You always do”

“Am I that easy to read?”

“Mark, why do you think the guys at work always invite you to play poker?”

“Maybe it’s because of my sparkling personality” He said with a big grin.

“Yeah, that’s it” Jim said rolling his eyes.

The two friends spent most of the remainder of their time on guard duty talking about what might happen
in San Antonio if the power didn’t come back on. They also spent some time just looking at the stars. The lights from
town usually blocked out all but the brightest stars. But with all of the lights out and the clear sky that the cool front
had brought, you couldn’t have counted all of them in a lifetime. When their shift was over, their relief had not arrived.
They showed up about 10 minutes later. The two friends walked back up the hill and went back to bed.

Chapter 13 - A Talk with Gunny

Mark had set his alarm for 7:00. When it went off, it seemed like he had just fallen asleep. He had spent a good
amount of time just laying in bed and thinking about what he and Jim had talked about on guard duty. Maybe staying
here was not such a bad idea. They didn't have everything they needed, but between what the neighbors might have
and what they could buy, beg, or borrow, perhaps it could work. He got out of bed and got redressed into the clothes
that he had worn last night. It was almost cold in the camper. He looked at the thermometer and it read 67 degrees. It
hadn’t been this cool since early May. It felt good. Everyone else in the camper was still asleep. Mark made sure they
were all covered up good and he exited the camper as quietly as possible.

Jim was already outside and was loading his shotgun into his truck.

“Care for a continental breakfast?” Jim asked his friend.

“Huh?”

Jim threw a mylar package at his friend. Mark caught it and immediately knew what it was.

“Poptarts. My favorite.”

Jim almost always brought these on their fishing trips. They ate them cold usually. Like Jim said, they tasted
like shit, but you could live on them. Mark ripped open the package and pulled one out. It took about 3 bites to fin-
ish the first and then he started on the second. When the men were finished with their ‘breakfast of champions, they
pulled out the jerry can that they had emptied into the generator last night and put it in the back of Mark’s truck. Mark
also remembered to put the portable radio in the truck this time. The early shoppers had started arriving at 7:30 and by
7:40 all 20 were present and accounted for. They climbed into the trucks and headed to town.

When they dropped the shoppers off, the line was longer than Mark had seen it on the two previous times
he had been here. Mark told them that they would be back in about an hour and a half and if they got done before he
and Jim were back to stick close to the store and wait. The two trucks then headed out of the parking lot and toward
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the office. Once there, they filled the jerry can and then topped off the trucks’ tanks. They started looking around for
anything that might be useful. The first thing they found was a large 60 amp battery charger. The next item they found
on their treasure hunt was several gallon jugs of Delo oil. This was oil designed for diesel engines, but it would work
fine in gas engines as well. The last thing that they found in the garage that might be useful was a siphon hose that
could be hooked to a drill for pumping gas. Next they went into the carpenters shop. While they didn't take anything
from inside, they noticed that there were quite a few power tools and a large supply of lumber that the company used
to build shelves and counters for their stores. They looked for the generator that Billy had used to build the benches for
the trucks with, but apparently, someone had taken it. When they were done, they locked the gate behind them and
headed back to Kroger.

Once they picked up the shoppers, they headed home. Jon was sitting in the front seat with Mark for the ride
home.

“Man, my wife made a list of what we needed but I was only able to get a little over half of it before I was at my
$50 limit” Jon explained.

“I know what you mean.” Manny Hernandez said. “My list only had very basic items on it but I couldn’t get to
the bottom of it. I hope they get a truck in so that we can buy another $50 worth.”

“Little good it would do me” The man that was standing guard duty with Manny the other day said. “We only have
another $13 in cash at home. If the banks don’t open, we won’t be able to buy any more anyway.’

“I'm sure that we could lend you some cash.” Manny offered.

“I appreciate that, Manny. Hopefully, this will all blow over quickly and things will get back to normal.” The
man replied.

“Did you all see the fight?” Jon asked.

“No. I just heard about it” Manny answered.

“What happened?” Mark wanted to know.

“Some guy tried to keep putting items in his basket after the clerk told him that he was at his limit. The clerk
tried to take one of the items out of the basket and the guy decked him. Then he tried to run out of the store with the
basket. He got to the parking lot, but the policeman ran him down and arrested him?” Jon explained.

“How bad did the clerk get hurt?” Mark asked.

“It was mostly just his pride, but he’ll probably still have a nice shiner to show for it. Who ever thought that
you ought to get combat pay for working at Kroger?”

“Hey, Jon. Speaking of combat pay, do you think we should upgrade the security for the neighborhood?” Mark
inquired.

“I don’t know. What did you have in mind?”

“I didn’t have anything in mind. I was just wondering if we need more guards or something”

“I don’t understand, Mark. You don’t think we need the guards we have now and you’re asking me about
more?”

“I didn’t think we needed them, but that was when I thought the power would be back on in a couple of days. I
think it's going to be considerably longer than that now, and I was just thinking that we might need more security”

“Well, I'll look at it and let you know.”

On the way home, not far from the subdivision, they passed a small Baptist church with its doors open. Mark
noticed that there were several bicycles parked in front of the church and a few people were walking down the road
towards it as well. Mark looked at his watch. It was almost 10:00. Time for Sunday school, Mark thought. Maybe next
week, he and his family would go. They were Methodist, but Baptist was close enough. Besides, Jim was Baptist and
they could go together. When they got back to the house, several of the men offered Jim and Mark a can of this or that
for taking them to the store. They politely refused. When the shoppers had all left, the two men unloaded what they
had brought home from work and put it in the shed.

When they walked into the house, a big late breakfast was cooking and everybody was up. It was comfortable
in the house for a change. Sam was reading a book to the twins and David was working on a big 500 piece puzzle. The
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men went into the kitchen and got out the dishes and silverware to set the table. They told the girls about the fight at
Kroger and about what they had found at work. Mark mentioned the church down the road and they agreed that it was
a good idea. When they sat down to eat, Mark found that he was as relaxed as he had been since the burst. He knew
they still needed to make a decision, but he was comfortable that they would make the right one. After breakfast, Jim
and Mark worked on a map of the ranch to show Gunny. David walked by and pointed out a couple of things that they
had missed. Mark thought that a teenager’s memory was a strange thing. They could remember the most minor detail
of some place they had been to once, but they couldn’t remember that you told them to clean their room, or if they
had homework over the weekend they never remembered until late Sunday night. When they were through with the
map, Mark got out his list of the things they would need if they stayed at home. As he reviewed it he found some things
that he no longer thought were absolute necessities and others that he added or changed. He went down the list and
prioritized the items into three categories. He put the number one next to anything that they absolutely had to have,
twos went next to the items that would be difficult to live without, and anything that would be nice to have received a
three. As he looked at his list he felt that they could achieve most of the ones and many of the twos. The biggest prob-
lem he felt they faced was how to pump water if and when there was no fuel for the generator. Hopefully, they could

sit down this afternoon or tonight and make a master list from their four separate lists. Mark’s thoughts drifted oft to
other things. He was sitting in his favorite chair in front of the TV. It was Sunday afternoon and if things were normal,
he might be watching a football game right now. The next thing he knew, Jim was shaking his shoulder and telling him
to wake up. Jim told him that it was almost 2 oclock and some of the second group of shoppers were starting to arrive.
Mark asked how long he had been asleep and Jim told that he had started snoring about 45 minutes ago.

When they got to Kroger, the line was even longer than it had been in the morning. Mark figured that it would
take at least 2 hours to just get into the store. The shoppers delivered, Mark and Jim headed for Gunny’s. They parked
their trucks in Jim’s driveway and Gunny was outside before they could get out.

“Hey, Jimbo, I was wonderin’ when you was gonna come by and check on your stuft”

“Hi, Gunny. How are you doing?” Jim answered.

“Cept for this damn knee, I'm doing fine. This change in the weather’s got it achin’ like a sumbitch...Say, how
are my favorite girls doin’?”

“They’re fine, Gunny. But they sure do miss you.”

“You're prob’ly jus’ sayin’ that to make me feel good, but damn if it don’t”

“Listen, Gunny.” Jim explained. “We didn’t come here to check on the house. We came to see you. We need
your expertise.”

“Expertise on what? How to stay regular?”

“No, Gunny. We want you to look at the security arrangements at this place we are thinking about moving to”

“OK, let’s go inside.” Gunny invited.

When they went in Gunny’s house, Mark noticed that it was pretty warm inside. Since Gunny had boarded
up the windows on the front of the house, there was not much air movement. The men sat at the kitchen table and
Jim pulled out the map they had drawn. Mark and Jim filled him in on the gate, the fences, and how the guards were
deployed. Gunny looked the map over and asked a few questions.

“Do the guards check in with someone on a regular basis?”

“Not that we saw.” Jim answered as Mark shrugged his shoulders.

“Do they have any hidden guard posts or lookouts that can see someone coming from a ways oft?”

“If they did, they didn't tell us, and at meals I only noticed 4 families each time that didn’t have the husband at
the table. I don’t think that there are more than 4 guards during the day and 6 at night”

“Do the men in the compound carry their weapons on them?” Gunny inquired.

“Not unless they are carrying concealed.” Mark answered this time. “They have all of the weapons stored in the
armory.’

“Well, if there’s nothing else that ya'll don’t know about, I could take the whole place with about a half a troop
of drunken girl scouts”

“How are you going to do that, Gunny? How are you even going to get through that gate?” Mark asked incred-
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ulously.

“Ahh, Karate Man.” Gunny said with a fake Chinese accent and a huge smile. “Ancient Chinese proverb say you
no attack a man’s strength, but where he is weakest.”

“OK, I hear what you're saying, and I see how that applies to the gate, but how are you going to take the ranch
with just a few attackers? I though the defender’s advantage was 1 to 3. Even if you just count the 25 men at the ranch,
you would need 75 to defeat them. Right?”

“The defender’s advantage only applies when the defenders are dug in and expecting an attack. This is how I
would attack. I wouldn't try to crash that gate. It sounds pretty bulletproof. I reckon I'd cut a hole in the fence before
daylight and then sneak up behind the guards at the gate. I'd wait until the shift change at 6 AM and take all four out
at one time with sub-sonic ammo. Since the compound is about a mile away, they shouldn’t be able to hear the shot as
long as there ain’t no sonic crack. The rovers won't hear it over those fancy four wheelers they ride. I'd then move back
to where I came through the fence and set up on the rovers ‘fore they found the hole I made and take them out the
same way as the other four. Then I would march me and my girl scouts into the compound after daybreak when the
night guards are off duty. Secure the armory and all they got left to shoot at you is the finger”

“Damn.” Mark owed another dollar now. “I had no idea that it would be that easy.”

“Well, we do have inside info and that helps a lot. A random attack without any intel might or mightn’t work.
That gate and fence would prob’ly intimidate most civilians, but it presents almost as many problems as it solves. There
is just too much of it to watch to catch a half way motivated and organized force before they breach it. They need to
put a standing guard of at least 5 or 6 men in the compound twenty-four/seven. And they need a look out that can see
the shit before it hits the fan and some kind of early warning system. They need some fox holes just inside the com-
pound fence here, here, here, and here,” Gunny said as he pointed at the map. “and I would teach the women to shoot,
twenty-five men is not a lot. Plus they all should at least wear a pistol when they’re not on guard duty and keep rifles in
their cabins. I could prob’ly suggest some other stuff if n I saw the place, but just those things would make it a lot more
secure.”

“Thanks, Gunny” Mark said. “Say, would you be willing to come out to my place and tell me what you think
me and the neighbors could do to secure our places?”

“Sure thing, Karate man. That’s the least I could do for you for fixin’ my truck. When do you want me to
come?”

“Say, day after tomorrow about lunch time? I can come pick you up if you want?”

“Naw. Just draw me another map and I'll drive myself”

“OK, Gunny. By the way, how are you set for groceries?”

“Don’t worry ‘bout that, Karate Man. I got lots, plus I went to the Kroger yesterday and bought some more.”

“Thanks for your help, Gunny. We'll see you on Tuesday.” Mark said.

“Yes. Thanks, Gunny. The girls will be excited to see you.” Jim said as he and Mark went out the door.

The two friends checked Jim’s house quickly and then headed back to Kroger. The shoppers were waiting by the
front of the store. They all loaded up and headed home. When they got back to Mark’s house, some of the riders offered
to pay Mark and Jim in cash or goods. They declined again and went into the house. It was a little after 5 and dinner
was ready. They ate and then listened to the President. He had nothing different to say than yesterday. They headed
down to Jon’s to visit with everyone. Mark saw his neighbors a little differently than he had before. If they decided
to stay here, he would be depending on these people as they depended on him. Mrs. Petersen reported that they had
planned the dance for Tuesday night, after the meeting was over. She said that they had everything they needed, except
for ice. Jess suggested that everyone bring their ice trays to Mark when they came to get water and that they would fill
them and put them in the deep freeze. When the meeting was over, the four friends went home and after the guys had
pumped water for the neighbors and put about a hundred ice trays in the deep freeze, they pulled out their lists. All
four were remarkably similar. Sometimes one would have something that the others missed, but for the most part, they
all had the same items. Once they had the master list complete, they split the list into categories. Each item was placed
under food, water, shelter, clothing, security, power, or transportation. Everyone liked MarK’s idea of prioritizing the
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items and how he had done it. They prioritized the list and started discussing where they could buy the things on it and
how much they would cost. When it started getting late, they decided to work on it some more tomorrow. Mark went
into his bedroom and put two dollars in his black box. Then he and Jess went to the camper and went to bed.

Chapter 14 - Deal of the Century

Mark woke up a little later than usual. Jess was already up, and so was David. Sam was still asleep, so Mark got
dressed quietly and went outside to run. He had a lot that he wanted to do today, so he only ran a mile and knocked
out a few pushups and sit-ups and then hit the shower. By the time he got out everyone was awake and breakfast was
almost ready. They all sat down and ate. Everyone discussed what they wanted to get done for the day. Lisa and Jess
wanted to go back to the hardware store and look at some of the things that they needed. Mark wanted to go pay the
man at the auto parts store and go check on Jerry Drew and his family. Jim wanted to get all of his reloading equip-
ment and supplies from his house. Sam wanted to go with Jess and Lisa, and David wanted to go over to his friend’s
house and play football. They decided that David would go with Mark and that Jim would escort all of the girls. Since
there were 6 in Jim’s group he would take the Ford and Mark and David would take the Jeep. They all left at the same
time and Mark headed for Jerry’s house. Jerry lived closer to town than Mark did, but it was still fairly rural. He and
his brother next door had 20 acres each, and his father, who lived across the road and down just a little, had almost 30.
When Mark pulled up to Jerry’s, the gate was locked. Mark honked the horn and Jerry looked out the door and after
a second or two waved at Mark. He pulled his head back inside and then a minute later came back out carrying what
looked like an AK. He jogged the 100 yards or so down to the gate and opened it. Mark pulled through while Jerry
relocked the gate. Jerry jumped on the back bumper of the Jeep and Mark drove up to the house.

“Hey, Mark. Hi, David. What are you two doing here?” Jerry asked.

“Hi, Jerry” David said.

“We just came by to check on you all. I was a little worried when the store was all locked up the other day. I
didn’t think that you guys would close just for the power being out.” Mark said.

“That’s nice of you to think of us. We're all doing OK. We normally wouldn’t close, but none of our trucks are
running and even if they were, we wouldn't be able to sell any guns since we can’t call them in to NICS. The only people
that can buy guns right now are ones like you with a CHL. By the way, how did you get the Jeep to run?”

“I just had to change out the parts that the burst fried. Since it’s a 78 it doesn’t have a computer”

“Man, I wish we could get one of our vehicles to run. Dale and I had to hike into town the other day to buy
groceries and check on the store. You take for granted how far something is when you're used to driving.”

“We might be able to get one of your trucks running. What is the oldest vehicle you have?”

“Dad’s truck is a ‘98. Everything else is a 2000 or newer.” Jerry reported.

“Hmm, I don’t think we could get any of those running. Jim got his ‘91 to run by replacing a lot of parts, but
anything newer than ‘92 or ‘93 is probably not going to be fixed without a new computer”

“We have an old Jeep, I think it’s a ‘74...Dad would know for sure...that stays down at our ranch. Do you think
it would run? It’s not much, but it would sure beat nothing”

“Yes, I think it could be fixed. 'm going to a parts store after this, if you want to go we can see if he has the
parts” Mark offered.

“That sounds good”

“You said that you and Dale went to the grocery store. Did your folks get some groceries?”

“No. It’s just too far for Dad to walk. We took Dad’s driver’s license with us but they wouldn't let us buy his gro-
ceries. They didn’'t need much, Mom buys food like Dale and I still live there so they can get by for a while. We actually
were going to use his $50 worth to buy more for Dale’s family.”

“Well, if you get the Jeep running, then you can take him. Say, is that an AK you had when you opened the
gate?”

“Almost.” Jerry replied. “It’s a Galil. It’s an Israeli built .308 on the Kalashnikov design. They are a great weapon.
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I had this one in the store for $3000, but when the burst hit, I decided to bring it home for safekeeping.”

“You keeping it safe, or it keeping you safe?” Mark asked with a grin.

“Both!”

“That’s cool. How many magazines do you have for it?” David asked.

“I only have three. I wish I had more, but that was all the guy that traded it to me had”

“Dad’s been carrying his FAL and 5 mags with him since those guys tried to steal his truck” David said.

“What happened?” Jerry asked.

Mark was not pleased that David had spilled the beans about the Kroger incident, but he was not mad. It was
hard for a 13 year old boy to keep anything to himself. He told Jerry about what had happened in as little detail as pos-
sible.

“The fortunate thing about it was that, other than dislocating one of their elbows, no one really got hurt” Mark
finished.

“You left out the best part, Dad”

Jerry was amused as he could see that Mark was embarrassed to talk about his heroics. “And what part was
that, David?”

“When Dad pulled his Kel-Tec out, one of the guys peed his pants!” David exclaimed.

“You're right David, that is the best part.” Jerry said laughing.

“Are you ready to go?” Mark asked, trying to change the subject.

“Sure”

Jerry told his wife, Leslie, that he was going to go with Mark to the auto parts store. Then they loaded up into
the Jeep and drove down to Mr. Drew’s house. Jerry asked his dad exactly what year, model, and engine size the Jeep
was. The older man was excited to learn that they might get a vehicle to run. Mark offered to drop him off at Kroger
if he wanted to buy some groceries. He accepted and they all left in the Jeep. Jerry told his Dad the story of Mark’s
encounter at Kroger, and they all had a little fun with Mark about it. Mark still felt a little bad about hurting the guy,
but he was starting to get over it some. He couldn’t imagine how he would have felt if he had been forced to shoot one
of them. He prayed that he would never have to find out. When they got to Kroger the line was about the same as it
had been the day before. Mark figured they had about 3 hours. When they got to the auto parts store the two men and
David went inside.

“Hello, Mr. Turner. How are you today?”

“I'm fine. Thanks. And you?” Mark was embarrassed that he couldn’t remember the man’s name.

“I'm doing OK. Man, I like your Jeep...what is it a 772"

“Almost. It's a ‘78 and thanks to you it runs. I want to introduce you to my friend, Jerry. Jerry this is...I'm sorry,
I'm horrible with names.”

“Rodney.” The man stuck out his hand. “Rodney Roberts.”

“Nice to meet you, Rodney”” Jerry shook Rodney’s hand. “Jerry Drew.”

“Mr. Turner, did that glow plug controller work?” Rodney asked turning to look at Mark.

“When you call me ‘Mr. Turner’ I look over my shoulder to see if my dad is standing behind me. Please call me
Mark. The controller worked perfectly. That’s why I'm here, to pay you for it” Mark said as he pulled out his wallet.

“OK, Mark, I'm glad it worked” Rodney said as he took Mark’s money and made change.

“Rodney;, is there any way to get a ‘98 Chevy truck running?” Mark asked.

“Not without replacing the computer and a lot of the electronics. I don’t carry but a few of the parts you would
need. I know a couple of guys that went to the dealer, but every new computer they checked was fried. They were just
too sensitive to the EMP”

“How about parts for a ‘74 Jeep?” Jerry asked.

“There I can help you” Rodney smiled.

Rodney asked Jerry for the particulars on the Jeep and then went in the back and brought out the parts. Jerry
paid for the parts as Mark was looking at the battery rack where he had found batteries for his radio almost a week
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ago. The rack was empty. Mark asked Rodney if he had any more and was disappointed to learn that he was sold out.
Mark then asked if he had any 12 volt deep cycle batteries. Rodney replied that he only had a few car and truck start-
ing batteries. He suggested that Mark try to find some 6 volt golf cart batteries. He could wire two of them up in series
to make 12 volts. Rodney said that he had all of the cables that Mark would need to wire up a bunch if he wanted to.
The golf cart batteries were some of the best deep cycle batteries made, he explained, and they would last a long time
and take more charging and discharging cycles than a standard boat or RV 12 volt would. He told mark that the secret
to making a deep cycle last was to discharge it no more than 25% before fully recharging it. If they are discharged all
the way it would severely shorten the life of the battery. Mark thanked him for his suggestion and said that he may be
back to buy some cables. Rodney replied that he did not know how much longer he would be keeping the store open.
The first couple of days he had been pretty busy, but it was slowing down and he was out of a lot of the parts that people
wanted. He wrote his home address on the back of a business card and gave it to Mark.

“If 'm not here just come by the house and I'll open up for you.”

Mark and Jerry thanked him and left. Jerry asked Mark if he would mind taking him by the gun store so he
could check on it. Mark replied that he didn’t mind at all since he wanted to buy some ammo. When they got to the
store, Jerry had Mark park in the back. He then unlocked the back door and the trio walked in. Jerry grabbed a flash-
light and then locked the door behind them. The store was dark as there were heavy curtains over the front windows
that the Drews closed at night to keep people from seeing in when the store was closed.

“Do you want me to open the curtains?” Mark asked.

“No. I'd just as soon no one knows we're here.” Jerry replied.

“I see what you mean.”

Jerry looked around the store. Satisfied that everything was OK he turned to Mark. “What do you need?”

“It’s a pretty big list” Mark told him.

“Let’s see it.”

Mark handed the list to Jerry.

“Let’s see....45 auto, 5 boxes...9 millimeter, 10 boxes....30-06 soft points, 5 boxes...” Jerry read down the list
and pulled double what the list said and set it on the counter.

“Jerry, I only have half that much on my list.”

“I know, but don’t worry; I'm going to make you a good deal” He continued down the list pulling double. “243,
5 boxes....22 magnums, 10 boxes....22 long rifles, 5 bricks...AR-15 mags...You don't have an AR do you?”

“No, but Jim has a couple that he shoots in matches. He has 10 or 12 magazines, but he said that if you had
some to buy them for him?”

“Let me go look in the back and see what I have.”

A couple of minutes later, Jerry came back out with a box of magazines and two pre-ban AR-15%. One was an
SP-1 with the old triangle hand guards and the second was a collapsible stock CAR-15.

“Man, those are neat.” David said. “Are you taking those home?”

“No” Jerry replied. “You and your dad are”

“What do you mean?” Mark asked.

“I mean that you are taking these home for safekeeping like I did the Galil”

“I can’t do that. I can’t afford those.”

“Listen to what I have to say before you say no.” Jerry started. “I bought these a while back knowing that one
day they would be worth a bunch if the Assault Weapon ban didn’t sunset or if the stuff hit the fan. Well, the stuff
definitely has hit the fan, but I can’t sell them now because I can’t call into NICS for a background check on anyone. I
can let you take them though since you have a CHL and are exempt from the NICS check. I will put them on an invoice
to you and when the lights come back on, you can bring them back or you can come pay me for them. Now start filling
out the yellow form while David helps me with something in the back”

“I don’t know how to thank you, Jerry”

“We'll talk about that in a minute.” Jerry said as he and David disappeared into the back of the store. A minute
later they walked out carrying a case of .223 ammo each. Jerry got out an invoice book and wrote the two rifles, the box
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of 27 magazines, and the two cases of ammo on it while Mark finished up the yellow form. “OK, here’s the deal. The
ammo on the counter is two for one today. So you owe me...” Jerry did some quick figuring on a calculator. “...$514.63
including tax. If you want you can charge it too, but you know I don’t take ammo back. The cases of .223 can be
brought back if the seals are not broken. If you open them, they’re $150 each. I am going to give you a 300 round battle
pack to use for practice and sighting in. The SP-1 is $800 and the CAR is $1200 if you decide to keep them. Now, I am
doing this because you are a good customer and a friend. There are no strings attached to this deal. I need a favor, but if
you can't do it, I understand, and it does not affect this deal at all”

“Just name it and if there is any way I can do it, I will.” Mark promised.

“Our Jeep is at our ranch in Cotulla. It is almost 100 miles from here. I need a ride and some help to fix the
Jeep”

“I couldn’t go until Wednesday. Is that OK?”

“That’s more than OK, it's wonderful. Thank you.”

“No. Thank you!”

“Is there anything else you need?”

“Well...no, never mind, you've already done too much?”

“What were you going to say?” Jerry asked.

“I was just thinking that I might like to have a defensive handgun for David and Samantha to use”

“Really, Dad! My own pistol” David was really excited.

“No. Yours and Sam’s to share. But I can’t ask Jerry to do any more. You guys can use one of the .22 pistols”

“A .22 is no good for defense. It won’t stop someone quick enough to keep them from hurting you. How about
a factory reconditioned Glock 1727 Jerry asked.

“How much?”

“$400. I'll make you the same deal as the ARs. You can bring it back or buy it later” Jerry offered.

“That would be great”

Jerry disappeared into the back once more and returned with two Glock boxes and a case of 9 millimeter
ammo.

“I just need one, Jerry.” Mark exclaimed.

“I would feel better if you took one for each of them. They will be more responsible and take better care of their
own gun. David, go over to the wall and get two of those Bianchi holsters for the Glocks and two double magazine
pouches too. I can’t give this ammo to the kids, but I'm giving it to you for them to use”

“I don’t know what to say, Jerry. Thanks.”

“That’s all you need to say””

Mark paid cash for the ammo and they loaded everything into the Jeep. Jerry locked the store and they drove
back to Kroger. When they got there, Mr. Drew was still in line. He was very close to the front, so it should not be too
long, Mark figured. The line behind Mr. Drew had grown to what looked like a four or five hour wait. It also looked like
the natives were growing restless. As they were waiting, Mark noticed a city bus pull up and drop two city police offic-
ers off and pick up the two that they were replacing. Mark and Jerry commented that since the patrol cars were all fairly
new and probably not running, the PD was using some of the city busses to transport officers. They discussed how long
it would be before San Antonio would see riots if the power didn’t come back on. Mark thought that it would take a
while before any riots happened here, and that they would probably be small. Jerry was not so optimistic. He felt they
had a week or maybe two at the most and that when the riots started, they would be bad. Hopefully not as bad as the
Cincinnati riots had been, but still pretty severe. Mark thanked Jerry again for the loan of the guns, and Jerry said that
they were probably safer with Mark than at the shop. He mentioned that one of the things they wanted a vehicle for was
to transfer as much of their stock as possible to Mr. Drew’s place. They would have to make lots of trips in the Jeep, but
that it was better than nothing. Mark offered Jerry the use of his truck and Jerry said that he would probably take Mark
up on the offer. About that time, Mr. Drew walked out of the store with his groceries. They put them in the Jeep which
was loaded to the gills now.
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“I never thought it would take over three hours to buy $50 worth of food.” Mr. Drew said as he climbed into
the back of the Jeep with David. “I'm glad we came when we did. Look at how long the line is now. The man that signs
you in and gives you your number said that they are supposed to get a couple of trucks in tomorrow. If that happens,
they will let everyone have another $50 worth.”

“That’s good news.” Mark stated.

“I ask the man what would keep someone from going to the other Krogers in town and buying another $50
worth there if they didn’t get the trucks in. He said they had no way to control that for cash customers...they are keep-
ing the Lone Star food cards of the people on public assistance to control them...and that he was sure that some people
had gone to more than one store. However, he thought the fact that most people were walking was keeping them from
doing that too much.” Mr. Drew explained.

“I know when Dale and I came we wouldn’t have wanted to walk any further to go to a second Kroger.” Jerry
said. “But, if we were hungry enough, I guess we would have walked as far as we needed to.”

“I'm just thankful we have a vehicle” Mark added as he started the Jeep. “It is at least 30 miles, round trip, from
our house.”

“Well, Mark, I want to thank you for bringing me. I couldn’t have made the walk” Mr. Drew exclaimed.

“That’s not all we need to thank him for, Dad. Mark is going to take us to the ranch on Wednesday and help us
fix the Jeep. And, he has offered us use of his pickup if we want to move some stuft out of the shop.” Jerry informed his
father.

“Well, then, double...no, triple thanks.

“Jerry has thanked me enough that it is I who owe you my thanks.” Mark said.

Mr. Drew looked at his son with a quizzical expression.

“I just made him a good deal on some ammo and a couple of rifles” Jerry explained.

“I hope you made him a real good deal, seeing everything that he’s doing for us” Mr. Drew said.

“Don’t worry, Mr. Drew. It was the deal of the century.” Mark said with a gigantic smile.

When he dropped the Drews off, he made arrangements to pick them up at 7:00 AM on Wednesday. David
climbed into the front seat next to his father and they headed for home. Jim and the girls were already there and they
filled Mark and David in on their day.

“When we got to the store, they were out of a lot of the stuft that we went to look at. The kerosene lamps that
you looked at the other day were all gone. We asked if they had any more and they said no and that they didn't know
how or when they would get any more. We decided that we better go ahead and buy some of the stuff that we would
need if we stayed here. I hope you're not upset.” Jess said.

“Of course not. The auto parts was already out of batteries. Some things are going to get harder and harder to
find” Mark answered. “What all did you buy?”

“The most important things we bought are the seeds. They had a lot of them and we bought what we figured
were two years worth of the non-hybrid seeds. Some of the vegetables were only available as hybrids, so we bought
4 years worth of those. Hopefully they will stay good for that long. If not, they were only about a dollar a pack so we
didn’t waste much. We'll have to keep our eyes out for some non-hybrids.” Lisa informed him.

“We also bought a bunch of gardening tools. Spades, rakes, and hoes. Hopefully we can find a garden tiller to
buy or borrow, but we bought the hand tools just in case. I hate to think about doing it all by hand, but if we have to, we
have to” Jim added.

“We got a bunch of galvanized buckets and tubs. And, Mom bought two washboards. I hope we never need
them. Washing clothes by hand is gonna bite.” Sam actually smiled as she told her dad about it.

“We bought several rolls of chicken wire. Also, some hardware cloth and wire that we can make rabbit cages
with. We were just afraid that we might not be able to find any of this stuft if we waited too long. Jim paid so we owe
him half” Jess said.

“You don’t owe me anything. It wasn’t that much and it’s the least I can do for you guys letting us stay here.
Anyway, after we left the hardware store, we went by the house and picked up my reloading equipment. I had it all
packed up and stored in the attic so it was already in boxes. Tomorrow I want to inventory my supplies and see if we
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think we need any. Gunny was happy to see the girls. He said hed rather come early in the morning, so I told him wed
meet him about 8. I hope that’s OK. Hey, did you find Jerry?” Jim asked.

“Yes, we did” Mark answered looking at David with a huge grin.

“Yes, we did indeed.” David said smiling back at his father.

“What?” The other group asked in unison.

“Come help us unload the Jeep.” Mark said.

“When Mark opened the back of the Jeep and handed the two ARs to Jim and David, Jess turned red in the
face.

“Mark Allen Turner” She said through clenched teeth. “We talked about buying a little bit of ammo. We don’t
have enough money to buy anymore guns.”

“Dad didn’t buy them, Mom. Jerry gave them to us.” David blurted.

“Well, he didn't give them to us, exactly” Mark went on to explain about the guns and how Jerry had sold him
the ammo two for one. He also told them that he needed to take the Drews to Cotulla on Wednesday. Everyone was
impressed with Jerry’s generosity. Jim was very impressed with the rifles. Sam was not so impressed with her Glock.
“It’s ugly!” Was all she had to say about it.

After they had put away the guns and ammo, they started fixing dinner. They had to take two more long guns
out of the safe to be able to fit the ARs into it. Mark certainly didn’t want anything to happen to them. While they were
eating, they discussed the decision they had to make about where to stay. They quickly came to the conclusion that the
only two viable options were the ranch or staying where they were. They discussed the pros and cons objectively. Even
Mark was leaning toward staying in Silver Hills. Gunny’s assessment of the ranch’s security coupled with the addition
of a little firepower to his battery made him feel that they stood just as good of a chance here as there. In the end they
decided to wait until Thursday to make a final decision, but in the mean time, to proceed and prepare as if they would
stay here. If they decided to go to the ranch, some of the things they bought might be for nothing, but that might not
be as bad as if they couldn’t get something later that they would need to stay here.

After dinner, they listened to the news and the President’s speech. The news reported massive rioting in Los
Angeles. Mark and Jim were both surprised that LA had held out this long. New riots were also reported in Atlanta,
Miami, and Cleveland. The world market had taken another bad loss, and there was more talk of shutting them down
until the American markets were back online. The local news reported that the San Antonio city council had passed an
ordinance making all outdoor water use illegal until the power came back on. The news that most surprised everyone
was the radio station announcing that they would cut back their broadcasts to three two hour blocks per day to make
the fuel for their backup generator last a little longer. When the President came on, he said basically the same things
that he had said for the last several nights. Lisa was right about it sounding like a broken record, Mark thought.

Both families, kids and all, headed down to Jon’s for what was becoming the social highlight of their day. There
was more talk of the dance than there was of the bad news they had all heard. Mark started thinking that maybe the
dance wasn’t such a bad idea after all. At least it took people’s minds off of things a little. He mentioned to Jon that he
had invited Gunny to look around tomorrow and ask if he would like to join them. Jon didn’t seem to think that they
needed any outside advice on security, but he agreed to see what Gunny had to say. When the “meeting” was over they
went back home, pumped water, played a few games with the kids, and got ready for bed. It was the first day since the
burst that Mark did not have to put money into his black box. Maybe that was a good sign.

Chapter 15 - Defense Plans and Dances

Gunny showed up at the house at 7:30. Mark had already run, and was knocking out the rest of his PT when he
heard the knock on the door.

“Hey, Gunny. I wasn't expecting you until 8:00. Did you have any trouble finding the place?”

“Twasn’t no trouble at all, Karate Man. I jus’ didn’t know fer sure how long it would take to get here, so I lef’
early”
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“Let me see if Jim is up. I want to take a quick shower and then we can get started”

Mark finished his shower, got dressed and was back outside with Jim and Gunny in less than 5 minutes. They
rode in the Jeep to Jon's house. They would have walked except for Gunny’s bad knees. Mark introduced the two ex-
marines to each other. The two men talked a little and found that they had served on some of the same bases, although
at different times and in different capacities. Gunny had always been a combat Marine and Jon had spent his four-year
enlistment in supply. The four men got back into the Jeep to look over the subdivision. Gunny had them go back down
to the road first. He told them that the first thing they needed to work on was some training for the guards.

“Hell” He said. “I jus’ drove up here and told them boys that I had me an appointment with the Karate Man.
They jus’ waved me through and they didn’t know me from Adam. They didn’t even get out of the chairs that they had
on the shady side of the sign. I know I'm jus’ a broken down old man, but no strangers should get in without someone
who knows ‘em comes to the gate and gets ‘em.”

“Excuse me, Sargent Pickwell, but we don’t have a gate.” Jon pointed out.

“Then you damn well better get one! I coulda jus’ run them boys over, sittin’ in them lawn chairs like they was
on a picnic or somethin’ By the time they woulda figured out that they was in deep shit, Ida been in and theyda been
dead. Pickets should be where they can see threats from all directions, not sittin’ on their ass in the shade shootin’ tha
shit. You shoulda known that, Marine, jus’ from basic training”

“But these men are not Marines, Gunny.” Jon said in a voice that bordered on whining.

Mark could see that Jon was getting a little ruffled by Gunny’s candor. He suggested that they look at every-
thing and then sit down and talk about what they could do to fortify their defenses. They spent the next hour driving
around the subdivision and up and down the county road each way for a mile or so. Gunny asked several questions
about how many people lived in the subdivision and how many houses there were. Jon knew that there were 62 lots and
47 houses but no one knew exactly how many people were living or staying in the neighborhood. When Gunny had
seen enough, he told Mark to head back to the house. He asked for some paper and a pencil. Then, the men sat down at
the picnic table. Gunny started drawing a map of the area as he spoke. Mark was amazed at the accuracy of the map.

“Mos’ of your threats will come from the road and that’s where I would concentrate my efforts first. You have
one lane into the subdivision and one out with the ‘Silver Hills’ sign ‘tween them. I'd tear down the sign so that it don’t
obstruct the guards’ veiw neither way. Then I'd barricade off one of the lanes and put a badass gate ‘cross the other, kin-
da like the one you told me about at that ranch.” Gunny said nodding at Mark. “I'd dig a good fox hole with sandbags
‘round it up your private road 30, 40 yards from the gate for the guards. Close ‘nough to be able to talk to someone, but
not so close that they could get the jump on ya. Then, if 'n someone needs to be let in, one guard opens the gate while
the other covers him. The sub-division is about 600 yards wide and the main road through it runs pert’ much right up
the middle. There’s a 50 or 60 yard buffer between the road and the closest properties. That contains the ditch, the front
fence and then some empty field. The perimeter is fenced by a good 5 strand barbwire fence on the back and the sides.
But the front only has that little decorative wood fence on this side of the ditch. I'd dig out the ditch so that it has a four
foot vertical wall on this side. That’ll keep anything on wheels from being able to just drive through the ditch and into
the field. I'd also try to find me some wire and put a barbwire fence across the front about 10 feet this side of the little
fence too. That'll slow down anybody trying to get in on foot. Then, you should dig two more fox holes. One on each
side of the middle road half to two thirds of the way to the side fences. If someone attacks from the front, you can get
some men in those fox holes and have over-lapping fields of fire. You might even want to put two on each side. We also
need to come up with some kind of comm system for the guards to get reinforcements if they need them. That should
pert’ much cover the front. Now, for the sides and back. To guard them effec....”

“You mean we need to guard the sides and back, TOO?” Jon asked.

“Yes, sir” Gunny said flatly. “The east side is pretty easy because it is all pasture. Anyone tryin’ to get across it
is going to be easy to see. Most of the west side is farmland. As long as the crops are not tall, it'll be easy too. But, ifin it
gets planted in corn or something it'll be hard to see anyone ‘til they are right on the fence. The back and some of the
west are gonna be a real bear. Most of that is brush. And anyone with any kind of woodcraft at all is gonna be able to
get over the fence before you could stop them. Fortunately, it’s also the least likely place for neophytes to try to bust in
or attack from. But, you get any shadow warrior types, that'’s where they’ll come from, and they’re gonna ruin your day
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ifin youre not ready. We need to look at the back and sides some more and figure out exactly how we want to guard
and defend ‘em. Fer now, I would get started on the front, and when that’s finished we’ll get on the sides and then the
back. The last thing I would work on is an observation post to see people coming up and down the road”

“Don’t you think all that’s kind of overkill?” Jon asked.

“Depends how much your ass is worth to you. Karate Man asked me to tell you what I think, and that’s what I
think. Whether you do it or not is up to you.”

“Thanks, Gunny. Lisa and Jess are fixing lunch. Wed be pleased if you would stay and eat with us” Mark of-
fered.

“Thanks, Karate Man. Don’t mind if I do. Now, where’s my girls, Jimbo?”

The four men got up from the table. Jim and Gunny went to find the twins and Mark walked with Jon back to
his house.

“I don’t think we need to do all of that stuff” Jon commented. “Nobody is going to try to attack us in force like
that or try to sneak in the back. It’s just a waste of resources and manpower.”

“It may be, Jon. But, I think we should consider it. We don’t know what is going to happen, and wouldn't it be
better to be safe than sorry?”

“Maybe, but I just don't think it’s necessary.” Jon said emphatically.

When they reached Jon’s house, he and Mark spoke for a few more minutes. Jon promised to think about
what Gunny had suggested. As Mark walked home, he found it curious that Jon had first wanted to put guards at the
entrance and he was opposed to it. Now the roles had effectively reversed. When he got home, lunch was on the table.
Gunny sat down, and one twin sat on each side of him. Mark had never seen him look happier. He would have to ask
Jim if he ever had. During lunch they discussed the events of the last week. Gunny was not bashful about adding his
two cents worth. When he heard about Mark’s encounter at Kroger, he really laid it on thick, teasing Mark about mak-
ing that poor little defenseless boy piss his pants. Everyone else joined in the fun. Mark was getting used to it. When
the topic turned back to the serious side, everyone agreed that so much had happened that it seemed more like a
month than a week since the burst. When they were almost done with lunch, Mrs. Petersen dropped by.

“Hi, Mrs. Petersen. How are you?” Jess was the first to see her.

“I'm doing fine. I was just wondering if I could get some ice to chill some of the things I've fixed for the party”
She answered.

“Sure. How much do you need?” Mark asked.

“I think ten pounds should be enough.”

“A lot of the trays were already frozen last night so I emptied them into some plastic shopping bags and refilled
them. David, would you go get one of the bags and bring it out to Mrs. Petersen.”

“Yes, sir”” David answered his dad.

“Mrs. Petersen. I would like to introduce you to my neighbor. This is Gunnery Sargent Marcus Pickwell. Jim
said, then looked at Gunny. “This is Mark and Jess’s neighbor, Abigail Petersen.”

Gunny stood up and walked over to Mrs. Petersen. He shook her outstretched hand. “Everyone just calls me
‘Gunny. It’s a pleasure to meet you, maam.”

“The pleasure is all mine, Marcus.” Mrs. Petersen smiled and then spoke again. “Marcus, would you help me
with this ice?”

“Yes, maam.” Gunny snapped out his answer and then smiled back.

Everyone just stared in disbelief as Mrs. Petersen walked back toward her house with Gunny in tow, carrying
the ice. When they were safely out of earshot, Jim cracked up. The others followed suit.

“Did you see the way he snapped to?” Jim asked, barely able to catch his breath. “I thought he was going to
salute when he said “Yes, maam.”

“Did you see the way she called him ‘Marcus’ after he said to call him ‘Gunny’?” Lisa added.

Gunny was gone for the better part of an hour. When he came back, Mark and Jim were readjusting the
new carburetor on Jim’s truck. He had a big smile on his face, bigger than the one Mark had noticed at lunch, and he
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seemed in a hurry to leave.

“What's your hurry, Gunny? You sure took your time over at Abigail’s.” Mark said with a big grin, seeking re-
venge for the ribbing he had gotten earlier.

“We was jus’ talkin’!” Gunny snapped.

“Talking, huh? Jim jumped on Mark’s bandwagon this time. “Is that what they used to call it?”

“Boy, you watch the tone you take with me.” Gunny was using his best DI voice. “Or I'll stick my foot so far up
your ass that the next time you go to the doctor he’ll ask you how you got them boot tracks on your tonsils.”

“OK, Gunny. We were just teasing. Why don’t you stay for dinner?” Mark offered.

“Abby invited me to the dance tonight. I figured you boys could do with some watchin’ to make sure you don’t
get out of hand. I'm going home to get cleaned up and then I'll be back” Gunny explained.

“I guess we could use a chaperone.” Jim said.

“Chaperone, hell. What you two boys need is a warden, but until we can find one, I guess I'll just have to do the
best I can” He said as he climbed up into his truck. “T'll be back before dark”

“OK, Gunny. We'll see you then?” Jim said.

Everyone ate dinner and then got ready for the dance. After the President’s broken record sounding speech,
they all walked down to Jon’s. Mark had all of the ice in a big cooler that he had put in the wagon. Even though the
dance wasn’t supposed to start until dark, the festivities had already begun. Music was playing, and everybody was vis-
iting. Mark noticed that almost everyone was smiling for a change. This is a good idea, he thought. For the second time
today, he found himself on the other side of the fence from where he started out.

“Ironic” He mumbled to himself.

Mark pulled the wagon over by the punch bowl and Jess set down a big plate of chocolate chip cookies on a ta-
ble that was already half full of cupcakes, brownies, and other treats. Many people had brought lawn chairs to sit in and
Mark asked Jim to go back to the house with him to bring some for the two families. When they got back, the dance
was in full swing. Gunny had arrived and he was talking with Mrs. Petersen and she was introducing him to some of
the neighbors. A George Strait song started playing.

“Hey, Cowboy. Wanna dance?” Jess asked her husband.

“Sorry, maam, but I'm married to a mean old hag that might just castrate me if she found me dancing with a
pretty young filly like you.”

Jess punched him in the arm. “Get your sorry ass out here and dance with me you bum.”

“Oh, baby, I love it when you talk dirty to me.” Mark said as he led Jess out to the street turned dance floor.

The dance was a huge success. Everyone got to know each other a little better. Mark spent some time with
some of the neighbors whom he had only known their names at most. He also filled in some of the men on Gunny’s
suggestions for security. Some thought that they should implement them as soon as possible, and others, like Jon,
thought that they were unnecessary. He talked with Professor Petrie for quite a long time. He also had changed his
position on security and thought that what Gunny was proposing was a good idea. Security is not all they talked about,
though. Ted Petrie was in charge of the history department at SAC, and he and Mark discussed at length the growth in
power and size of the federal government since the civil war. They also spent a little time talking about how much Sa-
mantha was dancing with Ted’s son, Alex. After a while, Jess came back over and made him dance with her some more.
In fact, no one escaped having to dance. David was forced to dance with the twins some, and even Gunny, protesting
that his knee hurt, had to take a couple of turns around the floor with Abby.

At about 10:00 the dance started winding down. By 10:30 everyone had headed home. As the two families
walked toward their house, they noticed a cool breeze out of the north.

“Must be a little cool front coming in.” Jim observed.

“It sure won't hurt my feelings any” Mark added. “Did Gunny leave in time for curfew?”

“Yes, but he didn’t look too happy having to leave the party before it was over.” Jim said. “It kind of reminded
me of Cinderella, but with combat boots instead of glass slippers.”

Everybody laughed. When they were almost to the house David asked a question.

“Dad, do you think it's good that the power went out?”

Page 65
©2002-2005 David Crawford All Rights Reserved



Lights Out by HalfFast --- www.frugalsquirrels.com

“No, son. Do you?”

“In some ways. I know a lot of people have died, and I know that some people don’t have a lot of food, but if it
hadn’t happened, we wouldn't have gotten to know the neighbors like we have.”

“I see your point. I guess there is always some good that comes out of everything. It shouldn’t take something
like the burst to make us get to know the people that live around us, but for some reason, it did. Hopefully, we will
learn from this. If the lights don’t come back on soon, we may learn a lot of things”

Chapter 16 - Good News, Bad News

Once the twins had been put to bed the adults and teenagers talked about what they wanted to do the next day.
Mark had promised Jerry that he would take him to get his Jeep. Sam and David both wanted to go with Mark. Lisa
wanted to go check on her parents. Mark thought that he should try to get to Waco to check on his family too. Jim felt
that they should find a way to get the gas and diesel that was at work as soon as possible. Jess said that she needed to
review their master list and see if Kroger had received the shipment they were expecting.

“Does this mean that we are going to stay here? We never have made a definite decision” Mark said.

“What does everyone think?” Jess asked.

“I vote for here” Lisa stated. “I don’t like the politics at the ranch.”

“If we could get this place secured like Gunny suggested, I think we stand a better chance here. The ranch loca-
tion is better than here, but they have too few people to really secure it. I think the larger group here gives us the best
chance” Jim gave his opinion.

“I liked the ranch. But, I would rather stay here at our house” David said, which surprised Mark a little.

“I want to stay here too.” Jess implored. “I think everybody knows my reasons.”

“I may have different reasons than everybody else, but I want to stay too.” Sam added.

“Well, I guess I'll make it unanimous.” Mark said. “I am still very concerned about some things, though?”

“What’s your biggest concern?” Jess asked.

“Water”

“We have water”

“Only as long as we have fuel for the generator. Once that runs out, and I don’t know when that will be, we
can't run the pump” Mark explained.

“What about a hand pump like they used in the old days?” David asked.

“I don’t think those pumps will pull water up from very far. Our well is almost 400 feet deep.”

“What would do it?” Jim asked.

“A solarjack pump like they have at the ranch would do it. A windmill might. We would have to figure out how
much water the neighborhood would need per day. Then see how many gallons per hour a windmill can pump.”

“Dad, remember at the ranch. They said that they took out an old windmill to put in the solarjack pump.
Maybe we could get that windmill” David suggested.

“That’s good thinking, Dave.” Mark said as David beamed.

“Maybe we could work out a trade with them.” Jim added. “Hunting, fishing, shooting, and karate lessons for
the windmill and some of the other stuff we might need. I always wanted to make a living doing the things I love.”

“I guess we need to go talk to them before Saturday” Mark said. “Man, we have so much to do and so little
time.”

“We have plenty of time, don't we?” Jess asked.

“Not really. According to the news, the riots are getting worse in the big cities. It’s only a matter of time before
they start here and when they do, I don’t know how much we are going to be able to go into town. Or go anywhere for
that matter”

“He’s right” Jim interjected. “Todd and Mr. Davis figured about two weeks before riots started here. I think we
may have a little longer, but they studied it at least some. To be on the safe side, we should try to get the most important
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stuff done by Sunday. Why don’t we make a list of everything we need to do and get and then prioritize it?”

Everyone agreed that Jim’s idea was a good one. They worked on the list for more than an hour. They couldn’t
agree on some of the priorities, but they were able to put to bed what everyone needed to do the next day. Mark and
Lisa would take the Jeep and drive the Drews to their ranch. Then they would come home through Uvalde and check
on Lisa’s parents. Jim and Jess would take the trucks to town and buy more groceries if Kroger would let them. Then
they would try to buy some jerry cans and bring home as much gas as they could. They would also load as much of the
lumber from work that they could fit into the trucks. Sam would watch the twins and start cutting the deer meat that
was in the freezer into strips for jerky. Mark said that they could no longer afford the gas to keep the deep freeze going.
David was given the job that he least wanted. Someone needed to poll all of the neighbors and find out how many peo-
ple each house contained, what skills everyone possessed, how they were fixed for food, if they had any medical needs,
and what if any supplies and equipment they might have that the whole neighborhood could use. Mark explained
to David to specifically ask about gardening equipment. He told David that this job was a very big responsibility. He
suggested that Jess ask Mrs. Petersen if she would go with David. He assured David that he trusted him to do the job,
but explained that some of the adults might be more comfortable answering questions if an adult was accompanying
him. David said that he understood and promised to do his best. With the assignments for the next day done, everyone
headed for bed except for Mark and Sam. They first went to the freezer and took the meat that Sam would work on in
the morning to the kitchen to thaw out.

“Dad, do you think the lights will ever come back on?” Sam asked.

“Of course they will, sweetheart.”

“When?”

“That’s the big question, isn’t it?” Mark answered. “It could be two days, two weeks, or two years. I just don't
know. But, I think we’re doing the smart thing. We're preparing like it’s going to be two years.”

“Can we make it for two years without power?”

“I think we can, but I'm not going to lie to you, it’s going to be tough. There is a lot of work to do and a lot of
stuff that we need. The work we can do, but I don't know where we are going to get some of the stuff. But, we will find a
way to get by”

“I know we will, Dad. Just promise me one thing.”

“What's that?”

“I love the twins, but promise me that I'm not going to be the one to watch them all the time.”

“Sweetheart, I can promise you that. But you probably will have to watch them more than you are going to
want. We are not going to have the luxury of making sure that all of the work is evenly divided. Everyone is going to
have to pitch in where they can do the most good and where they are needed most. It's not a punishment; it is just part
of being a responsible adult.”

“I know, Dad. It’s just I want to do some of the exciting stuff too.”

“Be careful what you ask for, Sweetie. You may find that the ‘exciting’ stuff is not as exciting as you think.” Mark
kissed his daughter on the head. “Now, get your butt to bed. You’ve got a lot of meat to cut tomorrow.”

“OK, Dad. I love you”

“I love you, too.”

Sam headed out the door for the camper. Mark looked around the house. He thought that if it would just cool
off a little more, they could sleep in the house. He wondered if there was anything they could do to get more circulation
in the bedrooms. He would have to give that some thought. After he locked the doors, he headed to the camper and
climbed into bed. He knew he had a big day tomorrow and that he needed to get some sleep, but his mind was racing.
The last time he remembered looking at his watch it said 2:30.

* ot

When the alarm went off, Mark wished that he gotten some more sleep. He got up, showered, dressed, and
headed outside. It was almost chilly. He checked the thermometer on the side of the camper. It said 64 degrees. Not
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exactly a blue northern, but pretty cool for August in Texas. He went to the shed and set three of the full jerry cans and
one of the five gallon water jugs next to the Jeep. Two of the jerry cans went onto a carrier on the tail gate that also held
the spare tire and a hi-lift jack. The third gas can and the water jug went behind the back seat with the tool box and first
aid kit. There was also a 12 volt air compressor, an extra quart of oil, and a tow strap back there. Mark then topped oft
the Jeep’s gas tank with another gas can and checked the oil.

About that time Lisa and Jim came out of their camper.

“Need any help?” Jim asked.

“No, I think the Jeep’s ready. I was just going in the house to get a rifle. Is Lisa going to take a gun?”

“She didn't really want to, but I told her she had to take at least a handgun. I'm going to give her the Python.
She likes shooting it, and she’s pretty good with it”

Mark, Jim, and Lisa walked into the house. Jess was in the kitchen.

“What are you doing in here?” Mark asked, surprised to see her up.

“I live here, remember?” She shot back.

“I know, I mean I didn't see you get up.”

“I got up when you were in the shower. I wanted to fix you and Lisa a good breakfast before you left””

“Thank you”

“You're welcome. Now sit down and eat, all of you”

The three adults sat down at the breakfast table and ate biscuits and eggs. While they were eating, Jess was
fixing sandwiches and putting them into a small soft sided cooler. They all discussed again what they had to get done
today. When they were done, Mark, Jim, and Lisa walked into the den and Mark opened the safe. He got his FAL out
and put it into the case that already had the magazines in it. Jim got his Colt Python out and put it in a gun rug. He
then put a holster, the two speed loaders, and a box of extra ammo in a small range bag and handed it to Lisa. The four
adults walked out to the Jeep and Mark and Lisa got in after they kissed their spouses.

“You guys be careful” Jess admonished as she handed the cooler to Lisa.

“We will” Mark promised.

“Tell your folks that I'm sorry the girls and I couldn’t come this time and that we love them.” Jim told Lisa.

“I will” Lisa answered. “We’ll see you all tonight.”

Mark started the Jeep and headed out of the subdivision. As he turned onto the main road, the sun was just
peeking over the horizon. When he and Lisa got to Jerry’s house, Jerry and Dale were waiting outside. They each had
a rifle case and a small duffel bag. Mark helped them load the bags behind the back seat on top of the other stuff. They
climbed into the back as they said hello to Lisa and put their rifle cases on the floor. As Mark pulled out onto the road,
Jerry handed him a map with a route highlighted.

“We figured that it might be best to stay off of the interstate” Jerry explained. “This is the way we go on holiday
weekends to beat the traffic. It’s a little longer, but we shouldn’t have to dodge as many stalled cars”

“That sounds good.” Mark replied. “After we get your Jeep running, Lisa and I are going to drive up to Uvalde
to check on her parents”

“I was wondering why she had come with you” Dale smiled. “I thought that maybe she got elected to make
sure we didn’t get into any trouble today.”

“Jess told me to watch you Drew boys real good. She said if Mark came home with another gun all of you
would be in big trouble.” Lisa teased back.

The men all laughed. The trip to Cotulla went quickly. The foursome chatted about the events of the last eight
days and how much longer it could go until it really got ugly in the city. Jerry had been right about there not being too
many stalled cars on this route. However, any time Mark came to a hill or blind curve, he slowed way down, just in
case. When they got to the Drew’s ranch, Jerry unlocked the gate and they drove up to the camp house. It only took
Mark about 20 minutes to get the parts replaced on the Jeep. When they tried to start it, the battery would not turn
the engine over fast enough to start. They hooked up the jumper cables from MarK’s jeep and the old CJ sprang to life
on the next turn of the key. As Mark was taking the cables off of the battery on the Drew’s Jeep, he was distracted for a
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moment when Lisa said something about eating. When he glanced away, the unshrouded fan hit the outside edge of his
right hand.

“Shit!” Mark yelled as he realized that this was the first time he had cursed in a couple of days. He dropped the
cables on the ground and clutched the hand to his chest. It really hurt.

“What happened?” Lisa asked.

“The cooling fan hit my hand.” He responded as he looked at the hand. It had a small cut that didn’t seem to be
bleeding. “But, I think its OK”

Mark had spoken too soon. The fan strike had initially mashed the capillaries closed, but they had opened back
up and the blood started to flow freely.

Lisa looked at the hand and had Mark move his fingers. She informed him that it would be OK, but it was go-
ing to hurt for several days. She got the first aid kit out of the Jeep and cleaned and then bandaged Mark’s hand.

“You know if you really got hurt, it might be hard to find proper medical care, even if we weren’t in the middle
of nowhere” She warned him.

“I know.” He said sheepishly. “We all need to make sure that we are extra careful”

The men washed up with some of the water that Mark had brought and then Lisa pulled out the cooler that Jess
had given her and handed out sandwiches to everyone. After they had eaten, Jerry and Dale went to a storage building
and retrieved some 5 gallon gas cans and filled the Jeep’s tank. They loaded the remaining two full cans along with their
bags and rifles into their Jeep.

“How long are you two going to stay in Uvalde?” Jerry asked.

“Probably only about an hour.” Lisa answered. “I just want to check on my folks and we have to be back to
Mark’s house by dark”

“We were thinking about going with you, if that's OK?” Dale inquired. “We would feel better if we all stuck
together, just in case there was any problem.”

“We appreciate that” Mark responded. “Are we ready to go?”

Everyone nodded their heads and they loaded into the Jeeps and headed toward Uvalde.

Lisa’s parents lived in a subdivision close to town. They had moved there after Lisa’s dad had a stroke and could
no longer work the farm. They had sold the farm, bought the house in town, and after her dad had recovered some
from the stroke, they had bought a big motor home and toured the country.

As the two Jeeps approached the area where Lisa’s parents lived, some of the houses were burned to the
ground. A few of them were still smoldering. The closer they got to the subdivision, the worse the devastation was.
When they reached the entrance, it was apparent that none of the houses had escaped destruction. Lisa was in tears.

“I'm sure they got out” Mark said as he brought the Jeep to a stop.

“What could have happened?” She asked.

“I don’t know. Let’s go back to town and find out”

Mark turned the Jeep around and Jerry followed him. They drove to the court house and parked near the
entrance to the Sherift’s department. Mark noticed that the vehicles parked in the spaces reserved for patrol cars didn’t
look quite right. Each had a light bar, antennas, and a sherift’s emblem on the door, but they were all different colors
and makes. There was a maroon 1970’ LTD, an old Dodge pickup that still had some blue paint on it, and a beautiful
late 60’s GTO in candy apple red. Dale whistled as they passed the muscle car.

“Man, what I wouldn’t give to have one of these” He said longingly.

The other two men nodded agreement, but Lisa, if she even heard him, ignored the comment and marched
directly for the entrance. When they got inside the door, there was a dispatcher and two deputies behind the counter.
One of the deputies saw them and came to the counter.

“Can I help yall?”

“I'm looking for my parents.” Lisa blurted. “My name is Lisa Davis. They lived in the subdivision north of town
on Highway 83. The whole neighborhood is burned. What happened? Do you know where they are? Their names are
George and Alice Garrett. I have to find them.”

“Maam, just calm down.” The deputy drawled. “A small airplane crashed into the subdivision when the burst
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hit. It started a fire and the volunteer fire department was not able to stop it. Most of the folk were able to get out. Why
don’t you folks come back to my desk, and we'll see what information we have on your folks”

They followed the deputy to his desk and he motioned for Lisa to sit in the chair next to his desk. The men
stood behind her. The deputy dug through a pile of papers and finally found the ones he was looking for. He ran his
finger down the first page and then flipped the page. When he had looked at all three pages he flipped back to the first
page and went through them again. He then set the report down and looked at Lisa.

“I have good news and bad news.” He began. “The good news is that there are no Garretts on the lists of fatali-
ties or injuries from the fire”

“Thank God” Lisa exclaimed. “What’s the bad news?”

“Well, all of the survivors went to stay with friends or relatives or are at the shelter that was set up at the high
school. We got all of the names that we could of who went where, but your parents aren’t on any of the lists.”

“What does that mean?”

“It means one of two things. First, and most likely, the records of survivors we have are very inaccurate. They
may be staying with someone and we just don’t have it recorded. Or...now this is just a possibility...we have a few bod-
ies that we haven't been able to ID”

“Oh my God!” Lisa cried putting her head in her hands.

Mark patted her on the shoulder and the deputy took hold of her hands.

“Now look here, Mrs. Davis, there is no sense getting yourself all worked up until you know for sure what hap-
pened. This is what you need to do. First go to the hospital and make sure that they are not there. Then go to the high
school and see if they have any record of your folks. Finally, go to every friend or relative that you can think of and see
if they know anything. If you still can’t find them, come back and we will test to see if any of the unidentified are your
parents.”

“What do you mean, test?” Mark asked.

The deputy blew a long breath out before he answered.

“The people we haven't IDd yet were burned quite badly. Unfortunately, they are unrecognizable. The only way
we can be sure of who they are is through a DNA test comparing them to a known relative. The bad part is we don’t
know how long it will take to get the results once the power comes back on because there are going to be thousands of
cases like this in the US”

Lisa was shaking, but had managed to stop crying.

“Well, I guess we better get busy.” She announced. “Thanks for your help, Deputy”

They walked back outside and headed for the Jeeps. Jerry whispered to Mark that he and Dale would stick with
them for a while, but that they would have to head for home before too long. Mark told him that he understood. They
loaded up and headed out for the hospital. Mark could see that Lisa was on the verge of crying again.

“Don’'t worry Leese, we'll find them.” Mark promised, praying that they would.

Chapter 17 - Committees

The hospital didn't have any record of the Garretts. The drive to the high school was only about 2 miles, but it
seemed like it took forever to Mark. He thought it must seem even longer to Lisa. At the high school they found that
the Red Cross was in charge in the gym. There must have been over 300 people living in there, Mark estimated. He was
very thankful that his family was not reduced to this option. Mark explained the situation to one of the ladies from the
Red Cross. She pulled out a long list of names and flipped back through some pages and started reading down the list.

“I'm sorry.” She said. “We don’t have any Garretts listed with the people from the fire. Maybe they are staying
with someone in town.”

Lisa started to shake and then to cry.

“I don’t know where else to look.” She sobbed. “All of their friends that I know of lived in the same neighbor-
hood”
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She really started crying hard and Mark reached out to pat her on the back. She turned and grabbed him
around the neck, burying her head into his shoulder. She was crying so loud and squeezing him so hard that it was
hard for him to breathe. He patted her back and told her that they would look until they found them. Mark had never
seen Lisa be anything but cool and collected. Jim had told her that she was extremely close to her parents, but he had
not imagined that she would lose it like this. He felt awkward and didn’t know what to do or say. Jess was just the op-
posite of Lisa when something like this happened, and Mark had never had to deal with a situation like this. He wished
that Jim or Jess were here. They would know what to do.

“Lisa!” A voice called out. “Lisa, is that you?”

Lisa pulled her head out of Marks shoulder. “Mom!...Oh, God!...Mom! It’s really you! They said that you
weren't here. Where’s Dad?”

“He’s on the other side of the gym, playing cards. I was going to the bathroom when I heard someone crying
and when I came closer to see what was going on, it was you.” Mrs. Garrett said.

“I don’t understand” Lisa explained. “They said that you weren't on the list of people from the fire?”

The Red Cross lady franticly looked through her list again.

“Here they are” She explained. “They are on the list of people stranded in town.”

“That is because we were at the grocery store when the burst hit and we couldn’t get home in our car” Alice
Garrett started. “We finally found a ride back home, but by the time we got there, the whole neighborhood was en-
gulfed in flames. We had nowhere to go and nothing to wear, so we came here.”

“I'm so glad we found you. I was afraid that you had been killed.” Lisa cried with tears of joy now.

“You always did jump to the worst conclusion. How many times have I told you to be more positive?” Alice
lightly scolded. “Why don’t we go see your father?”

“Sorry about the mix up” The Red Cross lady apologized.

“Its OK” Lisa responded as she, her mother, and the three men headed to the other side of the gym.

When they found Lisa’s dad, she hugged him hard enough to make an anaconda proud. She reintroduced them
to Mark, whom they vaguely remembered. Then she introduced them to the Drew brothers. While Lisa and her parents
were catching up, Dale came up to Mark and told him that they really needed to be heading home. Mark asked them to
wait just a couple of minutes. He then interrupted the Garrett’s visit with their only child.

“Lisa, I'm sorry to interrupt your reunion with your parents, but the Drews need to get home and so do we.”

“But, Mark, can’t we stay just a few more minutes?”

“What for?”

“So I can visit with my parents.” She answered him indignantly.

“You can't visit with them on the way back?”

“You mean they can come with us?”

“Of course. Unless they don’t want to”

“Young man, we wouldn’t want to be a burden.” George Garrett said emphatically.

“Mr. Garrett, any family of Jim’s and Lisa’s is family of ours. Plus, I can think of about a dozen things already
that I could use your help on.”

“I appreciate that, son. But, I can’t do that much work since my stroke. I won't be much help I'm afraid”

“I have plenty of strong backs, Mr. Garrett. It's knowledge that I need from you. So, if you don’t mind, why
don’t we get your stuff and hit the road”

“Young man, you drive a hard bargain. I'll accept under one condition, and that is that you call me George.”
The older gentleman extended his hand.

“Well then, George, I think we've got a deal.” Mark shook his hand.

Lisa was as happy as Mark had seen her since the burst. It only took the Garretts a minute to gather the few
possessions that they had bought or been given since the fire destroyed their home. They thanked the Red Cross people
for their hospitality and then headed for the Jeeps. Lisa and Alice climbed into the back of Mark’s CJ and then Mark
helped George into the front passenger seat. Mark climbed in, started the engine, and then with Jerry and Dale fol-
lowing, pulled out onto the highway. The trip seemed short with everyone filling each other in on the events of the
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last week. When they got to the east of San Antonio, the Drews honked, waved, and then turned toward their houses.
Twenty minutes later, Mark pulled into his driveway. Both trucks were parked around back and so was Gunny’s old
Dodge. Mark could see that all three were weighted down to the overload springs. When the twins saw their grand-
parents, they ran up and launched themselves into the waiting arms of George and Alice. Jim came running up and
hugged his in-laws as well. They all went over to the picnic table and started catching up. Jess came out of the house
with Sam and David. Mark hugged the kids and kissed his wife.

“What happened to your hand?” She asked.

“Oh, I just got stupid for a minute and cut it. Lisa bandaged it up and said it will be OK... Where’s Gunny?”
Mark asked Jess.

“I'll give you three guesses, but you'll only need one.” Jess answered with a wink. “I invited them both for sup-
per, so they should be along shortly”

Jim asked Mark to come look at what they had in the trucks. David tagged along with them. The Ford and the
Chevy were full of plywood and Gunny’s Dodge was about half full of plywood with several stacks of two by fours on
top of it. Jim explained that they had gotten all of the plywood and some of the two by fours. He explained that there
were still a bunch of two bys and some one bys at the shop. He figured that one more trip with all three trucks should
finish off the wood. Then he told Mark to go into the shed. When Mark walked in, he saw eight or ten 55 gallon metal
drums.

“What are these for?” He asked, pretty sure he already knew the answer.

“They are for the fuel. Gunny knows this guy who sells barrels for a living. We bought 10 of them and emptied
the tanks at work into them. We got about 225 gallons of gas and around 150 of diesel. We have two that are empty, but
we can siphon gas out of the stalled cars and fill them up if we want to. He also sells those blue water barrels like you
have. I figured if everyone in the neighborhood bought one or two, we could cut back on how often we have to pump
water. He even has some large water tanks, but they are pretty expensive.”

“This is awesome. Did you get any groceries?”

“Yes, the Kroger got a shipment in and we each got another $50 worth. The manager said they felt they could
keep this up until the lights came back on. He also told me that they were issuing credit to anyone who didn’t have
cash. I asked him if that was a corporate decision and he told me that it was, but that rumor had it that the government
had strongly suggested they do it and that they would reimburse Kroger if they took any loses on it. I figure we will
need to ferry everybody into town again. David has some good news too.”

“Yes, Dave, what did you find out?”

“Well most of the people here worked at things that won’t help us much. But, there is one exception. You know
Mr. Hernandez’s friend, Mr. Vasquez? He is really Dr. Vasquez.”

“A doctor?” Mark was surprised.

“Not quite. He’s a vet. He said he has a lot of stuff at his office and was thinking about asking you if you could
help him bring it to his house” David said smiling.

“That’s great son. I'm sure we can do that. Did you find any gardening equipment?”

“Yes sir, three roto-tillers and lots of hand tools”

“Excellent, anything else?”

“Quite a few people have hobbies that might be useful. Mrs. Petersen was really excited by one of the ladies that
has a lot of jars for canning. I think that maybe the best thing was one of the men has a big welding shop. He said that
he can weld most anything. He’s really a plumber, but he learned to weld in the Army. One of the other guys said that
he used to be into CB’s a lot. He said that he has several radios in storage and that maybe he could get some of them to
work. There were some other things that Mrs. Petersen thought might be useful, and she wrote them down.”

“Son that is wonderful. You did an excellent job.”

David’s face lit up. “Thanks, Dad”

Mark went back to the house to check on how Sam did with the venison. She had cut it all up and was marinat-
ing it. Mark bragged on her, and thanked her for watching the girls. Supper was ready and Gunny and Abby showed
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up just in time. Introductions were made all around and then they sat down to eat the chili that Sam had made with
some of the deer meat. The eight adults sat at the picnic table and the kids sat at the card table. Mark could see that Sam
didn’t like not sitting with the adults. He figured that they could build another picnic table out of some of the 2 by 4’
and put it end to end with this one, so that no one would have to sit at the kids table. If Sam and David were going to be
given adult jobs, then they should have some adult privileges, even if that was nothing more than sitting at the grown-
up table. Everyone enjoyed the chili and complimented Sam on her cooking skills. That seemed to improve her disposi-
tion a little. As they ate, George and Alice filled everyone in on how it was to live in a shelter for a week.

“There was no privacy what-so-ever. That was the hardest part for me.” Alice said.

“I wouldn't wish it on my worst enemy.” George agreed. “We lost our house and all of our belongings, but the
thing I missed most was being able to have a private conversation with my wife”

After supper, the men went out and started unloading the trucks. They were almost halfway finished when it
was time for the President’s speech. They all gathered around the radio.

My fellow Americans, I come to you tonight with some great news. Limited power has been restored to Washington
D.C. and some of the other major east coast cities. Most of this power is being allocated to hospitals and other essential
service providers. While we may still be a few days away from total power restoration, this is a promising first step.

In spite of this wonderful news, I have some disturbing news as well. I am very concerned with the rioting and lawless-
ness that continues to plague some of our major cities. Most of the citizens in the majority of the cities and towns in
our great nation have worked together for the common good. I would hope that everyone would follow the example set
by most of the country: If the rioting is not stopped in the few trouble spots by tommorrow; I will have no choice but to
declare l[imited martial law in those areas. This is a measure that I hope to not be forced into undertaking, but we will
not tolerate the murder and mayhem that has been infecting these areas.

1 pray that you and your families are safe, and I ask you to pray for our country and its leadership in this crisis. Help
your neighbors and your community. Thank you for your time and I will talk with you tomorrow: God bless.

Please stay tuned to KSTX for the news and an important announcement.

The major items in the news were the announcement that the Kroger stores had resupplied and that citizens
could get another $50 worth of groceries and that the water was going to be off in the city for 12 hours starting at 7
PM tonight. Citizens were forbidden to store any more water than they needed for drinking and cooking for those
12 hours. The City Water Board said it was to do some maintenance on the pumps but Mark thought that it was to
let them get enough water pumped up into the tanks to maintain the water pressure. The weatherman said that they
should enjoy the cooler weather for another day or two, but then it would be warming back up. Just before the news
ended, the announcer explained that the radio station had been running off an old back-up system that was powered
by a diesel generator. They only stored enough fuel to run for a week, as they never expected it would take longer than
that to get the power back on. He went on to say that they had been resupplied a couple of days ago, but they were
unsure of when any more fuel could be counted on. Beginning tonight, the station would cut back their broadcast to 5
hours a day until the crisis was resolved. They would broadcast 2 hours in the morning, an hour at noon, and 2 hours
in the evening. Mark wasn’t sure, but he thought he heard the newsman’s voice crack.

The whole group headed down to Jon’s house for the meeting. The discussions were as spirited as Mark had
seen them since the first day the lights went out. Some people were encouraged by the news of some power being
restored. Others thought it was nothing more than a ruse to buy the government a few more days. Most were skeptical
at best. Another argument was over the wisdom of declaring martial law. Some said that it was necessary to save the
embattered cities from ruin. Others felt it was an overextension of the President’s power and that it would set a danger-
ous precedent. Mark listened to the arguments for both sides. Each made good points, but Mark didn’t know which, if
either side was right. Once that discussion died down, Mark spoke to the group.
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“I have something that I want to present to all of you. I would first like to introduce you to George and Alice
Garrett. They are Lisa Davis’ parents. Their home in Uvalde was burned to the ground by a small airplane that crashed
in their neighborhood when the burst hit. They were living in the Uvalde high school gym, but now they will be stay-
ing with us. George and Alice, until they retired were farmers and did some ranching. None of us knows how long the
power is going to be out, but it seems that we all think it is prudent to assume that it’s not coming back on in the near
future. I don’t know how much longer Kroger is going to be able to sell food. So, I think we need to try to start growing
our own. Everybody here has at least an acre of land, and there are 15 empty lots that could be turned into gardens. If
we work together, we could get in some fall gardens and probably be able to get some food out of them in six to eight
weeks” Mark stopped to let what he had said sink in.

“So, what do we need to do?” Someone in the crowd asked after a minute.

“I think the first thing we need to do is to form a committee to study and plan what the best course of action
is. We know we have some gardening equipment in the neighborhood, and between George and some of the others we
have the knowledge. We have lots of labor available, so all we need is the raw material. I would suggest a four or five
person committee be selected to present us with a plan in no more than two or three days.”

There were murmurs of approval from the crowd. “I nominate you, Mark, to head up the committee.” Someone
shouted.

“Thanks, but this isn’t my strong suit. I may be a ‘Bean Counter’, but I never counted the kind of beans we're
talking about now. I think that George would be the logical candidate to head the committee.”

“He doesn’t even live here!” Jon shouted. “He doesn’t have as much at stake as the rest of us.”

“Jon, he does live here” Mark was surprised at how calm his tone was, considering how aggravated he was
with Jon right now. “And, he has just as much at stake as we all do. We are all trying to get ourselves and our families
through this mess. George is the only one here that I know of who has made a living off of the land. Unless there is
someone else who is more qualified, I believe he is the best man for the job”

It was so quiet that you could have heard a pin drop. “I second the nomination of George Garrett to head the
gardening committee” Professor Petrie announced.

Mark smiled gratefully at the professor. “All those in favor...”

A hearty ‘Aye’ arose from the crowd.

“All those opposed...”

Not a sound was heard. Mark looked back at Jon and saw that he was standing with his arm folded and his
cheeks puffed out like a bull frog. “The ‘ayes’ have it. Now we need some people to help. Does anyone have any garden-
ing experience that would like to help?”

Four hands went up. Two women and two men. “Please give your names to George and you all set a time for
your meeting. Today is Wednesday, right? Yes, then could you all have a plan to present to us at the meeting Friday
evening?” Mark asked and was greeted by hearty nods of the head. “Good. Does anyone have anything else we need to
discuss?”

“Are you going to be able to take us to the Kroger again, Mark?” Sherri Henderson asked.

“I am busy for the next couple of days, but I know how bad everyone needs to get to the store. So, if it's OK
with him, I would like to lend my truck to Jon and he can ferry you all back and forth tomorrow”

Jon looked shocked at first and then the ice man attitude he had been displaying melted. “Uh, yeah, sure. I can
do that. But if the lines are long, we can probably only get two groups done tomorrow.”

“Actually, Jon, I was thinking that you could use the truck like a bus. Make a round trip every hour or so and
drop off and pick up as people are ready. That way everybody could go in one day”

“Yeah, that would work, I guess.”

“OK, then, get with Jon if you want to go to Kroger tomorrow. Is there anything else?”

“Yes” The man that David had pointed out to Mark earlier as the man with the welding shop raised his hand.
Mark didn’t remember seeing him at a meeting before.

“Yes, sir” Mark noticed how big the man was. He was probably 6’3” and 280 pounds. He looked like a lineman
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for the Cowboys, Mark thought.

“Please don't call me sir” The big man grinned. “It gives me a complex. My name is Daniel Lopez, but my
friends just call me Chaparo.” Mark noticed that all of the Hispanics at the meeting chuckled at the man’s nickname.
Mark would have to ask Manny about it.

“OK then, Chaparo, what’s on your mind.”

“I heard that some of you got a Marine to give you a security evaluation. And, that he made some suggestions
of things we should do. Where do we stand on that and could he brief the whole group?”

“Gunny, would you come up and briefly go over what you said to us yesterday?”

Gunny got up in front of the group and as diplomatically as he could laid out what he had told Mark, Jim, and Jon the
day before. Mark could see Jon visibly stiffen as Gunny spoke. When he was done, Chaparo asked his question again.

“So, where do we stand on all that?”

“I don’t think we stand anywhere on it.” Mark answered.

“Don’t you think we should get started on it?”

“Yes, I do. But it’s not up to me to decide. It's up to everyone.”

“Maybe we should form another committee to study the plans” Professor Petrie suggested.

“That’s a good idea” Someone else shouted.

“We could do that” Mark told the crowd. “Who do you want to head up the committee?” Mark saw Dr.
Vasquez’s hand go up.

“I think you should do it, Mark” He stated.

“I don’t think I'm the right person for this committee either. I don’t have any military experience.”

“Then get Gunny to do it!” Mark didn’t recognize the voice.

Jon jumped out of his chair like it was hot all of a sudden. “Now wait a minute, Gunny DOESN’T live here! I
think that excludes him from being on a committee.”

Jon’s comments started the crowd murmuring again. After a minute Mark asked the crowd to quiet down.

“I think that Jon has a good point, anyone on a committee probably should live here. But that doesn’t stop the
committee from bringing in any special advisors they deem fit. Does that seem OK to everyone.”

There was a chorus of affirmative answers.

“Now does anyone have combat military experience?”

No-one’s hand went up. Most of the residents of Silver Hills were too young to have served in Vietnam, and too
old for Desert Storm.

“Does anyone have any military experience?”

Only two hands went up. Jon’s and Chapaross.

“Most of you know that Jon spent four years with the Marines in logistics and supply, Chaparo, what did you
do?”

“I was in the Army for 12 years doing heavy equipment maintenance. I never saw combat, but I was close a
couple of times.”

Mark thought that he would rather have this guy chair the committee. It seemed that he had the same sense
of urgency about security as Mark. Jon seemed to be threatened by Gunny and that might get in his way of doing what
was best for the community. He thought about asking the group to vote, but that would cause a problem no matter the
outcome. If Chaparo won, Jon would be very bitter. And, if Jon won, then who knows what might happen with secu-
rity. Suddenly, the solution came to Mark.

“Since we have two well-qualified veterans, does anyone see a problem with them co-chairing the security
committee?”

Everyone just shook their heads.

“Well since there are no objections, I guess you guys have the job. Who would like to help these fellows out?”

“We still want you to be on the committee, Mark.” Professor Petrie said. “You may not be a military man, but
you do know about self defense.”

Mark thought for a moment. “I'll tell you what Professor; I'll do it if you’ll do it”
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“Well, OK”

“Anyone else?”

One of the women’s hands went up. “I think it might be a good idea if you had a female on the committee, after
all, we care about security as much as you men do. Plus we can make sure you boys don’t turn this into some kind of G.
I. Joe fantasy”

The murmur of female agreement was unmistakable. “How about you, maam?” Mark asked the woman.

“Me?” The woman stammered. “Oh, no. I'm just a single mom concerned about my kids. I don’t know anything
about security. I just think a woman might think of some things that you men would tend to overlook. I'm sure one of
the women here must have some experience that would be useful to the committee.”

Mark looked around. “How about it, any of you women want to help us out?”

No one said anything. “Well, maam.” Mark looked at the single mom. “Looks to me like you're the one. If you
don’t do it, who will?”

“OK, I will. I guess that’s what I get for opening my big mouth.” She answered.

“Thanks.” Mark smiled. “Jon, Chaparo, when do you want to get together?”

“Tomorrow, after the meeting?” Jon asked, looking at Chaparo.

“Sounds good to me. Is that OK with everyone else?” Chaparo answered.

All of the other security committee members nodded their heads.

Mark looked at Jon. “Anything else?”

Jon shook his head. “I guess we'll see everybody tomorrow. If you need to go to the grocery store in the morn-
ing, come see me and we'll figure out the bus schedule”

George got with the members of his committee for a moment and then Mark’s group walked back to his house.
Mark and Jim unloaded and stacked the wood out of the trucks while George and Gunny mostly supervised. They
chatted about what they had to do tomorrow, and some of the things that they needed to find. Gunny excused himself
to go say bye to Abby before he had to leave. The other men continued to talk. When the wood was unloaded they
all went back up onto the deck with the women. Abby had gone home and brought some clothes for Alice. George,
who was close to the same size as Mark was given a couple of pair of jeans and half a dozen shirts out of Mark’s closet.
Everyone was fairly tired from their long day, and shortly after dark they headed to bed. George and Alice slept in the
bed that the twins had been using in the pop-up and the dining table and benches in the camper was converted into a
bed for the girls. Mark, before going to bed went into his bedroom and put a dollar in his black box. He wondered what
tomorrow would bring.

Chapter 18 - The Angel

The next morning Mark got up to exercise. As he ran, he felt weighted down by how much there was to do, and
how little time there was to do it. They had to get the rest of the lumber from work. He needed to go back to the ranch
and work out a deal with Mr. Davis for the windmill. He had promised the Drews that he would lend them a truck to
haul inventory to their house. He wanted to see if he could find some golf cart batteries like Rodney the auto parts man
had told him about. He needed to get the security committee moving, and they needed to train the guards. He wanted
to figure out a way to keep the house cool enough so that they could sleep inside. He needed to help Dr. Vasquez get
the medicine and supplies from his office. They needed to try to find a way to get the fuel tanks from work to his house
and then get fuel to fill them. Jess needed to get the kids going on their schoolwork. He wanted to go to Waco to check
on his family. He knew that they would be OK for food. His brother, Mike, had stored a bunch of food and supplies
for Y2K and Mark knew that he still had most of it put away. Heck, they were probably in better shape than he was as
far as food went. That was his number one concern...food. They could get by on the $50 worth a week from Kroger. It
didn’t provide a very diverse diet, but at least it kept their bellies full. But what if that were no longer available. If rioting
started in town, the Kroger may have to shut down, or worse, be destroyed. What would they do then? They were going
to start growing some food, but how long would it take to get anything out of a garden? He could go down to his deer
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lease in a couple of months and get lots of deer, hogs, and turkeys, as long as he had gas to drive that is. But hunting
season was still over two months away. He felt that if they could get by for the next couple of months, then they could
grow and hunt enough to get by. He would have to talk this over with the others and see if they had any ideas.

When he was done, he showered and dressed. He filled his truck with fuel and then drove it down to Jon’s house for use
as the grocery shuttle. When he got back home, breakfast was ready and all of the adults sat down to eat. As they spoke
of what they needed to accomplish for the day, Mark filled the others in on some of his concerns. Jim suggested that
they see if anyone else has a car or truck that they could get to run. Maybe then they could get some of the other fami-
lies to run some errands. George asked if anyone in the neighborhood had a trailer. David said that he thought he saw
one at Chaparo’s house when he and Mrs. Petersen did their survey. Mark wondered how he hadn’t thought of those
things. Worse yet on Mark’s mind was what had they still not thought of. Well, Mark thought, better just concentrate
on the things that I have to get done today. He zoned back into the conversation that the others were having.

“...are going to look at the gardening equipment on Davids list and then look at the empty lots. Then we
should be able to come up with a plan to present to the group.” George stated.

“That sounds like a good plan to me”” Jim said as the others nodded. “What do you think, Mark?”

“Yeah. That sounds real good.” Mark agreed, not wanting anyone to know that he wasn't paying attention. “I
guess we need to get the rest of the lumber from work. I'm going to see Chaparo right after breakfast to check out his
trailer. If we can use it, maybe we can get the fuel tanks from work”

When breakfast was finished, Mark and Jim walked down to Chaparo’s house with David as a guide. When
they knocked on the door, the big plumber answered the door.

“Hey, Mark. What's up?”

“We came down to see about borrowing your trailer”

“Sure. Let me show you where it is”

The four of them walked behind Chaparo’s house and into his garage/workshop. The trailer was parked in one
corner and it was a big one. Sixteen feet long and eight feet wide, it would haul as much as MarKk’s and Jim’s trucks com-
bined, and then some.

“Do you think we could borrow it for the day? We have a load of lumber at work that we want to bring home.”
Mark asked.

“I don’t see why not.” Chaparo answered. “It’s not doing me any good since my truck won't start.”

“Thanks. David told me you had a nice workshop, but I had no idea that it was this nice.” Mark said as he
noticed not only the welding equipment but also a big drill press, a metal lathe, and several other machines that he did
not recognize.

“I was a machinist in the Army. I worked in the motor pool for most of my stint. We mostly fixed trucks and
humvees, but sometimes we got to work on tanks and stuff too. Now I just do this stuff as a hobby”

“It sounds like you enjoy it Jim observed. “Why did you get out of the army?”

“My suegro , my father-in-law, got sick and he needed someone to take over his plumbing business.” The big
man said sadly. “But, I can’t complain, it has provided a good living for my family”

“I see” Said Mark. “I guess we’ll come pick up the trailer in a few minutes. Hey... Why don’t you come with us
and see if there is anything that you think you might be able to use. I think I saw some welding supplies and some angle
iron and stuff in the shop at work”

“I appreciate that, but we are saving all of our cash for groceries.” Chaparo responded.

“You don’t need any money, my friend.” Jim informed him. “The bosses at work said that we could have what-
ever we wanted.”

“Is that so? Well, then, I'll be ready by the time you come for the trailer”

When the three men reached the gate at work, Gunny was waiting for them as they had arranged the night
before. They were easily able to load the rest of the lumber onto the two trucks and the trailer. Chaparo looked in the
welding shop and suggested that they take all of the welding rods. He didn’'t need any of the equipment, as what he
had at home was equal to or better than what was in the shop. When he looked at the steel that was stacked outside the
shop, he seemed impressed. There was not only a lot of angle iron, but quite a bit of square tubing in various sizes, and
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some steel pipe. There was too much weight wise to carry with all of the lumber, so they loaded as much of it as they
could on the trailer. Mark told Chaparo that after lunch they would like to come back for the fuel tanks with the trailer,
and that they could also get the rest of the metal. Everyone agreed that was a good idea and they headed for home. On
the way, they passed Jon on his way to Kroger. They stopped to talk.

“Hey, guys!” Jim called.

“Hello” Jon responded a little more coolly than Mark liked.

“How’s it going?” Mark asked.

“The lines are really long. I guess the word is getting around about Kroger giving credit. The people I took at
eight were not quite halfway though the line by the time I made the eleven oclock run. I think that this twelve oclock
group is the last one that stands a chance of getting through the line by six”

“I agree. I guess we better take the rest tomorrow...early. We can use both trucks for a couple of runs in the
morning.”

“We won't need too. This makes 51 and we only have 12 more that I scheduled for the one oclock run. We can
take them at eight in the morning”

“We only have 47 families that live here and some of went to the store yesterday.” Mark observed. “How did we
get 63 people that need to go to the store today?”

Jon’s face screwed up as he answered as if the words tasted bad. “A lot of people are inviting their friends and
relatives to move in with them.” Mark could hear ‘Like you!” even though Jon didn’t say it. “I think we need to talk
about this at the meeting tonight before we have so many people living in Silver Hills that we can’t control them.”

Mark didn't like the way that Jon said ‘control; but he didn’t want to get into an argument with him out here in
the middle of the road. Probably better to just change the subject. “OK, Jon. When you get back from this run, will you
come change trucks with us? We need to make another run to our work, and this trailer loaded down is a little much
for Jim’s truck”

“Sure thing” Jon waved as he put the big red truck in gear and headed down the road.

“Who does he think needs to be controlled?” Chaparo asked sharply.

“I don’t know, but I didn’t like it either” Mark answered.

“Me either. But I guess since I'm one of the ones he’s talking about my position is obvious.” Jim chimed in.

As they drove home they passed the little Baptist church. There was a man mowing the grass in front of the
stone building. Mark figured that it was the pastor. On seeing the trucks, the man waved. The three men in the truck
waved back as they passed.

Once home, they drove to Chaparo’s and unloaded the steel and welding supplies. Then they drove to Mark’s
and unloaded the lumber. Mark noticed how quickly it was done with Chaparo helping. Then the four men sat down
and ate some sandwiches and left over chili. Their discussion focused mainly around the meeting of the Security Com-
mittee. Chaparo agreed with everything that Gunny had proposed. The biggest problem he saw was communication.

“If the guards need to call for backups, how are we going to do that?” He asked.

“David told me one of the men has some CB radios that he can get to work.” Mark suggested.

“How many does he have?”

“I don’t know...three or four maybe. I have a couple in the shed that may be OK. How many do we need?”

“One in every house and one for each guard position.” Chaparo answered.

“That many?” Jim asked.

“Chaparo’s right. Without good com, you can't effectively repel a group of MZBswithout a way for the guards to
call for reinforcements.” Gunny interjected.

“MZBs?”

“Another term for Tangos that these two pencil pushers came up with. I kinda like it though. It stands for ‘Mu-
tant Zombie Bikers.” Gunny explained with a toothy grin.

“I see!” Chaparo laughed. “I kinda like it, too”

“We can see if anybody else has any CBs at the meeting tonight. That is if Jon doesn’t piss them off so bad that
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everybody leaves” Mark observed.

“I don’t think too many people are going to like him suggesting that they can’t invite family to stay with them. I
know the Mexican families won't” Chaparo said.

“Well, I guess we'll find out soon enough.” Mark stated.

The men talked for a few more minutes. Mark and Jim described the gate that was at the ranch to Chaparo and
he told them that he could easily build one out of some of the steel that they were getting today. About that time Jon
showed up to switch trucks. He seemed to be in a little better mood and once he left with Jim’s Chevy, the men hooked
up the trailer to Mark’s truck and took off. When they got to work they realized that they could not take both tanks
and all of the steel. They decided to take the gasoline tank and all of the steel. Once the steel was loaded, they tied some
rope to the tank and slowly lowered it onto the trailer. Once it was strapped down, they loaded into the two trucks and
headed back home. Mark was in the lead with Chaparo riding shotgun and Gunny brought up the rear with Jim in the
old Dodge.

As they approached the church where the preacher had been mowing, Chaparo noticed something.

“What’s going on there?” He asked.

Mark noticed that there was a group of men standing in front of the church. They seemed to be working fever-
ishly at something. As they drew closer he could make out one man on the ground and six or seven others kicking and
hitting him. Mark slowed the truck down and he noticed that it was the pastor on the ground and the men who were
kicking him looked like gang members. Mark slammed on the brakes, but before he could get the truck to a complete
stop, Chaparo was out of the truck and running toward the brawl. Mark tried to get out of the truck, but as soon as he
swung his feet out of the door, the truck lurched forward. He realized that the truck was still running and in gear and
as soon as he had taken his foot off of the clutch the truck had started moving. Fortunately, he had also forgotten to
take off his seatbelt and it allowed him to remain in the truck and get it stopped and shut off. Mark’s mind flashed back
to the incident at the Kroger. However, instead of everything happening in slow motion, it seemed that time had sped
up. Mark had his Colt Commander on this time, but he could not use it with Chaparo between him and the Bangers.
He tried calling out to the big man, but Chaparo must have been so intent on his mission, that he did not hear Mark.
The men kicking the preacher were so wrapped up in their mayhem that they did not see Chaparo bearing down on
them. When he reached the bangers it looked like a tornado going through a trailer park. Bodies were flying every-
where. Chaparo bent over to pick up the preacher and started carrying him back toward the trucks. The bangers picked
themselves up and were giving chase. Mark got out of the truck, but the bangers were still too close to Chaparo and the
preacher to bring his gun to bear. As Chaparo approached the truck the bangers noticed the trucks and the three other
men standing next to them. A couple of them stopped but there were still four or five hot on the trail. Mark moved
toward the bangers and side kicked the first one in the stomach just as Chaparo passed him with the preacher. The
combination of Mark’s foot moving toward the man as he was charging in folded him in half like a closing pocket knife.
The impact also knocked Mark over, but he, unlike the man he had just kicked, could still breathe. As he was getting
back up, he noticed that Chaparo had practically thrown the preacher into the front seat of his truck. Once Mark was
on his feet, he noticed that Chaparo was on his right side and Jim was on his left. There were still four of the bangers
moving toward the men. Mark snapped out a front kick and caught one of the men square in the huevos. He dropped
like a rock holding his jewels and moaning. Jim punched another one as he ran in and Chaparo ducked a punch from
one of the others and flipped him over his back as he stood back up. Mark was stepping toward the last man.

BOOM!

Everyone’s head swiveled to see Gunny pointing Bertha up in the air. There was smoke pouring out of the muz-
zle of the big 12 gauge as he dropped her down so that she pointed at one of the bangers.

“You bastards better haul your asses outta here or I'll fill ‘em so full of holes that you’ll think you’re Swiss!”
Gunny yelled.

Mark didn’t know if it was what Gunny said, or just the fact that his tone assured the bangers that he wouldn’t
put up with any shit, or just the big black business end of Bertha that scared the bangers off. The ones who were not too
hurt picked up the ones who were and ran toward an old International Harvester pickup that Mark had not noticed be-
fore. The truck was running and as soon as all seven men had jumped into the bed, the driver roared off toward town.
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The four men looked at each other and when they realized that they were all OK, they turned to check on the minister.
He was lying across the seat and only seemed to be about half conscious. Chaparo reached in and gently pulled him
out. A big contrast from the way he had put the preacher into the truck. His head was bleeding profusely, but other
than that he didn’t have any other obvious injuries. Mark reached behind the back seat of his truck and pulled out his
first aid kit. Lying there was the FAL in its case. A lot of good it would have done me there, he thought. I have to start
carrying it where I can get it into action quickly if I need it. He pulled a large dressing, placed it on the preachers head,
and applied pressure.

“Gunny, can you take your truck and go get Lisa?” Jim asked.

“Roger that. Take this in case they come back” Gunny handed Bertha to Jim and headed for his truck. As he
raced toward Silver Hills, the preacher started coming to.

“Did you see him?” He asked.

“See who?” Jim asked back.

“Did you see the angel?”

“What angel?”

“When those men were kicking and hitting me, I asked God to send me an angel. He did and the angel picked
me up and carried me off. At first I thought he was taking me to heaven, but I guess he just took me away from those
men.” The preacher looked blankly toward the sky.

Mark, Jim, and Chaparo just looked at each other.
“Yeah, Preacher” Mark smiled. “We saw the angel. His name was Chaparo and God sent him just in time.”

Chapter 19 - Inklings

Within a couple of minutes a small crowd had appeared and they were asking questions about what happened.
A woman came running up.

“Bob! Bob! Are you OK?” She cried.

“Cathy, it’s OK. I'm going to be fine” The preacher said seeming to be regaining his faculties.

“What happened?” She asked.

“I was working on the yard in front of the church when these hoodlums drove up and demanded that I give
them all the wine in the church. I tried to explain that we were Baptist and that we use grape juice for communion, but
I guess that they didn’t like my answer and they started beating me. Thank God that these men came along and saved
me.

“Thank you so much?” She said to the three men with tears in her eyes. “Could you help me get him home? It’s
just a little ways down the road””

“We would be happy to maam. But my wife is on her way and she is a nurse. Why don’t we wait for her to get
here before we move him.” Jim advised.

Within a couple of minutes Gunny came roaring up. He and Lisa got out of the truck and she checked the pas-
tor out. Once she had checked to see if he had any neck or back injuries, she gave the OK to carefully move him. They
put him and his wife in the back seat of Mark’s big red truck and drove them to their house. Once inside the house,
Lisa bandaged his head and checked to see if he had a concussion. She said that he did, but that it was probably very
mild. She then taped his ribs as she figured they were at least cracked by looking at the bruising. Lisa instructed the
preacher and his wife for him to take it easy for a while. She told his wife to wake him up every couple of hours during
the night and to come get her if he wouldn’t wake up, started having trouble breathing, developed a severe headache,
or if anything else seemed to be bothering him. The pastor, who seemed to be getting better by the minute, introduced
himself and his wife. He said that their names were Bob and Cathy Jones. He thanked the men and Lisa over and over
and insisted that they and their families come to church on Sunday.

“Mark’s family and ours had already planned on coming this Sunday.” Lisa said.

“That’s great.” Bob responded.
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“I'll hafta to see if I kin make it” Gunny said.

“I hope you can.”

“I haven't been to church in a long time” Chaparo explained. “And besides that we’re Catholic”

“Brother Chaparo, please don’t let that keep you from coming. We had several Catholic families come worship
with us last Sunday. It was just too far for them to walk to their church and we were glad to have them visit. Plus, God
is always happy to see his children in his house, no matter how long it has been”

“Well then, I guess we'll be there”

“Excellent”

“Pastor?” Mark asked. “I noticed that the temperature in your house is very comfortable compared to ours. Do
you know, is it because the house is all rock?”

“That may be part of it, but the main reason, I think, is the windows. You see, this parsonage was built in the
late 40’s, before they had air conditioning. The windows go almost all the way up to the ten-foot ceilings and they open
from the top as well as from the bottom. That lets the hot air out. They put central air conditioning in the house eight
or ten years ago, but we don’t have to use it unless it gets really hot outside. The church is built the same way.”

“I see. Too bad they don’t build them like this any more.” Mark observed. “By the way, do you two need any-
thing?”

“No, thanks, we are OK on food and there is not really anything else that we need.” Cathy answered.

“How about water?”

“We are just inside the city water service line.” Bob explained.

“OK then, I guess we better be going.”

“Thanks again, and well see you all on Sunday”

“Make sure you come get me if he has any problems.” Lisa told Cathy as she showed them out. “Just send some-
one to the entrance of the subdivision and the guards will tell them where Mark’s house is.”

“OK, I will” Cathy promised.

When the group got home dinner was ready and it was time for the President’s speech. They listened to him
talk as they ate. He made good on his threat from the day before. Los Angeles, Atlanta, Cleveland, and Detroit were
placed under Martial Law. The President said that some Army Reserve troops were already in place, and reinforce-
ments on the way, to take control of these cities. No one was allowed out of his or her home between 5:00 PM and
8:00 AM. Also anyone seen looting or vandalizing would be shot on sight. The President said, and really sounded like,
he regretted having to do this, but that there was no other choice. He also acknowledged and thanked the European
community for offering their help. Unfortunately, he said, they use a power format that is incompatible with ours, so
none of their spare transformers or controllers would do us any good. He did say that they were looking to see if there
was anything they could do that could possibly help us. But even if they could, it was unlikely to give us any immediate
relief. When the local news came on, there were a couple of items that everyone found interesting. The first was that
City Water Board was shutting off the water again tonight. They said that they were not able to finish the pump mainte-
nance last night and that they would be working on it again. Mark didn’t know much about how the city water system
worked, but he didn’t see how doing maintenance on a pump could shut the whole system down. He was thankful that
they had their own well. He just needed to get that windmill from the ranch. George had some experience with wind-
mills and he was confident that they could get it to work. The second item of interest was that the Police Department
was asking that property crimes not be reported to them unless the loss was over $50,000. They explained that they did
not have the resources to record or investigate these crimes. They asked the citizens to document as much information
as they could and once the power was back on to report them then so that they could be logged into the computer.
When the news was over, everyone walked down to the Olsen house. George had a stack of papers that he and his com-
mittee had worked on. When they got to the meeting, Mark noticed that there were more people here than he had seen
before. Jon was right about how many new people there were. Several people introduced members of their extended
family that had come to stay in the subdivision. Mark also noticed that just about everyone was talking about the Presi-
dent’s address. Some were outraged that he had actually put the military in charge of some cities and suspended the
rights of the people in them. Others argued that he had done the right thing to make those cities safe, and, they said,
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what good are rights if you're afraid to go outside. A few people had heard about the attack on the Baptist preacher and
came up to ask Mark about it.

Scott Simmons made an observation to Mark about the speech that he hadn’t noticed before.

“Did you notice that the President didn’t make any promises tonight about when the power would be back
on?” Scott asked. “Also, he said they were looking to see if there was anything Europe could do to help us. If we are
going to have the power back in a few days, why would we need Europe’s help? I think he has been trying to forestall
the inevitable, and now he’s going to break the truth to the country real slow and hope that things don’t come crashing
down around his ears.”

Mark thought that Scott was probably right. If the country got used to the idea of the power not coming back
on a little at a time, maybe things would be OK. On the other hand, if it came as a shock to a large part of the country,
who knows how bad things could get. One thing for sure, this was the first time Mark could remember the President
not making a prediction about when the power would be back on. The more Mark thought about it, the more he felt a
sense of urgency about getting all of his preparations done.

After a few minutes, Jon called the meeting to order.

“I know that we all are anxious to hear what the gardening committee has to present.” Jon started. “But there
is an issue that I feel we need to discuss first. It is apparent that many of us are moving our friends and family into the
subdivision. I and some of the others are concerned that if this doesn’t stop, we will not be able to grow enough food to
support all of these people. We only have so much land to grow things on. I know each family that moves in can go to
Kroger, but what if they shut down or cut back on what they let us get? What if we can't take everybody any more? Plus,
we are all getting water from Mark. He runs his generator to pump us water. The more people we have here, the more
water we need, and the more gas he uses. What are we going to do if we run out of gas?”

Jon paused for effect. Many in the crowd just looked around. Some nodded their heads in agreement. A few
turned red in the face.

“So what are you suggesting, Jon?” Someone in the crowd called out.

“I would suggest that we limit the number of people that can live on any one property to ten.”

“You can’t do that. Some of us are already over that number” Another person shouted.

“We could grandfather anybody who already has more than ten to the number they now have.” Jon explained.

“Let me make sure I understand what you’re suggesting, Jon.” Professor Petrie said. “You want us to limit the
number of people that can live on my property?”

“Yes” Jon obviously did not see the trap he was walking into.

“The property that I have the deed for? The PROPERTY that I paid for? The PROPERTY THAT MEN HAVE
GONE TO WAR AND DIED SO THAT I COULD OWN IT AND DO AS I WISH WITH IT?” The professor’s voice
crescendoed then lowered to almost a whisper. “What are you going to suggest next. That we adopt the policy of Red
China and limit every couple to one child?”

Mark looked around. The heads that had been looking around a moment ago were now nodding and those
that were nodding now were looking around like guilty schoolboys. Mark thought to himself “The professor is
GOOOOO00OO0D!

“Well, it is something that I think we are going to have to make some hard decisions about.” Jon stammered.
“Mark, how long can you keep pumping water?”

Yeah, Jon, drag me into it when you get your back against the wall, Mark thought. But he knew he needed to
try to stay on Jon’s good side since the security meeting was right after this one. “I don't really know, Jon. That is a valid
concern, but it should make you all feel better to know that I have a plan to get a windmill. That should give us all the
water we need.”

“That is good to know, but we still have the food situation to deal with.” It didn’t seem like Jon wanted to let
this go.

“Maybe we should hear what George and his committee have to say about growing our own food. Then maybe
we can all think about it for a day or two. How does that sound to everyone?” Mark hoped that would cool the crowd
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oft without stepping on Jon’s toes. Everyone seemed to be in agreement.

“OK, then I guess we'll hear from the committee now and talk about this more tomorrow.” Jon said in a matter-
of-fact tone.

George and the other committee members walked up to where the driveway met the garage. This had become
the de facto speaking platform. The members conferred with each other for a second, and then George cleared his
throat to speak.

“We have a lot of good news. Some of it is preliminary, as we still need to find more seed and check out a few
items. However, the soil here is pretty fertile and we have enough land between the empty lots and everybody’s back
yard to grow a lot of food. What we have tentatively come up with is to use some of the empty lots to grow things that
we will need a lot of, like corn, beans, and potatoes. Then, everybody who wants to can put in a garden for their fam-
ily to use. We can also raise some livestock. Some of you already have chickens, and one family has some high school
students who are raising rabbits for their 4-H project. We could even raise a milk cow or two if we could find someone
to sell us one. The bad news is that we have a lot of work to do. We have three tillers, but one of them is pretty small.
There are only three gardens in the subdivision right now, and only one of them is of any size. We need to get started
tilling the soil that we want to plant immediately. A lot of the items that we want to grow need to be planted in the next
three weeks.”

“How quick can we get any food out of the gardens, George?” Someone asked.

“Well a few things you can start harvesting about two weeks after planting, but most of real food stuff takes 6
to 8 weeks to make. The committee thinks that we should start tilling some of the empty lots tomorrow and try to get
them planted as soon as possible. Some of the committee members are going to try to get seed tomorrow and some of
us are going to coordinate the tilling. We need volunteers to help with the work and we wanted to ask for donations
toward the seed”

Lots of hands went up. “Yes” George pointed a gentleman in the front.

“Going back to what Jon was talking about, if we can get everything planted and going good, how many people
can we feed?”

“That’s a hard question to answer. It depends on a lot of things. But assuming we couldn’t get any food except
what we could grow...let’s see, we have about 45 acres in empty lots. If we use all of that for planting and keep any
animals on the private lots, we could grow vegetables for conservatively 10 to 12 people per acre. So that comes out
to...say 500 people, give or take”

“That’s why I'm saying 10 per household. We have 47 houses, and 10 each would be 470.” Jon interjected.

“Remember, that doesn’t include any private gardens, or the possibility of bartering with a local farmer”
George added. “Plus, the numbers I gave you are really rough. We could work on it some more and probably give you
all a better answer in a few days.” George explained.

The crowd seemed satisfied with that. A few hands went up and George pointed at a man with his hand up.
“Yes?”

“I can help plow”

“Thank you. Yes” He pointed to another man.

“If we want to donate, who do we need to give the money to?”

“You can give it to Mary Patterson, she is going for the seed tomorrow if we can get a truck” He answered.
“And, if you would like to help with the tilling or planting, meet us at Mark’s house at eight oclock in the morning.” All
of the other hands dropped. “Does anyone else have any questions?”

No one said anything so George turned the meeting back over to Jon. Jon asked if anyone had anything else
and Mark raised his hand.

“Yes, Mark”

“I was wondering if anyone has an older car or a trailer that we could use. We can probably get anything made
before ‘80 to run and maybe even some that are a little newer than that. Also, if anyone has any kind of trailer, it could
be used to let us haul more stuff per trip”

Four hands went up. Dr. Vasquez had a horse trailer at his office. It was big enough to haul two horses. Another
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man had a small motorcycle trailer. Manny Hernandez had a 1988 Suburban. Mark told him that they might be able
to get it running and he would talk with him about it later. The last man with his hand up was Professor Petrie. Mark
called on him.

“I have a 1977 Trans Am in the garage. I tried to start it the day of the burst, but it would only turn over. If you
can get it running, we can use it for whatever, but I have to warn you, it drinks a lot of gas”

“We have plenty of gas sitting in all the cars that won’t run. Maybe tomorrow we can try to get the parts.” Mark
looked back at Jon. “That’s all I have.”

“Anyone else?” Jon asked looking around. “Well then, I guess we're adjourned. If you need to go to the store in
the morning, be here at 7:30. And, members of the security committee, we'll meet now.”

Every one except the committee members and Gunny headed home. Mark and Chaparo had asked him to
stay for the meeting. Mark also had the map that Gunny had drawn for them the other day. Jon pulled a card table and
some folding chairs out of his garage and everyone sat around the table. Introductions were made all around the table.
All of the men knew each other, and they just introduced themselves for the benefit of Susan Banks, the only woman
on the committee. Susan was a vice president down at the Wilson County State Bank. She had two boys age seven and
ten. She also told them that she had been divorced for almost three years.

Chaparo started the meeting by asking Gunny to go over the suggestions that he had made a few days ago.
Gunny got the map from Mark, spread it out on the table, and explained what he thought that they should do. He sug-
gested that they start with the front, as that would be where most people would try to get in from, at least at first. Then,
he explained, they could work on the sides and the back.

“I would also get to trainin’ my guards right away. I noticed that they weren't sittin’ down any more, but they
still ain’t payin’ ‘tension like they should”

“Gunny, do you really think that’s necessary?” Jon asked.

“Yes, sir. I do. Them boys you got up front prob’ly couldn’t stop those assho...cuse me, maam...those gentle-
men that attacked the preacher earlier. I counted eight of them. If they came armed, youd be in heck of a jackpot.”

“But that was just a bunch of gang members or druggies looking for some wine.” Jon argued.

“Yeah, you're right. And it’s only been what, nine days since the lights went out. And, everyone still pret’ much
has food ‘n’ water. In a coupla weeks when the food runs out, or the water quits running, how big and how desperate do
you think the groups are gonna be then?”

Jon didn’t say anything. He just sat back in his chair with his arms folded. Several of the committee members,
especially Susan, asked questions and Gunny answered them as diplomatically and thoroughly as he could. Mark was
surprised that all of the questions Susan asked were very rational and insightful. When Gunny had answered all of their
questions, he excused himself to go tell Abby goodbye and drive himself home before sundown. Mark asked Gunny if
he could come over first thing in the morning and help run some errands. Gunny responded affirmatively and disap-
peared down the street.

“Well” Said Chaparo. “What do we want to present to the group?”

“I think the gate might be a good idea, but doing the rest of that stuff is probably a waste of time.” Jon stated
flatly.

“I don’t know, Jon, I think that everything that Gunny said made pretty good sense.” Chaparo said as the others
nodded their heads in agreement. “I think we should suggest that we start on the gate, ditch, foxholes, and barbed-wire
fence for the front. Also that we start a training program for the guards. Once that’s done we can look at what the next
priority should be”

“Who you gonna get to train the guards?” Jon spewed.

“I was thinking that you should do it. I pulled a lot of guard duty during my stint with the Army, but I under-
stand you Marines are the best of the best. Isn’t that why you devil dogs are in charge of security for all of our foreign
embassies?” Chaparo asked.

Jon’s demeanor immediately softened. “That’s true. I guess I could work out a training program.” Mark was
shocked that a guy as big and gruff as Chaparo could be such a diplomat.
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“Alright, that sounds good.” Professor Petrie said. “I second the motion that we present the work for the front
of the subdivision to the group tomorrow.”

“All in favor?” Chaparo asked.

Everyone, including Jon raised their hand.

“OK, then. Pending approval, I would suggest we all take a part of the plan to head up. Jon is going to work
on training the guards. I can be in charge of the gate and blocking off one of the driveways. Professor, can you take the
fence?”

The professor nodded.

“That leaves the digging the ditch and the foxholes. Since that is the most labor intensive job would you two
take it?” Chaparo asked looking at Mark and Susan.

Susan nodded as Mark answered. “That will be fine”

“OK, then. I guess we'll see if we get a ‘go’ tomorrow night.”

Everyone got up, shook hands and said ‘goodnight’ They all headed home except for Mark who went with Pro-
fessor Petrie to look at his Trans Am.

When they were out of ear shot from Jon, Professor Petrie spoke. “Man, that Chaparo really handled that well,
don’t you think?”

“Yes, he did. It surprised me that he was so diplomatic.”

“Me too. I hope he can keep it up. I probably would have lost my temper with Jon, and I am usually a pretty
calm guy”

“I know I would have lost my temper. But Chaparo just acted like nothing was the matter. I'm so glad we
picked him to co-chair the committee.”

“Me too.” The professor agreed.

When they reached the Petrie house, Mark looked at the car. He whistled. “Man, Professor, this is sweet. T-
tops, four on the floor, and it’s just like the one that Burt Reynolds drove in ‘Smokey and the Bandit”

“Please call me Ted. It was mine when I was in graduate school. I put it up after my son was born so that he
could have it when he got his license. Do you think we can get it to run?”

“Yes, Ted, I do. And, since it has a trailer hitch, it will be a lot of help”

The two men made plans to go to the parts store in the morning, shook hands, and then Mark headed home.

Chapter 20 - Mutant Zombie Bikers

MarK’s alarm went off at six oclock as usual, but today instead of getting up and running, he turned it off and
rolled over to try to catch a few more Z’s. He had laid awake most of the night thinking about what might happen and
what all he needed to get done before it did. The fact that the little cool front they had enjoyed for the past couple of
days had disappeared and the humidity that South Texas was famous for had returned with a vengeance hadn’t helped
matters either. The next thing he knew a truck was starting. He looked at the clock and it read 7:18. He looked out the
window of the camper and saw Jon driving off in Jim’s truck to take the last group of what was now a rapidly increasing
population from Silver Hills to the Kroger. He got up, showered quickly, and made his way to the kitchen in the house.

“Hey Sleepyhead.” Jess greeted him as he noticed all of the other adults were sitting around the table. “What
happened?”

“I just didn’t feel like running this morning. I didn’t sleep much last night.”

“Yeah, I know. You tossed and turned all night”

“I'm sorry.

“That’s OK. You only woke me up a couple of times and I went right back to sleep. Alice fixed some scrambled
eggs and biscuits and gravy. You hungry?”

“You bet I am.”

“So, how did the security meeting go last night, Mark?” Jim asked.
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“Pretty good. Jon is being difficult at times, but Chaparo was able to get him into the boat with us. He agreed to
start training the guards, if we get approval tonight at the meeting.”

“Yeah he told me that he was looking at that. He said that most of what you all are going to suggest is probably
a waste of time, but he figures that it won’t hurt anything so he went along”

“Big of him. What did you think about his other idea to limit our population?”

“Well, obviously I didn'’t like it. I mean we already have 10 living here. What if you or Jess wanted to bring your
parents here to live? It’s your property and if you want to have 100 people live here, then that’s your business.”

“Yeah, that’s kind of the way that I feel. I do see his point, though, about not being able to support too many
people. But, like Ted pointed out last night, I don’t think that we can tell people what or what not to do in their own
homes. Hopefully we can find a solution before we hit a population of a million or so” Mark said with half a grin.

“What do you have planned for today?” Jess asked her husband.

“I am going to take Ted and maybe Manny to the parts store. We can probably fix Manny’s Suburban the same
way Jim fixed his truck. But I don’t know if Manny has the $600 for the parts. Then 'm going to stop by Jerry’s house
and pick him up so that he can use my truck today”

“Manny has always been so good to us. Maybe we should help him pay for the parts.” Jess suggested.

“You think so? I guess we could. But that’s a lot of money, and I don't know how much use wed be able to get
out of it. If the stuff really hits the fan in the next week or so, I don’t even know if we're going to be able to drive any-
where. I just don’t think it would be a wise investment.”

“I see what you mean, but if you change your mind, it’s OK with me.” She paused. By the way, can I use the Jeep
today?”

“I promised Dr. Vasquez that we would help him get his vet supplies moved. I was going to ask Jim to help
him?”

“Can we fit everything in the Jeep?” Jim asked.

“No. But, remember, he has a trailer at his office. You can fill it up and pull it with the Jeep”

“OK, I can do that”

“Take a rifle with you and leave it out where you can get to it. You might even want to take someone with you
to stand guard while you and the Doc load the trailer” Mark didn’t have to say why.

Jess jumped back in. “Well then since the Jeep is promised out, do you think Gunny could take us to the flea
market?”

“What do you need from there?” Mark asked incredulously.

“Lisa, Alice, Abby, and I wanted to see if we could find anything we might be able to use.” Jess had that look in
her eye that told Mark he was somehow in trouble. But, he wasn't sure why this time.

“It’s probably not even going to be open.” He disputed.

“Some of the women heard at the Kroger that is going to be open today and tomorrow.”

“Well, maybe tomorrow someone can take you. I promised George and the gardening committee that someone
would take them to get seed, and I already asked Gunny to do it”

“Too bad we don't have another vehicle”

Mark realized too late what was happening. “We just can’t waste our money on a vehicle thats not ours. We
have too many other things that we need” He argued.

“I see, and what good is all that money in the safe going to do us if we can’t even go to buy the things we need
because we don’t have enough running vehicles in the neighborhood to go where we need to.” Jess finally showed a lit-
tle emotion with her argument.

Mark knew that he couldn’t win this without it costing him much more than it was worth, but his pride
wouldn’t let him just give up. “But, Babe, that’s a LOT of money!” Just then Mark saw Jim jump and look over at Lisa.
He wasn't sure if she had kicked his friend under the table, but he figured that her legs were just long enough to reach.
All she did was just tilt her head slightly toward Mark once she had Jim’s attention.

“Mark, I think that Lisa and I would be willing to pitch in some on Manny’s truck if that would help”” Jim said.
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“Yes, Jim. That would help. Thank you both. I guess I'll go talk to Manny.” Mark wondered if the girls had set
this up the night before, or if it was a spur of the moment thing. If it were spontaneous, they sure had been on the same
wave length. Maybe women were telepathic. All he knew was, whether it had been a well rehearsed plan or an im-
promptu one, he had fallen in to it head first.

Mark went outside when he saw Gunny pull into the driveway. George had already gone out to coordinate
the tilling. George told him they were going to start with the 5 acre lot that was directly across the street from Mark’s
house. They were planning to plant it in corn. Mark asked George who Gunny needed to take for the seed. George
called Mary Patterson and Dwight Rittiman over and introduced them to Mark and Gunny as the seed buyers. Gunny
needed some gas, so Mark instructed him to the back where the fuel was stored. As they filled up the truck, Mark asked
Gunny if he had his shotgun where he could get to it quickly. Gunny assured him that he didn’t need to worry and,
once the truck was filled, loaded up his passengers and headed down the road. Jim left in the Jeep to go get Dr. Vasquez
about the time Ted came walking up. Mark pulled his FAL and its magazines out from behind the back seat and put a
loaded mag into the rifle. He didn’t chamber a round as that would only take a second if he needed to. He put the big
rifle in the front seat with the muzzle pointed down at the floor. He thought that the CAR-15 that Jerry had lent him
would have been a lot easier to carry because of its size, but they hadn’t checked it to see if it was sighted in correctly,
so Mark just stayed with the .308. Mark and Ted got in the big red Ford and drove down to Manny’s house. Ted sat in
the truck while Mark went up and knocked on the door. Manny answered and the two men looked under the hood
of the big SUV. It was fuel injected and looked like it would need the same parts that Jim had used on his truck. Mark
explained that the parts would be expensive, but he was sure that they could get it to run. When Manny asked how
expensive and Mark told him, Manny whistled.

“My friend, I do not have that kind of cash. In fact we have spent almost all of the money we had in the house.
Will this parts man take a check or a credit card?”

“I doubt it, Manny, not with the power out. But Jim and I can cover you.”

“I can not ask you to do that”

“You didn’t ask, we offered. We need more vehicles in the subdivision that we can use. This will benefit every-
one. And besides that...our wives insisted.”

Manny got a twinkle in his eye. “I see. It is that way at my house at times as well. I wear the pants...but she
picks them out”

“You got that right, buddy” Mark agreed laughing.

When Manny climbed into the truck, he noticed Mark’s FAL sitting on the front seat. “Do you think I should
bring my rifle too?” He asked Mark.

“It couldn’t hurt” Mark answered and Manny hopped out of the truck and ran back into the house. “Ted, we
can stop by your house if youd like to pick up a weapon.”

“I don’t own any guns. I had a .22 when I was growing up, but my wife doesn’t like guns and I never really saw
the need to own any”” Ted explained.

When Manny came out of the house with his old .30-30 and climbed into the back seat, the three men headed
to town. When they got to the parts store it was closed as Mark had suspected it would be. He pulled out the card
with Rodney’s address on it and eased the truck back onto the road. As he made his way through the back streets to
Rodney’s house he noticed that people seemed to have a different look about them. He couldn’t put his finger on what
it was, but something just felt different. When he got to the parts man’s house he left the truck running with Ted and
Manny inside. As he walked up to the front door, it opened and Rodney was holding an old 12 gauge long barreled
shotgun.

“Hey, Mark. You need some more parts?”

“Yeah, Rodney, I do. How’s it going?”

“OK, I guess. Someone tried to steal my car the other night, but I scared them off with my shotgun.”

“Really. Is everyone OK?”

“Yeah. I just fired a round into the air and they ran off. But we've been keeping a close eye on things since then.
Give me a minute, and I'll follow you back to the store”
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“OK. Thanks.”

Mark climbed back into the truck and a moment later the garage door opened. Mark backed out of the way
and Rodney pulled a beautiful black Charger out of the garage. Mark followed him to the store and when they got out,
he asked Rodney about it.

“It's a’69.” Rodney told him. “T put a 440 in it that I balanced and blueprinted. Plus I spent a lot of money re-
storing her. She’s a real sweet ride...quick, too. That’s why I didn’t want some scumbag stealing her”

The men went into the parts store and bought what they needed. Manny’s parts weren't quite as expensive
as Jim’s had been because they didn't need to change the intake manifold on the Suburban. Rodney sold them a two
barrel carburetor that would just bolt on in place of the throttle body. Mark paid, and they all thanked Rodney. Mark
asked if there was anything that they could do for him. He thanked them for the offer and told them that he was doing
OK. They loaded up and headed for Jerry’s. When they got there, Mark honked the horn and Jerry ran down to open
the gate. Mark asked if he wanted to borrow the truck for the rest of the day. Jerry was elated, but said that they were
about to run his mother into the Doctor. He asked if he and Dale could come out to Silver Hills in an hour or so and
pick it up. Mark told him that would be fine, but he told Jerry that he needed the truck back by this evening because
he planned to pick up a windmill tomorrow. Jerry told him that would not be a problem. He said that they had already
brought quite a few of the guns home in their Jeep. Mark reminded him how to get out to his house and the three men
headed home.

On the way home the men talked of the things they needed to do, the things they missed with the power out,
and their hopes that everything would be OK. Mark filled the other two men in on his plans for the windmill and how
he hoped they could run water down to the front of the subdivision so that people who lived there didn’t have to carry
water all the way from his house. Manny and Ted both spoke of their plans to put in a garden on their property as well
as help with the community ones. Manny’s five kids and three grandkids, plus his father-in-law and his son’s girlfriend,
meant that he planned to devote about an acre, or maybe a little more, of his property to gardening. Three of Man-
ny’s kids had already moved out. Two were married and had kids of their own already. His middle son was sharing an
apartment in town with his girlfriend. Manny said that his wife was not happy about that, and that when the unmar-
ried couple got to his house she had put them in separate bedrooms. Manny was laughing as he told of the look on his
sons face, but that he was a smart boy and didn’t argue with his mama about it. He told Mark and Ted how his kids
had all walked to his house. The married ones lived in La Vernia so it was only a ten or twelve mile walk for them. But
the cohabitaters had backpacked in from San Antonio. It had taken them two days. Manny was just glad that all of his
family was safe and that he had enough room to put them all up, even if some of them were sleeping in the den and the
dining room. Ted, on the other hand, only had his wife and son to feed and didn’t plan to plant more than about one
quarter of an acre. Mark had not really spent much time thinking about how much of his property he should plant...
just what he needed, something else to get done.

As the conversation turned lighter the men talked about what they missed the most. Mark really missed watch-
ing sports on TV and going to karate class. Ted said that he missed doing research on the internet and visiting with his
fellow professors. Manny said that what he missed the most so far was air conditioning. Mark thought about how lucky
they were to have the campers to sleep in. It would really be miserable to have to sleep in the house. He asked Manny
and Ted about it and they both said that while the first several days had been miserable, they had started to get used
to it. In fact, Ted said, until all of the humidity last night, it had almost been bearable for the last several days. If today
was any indication though, tonight would not be a good one. It was only about eleven and it had to be over 90 degrees
already. For it not to hit over 100 today would take a miracle.

Mark was thinking about the preacher’s house and how it was cooler when the cab of the truck seemed to
explode. All of the sudden there was a big hole in the middle of the windshield where the rearview mirror had been.
Mark slammed on the brakes only to be greeted by a hammering jolt from the rear. What in the hell was going on?

He tried to look in the mirror but it was no longer there. He looked in the side mirror, but couldn’t see anything. He
turned his head to look out the back and noticed that the back window was gone and most of it seemed to be on Man-
ny. As he looked out the back it was obvious that another truck had hit him. OK, he thought, but what knocked a hole
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in my windshield. The reality of what was going on hit him like a truck hitting an armadillo on a lonely Texas highway.
The truck was the same one that the men beating up the preacher had used to escape and the hole had been caused by
a gun shot. Mark’s only thought was to get away. He down shifted the truck and put his foot on the floor. It was the first
time in ten years that he wished he had a gas motor instead of the diesel. The big motor would push the truck to over
100 miles per hour. Mark had done it once, just to see. But, it took forever to accelerate up to that. Mark looked out

his side mirror and saw that the truck that had hit him was just starting to move. Maybe the head start would give him
some time. He was in second gear now and approaching 40 MPH.

“Are you guys OK?” He screamed as he shifted the big truck into third.

“What happened?” Ted had a confused look on his face.

“I'm OK” Manny said. He was brushing the glass from the back window off of him. The look on his face told
Mark that he knew what was going on.

“It’s the guys that beat the preacher up yesterday” Mark explained to Ted. “I guess they want some payback.”
Mark kicked himself for stupidly chatting away like a schoolgirl and not paying attention to what was going on around
him.

“You...you mean they’re shooting at us?” Ted stammered.

Mark didn’t answer. He was up to 65 now and shifting into fourth. He checked the mirror and while the old
International Harvester wasn’t gaining on him, the Ford didn’t seem to be acquiring the kind of distance that he would
have liked for it to, either. Mark’s mind raced for a solution. They were probably four or five miles from home. But he
couldn’t just turn into the subdivision with this rolling cesspool of destruction in tow. Even if they did stop when he
got to the entrance, they would know where he lived then. No, there had to be a better solution than that. Think, damn
it, THINK, he rebuked himself. He could stop here and fight it out. But there had been eight yesterday, maybe more
today, and he only had three. Two really...because Ted would probably not be very useful in a gun fight, and he didn't
have a rifle anyway. Hell, he had never been in a gun fight either. How useful would he be? Well the best odds that he
could hope for were two and a half; assuming Ted could shoot his .45, to eight. Not too promising. He needed help. If
only Gunny and Jim were here. Should haves, could haves, and would haves would do him little good now, he thought.
Focus on the problem, he told himself. He looked out the side mirror again. The other truck was starting to gain. They
were maybe 75 or 100 yards behind him. Mark saw a man pop up out of the bed of the truck and lean over the cab with
some kind of long gun. He saw a muzzle flash and instinctively ducked his head. The shot missed, he guessed, but the
closer they got the easier it would be to hit the big red rolling target he was driving. Mark looked at his passengers. Ted
was scrunching down in his seat and Manny was cautiously looking out the back.

“Manny, can you give them something to think about?”

“Will do!” Manny picked his old Marlin and jacked a round into the chamber. He turned around in his seat
and stuck the rifle out of the shattered back window. The sound of the 150 grain soft point exiting the barrel barely
registered on Mark’s brain. Manny jacked the lever again.

Mark was coming up on a curve and he had to slow the truck down just a little. Once back on the straightaway
he put his foot back on the floor. He looked back in the mirror again and saw that the IH had almost lost control in the
curve and had to slow down considerably. There was a big curve up the road about a mile. Mark could stop the truck
and they could open up on these MZBs as they came around the curve. But the chance of stopping them all was slim.
Plus they would have to use the truck for cover and Mark didn’t want to have his truck all shot up if he could help it.
Besides probably only the engine would really stop a bullet. He looked, they were gaining again. Now there were two
men leaning across the cab. One of them had a pistol, Mark could see, and it would not be very effective at this range.
He was doing almost 75 and the diesel was accelerating very slowly at this speed. Just as he had to slow for the sharp
curve he decided not to stop. There had to be a better solution. The sign on the road said to take the curve at 35 but
Mark figured he could push it up to maybe 50. He told Manny and Ted to hold on as he braked hard down to 45, put
the truck back into third and hit the accelerator. The big truck took the curve like an elephant on a tightrope but it
stayed on the road. The driver of the other truck, not wanting to make the same mistake as before, slowed down, made
the curve, and started closing the distance again. Mark heard something hit the truck.

“Manny what was that?” Mark yelled.
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“They shot the tailgate! It looks like buckshot. Five or six holes. It punctured the tailgate but not the cab, Gra-
cias a Dios. Else I would be a dead man.”

“Shoot some more and get them to back off.!”

“OK, Mark”

Manny shot at the truck two times and it seemed to have the desired effect. The other truck dropped back to
about a hundred yards. That would keep the shotgun and pistol from doing much harm unless the MZBs got real lucky.
But if they had a rifle, it would not keep him and his passengers safe. Manny had stopped shooting again.

“Manny keep shooting!”

“I only brought the bullets in the gun! I don’t want to waste them.”

Great, Mark thought. He knew the Marlin would hold six or seven rounds and that meant Manny had three or
four shots left. The MZBs were starting to close the gap again. Work the problem damnit, he thought. Maybe two miles
to the subdivision now. He could stop right in front of the entrance and then he would have the guards. Plus maybe
someone would hear the shooting and come to help. That might even the odds a little. He had to keep the other truck
back far enough to make it though. And he needed Manny to have a functioning weapon when they stopped.

“Ted” Mark said. No answer. He looked at the scholar. Ted looked like he was in some kind of trance. “TED!!!”

“What?”

“Hand my rifle to Manny!”

Ted handed the rifle to Manny and he stuck it out the back window.

“Where’s the safety?!” Manny cried.

“It’s under your right thumb...push it down!”

CLICK!

It was the loudest sound Mark had ever heard. There was no round in the chamber.

“Manny! On the left side of the receiver...there’s a round silver handle. Pull it all the way back and let it go.”

Manny did as he was told and then put the rifle, that no less than 93 countries had used some variation of as
their main battle rifle, out of the window.

BAM! BAM! BAM!

Manny must have hit the International Harvester because it slammed on the brakes. A second later it was ac-
celerating again. Half a mile to go, Mark thought. He could see the subdivision sign and the guards. He wondered who
they were. He hoped they were good shots and wouldn't panic. This was turning into what Gunny had called a real
jackpot. Mark heard a bullet hit the truck.

BAM! BAM! Manny fired back.

MarK’s brain raced. If he stopped right by the guards would they figure out what was going on quick enough
to help him? Or, would they just get shot before they could figure it out? No, he couldn’t just stop there. But he needed
their help.

“Please, God, tell me what to do!” Mark prayed.

Mark didn’t know if was truly divine inspiration, the fact that he let his brain switch gears for a second, or
coincidence. But, suddenly he knew what to do. He would drive past the guards and stop once the MZBs were about
100 yards past too. That way the guards could put them in a cross fire. He checked his mirror. The truck was about 150
yards behind him.

“Get ready guys! I'm going to stop once we pass the ‘Silver Hills’ sign!”

Mark roared past the entrance blaring his horn. He recognized the two men on guard duty. One of them was
Scott Simmons, but he could not remember the other’s name. When they were almost even with the eastern edge of
the subdivision, Mark slammed on the brakes and eased the truck into the shallow ditch. Once the truck had come to
almost a complete stop Manny began rapid firing at the quickly approaching old truck. Mark undid his seatbelt, turned
around, and leaned out of the side window with his .45 in his hand. Ted had sunk down to the floor. Just as Mark lined
up the sights on the truck the windshield exploded from a .308 round out of the FAL. The truck skidded to a halt, side-
ways in the road, about 75 yards from Mark, Manny, and Ted. Mark saw that most of the men in the IH had pistols and
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a couple of shotguns. At this range the pistols would be of little use unless somebody was really good or really lucky.

He knew he wasn’t that good and prayed that none of the MZBs were either. Luck could go either way. Then he saw an
AK stick out of the driver’s window. ‘YOU BIG TROUBLE!” was one of MarK’s three year old nephew’s favorite things
to say and it sure applied to that ugly rifle with the big banana clip. Mark concentrated his fire on the driver’s window.
Manny was yelling something, but Mark couldn’t make it out. It only took a few seconds for him to empty his magazine
and the way he was leaning out of the window he couldn’t reach the spares on his left hip. He pulled his upper body
back into the truck to reload. Manny was struggling with a fresh magazine for the FAL that he must have reached over
the front seat to get. Rounds were beginning to impact the truck with some regularity. Mark sunk down in his seat

and yelled at Manny to rock the magazine into the rifle front to back. A second later he heard the big rifle bark. With a
fresh mag in his Colt, he looked out the window again. The FAL had made the MZBs duck their heads and they were
firing blindly, so the impacts to the truck became almost nonexistent. The muzzle of the AK was sending out its deadly
projectiles with flashes that looked like a Morse code message. Mark again opened up on the driver’s window. This time
he tried to use a little more fire discipline and when he saw a puff of dust just below the door, he raised his point of aim
about three feet. As he was squeezing the trigger, he saw the AK fall out of the truck. Then he heard the smack. It was
the same sound he heard when he knew he had made a good shot on a deer or a hog. A micro second after that, he
heard the supersonic crack of a hunting rifle. It was the guards. The firing from the MZBs slowed as they tried to figure
out what had happened. Then they turned all of their attention to their new found threat. Mark looked around and saw
a mound of dirt about three feet high that was just inside the decorative fence to the subdivision. It must have been dirt
that they pushed up to put in the barb wire fence. If he, Manny, and Ted could get behind it, it would give them some
real cover and a better angle on the MZBs. Mark yelled at Manny and Ted to get ready to bail out the passenger side
and run for the mound. They both answered affirmatively and Manny told Ted to take his .30-30 as it came over the
seat. Mark looked out the window and the MZBs were still looking back at the guards.

“‘GoYr”

Both doors flew open and Manny and Ted were running for the mound. Mark holstered his pistol, grabbed the
three remaining FAL mags, and slid across the seat and out of the door. Manny and Ted were both to the short wooden
fence and they slowed to step over it and then dove behind the dirt pile. As Mark was almost there, one of the MZBs
saw him running and turned his pistol toward them and the others followed suit. Mark jumped the fence in stride and
slid feet first like he was trying to beat a short throw to third base. Bullets began to hit the dirt in front of them with
sickening thumps. Mark heard the crack of one of the guards’ rifles again and a MZB fell out of the back of the truck
like a rag doll that had been tossed out of a high rise. The others jumped out of the bed and hid behind it on MarK’s side
looking and firing back at the guards. Manny pushed the big black rifle at Mark and when he took it Manny grabbed
his rifle from Ted. Mark didn’'t know how many rounds the FAL had in it so he pulled out the old mag and inserted a
fresh one.

“Ready?” Manny asked.

“Let’s rock!” Mark answered.

They popped up and fired. Manny shot once and Mark shot twice. Mark saw two men fall as he was ducking
back down. The MZBs that were still on their feet all dropped their weapons and put their hands in the air at the same
time like they had a collective conscious. When Mark saw this he popped up and covered the sky grabbers. The guards
must have seen it too, because they stopped firing. Mark looked and Manny was standing right beside him.

“You all take 5 steps toward me and then lay down on the road” Mark called to the MZBs. The six men did as
they were told just like they had been practicing that particular move all of their lives. Mark and Manny came around
the dirt pile and slowly approached the truck. Mark could see that the guards were cautiously closing in as well. A few
men were now running down the main road of the neighborhood toward the entrance with rifles. When they got to
the truck, Mark told Manny to cover the men who were lying down while he checked the truck. Two men were obvi-
ously dead next to the truck and the third was holding his calf and rocking back and forth. Mark slung his rifle over
his shoulder and pulled out his pistol to cover the man. He looked in the bed of the truck and seeing that it was empty,
he picked all of the MZB weapons off of the asphalt and threw them into the back. He then looked in the cab. It looked
like a five gallon can of red paint had exploded. The driver was lying over in the seat and most of the left side of his
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head was gone. The passenger was holding the right side of his stomach and a dark red oozed out from between his
fingers. Mark could see a sawed off double barrel shotgun lying on the floor board next to the bleeding man. He slowly
walked around the truck, careful to cover the unfortunate attacker with his .45, opened the door and retrieved the gun
that was covered in a sticky goo. Mark just stared at the man and started to shake. By then the guards had gotten to the
truck.

“Are you OK?” Scott asked.

“Yeah...I think so. Can you help Manny cover the guys on the other side of the truck?”

Scott nodded and the other guard put his hand on Mark’s shoulder and gently pulled him back from the truck.
Mark looked at the man and still couldn’t remember his name. He did recognize that the man’s rifle was a Weatherby
Accumark though. Probably a .300 Weatherby, Mark thought. That would explain the hamburger that the dead men
had been turned into.

“Can you cover this guy?” Mark asked the guard.

“Sure thing, Mark?”

Mark could see more and more residents being drawn to the MZB truck as if it were a black hole and they
were meteors passing through its gravitational pull. The closer they got the faster they moved. Mark walked toward the
ditch. When he got there, what seemed like a year’s worth of biscuits and gravy was expelled from his stomach with the
force of an Apollo rocket.

Chapter 21 - John Law and the Bear

When Mark had sufficiently recovered from heaving his breakfast into the ditch, he stood up. Quite a crowd
had formed around the old International Harvester truck. They were mostly listening to Ted recount his version of
what had happened, looking inside the gory cab, or over by Manny and Scott looking at or taunting the live MZBs.
This was turning into a zoo. In the concealed handgun license class that Mark had taken to get his license to carry they
had learned what to do after a shooting. Just about everything here was as wrong as it could be. Mark saw Jon and
called him over.

“Are you OK?” Jon asked with eyes that looked like they had just seen a UFO.

“Yeah, Jon. I'll be alright”

“It looks like a war zone here”

‘Well, duh!” Mark thought. “Look Jon, I need you to take charge of this situation.”

“OK, what do I need to do?”

“First, you need to get all of these people back. Second, tell Ted to keep his mouth shut until we talk to the po-
lice. This will be treated as a murder crime scene, and we don’t want to mess it up and be accused of having something
to hide. Next, get those bastards that tried to kill us separated so that they can’t collaborate on a story. Put some men on
each one. And make sure someone pats them down real good, even between their legs. If you can find some big wire
ties, they can be used as handcuffs, but don’t put them on so tight it cuts off the circulation. Get Lisa and Doc Vasquez
if he’s back to look after the wounded ones. And, someone needs to go get the Sheriff. And if anyone knows a lawyer
that lives around here, get him too”

“OK, Mark”

Jon turned and started barking orders at the residents. He called for his guards that were already there to carry
out what Mark had suggested or to go get more guards. Mark climbed back over the short wooded fence and sat on
the ground. People were still running down the road to the battle site. Mark saw his family coming and he waved them
over to him before they could get to the shot up truck.

After he reassured them that he was OK, he sent the kids back to the house. He asked Jess to have Jon get
Manny, Ted, Scott, and the other guard away from everyone else and to have them sit separately until the Sherift ar-
rived. Mark saw Jim’s truck turn the corner, weave around the IH and head for the county seat. He wasn’t sure who was
driving. Jess talked to Jon and Mark saw him grimly nod his head. She came back over to Mark.
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“Did you shoot any of them?” She asked.

“Yes”

“Are you really OK?”

“No. But for the situation, I'm doing pretty well. I need you to try to get as many of these gawkers as you can
back to work. Tell them that we will fill them in completely at the meeting tonight.”

“OK, Honey. Can I do anything else for you?”

“Yeah. Have David bring me a Diet Coke.”

“They arent cold”

“I don’t care. I just have to get this taste out of my mouth.”

“OK?” And with that Jess turned and headed for the crowd. Mark had told her what would happen if he ever
had to shoot someone, so she knew what the drill was.

Once Jon had separated all of the Silver Hill's men that had been involved in the shootout, he came back over
to Mark. “Anything else, Mark?”

“Did you find a lawyer?”

“Nobody knows any that live around here. They are all in San Antonio”

“Damn.” There was a dollar word. Mark wondered how many he had used during the shootout. He didn’t
remember any, but that didn’t mean he didn't say a bunch in the heat of the battle. “Ask around again, Jon. I would sure
like to have one here when the Sheriff gets here”

“But, you guys didn't do anything wrong. Why do you need a lawyer?”

“Jon, in these kinds of cases, it’s not always about right or wrong. I know that we will probably be ‘no billed’” by
the grand jury. But, if the families that produced that pond scum sue us for killing their sweet innocent babies, it could
cost tens of thousands of dollars just to defend ourselves. That's why we need a lawyer”

“OK, Mark, I'll ask around again.”

Mark could see that Jess had gotten most of the onlookers to head back up the hill. That girl was nothing, if
not persuasive. As he was looking at Jess herd her group, he saw the Drew Jeep approaching the subdivision. The Jeep
slowed, stopped when it got even with Jess for a moment, she pointed toward Mark, and then it continued down the
road. Jerry stopped the CJ-5 and he and Dale hopped out and walked up to Mark.

“Are you OK?” Jerry asked.

“Yeah” Mark wondered how many more times he would have to answer that question. “But I don’t think you’ll
be able to use the truck today”

“No shit!” Dale answered without a trace of sarcasm.

“Do you need anything?” Jerry inquired.

“Yeah. You know any lawyers around here?”

“I know one...good customer of ours...but he’s just a tax attorney.”

“At this point I'll take what I can get.”

“His name is Ralph Jones. We just delivered a safe to his house a couple of months ago and he only lives a little
ways from here. Dale you want to go get him?”

“Sure” Dale wasn't one to waste words. He headed for the Jeep.

“Anything else you want me to do?” Jerry asked.

“Yes” Mark answered and held up a finger to ask Jerry to wait a second. “Jon...JON!” Jon turned and saw Mark
waving him over. He jogged over.

“Jon, this is my friend Jerry Drew from Drew’s Guns.” The two men shook hands. “He taught my concealed
handgun class and he knows a lot about what needs to be done before the cops get here. Can you tell him where we're
at and see if he thinks we need to do something else?”

“Roger that.” Jon responded. “I couldn’t find a lawyer”

“That’s OK. Jerry knew one and his brother went to get him.”

“Good deal” Jon and Jerry walked oft as Jon was telling him what he had done.

A few minutes later David and Sam returned with MarK’s soft drink. Sam explained to her dad that she wanted
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to come to make sure that he was alright. She told him that she had overheard some of the men saying that he would
probably be taken in to the sheriff’s office. He could see that she had been crying and he assured her that everything
would be OK. He told David, who had a very somber look on his face as well, to tell his mother that he was OK and
not to worry. For all the good it will do, Mark thought. He sent the kids back up to the house with a big hug and then
opened the coke. He took a big mouthful, swished it around in his mouth, and then spit it out. Boy, was that better! He
took a big swallow and wished that it was ice cold. Mark looked around. Jerry was pointing things out to Jon. There
were guards on the MZBs and their hands were tied behind their backs with big black wire ties. The one with the leg
wound was being looked at by Lisa with a guard watching his every move. The one that had been inside the cab was
just lying in the grass. Either Lisa had fixed him up as good as she could, or he was dead. Probably the later, judging
from how bad he was bleeding. So that would make four dead, one wounded, and six captured. It was fortunate that
these had just been a bunch of gang bangers with no real skills. If theyd had better weapons or skills, this could have
turned out much different.

It didn’t take Dale very long to get back with the lawyer. Mark was a little surprised to see that it was a big black
man that got out of the Jeep. Not that he had a problem with that; it just wasn't what he was expecting. When Jerry had
said ‘tax attorney, Mark had pictured Casper Milquetoast. This guy looked like the Bears might have had to cut him
because he scared Ditka too much. They walked over to Mark and Dale introduced Ralph to Mark.

“It’s nice to meet you.” Mark said as he shook the big man’s hand.

“Looks like they bit oft more than they could chew.” Ralph commented. “What happened?”

Jerry gave a brief account.

“Mr. Turner, I'm just a property tax attorney. Normally, I would recommend another attorney and have you
call him. But since the phones don’t work, and things aren’t exactly normal, I'll represent you while the authorities
investigate this thing, if you would like me to.” He said as Mark was trying to figure out where he knew this man from.
“But, if you get charged or sued, we will have to look for someone more qualified than me to handle that.”

“Mr. Jones, that would be wonderful. But how much do you charge”

“Call me Ralph. Any friend of the Drew’s is a friend of mine. And since this isn’t really my cup of tea, I'll do it
pro bono for now. Now who else was involved in this thing?”

“Manny Hernandez and Ted Petrie were in the truck with me” Mark informed the lawyer as he pointed out
Manny and Ted. “Manny and I did all the shooting from the truck” Then Mark swung his hand around to point in the
other direction. “Scott Simmons and the other guard...I can’t remember his name...were here on guard duty and they
helped us pin them down in a cross fire once we got here.”

“How long until the sheriff gets here?” The big attorney asked.

“Someone left to get him about 25 minutes ago. I'm sure they probably had to go all the way to Floresville to
find him. I figure he’ll be here in 15 or 20 minutes.”

“OK. You sit tight and let me see if these other fellows want counsel. When the Sheriff gets here, you don’t say
anything other than your name and address unless I'm there.”

Mark sat back down and took another drink of his coke. Ralph talked with the other men involved. Just before
the sheriff roared up with an ambulance and two other squad cars not far behind, he came back over to Mark.

“Everybody’s on the same page. Just tell the sheriff exactly what happened and I don't think you’ll have any
problems. If I don’t want you to answer something, I'll jump in”

“OK, Ralph. Thanks for helping us”

“That’s my job, now here we go”

The Sherift got out of his car and took a cursory look around. He had his deputies take over the guarding of the
MZBs then he talked to the paramedics who had taken over for Lisa. Then he walked over to where Mark and Ralph
were standing. He moved like a big cat. Mark noticed he had a big Glock on his hip. Either a model 34 or 35.

“Ralph.” The sheriff nodded his head at the attorney.

“Curt” Ralph responded. “This is my client, Mark Turner.”

“This ain't no property tax assessment case, Ralph.” The sheriff said.
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“Yeah, I know. It’s a little out of my field of expertise. But, I was the only one available, and I guess these guys
figured I was better than nothing.”

“See your point.” The sheriff said. “Mr. Turner, I'm Sheriff Curt Thompson. You wanna tell me what happened
here?”

Mark told the narrative as best he could remember. When he was done the sheriff asked to see his ID. Mark
produced both his driver’s license and concealed handgun license.

“That your rifle?” The sherift pointed to the ground where Mark had unloaded and set down his FAL.

“Yes, sir”

“And do you have your pistol on you?”

“Yes. It’s on my right hip. And there’s a .32 in my back pocket” Mark answered knowing not to reach for them.

“Did you shoot the .322”

“No, sir”

“Good, just leave it there. But, 'm going to have to take your 1911 The sherift reached under Mark’s outer
shirt and removed his Colt from its holster.

“It's loaded” Mark warned the lawman.

“What good would it be if it weren’t?” The sheriff skillfully removed the magazine, pointed the pistol in a safe
direction, disengaged the safety, and removed the live round from the chamber. Mark was impressed. He had seen San
Antonio city cops struggle with weapons that they weren’t familiar with. He looked at the pistol. “Nice weapons, Mr.
Turner. They probably saved your life. Unfortunately, I am going to have to take them in”

“I understand.” Mark answered. “Do I have to go in, too?”

“I'll decide that after I talk with everyone else.” The sheriff looked over his shoulder. “Buddy!”

A deputy ran up. “Yes, Sherift?”

“Take this Colt and that FAL and put them in the trunk of my car”

“Yes, sir”

The deputy did as he was told and the sheriff, with Ralph right behind him, walked over to talk with Manny.
While this was going on, Jim and Doc Vasquez pulled up in Mark’s CJ with the Doc’s trailer attached. Jim, the Doc, and
a young man Mark guessed was the Doctor’s son, got out of the Jeep. They walked up to Mark.

“Isn’t that the truck that those guys who were kicking the crap out of the preacher drove oft in?” Jim asked.

“Yeah”

“What happened?”

Mark quickly explained the situation to Jim.

“I don’t believe it!” Jim exclaimed. “Are you alright?”

That question again. Shit no I'm not alright, Mark thought. “Yeah, I'll be OK” He answered. Mark looked over
and the sheriff was taking Manny’s .30-30. He then walked over to talk with Ted.

“I guess we'll go unhook the trailer at Doc’s.” Jim explained. “Unless you need me do something else”

“No. That’s fine. You may want to check with Jon and see what time he is supposed to go back to Kroger. We
don’t want our people waiting too long. They used your truck to go get the sheriff, but I saw it drive back in a few min-
utes ago. It probably needs gas now. And, you may want to check on your father-in-law to see if he has enough help.
Lisa could be shaken up too. She came down to help with the wounded men and I think one died on her”

“OK, Mark. Don’t worry about that stuff. I'll check on everyone and make sure the Kroger crew gets picked up
on time. You just take it easy, buddy. You've got enough to think about.”

“Thanks, Jim.

Mark sat back down and tried to relax. After the sheriff talked to Ted and the guards, he talked with the MZBs.
Most did not seem too talkative, but one bent his ear for ten or fifteen minutes. After that, the tall lanky lawman walked
over and talked to the giant of a lawyer. They came over and talked to all five of the Silver Hills men that had been
involved in the shootout.

“Gentlemen, your attorney will fill you in more, but we are not going to take you all in. That doesn’t mean that
were out of the woods on this thing, but you should consider that to be really good news. Your weapons will be re-
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turned to you, barring any unforeseen revelations. However, I can’t say how long it will take. It could be a month or it
could be a year or more. Mr. Turner, I'm not going to tow your truck in. I will be sending a police photographer back
out later today to take detailed pictures of bullet holes in it and the other truck. Once he is done, you are free to move
it. Until then, I am leaving a deputy here to make sure that no one bothers anything. He will let you know when the
photographer is done. Any questions?”

“What is going to happen to the guys that shot at us?” Ted asked.

“They are being arrested. Your attorney can fill you in. If there’s nothing else, I have work to do”

The sherift turned and in a matter of minutes he and his deputies had loaded the living MZBs into their cars
and left. The ambulance had bagged the dead ones and left 30 minutes before. The remaining deputy’s face looked like
he had just sucked a whole bag of lemons as he sat down on the fence and folded his arms.

“Is there someplace we can go talk?” Ralph asked.

“Let’s go to my house.” Mark volunteered.

Jerry and Dale excused themselves to go home. Mark told them to come back Sunday or Monday if they still
wanted to borrow a truck. Mark also told them that he would see that Ralph got home.

When the men got to Mark’s they sat around the picnic table and Ralph filled them in. “OK, one of the gang
members in the truck confirmed your story, which is really good news. He’s looking for a deal since they all will be
tried for murder”

“I don’t understand. You mean attempted murder, right?” Manny asked.

“No. They will be charged with murder. If you and Mark went into a store to rob it and the owner shot and
killed Mark during the robbery, then you would be charged with Mark’s murder, just as if you had pulled the trigger
yourself” Manny nodded his head and Ralph continued. “The sherift is handling this a little different than normal since
these aren’t exactly normal times. Otherwise, he would have hauled you all in just to get your statements, if nothing
else. He told me that he’s had a couple of one on one shootouts, but this is the first big battle he’s had. He said they’ve
had a lot of these in San Antonio though.”

“Why aren’t we hearing about them in the news?” Ted asked.

“I asked that same question and the sheriff told me that the FCC asked the media to ‘cooperate. And he said
that they were mostly rival gangs shooting it out and that no bystanders had been hurt yet, so no one really cares that
much anyway. Anyway, you all told the same story, own homes, have jobs and families, so it was fairly obvious that you
all were just defending yourselves from a bunch of guys with needle tracks and wearing gang colors. I have to tell you,
the sheriff was pretty impressed with the way you boys handled yourselves with 11 to 5 odds. If he needs anything else,
he’ll contact you through me. So, just relax, and try to get back to normal, whatever that means these days. Any ques-
tions?”

“You don't think we’ll be charged with anything?” The guard with the Weatherby asked.

“No, Charley, I don't. In fact the sheriff told me that he thought it was 99% you wouldn't” Ralph answered. That
was his name, Mark thought, Charley, Charley Henderson.

“What about a civil suit?” Mark asked.

“That’s a horse of a different color” The lawyer said. “I would say, when the lights come back on, chances are
that you will all be sued. I don't think they could win, but it will still cost you quite a bit to defend yourselves.”

All five men’s faces fell. “I wouldn't let that bother me right now. You're all alive and unharmed and that’s what
counts. Plus, it may never happen. And if it does, I know a guy that is one of the best litigators in the country.” The
lawyer finished.

The men all stood up and shook hands and thanked the lawyer. Then Mark drove Ralph home in the jeep. On
the way there, Mark was racking his brain to remember where he knew this guy from.

“You look familiar to me, but I can’t put my finger on where I've seen you before. I don’t think it was in the gun
shop, but 'm not sure”

“It probably wasn't in the shop unless you go early on weekday mornings.”

Mark shook his head. He usually went after work.
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“Do you like football?”

“Yes” Mark answered wondering what that had to do with anything.

“College?”

“Mostly pro, except at Thanksgiving. I almost always watch the UT - Aggie game with my dad”

“I used to be the starting right defensive end for the Longhorns” Ralph smiled.

Mark slapped his knee. “Now I remember. You got drafted by the pros, right.?”

“Yeah, third round by the Seahawks.”

“What happened?”

“Blew out my left knee in rookie camp.”

“Man, I'm sorry.”

“I'm not. I got to keep my signing bonus, so I used it to go back to school and get my law degree. Then I moved
back home. Now I have a beautiful wife and daughter, a nice house, and a job I love. You know what the funny part is?”

“What?” Mark asked.

“I never really liked football. I was good at it, but I didn't love it. Now, baseball...there’s a game!”

When the men pulled out in front of Ralph’s house, he got out. Mark stuck his hand out to shake the big bear
paw of the former defensive All-American. “Thanks for all of your help Ralph. I don’t know how I can ever repay you.”

“Youre more than welcome, Mark. And don't worry, I'll think of something because you owe me big time!” He
said with a giant grin. Then he turned and went into his house.

Chapter 22 - Hero

As Mark drove home from Ralph’s, he thought about what Ralph said the sheriff had told him. If they were
having a lot of shootouts in town like the one he had just been involved in, then things must be worse than anyone was
letting on. San Antonio was really a pretty laid back city for its size. If it was that bad here it must be considerably worse
in Houston and Dallas. He couldn’t even imagine how bad it must be in the cities where martial law had been declared.
Combine that with the fact that he believed that the City Water Board was having trouble delivering pressure to its cus-
tomers, and they were sitting on a real time bomb. If the water went out for good in town, then things would go down
hill in a hurry. He looked at his watch. 3:30? The shootout had happened at what?...10:30?... Where had 5 hours gone?
As he passed the deputy watching the trucks, he waved. He turned into the subdivision, said hello to the guards who
looked at him strangely, and then drove up to his house. It was getting really hot. If it wasn't a hundred degrees yet, it
would be soon. He looked across the street at the men working on the 5 acre lot to prepare it for planting. Most of the
brush had already been cut down and several men were working on some of the larger mesquite trees. There were two
men running the bigger tillers, and several other men standing in the shade under a make shift awning. Mark walked
over.

George saw him first. “Hey...you doing alright?”

God I'm sick of answering that question, Mark thought as all the men turned to face him. “Yes. All things con-
sidered, I'm fine. How are you all doing on this first lot?”

“Not too good.” George answered. “We are getting the brush cleared OK, but with only two tillers, it’s taking
forever to turn the soil over”

“I thought we had three tillers”

“One of them is like a flower bed tiller. We may be able to use it some once the ground is worked, but it’s pretty
much useless right now. At the rate we are going, we'll be lucky to get two acres a day ready to plant.”

“That’s all?”

“This ground probably hasn’t been plowed in fifteen or twenty years and the dirt is hard as a rock. Tillers are
made for family gardening, not the kind of stuff we are trying to do. Plus, it has gotten so hot that I am only letting the
guys work for 15 to 20 minutes at a time, then switch oft with one of the guys cooling oft under here. I already had to
send two guys home with heat exhaustion. What we really need is a tractor. If I had my old John Deere, I could have
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had half of the neighborhood plowed by now.”

“Maybe Jim and I can work out a deal with the ranch to borrow their tractor tomorrow when we go to get the
windmill. I don’t know if they’ll go for that though. It’s not like the windmill that is just sitting there and they don't
need it. If something happened to the tractor, they don’t have another one just sitting around. But, we can ask. All they
can do is say ‘no. In the mean time, we’ll just have to do the best we can with the tillers. Did Gunny get back with your
people and the seed?”

“Yes. Just a few minutes ago. They had to go to a lot of places, but they found almost everything we had on the
list”

“Great. At least we got some good news today.” Mark smiled. “Do you know where Gunny is now?”

“I think he’s still at your place”

“Good. Do you think you could break away from here for a few minutes?”

“Sure. I'm just here for moral support. These guys all know what to do” George answered.

The two men walked across the street to Mark’s. Mark wanted to have a meeting with everyone that lived at his
place plus Gunny and Abby. Jim was down at Manny’s working on his Suburban, he had already fixed Ted’s Trans Am,
Lisa reported. Abby was at her house. Mark sent Sam down to get Jim. He told her to be subtle, but to get Jim back here
as soon as possible. Then he sent David to invite Abby. Gunny wanted to know all about the firefight. Mark gave him
a synopsis of what had happened while they waited for Jim and Abby. He said that the only mistake he could see that
Mark had made was not covering Manny and Ted as they went to the dirt mound, and then them not covering him as
he exited the truck.

“I'm not gonna ask you if 'n youre OK, Karate Man, but when you're ready ta talk, come’n find me”

Finally someone understood, Mark thought. “Thanks, Gunny”

“Sheriff took your weapons, huh?” Gunny asked.

“Yeah. He said it may be a while before we get them back. I have the ARs that Jerry sold me to replace the
FAL with, so I'm in pretty good shape on rifles. The worst part was loosing my Colt. I guess I'll have to use one of the
Glocks. I know they’re good pistols, but I never really liked them. Just doesn’t seem right to carry a plastic gun” Mark
whined a little. “Hey, I heard y’all did good on the seed”

“At first I didn’t think wed ever find even a fraction of whut was on the list. But one ol’ boy told us to try the
feed store in Poth, an’ they had jus’ about everything. I noticed they had lotsa T-posts and bob-wire, too. If n we want
to put that fence in the front”

In just a few minutes, Jim and Abby were back with the teenagers and they all sat around the picnic table. Mark
explained what the sheriff had said about all of the violence in town and how he suspected that the city water would
not be flowing for much longer.

“If that happens, then I think things are going to get real bad in a hurry. What I want us to do is to start going
to a different Krogers each day and stock up on food and supplies as best we can until then. We have five qualify-
ing addresses between us. That gives us $250.00 worth a day. That sounds like a lot, but for twelve people it’s not that
much if we only have two or three days to shop. The ladies can figure out what we need. Sam, I want you to work out
an inventory system for the food and other consumables. That way we know exactly where we stand. Food for the next
two to three months would be the highest priority, I would think. After that, hopefully the gardens can keep us going.
Don’t worry about meat; we can get all we want from the deer lease pretty soon. The Krogers are pretty safe since the
police are there, but if we go somewhere else, security has to be a major consideration. Jim and I have to go down to the
ranch and work out the trade for the windmill and hopefully the use of their tractor. I would like for the four women
and Gunny to go to the Kroger on Military and Roosevelt while we're gone. I think that is the next closest one. David,
that means that you will need to watch the twins tomorrow. George, I know you want to keep an eye on the tilling, but
when we get back, we're going to need help with the windmill. Does that make sense to everyone?”

All of the men and Abby nodded their heads. Jess and Lisa looked like they weren’t so sure.

“I don’t think that it’s right for us to get food that other people can’t get” Jess argued. “Going to a different store
every day is not in the spirit of what Kroger intends. Most people are walking or riding bicycles to the store, so they
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couldn’t do that even if they wanted to.”

“And what about the people that live here?” Lisa picked up where Jess had stopped. “What are they going to
think of us if we are going to the store everyday, and they can’t?”

“At first, I felt the same way that both of you do and I realize that what I want to do is not fair. But these are not
normal circumstances. I was in a gunfight today and 5 men were killed. One or two of them by me. If you had told me
that was going to happen two weeks ago, I would have thought you were crazy and would have probably called the men
with white coats myself.” Mark paused to let that sink in. He looked at each person to try to see if it had the desired
effect. When he looked at Gunny, the old marine gave him a little nod that told Mark he agreed. “Things have changed
and will continue to change and we better change too, or we might not make it. This group right here is my family,
some by blood, some by choice. And, we have to worry about our family first. Then we can worry about the others. If
things go down the crapper in the next few days, we're screwed. We don’t have enough food to last until the crops come
in. If someone else was not going to get their fifty dollars worth of groceries because we took them, then I wouldn’t
suggest this. But I haven't seen anyone turned away at the store. Have you?” Mark asked sincerely.

Everyone shook his or her head.

“If we were charging the groceries I wouldn't want to do it. But we are paying cash. As soon as Manny’s truck
is fixed, we will have six running vehicles in the neighborhood. That’s if you count Gunny’s truck and if the Ford isn’t
too shot up. Four of those belong to us. I don’t think it's wrong for us to use at least one of our vehicles for OUR benefit.
It was our choice to drive older vehicles and not get caught up in the trap to having to have a new car every couple of
years. And, I don’t think we should be punished because we chose to be frugal. If we get to where we have plenty, then
we'll stop going and let others use the vehicles we don’t need. I don’t want to horde food and supplies. I just want to
make sure that we can stay safe and healthy. As far as the neighborhood goes, I would suggest that we make at least one
vehicle available to them each day and they can take as many people to the store as they can. If it’s alright with everyone
here, I was going to tell the crowd tonight that we plan to start going to the store more than once a week, offer them
one of the trucks, and suggest that they do the same”

Everyone looked at each other, and then nodded.

“Is there anything else we need to think about?” Mark asked.

“Yes?” Jess answered. “I want Gunny to move into our guest room. He IS part of our family now and it’s silly for
him to drive back and forth every day”

“Great idea. What do you say, Gunny?” Mark didn’t think he would go for it and that was why he had never
suggested it. Maybe it coming from one of the women would make a difference.

“I “preciate the offer, but I'm gonna hafta decline” Gunny said as he looked at Abby. “Ya see, me an’ Abby went
to check on the preacher yesterday afternoon, an’ he’s gonna marry us after church on Sunday. So I'll be movin’ inta her
place”

Mark thought that the sound of the hammer falling on the empty chamber of his FAL earlier this day was the
loudest sound he had ever heard. It was dwarfed by the hush that followed Gunny’s announcement.

After what seemed an eternity, Alice broke the silence. “Congratulations to both of you.”

“Thank you.” Abby smiled.

The other women quickly added their felicitations. Abby blushed under all of the attention.

Jim was the first male to speak. “You old dog, you”

Gunny gave him a look that said that comment was all that would be tolerated and the next one would be
acknowledged by a visit from Gunny’s boot to the speaker’s nether regions.

The group ate dinner and listened to the radio. There was no significant news from either the President or
anyplace else. Mark thought that perhaps, just maybe, the news of their shootout would be reported. When it wasn't, it
confirmed to him that what the sherift had said about the government controlling the news could be true. When they
got to Jon’s everyone just wanted to know about the shootout. Mark spent several minutes telling them the story, with
Manny and Ted filling in some of the details. When Mark was telling the story, he noticed that the crowd was as quiet
as a church mouse and they all had a glassy stare. He thought it might be shock because of what had happened. Once
he finished, Jon asked the two guards to tell the story from their perspective. Scott and Charley moved to the front and
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Scott started.

“We were just standing up there, bored and chit-chatting as usual when Charley saw Mark’s truck coming up
the road. He asked me if it looked like Mark was going real fast and I told him ‘Yeah, it did” About then we noticed the
old truck behind him. When Mark passed us, he honked and we saw the rifle that Manny had sticking out the back
window. We knew something was wrong but we just kind of stood there in shock”

Charley took over. “We must have just watched for the first 15 seconds or so. The big rifle sticking out of the
back of Mark’s truck was shooting as Mark pulled down into the ditch. Then I saw Mark stick his head out of the driv-
er’s window and start shooting his pistol. The truck with the gang bangers skidded to a halt about 150 yards past us. All
of this happened real fast. Then, when the bangers starting really shooting at our guys, we woke up. We jumped down
behind the little masonry wall that the ‘Silver Hills’ sign sits on. The rifle Manny was shooting must have gone dry
about the time Mark started shooting. Mark emptied his pistol in less than 5 seconds he was shooting so fast. I saw him
go back into the truck and with no one shooting at them, the bangers started really hammering the truck. I could hear
the bullets hitting it pretty regularly. Manny started shooting again and about that time Scott yelled at me to shoot. All
of that time we had just been watching. I felt like an idiot. I could see that the driver was shooting a rifle really fast and
I figured that he was the most dangerous. I could make him out pretty good in my scope since there was no windshield
in his truck, so I squeezed off a round and must have hit him, because the rifle fell out of the truck. When we started
shooting, the gang members all turned and started shooting at us. We ducked down and they went back to shooting at
Mark and the others. They were still in the back of the truck and were pretty easy targets. I dropped one out of the bed.
Scott shot the one in the cab with the sawed oft”

“Then they jumped out of the truck to use it for cover.” Scott resumed. “They started shooting at us again. You
can see the bullet holes in the sign, if you go look. I guess they forgot all about Mark and Manny. I didn’t know that
they had moved behind the dirt pile until they jumped up and shot. It must have broken the spirit of the gang when
they realize there was nowhere to hide. They gave up, and that was that” Scott paused. “I just want to say one more
thing to Mark, Manny, and Ted. I'm sorry we didn't react as fast as we should have. I was just in shock. I promise that it
won't happen again”

“That goes for me too.” Charley concurred. “I'm just thankful that our mental lapse didn’t get any of you killed”

“You guys have nothing to be sorry for. I don't know if I would have reacted as well as you guys did. You both
saved our bacon. If you would not have helped us, our wives would have all been planning funerals. I know I speak for
Manny and Ted as well when I say “Thank you” Mark said with enthusiasm.

Jon then started talking to the crowd about the recommendations that the security committee wanted to
make. Mark felt that the events of the day must have given the ex-marine a change of heart. Jon sounded like he firmly
advocated each and every one. It even sounded a little bit like everything was his idea. The vote was unanimous to start
on the front defenses. Jon asked people who would like to help to report to Susan Banks for assignment. He asked if
anyone had anything else to talk about and Mark raised his hand. Jon yielded him the floor.

Mark explained his thinking about what had happened today, what the sherift had said, and how he felt that
things could worsen in a short time where they might not be able to get into town again. The crowd just listened to
what Mark said as if he had hypnotized them. He told them that his family group was going to start going into town
more than once a week to get groceries. He didn't say that it was really going to be everyday at least for a while. Eve-
ryone just nodded their heads as though the thought had never occurred to them. He explained that he and his group
would provide at least one vehicle per day for the neighborhood to share to do the same if they wished. The crowd just
murmured their thanks as Mark went back to his family. Ted offered to drive his car and take as many as he could as
well. Manny said that as soon as his truck was running, he would do the same. Mark was a little shocked that no one
mentioned any of the concerns that his family had. Jon asked if Manny would take over being in charge of the grocery
transportation as he would be busy developing his training program for the guards.

When the meeting was dismissed, Mark and Jim walked down to the road to check on the Ford. Everyone
else headed home. Sam and David had been put in charge of pumping water for the neighborhood and could now do
it with no help from the adults. George headed back with his volunteers to work on the tilling until dark. Gunny went
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home with Abby and the other women needed to start on their grocery lists.

When Mark and Jim got to the road, the police photographer was about halfway finished with his work. They
chatted with the deputy and asked him what was to become of the other truck. He told them that since it had three
flat tires, and since they didn’t have access to a tow truck, the sheriff had told him to push it off of the road. Jim asked
the deputy if he thought someone might come by and put good tires on it and drive it off. The deputy replied that he
doubted it would run, but if someone did, it was worth way less than $50,000 so it couldn’t even be reported stolen
until the lights came back on. When the photographer, who was really just another deputy with some photography ex-
perience, finished, he and the deputy that had been on watch used the squad car to push the MZB truck into the ditch
across the road from the subdivision.

Mark and Jim looked at the truck. Of course the back window was gone and now there were several holes in
the windshield, not just one. The tailgate looked like a strainer and the heavy back bumper had several big dents in it.
One of the tail light lenses was shattered and the bed had two holes through the side. The worst body damage was to
the roof where a bullet had just skimmed the sheet metal and it looked like the Jolly Green Giant had use a can opener
on the truck. Mark groaned when he saw that. Everything else could be fixed up easily or didn’t really hurt the usability
of the truck. But that big gouge would be a problem. The good news was that since Mark had pulled the truck down
into the ditch, all of the tires and running gear had been protected. Mark started the truck and they drove it back up
to the house. Once there, Jim pulled a roll of duct tape out of his tool box and started patching the holes including the
gouge in the roof. Mark found some heavy plastic sheeting and taped some in place of the glass. The only bad hole
in the windshield was from the shotgun blast that had started the incident. However, the cracks that it and the other
holes had created made it almost impossible to see through. Mark had seen a regular cab half ton truck that was the
same body style as his toward the front of the subdivision. He went into the safe and took $200 from the money that
Todd had given him. He and Jim then drove down to the house where the two- tone little sister of his big red truck was
parked. Mark knocked on the door. After a moment, a man answered. Mark had met him before, but as was usual for
him, he couldn’t remember his name.

“Mark” The man said. “Honey, it's Mark Turner!” The man excitedly called over his shoulder.

“Well, Hank” His wife said as she stepped into the entryway. “Don’t make him stand outside, invite him and
Mr. Davis in”

“Please, come in. Both of you.”

“I don’t want to be any trouble but I wanted to talk to you about your truck” Mark said as he and Jim stepped
in through the door.

“That piece of junk won’t run. I tried to get the parts to fix it the day of the burst, but no one had the computer”
Hank said as his wife elbowed him lightly in the ribs. “I'm sorry, Mark, this is my wife Jean. Jean this is Mark Turner
and Jim Davis.

The woman shook Mark’s hand and looked at him as though he might have been Robert Redford’s twin. “It’s so
nice to meet you, Mr. Turner. Can I get you something to drink? I have some nice sun brewed sweet tea. We obviously
don’t have ice, but it’s still pretty good.” She smiled like a star struck teenager.

“Thank you, maam. But I just wanted to see if I could buy the windshield out of y’all’s truck. You see the one in
mine got pretty shot up and we have to go pickup the windmill tomorrow”

“Just give him the windshield, Hank” The woman said.

“Yes, please just take it. That’s the least we can do for all you've done for us” Hank insisted.

“I couldn’t just take it. I need to give you something for it” Mark argued.

“We won't hear of it” Jean was emphatic. “It's not doing us any good, so if it will help you, you just take it.”

“OK, but I insist that you let me replace it as soon as possible.” Mark said.

“That’s fine” Hank agreed. “Let me help you”

The three men went out and in about an hour had removed the shot up windshield and replaced it with the one
from HanK’s truck. Jim sealed it with some clear silicone and once they replaced the trim it was impossible to tell that
it had not been professionally done. They thanked Hank and Jean again, and then Mark and Jim drove to Chaparo’s to
borrow the trailer. On the way there Mark asked Jim if everyone was acting a little weird.
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“You don’t know why?” Jim grinned like the cat that had swallowed the canary.

“Know why what?”

“You're a hero, man. These people think that you hung the moon?”

“You're full of shit!” Up to two dollars for the day.

“No, I've heard them talking today. Between you providing water, lending them your truck, the fight at Kroger,
topped off by what you did today, you are like a god to these people”

“Well, there’s only one God, and I ain’t even close.” Mark said emphatically.

“Maybe so, but they still worship the ground you walk on, bubba?”

“I doubt that!” Mark said hoping that statement plus the fact they were at Chaparo’s would end this uncomfort-
able conversation.

Chaparo was happy to lend them the trailer. He had already started on the gate and was excited to show Mark
the work he had accomplished. He had most of the metal cut and laid out on the floor of his shop. Even though Mark
knew nothing about metal work, he told the machinist turned plumber that it looked good. Chaparo beamed at Mark’s
approval.

When the men got back home, Gunny and Abby were waiting for Mark. Abby handed him a box.

“Mark, I want you have this. It belonged to my late husband, and I know that he would be proud to know that
you have it

“Thank you, Abby” Mark said as he opened the box. Inside the plain brown corrugated box was another box
that said ‘Colt’ on the top. Inside that box was a Series 70 Gold Cup .45 in Colt royal blue finish. Jim whistled when he
saw it. Many of the experts considered this model to be the finest 1911 ever made. The pistol was obviously unfired.

“Abby, I can't take this. It's worth...well I don't know what it’s worth...but I can’t accept such a valuable gift.”

“Nonsense. It’s just sat in the safe for years. Alfred never shot it, he just took it out once in while to look at it
and polish it. Gunny told me that the sheriff took your pistol, and I insist that you take this one. It is the least I can do
for all that you and your family have done for me. In fact, you have made me part of your family, so you can’t refuse.”

“But, Abby...”

Before Mark could finish his thought, Gunny interrupted. “Look here, Karate Man, if Abby says she wants you
to take the pistol, then you better take the pistol. Otherwise you might hurt her feelings. And if’n you hurt my girl’s
feelings, then, black belt or no black belt, I'll hafta take you behind the woodshed. Do you read me?”

“Loud and clear, Gunny. Thank you so much, Abby. I only hope I can live up to how much this old Colt must
mean to you.”

“You already have, Mark.” The woman smiled.

Gunny and Abby excused themselves to spend a few minutes alone before Gunny had to leave. Jim just smiled
at his friend.

“See what I mean?” He asked.

“I still say you're full of it

“The way Chaparo acted when you said his gate looked good. The windshield, the Gold Cup. What more proof
do you need?”

“When they erect a statue of me at the courthouse, then I'll start to think you MIGHT be right.” Mark said
sarcastically. “We're leaving early, you better get some sleep”

“Yes, Kimosabe. Tanto proud to ride tomorrow with Lone Ranger”” Jim did his best impression, which was not
saying much. However, he must have struck the nerve that he was looking for, because all he received in reply was the
middle digit on Mark’s right hand. That gesture would cost him dollar, Mark thought, but it was cheaper than saying
what he was thinking.

Once it got dark Jess sent the kids to bed. Jim, Lisa, and her parents excused themselves as well. Jess reached
across the kitchen table and took her husband’s hand. “You know, it wasn't until you and the other men talked at the
meeting about what happened today that I really understood how serious this could be.” She squeezed his hand hard.
“You could have been killed. Thank God that you knew what to do and that He was watching over you. I don’t know
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what I would have done if you had been hurt.”

Mark looked in Jess’s eyes and saw that they were filled with tears. He pulled her around the table and into his
lap. She buried her head into his shoulder and began to sob. “It’s alright, baby” He cooed. “We're going to be fine.”

“I know you're right” She said as she tried to catch her breath. “But, 'm just so scared.” She started crying
harder.

Mark hugged her to him as hard as he could without hurting her. After several minutes she started to regain
her composure. Mark stood up and led her to their bedroom to spend some quality time with her for the first time
since the lights went out.

Chapter 23 - Let’'s Make a Deal

Man, was it hot, Mark thought. He walked into the living room and turned the thermostat down. The air con-
ditioner kicked on. He walked into his study, sat down, and hit the Internet Explorer icon on his computer monitor. He
really needed to check the stock market and the value of his 401k. As he heard the modem dial and then negotiate with
his ISP, he opened a can of Diet Coke and poured it over a tall glass of ice.

“Mark?” He heard someone call.

“I'm in here” He answered over his shoulder. When he looked back, he now held a bottle of Shiner Bock, his
favorite beer, and was pouring it into a frosty mug.

“Mark, are you in here?” The voice called again.

Who was bothering him when he just wanted to taste the cold beer? He heard the voice again and realized that
he didn’t have a beer. Reality slowly and callously crept up on him. Where was he? Oh yeah, he was in the house. He
and Jess must have fallen asleep in here. As he continued to depart the heavy fog that clouded his brain, he could see
that it was already getting light. There was a light tap on the door.

“Mark, are you in there?” Jim whispered.

“Yeah, Jim, I’ll be out in a minute.”

Mark gently pulled his arm out from underneath Jess’s head. He got up and pulled his jeans on. His arm was
stiff where his wife had slept on it. She stirred, opened one eye, and looked at him.

“What time is it?” She asked sleepily.

Mark looked at his watch. “Crap. It’s 7:45. I told Jim we would leave by 7:30.

“Tell him I said it was OK if you're late. You earned a few minutes of extra sleep.” She smiled at him.

“Thanks. You earned more than that in my book, but I have to get ready.” He winked at her as he slipped out of
the room.

Jim was in the kitchen fishing some Pop-Tarts out of the pantry. “Slept in the house, huh?” He grinned.

“Yeah. Sorry I over slept”

“That’s OK. I mean who can blame Jess for wanting to have a little ‘hero’ time all for herself?”

“Can we just drop the ‘hero’ crap? 'm not a hero. I only did what anybody else would have done and was lucky
to boot. Besides that, it's going to be a long day”

“OK. Get dressed while I get the truck loaded and filled up.”

“Thanks.”

Mark ran to the camper, got out some clean clothes, and took a quick shower. He thought about how lucky
they were to have hot running water in the camper. Everyone else in the neighborhood was probably reduced to taking
spit baths. Once he was clean and dressed he headed out to the truck. Jim was waiting. He had filled up the tanks, had
two jerry cans of diesel in the bed along with some rope and ratcheting straps to tie the windmill down with. He also
had his M1A across the front seat.

Mark wanted to take his new Gold Cup that Abby had given him, but it had never been fired. It needed to be
checked for reliability and the sights adjusted if he might have to trust his life to it. He went to the gun safe and opened
it. The Glocks that he had gotten for the kids needed to be checked out too. He decided to take the 2 % inched barrel
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S&W .357 that he had bought for Jess several years ago. The revolver was an ideal gun for her since she didn't like to
practice a lot. He needed a long gun too. He looked in the safe and tried to figure out what to take. He had no lack of
choices. When he started teaching karate he had made a deal with Jess that all the money he made from teaching could
go toward his hobbies. Some of it had gone into the Jeep, but most of it was right here in the gun safe, that Jess jokingly
called his toy box. The obvious choice for today would have been one of the AR-15s. But he had the same problem
with them that he did with the new .45; he had not shot them. Since they were used, they probably were sighted in and
any bugs that they had when they were new had more than likely been resolved. However, especially after yesterday, he
couldn’t afford to take a chance. He finally reached all the way in the back of the safe and pulled out his Ruger Mini-14.
The Mini wasn't very accurate but it was very reliable and would take 30 round magazines of which Mark had several.
It also fired the .223 cartridge, which was the civilian version of the ammo the M-16 fired. He grabbed the rifle, five
magazines, and 200 rounds of ammo. As he walked out to the truck, he stopped in the kitchen where Jess was cooking
breakfast to kiss her goodbye.

“What time do you think you'll be home?” She asked.

“If everything goes good, an hour to get there, two or three hours to work out the deal and load the windmill,
and then an hour home. I'd say 2 oclock at the latest.”

“Good?” That was all she said but Mark could tell there was something else.

“Is there a reason you asked?” He didn’t want to wonder for half a day what was on her mind.

“I was thinking that maybe you boys could spend a little time with us women and teach us how to shoot a
rifle”

Man, yesterday must have made a bigger impression on her than he thought. She had never wanted to shoot
a rifle before. He had enough trouble getting her to shoot her revolver once or twice a year. If she wanted to do it,
though, he would make the time. “It’s a date” He smiled as he headed out the door.

Mark put the Mini, the five mags, and the ammo on the seat between him and Jim. “Would you mind loading
these mags for me?”

“Sure. How many do they hold?”

“They’ll hold thirty, but only put twenty-seven or twenty-eight in them. They sometimes jam if you fill them
all the way up.” Mark started the truck and headed out. He told Jim about Jess’s request to learn to shoot a rifle. Jim told
him that the girls must have talked about it some yesterday because Lisa and her mom ask him about it last night.

Once the men hit the interstate and picked up speed, it became obvious that the plastic on the back window
was not going to work. The wind shook it so badly that it made so much noise the two friends could barely hear each
other talk. Plus, Mark could not really see through it. After the MZBs snuck up on him the day before, he was watch-
ing much more carefully and it made him nervous not to have a clear line of sight out of the back. They pulled over and
removed the plastic. After that, although there was a little wind noise, the travelers had no trouble conversing. They
spoke of the preparations that they still needed to make, what was the highest priority, and how long they felt they had
to get them done. While Mark thought they could have as little as a day or two, Jim’s estimate was between five days
and a week. Mark prayed that they had a week, but he wasn’t holding his breath.

MarK’s thoughts drifted to their living conditions. Their camper was getting really cramped and it must be
worse for Jim and his family now that George and Alice were sleeping in there as well. He would really like to be able to
move back into the house. Also, until last night, he didn't realize how much he missed the privacy of his own bedroom.
Mark started thinking about the preacher’s house with the tall windows and wondering if there was a way to do the
same thing in his house. That was the same thing he was thinking yesterday when the shooting started he thought as
he checked the review mirror. Nothing there, however, what Jim suggested next surprised him as much as the shotgun
blast had yesterday.

“When we get home I think we should pull that old International Harvester up to your house, clean it out, and
try to get it running.”

Mark looked at his friend like he had lost his mind. “You’re joking, right?”

“No. Why would you think that?”
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“Oh...Idon’t know...let me see...because it’s shot to pieces, because it’s full of blood, brains, and guts, and...
mostly because it doesn’t belong to us”

“Didn’t you hear what the deputy said? It can't be reported stolen because it’s not worth 50 grand. If we don’t
take it, someone else will” Jim reasoned.

“Well, that may be, but I don't like it and I'm not going to have anything to do with it” Mark said emphatically.

“Last night you said that things have changed and will keep changing and we better change too, or we might
not make it. When you said that, I thought that it was real wisdom. We are going to have to look at every situation dif-
ferently than we used to. I will need you to remind me just like I'm reminding you right now. Besides, I'm not talking
about hitting someone over the head and stealing their car. I'm talking about using an abandoned vehicle. Those gang
bangers are never coming back for that truck. We might as well get some use out of it. You could think of it as us keep-
ing it safe until the lights come back on if that makes you feel any better.”

“You make a good argument, Jim. Especially when you use my own words to make your point.” Mark gave his
friend a wry smile. “Let me think about it a while and we’ll talk about it again when we get home. Is that OK?”

“You got a deal” Jim changed the subject. “You think they’re going to let us borrow the tractor?”

“I'm not betting on it. I know I wouldn’t lend it out if it were mine”

“That’s what I thought, too. I wonder if we can find one.”

“There have to be tractors that the burst fried all over the place. I just don’t know where to look, who to ask, or
even where to get the parts to fix one. If we could find one, Rodney might be able to help us with the parts, but I don’t
know if he carries any tractor parts or if they are interchangeable with car parts. Worse case, he could point us in the
right direction.”

“Maybe one of the old farmers in our area has an old diesel one that will still run and we could make a deal
with him to borrow it” Jim rationalized. “One thing is for sure, if we don’t find one, George doesn’t know how he and
his gang are going to get all of the empty lots ready to plant, let alone the gardens that everyone wants to put in at their
houses. George told me he’s worried about the tillers too. They really weren’t built to be used this hard. And if one of
them breaks, he doesn’t know if we can find the parts to fix them.

“I guess we better see if we can find a tractor. After we get the windmill set up, I guess that’s our next priority.”
Mark stated.

To Mark, the trip seemed to take longer than it did last time. Part of it may have been that he was constantly
checking his mirrors to make sure no one sneaked up on him. He also watched the front with the same vigilance.
Anytime there was a vehicle in sight, Mark unconsciously put a death grip on the steering wheel, and watched the
potential threat like a hawk. They passed several eighteen wheelers, most of which looked to be food transports, but the
two friends only saw one other private car and a pair of motorcycles on the Interstate. Once they turned on the farm to
market road, they found that they had it all to themselves.

When they turned onto the ranch road, Mark stopped the truck and Jim tied the yellow bandana that Todd
had given them to the antenna. When they got to the gate, the guard opened the gate and waved them through. Todd
was waiting at the compound for them. As they got out of the truck, he noticed the bullet holes.

“What happened to your truck?” He asked as he walked around to the back. When he saw the tailgate he
reached out and touched one of the holes. “Holy shit!”

“I and a couple of my neighbors got into a shootout with a bunch of gang members yesterday.” Mark answered
sheepishly.

“Was everybody OK?” Todd was wide eyed.

“Everybody on our side was.”

“What happened...no, wait. I want Mr. Davis to hear this too. Let’s go.” Todd wheeled around and led the way
to Mr. Davis’s cabin. He knocked on the door and it was answered by Millie. She showed them in and then went to go
get Mr. Davis. A moment later the older man came into the room and his guests rose to shake his hand.

“We were starting to get worried about you. How are you?” The leader asked.

“We were right to be worried” Todd interjected before anyone else could say anything. “Mark was in a big
shootout yesterday and his truck is shot to hell”
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“Really? Are your families OK?”

“Yes” Mark replied. “It was me and two of my neighbors in the truck.”

“What happened?”

Mark spent six or seven minutes giving Mr. Davis and Todd a detailed run down on the events of the day be-
fore. The two men stared at him in disbelief as he told the story. When he finished neither one said anything for a few
moments.

“I don’t know what to say. Eleven to four odds and you and your friends weren't even scratched.” Mr. Davis
finally said. “I guess that we were right about you. You are level headed under fire. You will be a great asset to us here.
I'm sure after that encounter, you are both anxious to move here”

The two friends looked at each other. Jim spoke first. “Mr. Davis we want you to know how much we appreciate
your invitation to move here. We spent a lot of time thinking and talking about it. But, mainly because we can’t bring
our extended families, we have decided to stay at Mark’s place.”

“We have taken a page from your book here” Mark took over. “We’re not as well set up as you all, but all of the
neighbors are working together and I think we can make a go of it. I know that you were counting on Jim and I to do
some training for you and we would like to work out a deal where we can do that training in exchange for some of the
things that we need”

Mr. Davis and Todd just looked at each other blankly. Neither said a word. So Mark continued to talk.

“We noticed the windmill that was on the well you put the solorjack pump on was just lying on the ground.
That is the first thing that we would like to trade for” Mark noticed that Mr. Davis was turning red. “Whatever you
think is fair would be fine with us”

The silence was deafening.

“What do you mean; you don’t want to move here?” Mr. Davis’s voice was thin and squeaky.

“It’s not that we don’t want to.” Mark explained. “It’s just that we have our parents and siblings to worry about.”

“But...but...when the shit really hits the fan, your little shootout is going to look like a day at the beach. There
is NO way you're going to survive in the city!” He was turning purpler now, Mark thought. What color would Jess call
that? Lavender. No he was a darker shade than that. Too bad the girls weren't here. They would know exactly what
shade that was. Heck, Jess would probably want to take him down to Sherwin-Williams and get his color duplicated to
paint the guest room or something.

“We're not in the city, remember?” Jim was starting to reflect a fraction of hostility he was receiving. “And we
think we can survive just fine”

Mark put his hand on his friend’s arm. When he spoke his voice was cool and even. “I'm sorry if we've upset
you, Mr. Davis. But, we made up our minds. We would really like to work a deal with you that would mutually benefi-
cial to us both”

“I don’t think you realize what you’re turning down!” He was almost royal blue and screaming now. “T’ll give
you one more chance to change your minds!”

“We don’t need to think about it any more” Mark was as calm as a lazy river. “We know what we are doing.
Now about coming to an agreement on...”

“There will be NO agreement.” The man’s head looked like it might explode. “You are no longer welcome here.
You can get off of my property right now. When your world turns to shit, AND IT WILL, don’t come crawling back
here begging me to take you in either. I give you an opportunity like this and you throw it my face! Good bye and good
riddance, I say”

With that the man spun around and stomped out of the room. Mark hoped he was going to take his blood
pressure medicine or a valium or something. Todd showed them out. While he was not going ballistic, he was rather
cold toward the friends. They shook his hand and wished him good luck. His only response was to ask them for the
key to the gate at work. Jim took it off of his key ring and put it in the outstretched hand. The now unwanted guests
climbed into the truck and made their way oft of the ranch.

They didn't speak for a long time. Mark was sorting though his feelings of disappointment, anger, and even
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some fear. After they were back on the interstate headed north, Jim finally spoke.
“You forgot to ask him if we could borrow the tractor!” He said with a straight face.
Two seconds later the friends were laughing so hard that Mark could barely keep the truck on the road.

Chapter 24 - Day of Work, Day of Rest

When the men got home they noticed that the security committee had already started on the preparations that
had been approved. The Silver Hills sign had been taken down and Susan Banks was supervising a group of several
men who were digging a foxhole for the guards where Gunny had suggested. About ten other men were working on
the ditch. Ted and a couple of other men were driving t-posts into the ground for the barbed wire fence and another
man was working with a post hole digger. Chaparo was putting a big pipe in the ground to hang the gate off of. Mark
stopped the truck to check on everyone’s progress. Chaparo told Mark that the gate was almost ready. It just needed
a few finishing touches and as soon as he had the pipes set that they could hang it. He had found a bag of concrete to
set the poles with. Susan said that she had quite a few volunteers to dig the fox holes and to dig out the ditch. She had
checked with Gunny and he told her that they needed to talk a little bit about where the other holes would go, but that
she could start on this one for the guard post. Ted came over and told Mark that he had taken his Trans Am with the
little motorcycle trailer to Poth to buy the T-posts. He said that he didn't have enough money to buy all of the posts and
barbed wire but that he was able to get enough to get them started. They were setting the posts every ten feet. Every
fifth one was going to be a three inch steel pipe that Chaparo had promised to make as soon as the gate was finished.
Ted suggested that they might want to ask for donations toward the rest of the materials, like the gardening committee
had.

Chaparo finally noticed that Mark and Jim didn’t have anything on the trailer. He asked them how it had gone
and they told the security committee members what had happened.

“So what are we going to do about water?” Ted asked.

“We can keep using the generator for a while. There is plenty of gas in the cars that won't run to last several
months if we're careful. We'll just keep looking, there has to be a windmill we can buy or borrow somewhere” Mark
answered.

The two friends excused themselves and drove up to the house. Gunny and the four women were still gone
to the store. George was supervising the tilling across the street and walked over when he saw the red truck pull into
the driveway. Jim explained to him that their trip had not been successful and he went back to his job. When they
went into the house, Sam had emptied the pantry out onto the kitchen table and floor and was writing everything into
a large spiral notebook. David was reading a book to the twins. It was almost lunch time so the men fixed lunch for
everyone. Afterwards, Jim headed back over to Manny’s to finish fixing his Suburban. Mark looked in the shed, found
a shovel and headed down to help with the digging. It was hard work. Gunny had told them that the near side of the
ditch needed to be a four foot vertical wall. The ditch was already three feet deep so digging down another foot wasn’t
that hard. The hard part was digging to make the back wall perpendicular to the ground. As it warmed up, Mark made
the men take more breaks to cool off. He also made sure everyone drank plenty of water. Then Gunny and his crew
pulled back into the subdivision at 1:15. They must have not recognized Mark since he was down in the ditch and
covered with dirt. He thought about how much he was going to enjoy a shower later and felt bad about the men who
were as covered in dirt as he was and had no way to really get clean. The foxhole had been completed and the men that
had worked on it were now working on the ditch. Susan had a shovel and was down in the ditch working alongside
the men. By a little after two oclock it had become so hot that Mark sent the men home for the day. They had finished
almost a quarter of the ditch and one of the fox holes. Not too bad, Mark thought.

When he got home, Jim was already back and had filled the shoppers in on the trip to the ranch. He told Mark
that Manny’s truck was now running. Mark asked Jess and Lisa about their trip to Kroger. They had some interesting
and disturbing news and Lisa told Mark and Jim what had happened.

“This Kroger wasn’t nearly as busy as the closer one. We were thankful that we didn’t have to wait as long, but
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then we found out why. Two days ago they had a riot there over the busses. It seems that a lot of people in that part

of town were counting on riding the bus home instead of having to walk with their groceries. It was getting late and
people were waiting in line for their turn when a bus pulled up and the driver announced that he was the last bus for
the day. We were told that there were over 250 people waiting and only room for maybe 70 if people stood in the aisles.
As many as could squeezed into the bus, but the ones that couldn’t get on went crazy and started attacking the bus. The
mob actually turned the bus over. Lots of people were hurt and two on the bus were killed. The police at the store tried
to quiet the mob, but the crowd turned on the officers. It got real ugly and the two cops shot thirteen rioters before the
mob overtook and killed them. The manager at the Kroger said that only about half as many people had been coming
to the store since then.”

“That’s awful” Mark gasped. “And we didn’t hear about that on the news either”

“The good news is that we bought enough staples to last us at least eight weeks. Even if we can’t get any more
food, we won’t go hungry. It may get a little monotonous at meal times, but we'll make it Jess said with a smile.

“That is good news.” Mark agreed. “Which store are we going to tomorrow?”

Jess gave him a look that he didn’t see often, but he knew what it meant. “Mark, tomorrow we are going to
church and then to Gunny’s and Abby’s wedding. No one is going shopping. We can go first thing Monday. OK?”

“OK, I just hope we can go on Monday. I guess we better go see about that old truck, Jim.”

“What old truck?” Lisa asked.

Jim explained to Lisa that they were going to see if they could get the truck, left behind by the sheriff, running
so that the neighborhood could use it. Lisa and Jess didn’t like it anymore than Mark had at first, but after Jim gave
them the same line of reasoning he had given Mark, they reluctantly agreed.

Mark and Jim went back outside. The two friends unhooked Chaparo’s trailer and drove down to the MZB
truck. It had three flats but they could only find one tire with a bullet hole in it. Mark thought that the other two might
have gone flat when the truck skidded sideways. The skid could have pulled the beads away from the wheels and let all
of the air out. If that was the case, then the tires may only need to be inflated. They tied a tow strap to the front of the
truck and pulled it up onto the road. Jim took Mark’s truck up to the house to get the air compressor and a high lift
jack. While he was gone Mark looked the truck over. Of course the windshield was gone and there were a few holes in
the body, mostly in the doors, but it was not shot up as badly as his truck was. That was probably because he, Manny,
and the guards had been more selective with their shots. He opened the hood and there were two big holes in the
radiator that Manny had probably made with the .308. The good news was that since the engine was a straight six, it
was long and skinny and the bullets had not hit the engine block. One had totaled the alternator though, and the other
appeared to have passed through without creating further damage. Mark looked inside. The keys were still in the igni-
tion. The truck was full of blood and some small fragments of bone. Mark started to experience the sick feeling he had
felt when he puked the day before. He turned away and managed to keep his lunch where it belonged. It may be quite
a while before he was going to be able to look at a plate of biscuits and gravy without gagging. Jim drove back down
and they used the jack to lift the back of the truck up. Jim aired one tire up while Mark took the spare out of the bed
and replaced the tire that one of the guards had shot. With that done, they jacked up the front and used the compressor
to re-inflate the other flat. Jim reached in and turned the key and the engine roared to life. He turned it oft and asked
Mark if he wanted to drive it or pull it up to the house. Mark informed him about the ventilated radiator and suggested
they tow it back to the house. Jim looked in the cab where two of the MZBs had met their fate and wrinkled his nose.
“Somebody has to get in there to steer” He stated making it clear that he didn’t want to be the one.

“This was your idea!” Mark exclaimed letting his friend know that he sure wasn’t going to get into the truck.

Jim’s shoulders slumped and he walked over to MarK’s truck and got the plastic that had been over the back
window. He placed it over the seat of the International Harvester and climbed in. Mark reattached the tow strap to
his truck and pulled the lame truck to his house. The men hooked the generator up to the well so that the truck could
be cleaned out with a garden hose. Mark explained to Jim that if he helped him clean the truck he would become ill.
Besides that he had something else that he needed to work on. Jim, looking like he was beginning to regret his idea, un-
rolled the garden hose and pulled it over to the truck to get started cleaning. Mark went into the house to find the girls
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working on a cake for Abby and Gunny’s wedding.

“I thought you girls wanted some shooting lessons?” Mark reminded them.

“We do. But can’t we do it after the meeting, when it’s cooled oft a little?” Jess asked.

“I don’t see why not. When you're ready, just get Jim to help you. He’s the expert” Mark instructed. “Where’s
David?”

“He’s across the street taking water to the guys working the field”

Mark walked out of the house to find David just coming back with the empty pitcher. “Do you need to take
more over?”

“No, sir. This was the third trip and they’re OK for now”

“Good. I need you to do something for me. Get the lawnmower and set it as low as it will go. Then mow the
grass right behind the shed. I'm going to Chaparos house and when I get back I'm going to need you to help me some
more.”

“Yes, sir”” David took off to the shed.

Mark walked down to Chaparo’s house and talked to the big man for a few minutes.

“Sure, Mark. We can do that. I was finishing the gate, but the concrete has to dry for at least 24 hours before I
can hang the gate anyway. Let me get the stuff we need and I'll be down in a few minutes.” Chaparo told him.

Mark walked back and found that David was finished with the grass and was waiting for him. Mark asked him
to help him get out his table saw and they ran an extension cord over to the generator. Chaparo showed up and the
three of them worked as quickly as possible on Mark’s project. They finished just before time for the news and Presi-
dent’s speech. They borrowed the water hose from Jim and then tested their invention.

“What do you think?” Mark asked Chaparo.

“Not bad. Wish it had a little more pressure, but it should do. If you could find some flat black spray paint for
the barrels, it would probably get hotter”

“That’s a good idea. What do you think, Dave?”

“It’s cool. Can I use it tonight?

“If you want, but not until the men who plowed and dug today are done.”

Mark shook Chaparos hand and the plumber headed home. Mark checked on Jim and he had done a good job
on the interior of the old truck and was just cleaning the last of the blood out of the bed of the pickup. He, Mark, and
David went into the camper, washed up, and then up to the house for dinner. Both the news and the President’s speech
were just the same old thing. The news did not report either the bus incident or the Silver Hills shootout. The President
did mention tonight that they were still working diligently on the power and that it should start coming back on soon.
He did not mention a definite time frame though. He did add two cities to those under martial law. Miami and Balti-
more were now under federal control. Mark wondered how many cities could be controlled by the military before the
troops got spread so thin that they became ineffective. The only other thing of interest on the radio was the fact that a
tropical storm in the gulf was expected to bring rain to South Texas in the next two to three days.

The group walked down to Jon’s for the meeting. Nothing was new except for some of the faces. Their little
community was growing by leaps and bounds. Mark reported on his failed attempt to get the windmill. He told the
residents not to worry. They had enough gas to last until they could find one. He noticed that the stares he got tonight
were not quite as bad as the night before, but it still made him uncomfortable. George and his committee reported on
how it was going with the first lot. They were a little over three quarters of the way with the ground breaking. Some of
the men were going to work on it tomorrow and by Monday they would be rowing it up. They expected to be ready to
plant the seeds by Tuesday morning and would start tilling the second lot while that was going on. George then asked
everyone to be on the lookout for a tractor that they could beg, borrow, or steal.

The security committee then reported to the group. Each member told where they were with the preparations.
Mark asked Susan to report on the digging. Ted asked for donations to go toward the barbed wire and posts that they
needed to finish the job. Chaparo said that he was waiting for the concrete to cure to hang the gate. He had come up
with the idea to place posts made out of six inch pipe and filled with concrete about every 3 feet across the other drive
to stop anyone from driving in that way. The fence crew could then string their barbed wire across the post to stop
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anyone on foot. Everyone thought that was a good idea and voted for Chaparo to proceed. Jon reported that he would
start his guard training program on Monday and that half of the guards would be trained next week and the other half
the week after. That meant that the guards that were not in training each week would have to take two shifts that week
instead of one. Mark thought that Jon was going to present his plan for training to the committee before he implement-
ed it, but he didn’t feel like fighting with Jon in front of everyone. At least Jon was taking it serious enough to spend a
week with each group.

When Jon was wrapping up the meeting, he asked if anyone had anything else. Abby raised her hand as did
Mark. Jon called on Abby and she asked if Mark could go first. Mark knew what she was going to announce, and he
didn’t want to steal her thunder by going last so he made his announcement.

“Chaparo, David, and I have rigged up a makeshift shower behind my shed. We put two 55 gallon water bar-
rels up on the roof and Chaparo plumbed them together and ran a showerhead off of them. We built a wood slat floor
and hung a tarp around it. The sun should heat the water nicely during the day, I think. We could use some flat black
spray paint to help the barrels absorb the heat, if anyone has any. I would like to invite the men that worked on ground
breaking, post driving, or ditch digging the first shot at trying it out tonight. I don’t know how warm the water will be
since we just finished and filled it an hour ago, but if youre willing just come on down around dark. If this works, we
can see about building some more” When he was finished the whole crowd applauded. Mark was even more embar-
rassed. “Don't get too excited.” He warned. “We don’t even know how well it’s going to work yet.”

When the applause died down, Jon called on Abby. She told the crowd about her wedding and invited the
whole neighborhood to the ceremony and simple reception in the church hall afterward. If they were happy about what
Mark had announced, they were ecstatic about Abby’s news. Everyone was clapping and shouting congratulations.
Abby turned red at the attention, but if Gunny was embarrassed, no one could tell. He just stood as straight and stiff as
a rookie PFC reporting for his first assignment.

When the meeting was over, Mark’s group walked back to his house. The women were reviewing the prepara-
tions they had had made for tomorrow with the same kind of vigor that Mark wished they would put into preparing
for what could be facing them in the next few months. When they got to the house, they all went back to look at the
shower. The women were a little skeptical, but the men assured them that it could be improved upon. Mark tested the
water, and while it wasn't warm, at least the chill had been knocked off of it. There was still about an hour of daylight
left and maybe it would warm up just a little more.

The girls still wanted their shooting lessons. With the limited time before dark, Jim decided to go over the
basics with them and told them that they could shoot tomorrow afternoon when they got back from the wedding. All
four of the women plus Sam listened intently as Jim went over the four rules of gun safety, explained the different type
of rifle actions and how they worked, and gave them a primer on lining up the sights and how to squeeze the trigger.

Just after sunset, the men that had worked at the dirty jobs started showing up to try out the shower. The first
man to use it, John Greene, yelled when the water hit him. Mark thought something was wrong and asked the man if
he was OK. He reported that nothing was wrong and that this was the best shower he had ever taken. The men were all
considerate of each other and hurried as much as they could and used as little water as possible. Each of them thanked
Mark continuously for providing them with the means to get really clean. Mark thanked each of them for their hard
work and told them that it was the least he could do. When he asked the men about the water temperature, they replied
that, while it could have been warmer, it was not cold. He was just happy that there was some, if only small, reward for
their dedication to the survival of this community.

Manny showed up just before the showers were finished. He had brought some eggs down to thank Mark and
his group for fixing his truck. He admired the makeshift shower.

“I may have to volunteer to dig out the ditch one day just so I can try it out”

“Manny, your new job coordinating the grocery trips is more important than digging the ditch. You'll get to try
it soon, don’t worry.”

“Mark, you are always thinking of others. Just like helping me fix my truck. I wanted to bring you some more
eggs as a small token of thanks.”
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“Thank you, Manny. But I was wondering if I could get you to invest these eggs for me?”

“Invest them? In what?”

“Let the chickens sit on them. I want some chickens of my own.”

“Oh, I see” Manny’s eyes twinkled. “Just take these to eat and I have some special ‘investment’ eggs at home
that I will put into your account.”

“Thanks, Manny.”

“You're welcome. The way I see it, we all owe you.”

* ot

The morning brought a flurry of activity. Mark got up and ran. He hadn’t run in a couple of days and he missed
it. He pushed himself hard to make up for the two days he had missed. When everyone was awake, they all sat down to
a big breakfast. Mark passed on the biscuits, but he ate plenty of eggs. After breakfast, everyone dressed up for church
and the women made sure that the food they had made for the reception was ready to go. George headed across the
street to make sure the men that had volunteered to work on the lot were sure of what was to be done. Everyone loaded
up into the two trucks and made the short drive to the Baptist church. Manny pulled into the parking lot right behind
them with his crew including Chaparo and his family. Brother Bob was glad to see all of them. He shook everyone’s
hand as they entered the church. They found a seat toward the middle. A few minutes later, Gunny and Abby showed
up and sat with the families from Silver Hills. Gunny was wearing a suit. Mark had never seen the old man in anything
except jeans and work shirts. Although he looked strange at first, Mark thought he was very distinguished looking in
his dress clothes.

Mark looked around the church. It was filling up quickly. He wondered how many people had come here on an
average Sunday before the burst. Probably not that many, he thought. The church was rock, just like the parsonage and
the windows were tall and thin. They were opened on both the top and the bottom and, although it couldn’t be called
cool, it was quite comfortable. By the time the service started the little church was packed and some people were stand-
ing in the back. They sang a few hymns and then the preacher asked any one who was there for the first time to stand
up and introduce themselves. There were quite a few first timers. The men from Silver Hills all took their turn and
introduced their families. The preacher’s sermon was short, but to the point. He read from Luke, Chapter 10, and then
preached on the Good Samaritan. He related how he had been saved by a Good Samaritan, just as the man in Christ’s
parable had. The man who saved him, he explained, had never met him before and was not even of the same religion.
However, he placed himself in danger to rescue a man he did not know. Mark noticed Chaparo squirming a little. He
thought that Chaparo was probably afraid that Brother Bob was going to single him out. However, the minister did not.
He encouraged everyone to be a good neighbor and to help anyone they saw in need. When the service was concluded,
he invited everyone to stay for the wedding.

The wedding was a pleasant affair. Many of the church congregation stayed and some of the other residents
from Silver Hills showed up to fill the few empty seats. When the preacher told ‘Marcus’ that he could kiss his bride, he
gave her a little peck. Most of the men from the subdivision, including Mark and Jim, whooped it up when that hap-
pened. Abby blushed at all of the hollering, but Gunny just stared out into the crowd, his eyes like diamond tipped drill
bits.

The reception was enjoyable with everyone eating cake and drinking punch. Mark visited with some of the
church members that he didn’t know. Most of them had heard about his shootout with the men that had attacked their
preacher. They were all grateful to Mark and his friends for saving Brother Bob. And some were even curious to hear
firsthand of the battle that took place on Friday. Mark was polite and gave them an abbreviated version of the story.
One of the men that Mark chatted with for a while told him that he used to be an insurance salesman. He was gabby
enough to be an insurance salesman, Mark thought. The man, whose name was Will Henson, had retired last year and
bought a Christmas tree farm. It was just a few miles south of the church and was about 100 acres. Now, he said, if the
lights don’t come back on soon, there would be no way to sell all of the trees. He said that instead of selling life insur-
ance all those years, he should have sold light insurance.
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Christmas tree farm, Mark thought. I wonder...”You don’t have a tractor, do you?”
“Yes, it came with the farm.” Will replied.

“Will it run?” Mark asked optimistically.

“No. If it would, I'd be driving it instead of riding my bicycle” The salesman grinned.

This guy was nothing if not likeable. Mark would bet that he could have sold ice cubes to Eskimos. “How old is
it? Do you think we might be able to find the parts in town to fix it?” Mark rapid fired the questions. He then explained
their problem at the subdivision.

“You should be able to find the parts. It’s only two or three years old. I'm just not mechanically inclined. If you
want to come look at it and try to fix it, just come on by. If you can get it running, youre welcome to borrow it

Mark asked the man if first thing tomorrow would be OK. He said yes and Mark shook his hand enthusiasti-
cally.

About three oclock the celebration started winding down. A little later everyone headed home, including
Gunny and Abby.

This marriage had a benefit that Mark had not realized until just now. Gunny was now a resident of Silver Hills.

Chapter 25 - Lessons

On the way home, Jess mentioned to Mark and Jim that some of the other neighborhood women had heard
them talk about the shooting lessons that they were to have after the meeting. She said that a couple of them were also
interested, and that she and Lisa had invited them to come over. Jim said that was no problem as teaching six or seven
was not much more work than teaching four. When they got home, Jim asked Mark if he would help to get the rifles
ready that he wanted the women to learn with. Mark agreed and they headed to the safe. Mark opened it and Jim took
out his Ruger 10/22 with open sights and asked Mark if he could use his 10/22 that had a heavy target barrel and a
Leupold scope. Mark dug it out and handed it to Jim. The men then pulled out all of their ear mufts and some .22 long
rifle ammo. Jim loaded all of this into the wagon so that it would be ready to pull it over to the empty lot that the neigh-
borhood used as an informal range.

Mark went out to check the water temperature on his shower. Since the water had been heating all day in
the sun, instead of a couple of hours like yesterday, it was very warm. Mark figured that it was a good thing he hadn't
painted the barrels black or the water may have been too hot to bathe in. He could paint them later in the season if the
days shortened up enough that it became necessary.

George had gone across the street to check on the guys who were finishing the tilling. Mark walked over to
check on how it was going. When he got across the street he could see that only one tiller was running. George and
some other men were bent over the other one.

“What happened?” Mark asked.

George looked up and the look on his face was not a good one. “Looks like we broke the drive chain”

“Can we fix it?”

“Maybe, but it chewed up the gears pretty good when it broke. We really need new parts.”

“We can try to find some, but I wouldn't hold my breath.” Mark warned. “If we can’t, where does that leave us?”

“Well, this lot is practically finished. We can row it up by hand tomorrow and plant it on Tuesday. We could get
started on the next lots; we were going to do those two back to back four-acre lots, but it will take at least a full week
with only one tiller. We may want to get the individual gardens going first. I just hope you can get that tractor from the
Christmas tree farm running. That will solve all of our problems.”

“I hope so too, George”

“We're going to take this thing down to Chaparo’s and see what he thinks about fixing it. I'll be back at the
house after that”

“OK, I'll tell the girls” Mark walked back across the street. The women had pulled out some sandwich fixings
for dinner. Everyone had eaten so much at the wedding reception that they were not really interested in eating that
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much. The news came on and basically reported nothing. Mark remembered that in the first couple of days after the
burst the news was reporting gang shootings, riots at the grocery stores, and all sorts of other problems in the city. Now
there was no bad news unless it was hundreds or thousands of miles away. Surely there were lots of bad things happen-
ing in town. Why were they not being reported? Mark knew the answer; he just didn’t like it.

After the news, the President came on and did his song and dance. SSDD. Mark wondered if POTUS was being fed bad
information on when the power would be back on. Or, if he was in on, maybe even the instigator of, the lies.

When they went down to Jon’s for the meeting, it was still more of the same. Mark noticed a few more new
faces. There must have been at least 300 people at the meeting. He wondered what the population of Silver Hills was up
to. George reported the bad news about the tiller, and Chaparo told that he might be able to fix it. Mark told the group
that he was going to look at a tractor tomorrow and see if he could get it to run. Mark was thinking that he could use
some help with the mechanics. Maybe one of the newcomers had some experience that could help them. He asked the
question. A man held up his hand, and then introduced himself.

His name was Bill Evans. He was Scott Simmons’ brother-in-law and he had worked as a mechanic in a garage
when he was younger. Mark asked him if he would be willing to go look at the tractor tomorrow. He agreed and Mark
told him to be at his house at 8 oclock.

Jon then brought up the topic of limiting the amount of people in the subdivision again. Although some people
agreed with him, the majority did not. Jon became visibly hostile.

“So what are we going to do? Let people move in here until we have no room to move or to grow enough
crops? How many do you all think we can support? A thousand? Ten thousand?”

Mark stepped up to the front and spoke. “Jon, I think we all understand your concern. And you are right in
that we can not support an unlimited number of people. But, shouldn’t it be up to each family to decide how many
people they want to be responsible for. Besides that, the more people we have the more work we can get done and there
is a larger pool of skills to benefit from.”

“Hear! Hear!” Someone in the crowd shouted.

“You tell ‘em, Mark!” Someone else said.

“Well I think we need to come to a decision on this. George said that we can only feed 500 and with one of the
tillers broken maybe we can’t even do that” Jon spat.

“Jon, that was an estimate. He based that oft of only the empty lots. George, do you have any better info for
us?”

“We put a pencil to it and the best that the committee can figure, with the long growing season and good soil
that we have here, each acre planted should conservatively support 15 people. We might even stretch that to 20, but 15
is a safe number. And the tiller, if we can’t fix it, will slow us down, but a tractor puts us back ahead of the game.”

“But you don't have a tractor yet! You, of all people, George, know that you shouldn’t count your chickens be-
fore they are hatched.”

If Jon was trying to get a rise out of George, it didn’t seem to work. “That’s true, Jon. But if need be, we'll turn
all of the ground over by hand with spades, if that is what it takes.”

“Maybe so, but who knows how long that would take. I think we need to at least put a temporary hold on our
population growth until we have a better handle on the food situation. Plus it’s getting harder and harder to get every-
one to the store. Right, Manny?”

Mark could tell from the look on Manny’s face that he didn’t like being pulled into this. “Well, it is getting a lit-
tle more difficult to work out the schedule, but with more trucks now, especially if Mark can get that old International
Harvester going, we should be able to take everyone to at least two stores a week”

“Even so, we need to get an idea of what we can do before things get out of hand. I make a motion that we tem-
porarily limit each house to 10 people or if it’s already over 10 to that number”

Everyone just looked around to if anyone would confirm the motion. “I second it.” A voice finally called out
from the back.

“All those in favor?” A few meek ‘ayes’ were heard.

“All those opposed?” The no’s were strong enough to knock a truck over.
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“Wait a minute, only the people that live here can vote.” Jon challenged.

“We all live here” Someone angrily called out and was acknowledged with some hostile ‘yeah’s’

“I mean only the people that actually own a home here”

“That’s not fair. If we're living here and working here, we should get a vote too” One of Manny’s relatives yelled.

This was going downhill in a hurry, Mark thought. “I tell you what. How about we let just the homeowners
vote and see if the results are any different. If they are, then we can talk about it some more, if not, then all of the argu-
ing is for naught.”

The crowd seemed agreeable to trying Mark’s solution.

“OK, then” Mark said. “All homeowners in favor of Jon’s motion?”

There were a few scattered ‘Ayes’ that were perhaps not quite as meek as before.

“All those opposed?”

Even though the vote was closer, it was still obvious that the ‘No’s” had it. Mark could see that Jon and a few of
the others were not happy.

“Perhaps, there is a compromise that we can come to.” Mark wanted peace. “George told me that he and the
gardening committee are going to talk about getting going on the individual gardens next. I think that is a reasonable
approach. Does everyone agree?”

The response was unanimously ‘yes.

“How about we ask them to present us with a plan to do that tomorrow night. But, until we know how much
of the empty lots we are going to be able to use, we don’t count on them. Every homeowner agrees to only house the
number of people he can support on his own land. Remember that we may be down to turning the soil by hand if
things don’t go well. So don't plan on the tractor or even a tiller. In other words, if you invite people to live at your
place, you're responsible for them, not the community. Can I make that a motion?”

“I second it” Several people called out at the same time.

“All in favor?” The response was deafening.

“All opposed?” No one made a sound.

“OK then, does anyone have anything else?” Mark asked.

Everyone was either shaking their heads or shrugging their shoulders. “Then, I guess we're done. David and
Sam will pump water for you in a few minutes. The shower water is really warm today. I'd like to give the guys who
tilled today first shot at it. After that, I guess it’s first come, first served. And one last thing, I would like for the security
committee to meet for a few minutes if that’s OK with them.” Mark didn’t even notice that he had taken control of the
meeting.

Everyone headed off in different directions except for the five security committee members. Mark told them
that he knew they were going to resume work in the morning, but he asked that they allow him to go check the trac-
tor. They all agreed that the tractor was a priority and told him not to worry about it. He told them he felt bad that he
wasn't contributing more and that he especially wanted to apologize to Susan for leaving her to supervise the digging
by herself.

“Don’t be silly, Mark.” She said. “We need that tractor worse than we need another shoveler tomorrow.

“She’s right Mark. We have to get our errands run as soon as possible. Like you said the other day, who knows
how long we have until the world blows up. Right now materials are more important than the work. I'm going back to
Poth to get the rest of what we need for the fence in the morning. I got enough donations to get everything we need.”
Ted informed the group. Mark appreciated the professor not saying that most of the money had come from him.

“I have a question for Jon.” Susan said.

“What?” Jon asked as though he shouldn’t be bothered, especially by a woman.

“I was wondering if you would mind running your guard training program by us?” Mark was thankful that
someone besides him had asked.

“Why?”

“Because we are a committee. We have run what we are planning by everyone else on the committee. Why
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shouldn’t you let us in on your plans?” She asked sincerely.

“Well, if you must know, we are going to spend the first day doing PT. I need to get these guys into fighting
shape. The second day we are going to learn the M-16 weapon system. The third day will be how to stand a post. Then
some hand to hand training and some small unit tactics. The last day will be review.”

“You are going to do PT all day the first day?” Mark asked incredulously.

“Yes. What's wrong with that?”

Jon had just a little more attitude than Mark liked, but he ignored the sarcasm. “Don’t you think that’s a little
excessive?”

“They ran our asses off the first day in the Corp.”

“Yeah, Jon, but you were what? 20? These guys are all middle aged and most of them have beer bellies. They
won't last 30 minutes” Mark reasoned.

“I know I can’t get them into shape in a day. God, 'm not stupid. But they need to be ready to fight if we have
another incident. This will be a wake up call for them. Then T'll get them on a daily work out.”

Mark just rubbed his chin. How was he going to get through to this guy? Chaparo had a question too.

“Jon, you said that you are going to teach them to use the M-16?”

“Yes”

“But these guys don’t have M-16’. In fact except for you, me, Mark, and Jim, no one else I know even had an
AR-15. Don't you think it would be better to work with them on their own weapons?”

“Do you want me to do the training or not?” It was obvious that Jon was threatened now. “First you all just let
anybody move in here, even if we can’t feed them. Then Mark just takes over my meeting. And now you don't like the
way I'm training the guards. Maybe I should just let you all do everything!” He was really ranting now. Mark wondered
if he might somehow be related to Mr. Davis.

“Jon, that's not what we want. We would just like to have some input into anything having to do with security,
just like you do with what we are working on.” Ted pleaded.

“Well, if you want me to do the training then I'm going to do it the Marine way. Because that’s the only way I
know how to do it!”

The rest of the group just looked at Mark. He knew they would go along with him. He also knew that Jon might
learn a lesson if he let him have enough rope to hang himself. “OK, Jon. You go ahead with your plan. If you need any
help, let us know.”

Jon sat back in his chair smugly. Mark figured that he thought he had won. Maybe his way would work, but
Mark estimated that his ‘program’ would self destruct within two hours of its launch.

“OK. Anything else we need to discuss?” Chaparo asked.

Everyone just shook their heads. “See you all in the morning then.”

Everyone headed home. When Mark got there, the kids were in the middle of pumping water. Mark checked
the shower line. The line was longer than the water would hold out, he figured. After the few guys that had worked
today, the line consisted mostly of women. Maybe he should try to buy some more barrels tomorrow to make another
shower or two. He asked the man that just came out how the water temperature was and the answer was a resounding
‘Perfect!” Mark told the women in the line to watch the water level in the barrels. He said that if it got down too low
not to risk a shower. He smiled evilly as he explained that if one of them ran out of water in the middle of their shower,
there would be no choice but to have one of the other women rinse them off with the cold water out of the hose. There
was a collective shiver from all the women and they nodded their heads as if they had just been told the meaning of
life.

Mark could hear the .22’s firing and he decided to go see how the lessons were going. He wanted to check
out his Gold Cup and at least one of the ARs anyway. He went in to the safe and retrieved the .45, the CAR-15, and
some ammo for each. He walked down to the empty lot and was shocked when he saw Jim teaching 12 or 15 women
to shoot. Two women were on the line firing the 10/22’s and the rest were standing behind watching intently. Jim was
standing between the two shooters and coaching them. When they were done firing their strings, two new shooters
came up and took their turn. Mark watched in amazement at how quickly the women caught on. When everyone was
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done, Jim spoke to the whole group.

“I'm sorry that I wasn’t really prepared for so many of you. We can pick up again tomorrow night. If you don’t
remember anything else, remember the four rules of firearm safety. Let’s review them one more time.”

The women chanted as a group. “Treat every gun as if it is loaded. Never point a gun at anything you are not
willing to destroy. Finger off the trigger until the sights are on the target. Be sure of your target and what is behind it

“Good job”” Jim praised them. “OK, I'll see you all tomorrow after the meeting.”

The women all came up to Jim to thank him and then made their way home. Of course he got a very special
thank you right on the lips from Lisa and another on the cheek from his mother-in-law. Jess, after thanking Jim, walked
up to her husband and told him that the women wanted him to start a self defense class for them. He told her that they
would talk about it. Mark walked up to his friend when all of the women had left.

“I thought you were going to have six or seven.”

“Me too. It probably would have been more, but some of the women said their friends wanted a shower just a
little more than shooting lessons.”

“How many did you have?”

“Fourteen.”

“They all seemed to shoot really well”

“Women usually do” Jim told his friend. “They listen better than men do, and they don’t have anything to
prove. A man’s ego usually gets in his way when it comes to shooting instructions. He wants to prove that he already
knows all there is to know, and that keeps him from learning.”

“I've noticed the same thing in teaching karate.”

“Funny you should mention that. They were talking about wanting to learn some karate after we finish shoot-
ing lessons.”

“Yeah. Jess already warned me. Once we get caught up on some of the work, it shouldn’t be a problem.”

“That’ll make them happy.” Jim observed.

“And that’s the main thing, isn't it? You know what I say...If mama’s not happy...then nobody’s happy.”

“Bubba, you said a mouthful. Now, how ‘bout we put that fancy new pistol through its paces?”

“You got it!” The two friends took turns shooting both guns. The Colt had a few hiccups at first, but after 50
or 60 rounds to break it in, it performed flawlessly. It was the most accurate .45 that Mark had ever seen. Jim said that
he had seen a few that would beat it, but they had all been high dollar match guns. The CAR-15 worked great from the
get go. It needed a slight sight adjustment and then it was dead on the money. Mark found that it was easy to shoot and
even easier to operate than his FAL. It was also lighter and much shorter than his big rifle. While he wished he still had
the .308, the little carbine quickly grew on him.

While they were shooting, Mark filled Jim in on the security meeting and Jon’s plan for training the guards.

“Why did you give in to him?” Jim asked.

“Because he would have quit if we hadn’t. This way the guards will probably mutiny on him in the morning
and he will have to change his plan. Maybe it will teach him to consult us a little more.

“I wouldn't bet on it. I just thank God that we're not in his first group.”

“Now who said a mouthful?” Mark grinned.

The two men walked back to the house when they finished shooting. Mark noticed that the shower line was
noticeably shorter. Sam told him that some of the women toward the back had left when it was obvious that there was
not going to be enough water for them. They all swore to be first behind the men tomorrow, Mark was informed by his
daughter. Mark laughed and then as he was walking into the house he saw the other security committee members, less
Jon, walking up to his home. They walked up to him and before he could say hello, Susan spoke.

“Why did you agree to let Jon do the training the way he wants to? You know that dog won't hunt.”

Mark smiled big and she asked another question. “What’s so funny?” She didn’t seem amused.

“I've just never heard a woman use that phrase before.”

“My daddy used to say that all the time. I guess it rubbed off on me.” She said with a sheepish smile.
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“That explains it.” Mark acknowledged. “About Jon. I let him do what he wants because he’s not going to listen
to us until he fails. Even then he may not, but I'm hopeful that he will.”

“I see your point, Mark, but I'm getting tired of his shit. I think you should have let him quit.” Chaparo was as
upset as Mark had ever seen him.

“I was tempted to, but if this thing is going to work, we need everyone.”

“We may see that, but Jon doesn’t. Why should we do for him what he’s not willing to do for others?” Ted ar-
gued.

“I know it’s hard, but we need to try. If he doesn’t come around on his own soon, we'll find a way to get through
to him.”

“OK, Mark, you're right. He’s just such an ass sometimes.” Susan sighed. “By the way, I heard that Jim is giving
some of the women shooting lessons. Can I sign up?”

“I'm sure you can. I think he has all he can handle right now, but he’s going to do another class after this one.
Why don’t you go in the house and talk to him about it

“OK. The only woman on the Silver Hills security committee turned and headed into the house.

“You know, Mark, I would like some lessons too. But not with the girls” Ted admitted.

“I'm sure we can work something out.” Mark answered with a wink.

The three men chatted for a few minutes and then Susan came back out. The three visitors excused themselves
and Mark went into the house. David came up to his father.

“Hey, Dad, guess what today was?”

“What?”

“September first, opening day of dove season.”

“Really? I haven’t been keeping track of the date too good since the burst.”

“Do you think we can go try to get some birds?”

“David, I know how much you like to go bird hunting, but I don’t know how much if any we are going to be
able to do this year. First of all, we have a ton of work to do around here. And second, I don’t think we can waste shot-
gun shells on doves. There just isn’t enough meat for the number of shells you have to shoot to make a meal”

“That may be true for you, Dad, but if I shoot like I did last year, then it's worth it, right?” David had finally
beaten his old man on the last day of dove season last year. He had limited out, 12 birds, with just 17 shots. Mark on
the other hand had shot almost a box and a half of shells, 36 to be exact, and only killed 7 birds. It was a fact that David
reminded his father of every time he got a chance.

“Maybe so.”

“Then can we at least try to go?”

“We'll see”

David’s shoulders slumped at the answer. ‘We'll see’ almost always meant ‘no’ he and his sister often com-
plained. Mark had to admit that they were right. In fact, about the only time that answer ended up meaning ‘yes’ was
when Mark felt guilty about using it too often, as he did now. Maybe, Mark thought, if they got caught up on the work a
little they could sneak away for a day of hunting.

Chapter 26 - Solutions

Mark ran and did his PT early. He was eating his breakfast, oatmeal, when Bill Evans showed up. Mark offered
him some breakfast and he graciously accepted. Bill told everyone at the Turner house that he had worked for the
phone company for the last 22 years. He, his wife, and two teenage children had lived in a small subdivision just inside
the city limits. It had been very quiet for the first week. They were within easy walking distance of the neighborhood
Kroger, and the neighbors were all watching out for each other. Then, he told them, things had gotten bad in a hurry.
A gang was coming through the subdivision everyday and extorting one can of food from each house every day for
‘protection’. A couple of the families refused to pay and their houses mysteriously caught fire. Another family’s 17 year
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old daughter was ‘invited’ to join the gang. When her father declined the invitation for her with his shotgun, the gang
left, only to return later and kill the father and force the girl to go with them by threatening to kill the rest of the family.
One of the neighbors went to get the cops, but they were not able to do much. Bill said that was what made him decide
to leave. He said they packed as much stuff as they could onto their mountain bikes and into some back packs and rode
the 20 odd miles out here early the next morning. Mark wondered how much of that kind of stuft was going on.

Gunny announced that he was going to make two or three runs to his house to finish moving his stuff. Abby,
Jess, Alice, and Jim were going to the store. The men had agreed that it was getting too dangerous for the women to go
by themselves. Since Jim was going, Lisa was staying home with the twins. Sam asked if she could go to the store with
her mom. Mark asked how she was doing on the inventory and she reported that she was almost done. Mark knew that
she had been stuck at home so he agreed to let her go. David then asked if he could go with his dad and was given con-
sent. Mark, Bill, and David loaded into the Jeep. Mark was happy to have his new .45 on his hip and the little CAR-15
and six extra 30 round magazines fit neatly between the front seats. They first headed to Manny’s house to give him the
keys to the red truck. When they were heading out they saw Jon with the 20 guards doing the training this week out in
his yard doing push ups.

“Scott was looking forward to his guard training. He said that hopefully it would prepare him in case he was
involved in another incident like last week?” Bill said.

“I hope he’s not disappointed.” Was all that Mark replied.

When the men got to the Christmas tree farm, they were met by Will Henson who showed them to the barn.
The tractor was a Mahindra, which was a brand that Mark had never heard of. Will explained that it was made in India.
For implements, he had a brush hog, a plow, and a disc parked in the barn beside it. Bill and Mark looked at the tractor
and noticed that it had a solid state ignition system. They checked it and found that it was definitely burned out. Bill
figured their best shot at the parts was from the dealer. Will told them that the Mahindra dealer was in China Grove.
They loaded into the Jeep and headed that way. When the four of them got to the tractor dealer they were elated to see
that he was open. They went in and a large man in shorts and a sweat stained T-shirt was behind the parts counter.

“He’p ya?” He asked.

Bill stepped forward. “We need all of the solid state ignition parts for a 2001 Mahindra E-350”

The fat man just laughed. “Yeah, right! If things were normal, I could call India and have them here in six, eight
weeks. Now, who knows?”

“Is there anyone else in the area that might have them?”

“No. I'm the only Mahindra dealer in South Texas. You boys, along with hundreds of other Mahindra owners,
are what I would call ‘shit out o’ luck”

“Do you have any tractors that will run?” Mark asked.

“Yeah, I got two. A 1988 John Deere 850 diesel and a 1991 Massey-Ferguson 231 diesel”

“Would you rent us one of them?”

The man laughed so hard this time Mark was afraid he might choke. “Son, the only way those tractors are leav-
ing this yard is with a bill of sale. Before long they are going to be worth their weight in gold. If I rented one out, how
do I know I would get it back?”

“You could come out with it. We would even pay you to do the plowing for us” Mark suggested.

The fat man found each comment funnier than the last. “Do I look like I want to sit on a tractor all day? If you
want a tractor from me, you're going to have to buy it?”

“I'm sure we can’t afford it, but how much?” Mark asked.

“Two weeks ago the John Deere was $6000 and the Massey-Ferguson was $9000, cash. Now I want $2000 and
$3000 respectively.

“Two thousand cash for the John Deere?” Mark asked hopefully. He could do that.

“No. Pretty soon cash is only going to be good for kindling fires or wiping your butt. I want $2000 in pre-sixty-
five silver coin. Or, I'll take 20 ounces of gold. Or, I could work out a trade with you. That Jeep for example, I'll take it
and $750 in silver. If you have any guns or ammo to trade we can work on that too.”
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Mark’s hope was deflated. All he had was $2000 in pre-65 silver. Todd had told him that it was worth $7000
before the burst, it had to be worth at least double that now, Mark figured. $14,000 worth of silver for a $6000 tractor.
He didn’t think so. And his Jeep and guns were not trading material either. “We’ll think about it”

“Those prices are only good for today.” The fat man called to them as they headed out the door. They climbed
into the Jeep and Mark pulled out of the parking lot.

“I'm sorry. I should have told you the guy was kind of a jerk.” Will apologized.

“You're right; he is a jerk. But, he’s also right. Our money is worthless and I would probably do the same thing
if I was him.” Mark said.

“What do you mean that our money is worthless?” Will asked.

Mark explained that Federal Reserve Notes, the proper name for dollar bills, were not backed by anything but
faith in the United States government. They were only worth something because people believed that they were. When
that faith was gone then they were only worth the paper that they were printed on.

“I thought our money was backed by the gold in Ft. Knox.” Bill stated.

“That used to be true. But no longer. Our coins used to be real silver too. But in ‘65 they changed them to
mostly copper. That is why the guy said he would sell for pre-’65 coins. They have real value”

“I see. Well what are we going to do about tractor parts now?” Bill asked.

“I know an auto parts man that might be able to help us. We're going to see him. Say, Bill, do you think there is
any way we could convert the ignition over to an old distributor type?”

“Probably not. The engine would have to have a place for the distributor and gears on the camshaft to turn it.
Even if it did, and I didn't see it, we would have to find the exact distributor. I think we would have better luck finding
replacement parts.”

“I see what you mean. Well, maybe Rodney can help us”

When the men got to Rodney’s neighborhood, it looked deserted. Mark pulled up into the driveway and
honked the horn once. He remembered how nervous Rodney was last time and he didn’t want to alarm him unneces-
sarily. Mark saw the door crack open and he stepped out of the Jeep with his hands in plain view and waved. Rodney
opened the door the rest of the way. Mark noticed that he was carrying a SKS rifle today instead of his shotgun.

“Hey, Mark. What are you doing here? Were the parts you bought Friday OK?” The parts man asked.

“The parts were fine, Rodney. I came because I need some help with a tractor” Mark explained. “That’s a pretty
serious looking rifle”

“Yeah, well things are getting pretty serious around here. There have been some shootings and all the neigh-
bors are pretty much staying in their houses or moving to a relative’s house.”

“Are you going to move?”

“All mine and my wife’s relatives live on the east coast. I presume that it is probably worse where they are than
it is here. So we have no choice but to stay put. You said you need tractor help?”

“Yes. We need the ignition parts for a tractor. Do you think you might have any?”

“What kind and what year?”

“It's a Mahindra, a 2001 model”

“I can’t help you. Those Mahindras are made in India on old International Harvester equipment. But the parts
are not interchangeable with IH’s. In fact those Mahindra parts are difficult to get in the best of times.”

“You have any idea where we might find some?”

“Did you try the dealer?”

“Yeah, but he just laughed at us”

“I'm sorry; I just don’t know anyone else. If you had an older domestic tractor, we could probably find some parts that
would work. I know I have the ignition part that you would need for an old Ford tractor. Maybe you can find one of
those”

“Thanks. I'll keep that in mind as we're looking. Say, you wouldn’t have an alternator and radiator for an IH
truck, would you?”

“Sorry again. I could order those if the phones were working, but those are not parts I usually keep in stock.”
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Rodney then told Mark that they could probably fit an alternator and a radiator out of another vehicle that was not
running into the old truck. He said to try a GM alternator because it had a built in voltage regulator. “Those IH trucks
are relics. Good solid trucks, but theyre getting harder to find parts for. Whose is it?”

“We kind of acquired it after we left here Friday” Mark then went on to tell Rodney about the shootout.

The parts man said that he was not surprised. Some of the shootings he had heard about in town had been
pretty severe. Mark thanked the man and shook his hand. Mark asked the man if he needed anything and he was told
no.

“Hey, why don’t you and your family come out and stay at our place? We live way outside the city limits, so it’s
got to be safer than here. We are staying in our RV in the back yard so there’s plenty of room for y’all in the house. Or, if
you have any camping equipment, you can camp out in the yard”

“Thanks, Mark. I appreciate the offer, but this is our home. And I'm not going to let a bunch of lowlifes run me
out of it

“I understand, but if you change your mind, youre welcome to come out anytime.” Mark then gave the man
directions to Silver Hills. Then he thanked the man again and drove off.

Mark explained to his passengers what Rodney had said about the parts for the tractor. It was quiet for several
minutes, and then David had an idea.

“Hey, Dad. Remember when we went to that Jeep Camp for vacation a few years ago?”

“Yes, Dave”

“Remember they told us that the first civilian Jeeps had been sold for farm use? And we saw some of the old
ones they had there with that hookup thing like are on the tractors. Maybe we could put one of those on our Jeep and
plow with it”

“What ‘hookup thing’ is he talking about?” Bill asked Mark.

“He is talking about a three-point hitch. And he’s right the old Willis was first marketed to be a multi-purpose
farm implement. They came with the three-point hitch and a power takeoff. Maybe Chaparo could build us a hitch and
we could hook up a plow to the Jeep. Will, could we borrow your plow and disc?”

“Sure, they’re not doing me any good. And I would assume that I could use the Jeep from time to time if
needed to plow or disc?”

“Absolutely”

“Then, I reckon we got ourselves a deal” The retired salesman said with a million-dollar smile.

Mark was driving to where Jim had told him that the barrel man had his business. When they got there, a high
chain link fence surrounded the large lot. Mark could see all types of barrels stacked through the fence and a trailer like
they use for an office at construction sights. The heavy gate to the lot was closed, but it had a sign that said ‘Honk for
Service’ on it. Mark tapped his horn. What happened next would have caused him to leave as fast as possible two weeks
ago, but now it intrigued him. The door on the office trailer opened a crack.

“Are you here to buy some barrels?” A voice called out from inside.

“Yes” Mark called back.

“OK. In a minute I'm going to come out to open the gate. You are going to be covered by rifles. Any funny busi-
ness and they will shoot first and ask questions later. Do you understand?”

“Yes” Mark answered as he saw rifles appear in two of the widows of the trailer.

A short man came out of the door and nervously jogged to the gate, his eyes glancing from side to side. Mark
could see that he had a big revolver on his hip. He unlocked the gate, opened it, and waved them in. Then he closed
and re-locked the gate while keeping one eye on the Jeep. Mark thought that if, before the burst, people had behaved
like this, he would have believed that paranoia was running through the city like a plague. Now it was only smart to be
paranoid. Only it wasn’t paranoia when they were actually shooting at you, was it?

Mark slowly got out of the Jeep. The short man walked up to him and asked what he needed. Mark noticed
that the man was a little older than he was and that his revolver was a Ruger Super Blackhawk .44 magnum. The one
with the 10 ¥ inch barrel. It hung down almost to the barrel man’s knee and looked a little comical. Mark though that it
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probably wouldn't seem too comical if you were staring down the business end of the monster single action.

“I need four 55 gallon water barrels” Mark told him.

“How are you going to carry four in a Jeep?”

“We are going to put the top down and tie them to the roll bars”

“OK. They are $40 each. Cash only or trade”

“I was told that they were $20 each last week?” Mark questioned.

“That was last week. Now they’re 40

Mark didn’t want to pay that much. He knew that this guy knew Gunny. Maybe dropping a name would get
him a little discount.

“Well Gunny Pickwell told me to come see you if I needed any barrels. But I don’t know if I can afford $40.

“You know Gunny?” The manss attitude had changed completely at the mention of the old soldier’s name.

“Yes. He is a friend of mine.” This was working, Mark thought. “In fact, he lives down the road from me now.”

“How is that old shrapnel magnet doing?”

“He’s good. He got married yesterday.”

“Married? I'll be damned. I thought that o’ boy would never be married to anything but the Corps.”

“How do you know Gunny?” Mark asked.

“He was my platoon sergeant my first tour in Nam. Saved my ass more times than I can remember. I was just a
kid in ‘67 and didn’t know squat about nothing. He was an old man even back then and what he taught us kept us alive.
Even the LT did what Gunny said. I got reassigned for my second tour and we lost track of each other. I ran into him at
a unit reunion in D.C. a few years ago and we found out we had been living in the same town for years.” The man stuck
out his hand. “Breezy. Breezy Cunningham is my name.”

Mark grabbed and shook it as he wondered where the man had gotten that nickname. “Mark Turner”

“Pleased to meet you Mark. Any friend of Gunny’s is a friend of mine. That'll be $15 each for the barrels”

“Thanks, Breezy” Mark said as he counted out sixty dollars. “I'll tell Gunny you said hello”

“You do that. If you need anything else, just come on back”

“Will do” Mark said as he and his passengers lowered the soft-top and tied the barrels to the Jeep.

The trip home was uneventful. They dropped Will off at his house and told him that they would be by with
a trailer to pick up the plow and disc when they had the Jeep ready. They were back to Silver Hills by eleven oclock.
When they pulled in, they saw that work on the security arrangements was progressing nicely. Ted was back with his
fencing supplies and Susan was down in the ditch with her guys digging. The gate was hung and the guards on duty
had opened it when they saw the Jeep coming. Mark, David, and Bill waved as they passed and then they dropped by
Chaparo’s to talk to him about the three-point hitch. He thought that he could rig something up without too much
work. He asked Mark if that should come before the repair to the tiller or after. Mark asked how long each would take.

“I think I can fix the tiller in four or five hours. I'll need to go look at the hitch on the tractor to get the meas-
urements, but I could probably have it done in two days, three tops. I need to borrow your generator for both projects,
though.” The big man said.

“No problem, just come and get it. I would try to fix the tiller first. After that, you can take the Jeep to go over
to the tree farm. One of us will show you where it is and introduce you to Will”

“Sounds good”

Mark also asked Chaparo if he had any more showerheads and pipe to make two more showers. He did and he
told Mark just to let him know when to come by and plumb them. As Mark was ready to leave, four men came up to
the Jeep.

“Mark, you have to do something about Jon.” Scott Simmons was grim.

“He’s trying to kill us.” Charley Henderson said.

Mark and Chaparo just looked at each other.

“I want to be a guard and help out, but I didn't sign up for this shit!” Another man said.

“What happened?” Mark asked. He already knew the answer, but knew he needed to let the men vent.

“When we got to Jon’s house this morning, he said we were going to do some PT first. I thought that was a
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good idea. We could all probably stand to be in a little better shape. He had us do some jumping jacks, push-ups, and
sit-ups. 100 of each. It was hard but we all did our best. Then, we started running through the neighborhood. Up and
down every street. If someone fell behind, he started yelling at them. Telling them that they were a no good piece of
shit and stuff like that. Joe Bagwell was the first one to get fed up. You know Joe; he’s the real chunky guy that lives in
the front? Well he got tired of Jon yelling at the top of his lungs mostly at him since he was having the most trouble
keeping up and he told Jon to go...” Scott’s eyes glanced David’s way. “...to go and have knowledge of himself...in the
biblical sense...you know.”

“I see” Mark said. “Then what?”

“Then he started on the next slowest guy. Asking him if he was going to effin quit like Baby Joe did. After two
or three guys had enough we all just told him to get lost, so to speak. He went back to his house hollering how we all
better get our attitudes right and show back up tomorrow morning or we were kicked out of the guard program.”

“OK. Don’t worry about it. We'll talk to him and get it straightened out” Mark promised.

The four men thanked Mark and Chaparo and walked off.

“You want to talk to him now?” Chaparo asked.

“I was thinking maybe we should wait until Gunny is back and take him with us. He’s the only one that Jon
even comes close to listening to.”

“Sounds like a good idea to me”

Mark drove Bill back to Scott’s house and asked him if he would try to fit a radiator and alternator into the
IH truck. Bill said he would be glad to work on it. He asked about a windshield and Mark suggested that, when it was
running, he could take it to a junkyard and try to find one for it. When Bill was getting out of the Jeep, he asked Mark a
question.

“This morning when I told you that Scott was looking forward to his guard training you said something like ‘I
hope he’s not disappointed’. You knew this was going to happen, didn’t you?”

“Let’s just say I had a hunch. I hoped I was wrong. But we had to give Jon a chance. Don’t worry; we'll get it
fixed somehow.”

“I'm glad it’s you and not me.”

“Why do you say that?”

“Because he’s been acting like a big shot since I got here. Scott was his friend, but he told me he can’t stand Jon
anymore. And that was before what happened today. Somebody needs to feed that boy some humble pie. I know that if
I was in your shoes, I'd kick his ass up between his shoulders.”

“Well, let’s hope that it doesn’t come to that” Mark said laughing as he put the Jeep in gear and eased out on the
clutch.

Mark and David pulled into the house and went in to check on Lisa and the twins. The shoppers weren’t back,
but Mark didn’t expect them back this early. They ate lunch and then Mark asked David if he wanted to come help
dig the ditch out. David was excited to be asked to help and the two of them changed clothes and headed down to the
front. As Mark dug, his mind raced from subject to subject. He thought about what he might say to Jon to get his atten-
tion. The men and Susan finished the ditch to the west of the entrance and started working on the east side. They were
making good progress. The hard work was a welcome relief to Mark, even if it was hot and humid. He noticed that
the sky was clouding over and the wind was blowing fairly hard. Mark thought that it might rain soon. Hopefully that
would cool it off. They could use some cooler weather. Even if only for a day or two. This digging was almost as good
for thinking as running was. Mark wished that he could just be in charge of himself and digging holes. That would be
better than having to deal with Jon. Now he was just feeling sorry for himself.

Mark saw Gunny and Abby drive in. He had already spoken with Susan and Ted about what had happened and
they agreed that Chaparo, Mark, and Gunny should handle it. They thought that any more than three on one would
probably upset Jon even more. Mark excused himself and headed up to Abby’s house. When he got there he spoke
with Gunny about the problem. They headed to Jon’s and picked up Chaparo on the way. Mark asked Gunny if he was
through moving and the old Marine said he needed to make one more trip. Mark told him that he had met Breezy.
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Gunny just laughed and asked Mark to remind him to tell them about Breezy sometime.

When they got to Jon’s, he invited them in. “I knew you guys would be coming to see me.” He said defiantly.

“How did you know that?” Chaparo asked.

“Because the guys all quit today, and I knew youd come over to gloat. But I told them to be back tomorrow to
continue training. I think I got their attention now, so they know what I expect. They’ll do better tomorrow.”

“Jon, we're not here to gloat, and the only way they are going to do better is if you do better” Mark said.

“What does that mean?”

“It means you can't treat them boys like raw Marine recruits.” Gunny instructed in his best fatherly voice. “You
were treated that way when you joined up because you were a wet-behind-the-ears wannabe bad ass. The DI's had to
tear you down ‘n’ teach you some respect fore you would learn. These men have all had families and responsibilities
for years. They already know about respect, duty, and honor. And they deserve yours. If'n you don’t treat them with the
respect they deserve, they won't respect you or learn nothin’ from you.”

“They don't have to respect me to learn from me. They just have to listen to me and do what I say” Jon argued.
“We can't afford to have soft guards if we get attacked. I'm going to tell them that tomorrow and make them under-
stand. I'll back off a little on the PT until they get up to speed, but they are going to have to commit themselves to train
hard”

“Jon, did you hear a word Gunny said? You have to change your method. We have talked about this and we
agree that what you're doing is going to drive these guys off. We need them more than they need us.” Chaparo pleaded.

“What do you mean; you all have talked about this?” Jon demanded.

“The committee discussed what to do after several of the men came and talked to us about today.” Chaparo
answered.

“I knew you all were talking about me behind my back and I knew that you would stab me in the back, too.”
Jon was really ranting now. “Well if you don't like the way I'm doing it, then I quit your little committee. You can find
someone else to do your training and while you're at it, you can find somewhere else to have the daily meetings too.”

“Jon, that is not what we want. We just want...” Mark was interrupted.

“I don’t give a rat’s ass what you want. You stab me in the back. Well I'm not going to play your little games Mr.
Black Belt. Now if you would excuse me, I have things to do”

Mark was shocked that Jon had blown up so quickly. Chaparo looked like this had taken him by surprise too.
Mark couldn’t tell about Gunny, he had too much of a poker face. Mark decided to try one more time.

“Jon, I'm sorry if we upset you. That was not our intention. Remember when you asked me not to move away?
You said that we balanced each other out and that you needed me to stay here to help you. Did you mean that?”

“Yes” Jon answered shortly. Mark still thought it was just because of his truck, but he wasn’t going to call the
man a liar.

“Well, you may not know it, but we all need each other to balance the group and help each other. That is what
we are trying to do here” The little that he seemed to be getting through to Jon stopped abruptly with the last sentence.

“No. You're not trying to help me. You just want me to do things your way. Well I say ‘Screw you and the horse
you rode in on. I do the training my way or I don't do it. It’s as simple as that”

It was pointless to argue any more. First of all, Jon was not going to listen to anyone. Second, Mark knew he
would not be able to hold his own temper. “OK, Jon. I'm sorry you feel that way. We'll see you later” Mark stood up and
walked out the door. Gunny and Chaparo followed.

Gunny was the first to break the silence. “That boy is what we use to refer to as a popsicle. ‘Course we us’lly
used it for officers that thought their shit didn’t stink”

“A popsicle, Gunny? How do you get that?” Chaparo asked.

“He’s as cold as ice and got a stick up his ass.”

Chaparo and Mark snickered quietly as they were still close to Jons house.

“Well, what do we do now?” Mark asked the other two men. It was mostly a rhetorical question.

“Let’s get Susan and Ted and talk about it” Chaparo suggested.

The three of them walked down to where the work was going on. The four remaining committee members
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nominated Gunny to take Jon’s place. Gunny said that he would be glad to help however he could. They asked if he
could take over the training of the guards. He said that he would be glad to coordinate the training. And while he
would do a lot of the teaching, he would need help with some of the training. He said that he wanted Jim to head up
the firearms training and Mark to do the hand to hand training and the PT. Mark asked if Gunny intended to run the
guys like Jon did. He said no, but that the guards did need to improve their conditioning, just not all in one day. Mark
agreed to hold the evening meetings at his house, at least temporarily. Everyone was used to coming there for water
anyway, he said.

The group broke up and everyone returned to their duties. Mark climbed back down in the ditch and started
digging again. Susan came up and told him that David was working as hard as any of the men. Mark looked over at the
son he was so proud of. He was digging hard. David always could work hard and he seldom complained. That is, until
it came to his school work. Mark laughed to himself. He would have to find a special reward for David. He turned his
attention back to his digging. With each shovelful, he felt his frustration with Jon slipping away.

Chapter 27 - Preparations

By the time the meeting had rolled around, most everyone had heard about what happened with Jon. They
gathered in MarK’s big front lawn. The news had not brought them any new subjects to discuss, just a couple more east
coast cities under martial law, so the main topics were the tiller and the guard training program. Mark asked George
and his committee to present their plan for tilling the private gardens to everyone.

George started out with some good news. Chaparo had fixed the broken tiller. He had used a motorcycle chain
and machined new drive gears. Chaparo had warned them that they needed to be careful as he didn't think that the
new chain and gears were quite as strong as the old ones. George announced that they had spent the day rowing up
the newly plowed 5 acre field and that they would be planting it in corn tomorrow. He then broke the bad news that
they had been unable to get the tractor at the tree farm to run. He did tell them that Chaparo was working on a hitch
so that perhaps plowing could be done with MarKk’s Jeep, but it would be a few days before they knew if that would
work. He then went on to explain that the working tiller had been used to till the private gardens of the three people
who had lent their tillers to the neighborhood. He explained that it only seemed fair to take care of these people first.
The committee’s plan for the other 44 households was to hold a lottery. Each homeowner would, if the group accepted
this plan, select a number from 1 to 44. Then they would till about % acre for each household in the order of their
numbers. George figured that they could have everyone’s first plot tilled in five days. Then when they got done with the
44th person, they would start over with 44 and work their way back down to number one doing another % acre, and
keep going like this until everyone had the land they wanted tilled. George asked if there were any questions and he
answered the few that there were. The community then voted on and accepted the gardening committee’s plan. George
announced that they already had numbers in a hat, and that the homeowners could pull them as soon as the meeting
was adjourned.

Mark then spent a few minutes explaining that Jon had decided not to run the guard training program. Gunny
would be taking over that and the scheduling and would all the guards please report to him after the meeting for in-
structions. When Mark announced that he would be working on two more barrel showers tomorrow a huge cheer went
up. No one had anything else, so the meeting was adjourned.

The Turner teenagers hooked up the generator that Chaparo had brought back and pumped water for every-
one. Mark asked Jess to pull their number and she drew 28. Gunny asked Mark to meet the trainees at 8 oclock at Ab-
by’s to stretch them out and give them a very light work out. Just enough to work out some of the soreness from today;,
he said. When all of the chores were done, everyone played games for a while and then went to bed.

When Mark woke up the next morning, he found that it was drizzling. He skipped his run since he would be
working out with the guards in a while. Gunny and Abby came down for breakfast and made an offer to George and
Alice. They asked the displaced couple to move into the guestroom in their house. The Garretts graciously accepted
and since all of their possessions had burned, moved with one quick trip after breakfast. Mark thought that it was very
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generous of the newlyweds to offer to share their home. It would also help Jim and Lisa to have a little more room and
privacy in their camper.

Gunny, Mark, and George all had duties that prevented them from going to the store today. So, Jim was elected
to lead the same group to the store as yesterday. Sam decided to stay home and finish her food inventory. Chaparo
came by to pick up the Jeep. He and Bill were going to run and look at the tractor and then he was going to work on the
three-point hitch. Manny also came by to pick up a truck to take the shoppers to town with. George headed out to start
on private garden number one and Gunny and Mark went to meet the guards.

Mark did a long slow stretch out with them. Most were quite sore from the day before and Mark could smell
the Ben-Gay when the breeze blew in the right direction. Then he had the men do 30 pushups and 50 sit-ups. They also
slowly ran half a mile and then walked about half a mile. Most of the men said that they were feeling better by the time
they were done and they thanked Mark.

Mark then went back to the house to work on the other two showers. He decided to put them right beside the
first one. He and David got the barrels up on the roof and then started improving the shower stalls by enclosing them
with plywood. They then added plywood doors and built a bench inside each one. When that was done they went by
Chaparo’s and told him that the showers were ready to be plumbed and asked him to please fill the barrels before he
got the generator. He told Mark that he would. He said that Will had agreed to let him take the hitch off of the tractor
to use on the Jeep. All he had to do was machine the mounts and figure out a way to raise and lower it. He said that he
may have it ready by Wednesday. Mark bragged on him, but reminded him that the fence crew was depending on him
for some metal posts to finish the fence and the big pipes to block the drive. Chaparo said he would get those done first
and then get back on the hitch.

Mark and Dave walked on down to the entrance and helped dig some more. The ditch was almost done and
Susan, with Gunny’s help had marked where the other foxholes should go. When the men had finished the ditch, and
gone back over the few spots that Gunny thought needed attention, they started on the foxholes. While Mark was dig-
ging, one of the guards came up and got him.

“Mark, there are some people at the gate asking if we could give them some food.” The guard said.

Mark put his shovel down and walked to the gate with the guard. When he got there he saw two young couples
with five children from about ages three to ten. All of the adults and the three older children had backpacks. The two
men were also carrying a large duffel bag each. The two smaller children were being pulled in a small wagon by one of
the women and the other woman was pulling a larger wagon that was filled to overflowing. Mark introduced himself
and asked where they were going. One of the men told Mark that they had a friend with about 40 acres in Gonzales.
He went on to explain that they were neighbors in an apartment complex and that it was getting too dangerous to
stay there. They had decided to walk to their friend’s place, hoping to cover the seventy-odd miles in three days. They
planned to walk all day and camp at night. They had only made about twelve miles yesterday and were going even
slower today, as everyone was sore. They had brought enough food for four days, one more than they thought they
would need, but now it looked like it may take six or even seven days to get there. He asked if anyone could spare any
food to help them. Mark called David over and asked him to run up to the house and get ten pounds each of beans and
rice and six large cans of fruit. David took off running up the hill with the energy that only a teenager can possess and
not appreciate. While David was gone Mark and the guards chatted with the travelers about conditions in town. They
told the same types of stories that Mark had been hearing from others. David was back in a few minutes with a grocery
bag in each hand. He handed the food to the man who had done most of the talking and they all thanked Mark and the
others and started moving slowly east.

Mark and David went back to the foxholes. There were four to be dug and they were big enough for six or
seven men each. With the amount of men that were working they had them finished in two hours. Mark looked at his
watch. It was a little after three. It had stopped drizzling around lunchtime, but the sky was still cloudy. It wasn’t as hot
as it had been, but it was extremely humid and all of the diggers were covered in dirt and sweat. Susan told the men
that they were done for today. She told them that she might have some more work for them tomorrow. Mark told the
men that the old shower should be hot enough that if they wanted to use it now, they were welcome to.
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Mark and his son walked back to their house. On the way, they stopped by the house where George was supervising
the tilling. Mark asked him how it was going and his answer was ‘Not bad. He explained that the tiller that Chaparo
had fixed had a tendency to throw the chain if they got it going too fast, so they had to keep it under half speed. George
told him that it looked like they would get 4 plots done with the good tiller, about 2 % done with the repaired one, and
the little tiller might finish one plot. Not the 9 that he had hoped for, but not bad. He explained to Mark that he really
needed some more men. A couple of his guys had been working all day with only the breaks that he made them take.
Mark told him that they were through with the ditch and the foxholes, so they could probably send some men to help
out with these jobs tomorrow. George also expressed concern that most of the residents didn’t have any seeds to plant.
They needed to go back to the feed store and get what everyone wanted, if possible. Mark did not think that would be a
problem.

When Mark got back home, the shoppers were back and the women were fixing dinner. Sam was adding what
they had bought into her inventory. Mark asked her how they were looking as far as food went. She said that her figures
showed that they could eat pretty well for 11 weeks. After that it would be mostly beans and rice every day for another
5 weeks before they were completely out of food. Mark thought that was good. He felt that they needed to talk about
whether to buy more beans, rice, and other staples for a longer period, or to buy more variety for another few weeks.
He wished now that they had kept a few months worth of food stored, or even a year as he had heard Mormon families
did. He certainly could see the wisdom in that now.

Jess asked if they could use the generator to wash and dry a couple loads of clothes. Mark told her that Chaparo
was using it, but when he brought it back they were more than welcome to. He asked if they could hang the clothes out
to dry, instead of using the generator for that. She said that they could, but then they would need to wash early in the
morning so that the clothes would hang long enough to dry. Jim suggested that some of the less dirty clothes could be
washed and rinsed in the tub they had bought to further save on fuel for the generator. The girls reluctantly agreed to
try a load or two that way tomorrow.

Mark wanted to check on the outside showers. He found that Chaparo had plumbed and then filled the two
new showers. Mark checked the water temperature in all three. The old one was just lukewarm. The other two were
just warm enough that the water was not chilly. Without the sun shining directly on them, the barrels seemed to only
heat up a little more than air temperature. Well, he would have no problem with anyone staying in too long today, he
thought. A few of the men were walking up to use the shower and he suggested that they only use the middle one, un-
less they liked cold showers.

He walked over to the camper and prepared to take a shower himself. He turned on the water heater and heard
the welcome “Woosh’ of it igniting. It would take 20 minutes or so for the water to warm up. He wondered how much
gas was left in the camper’s tanks. He went outside to check, but he saw Gunny and Abby holding hands and walking
up to the house. He went over to talk to the old Marine about how the training went. Gunny told him that it had gone
well. He had covered all of the SOP’s for standing watch at a gate. He then walked the men through several scenarios
and had them roll play what to do. He said that he even let them come up with some of their own scenarios and work
out the best solutions. Gunny said that Scott was the best student in the class and that he wanted to talk to the secu-
rity committee about changing the guard schedule and appointing some captains. Gunny felt that they were going to
need more than two men on duty if things got worse in town. He had heard about the refugees that had passed today
and told Mark that they were probably only the first of many. And, they wouldn’t all be as polite as the ones today
were. Mark said that they needed to meet anyway to discuss the next phase of their security arrangements. Mark asked
Gunny what he had planned for the men tomorrow and he was told that Jim was going to work with the men on their
shooting skills in the morning. He thought that he might give them the afternoon off, since he needed to see what
other arrangements they planned to make in order to tailor his program properly.

Mark excused himself to take his shower and Gunny headed up to the house to talk to Jim about what he
wanted him to do tomorrow. Mark was glad that they had Gunny. Without him, they wouldn’t have had any idea of
what to do for security. Thank God for George too. And, where would they be without Chaparo? Mark was thankful for
so many people. Even Todd and Mr. Davis. Without them, he would not have had the means to buy some of the items

Page 126
©2002-2005 David Crawford All Rights Reserved



Lights Out by HalfFast --- www.frugalsquirrels.com

that they so desperately needed. When he got out of the shower he got dressed and headed into the house. Jess came up
and kissed him now that he was clean. Maybe, he thought, that was a hint that they should spend the night inside the
house again. She then chased David out to take a shower before dinner. The teenager argued for a brief moment that he
didn’t need one, but when his mother put her hands on her hips and cocked her head to one side as she gave him ‘the
look], he dropped his head and headed for the camper.

Dinner was the last of the deer meat from the freezer, cooked in gravy and served over rice. The news came
on and reported that three people in town had been arrested for watering their lawns. The radio said that they were
facing a $5000 fine and 60 days in jail. Great, Mark thought, there were murderers, rapist, and thieves running loose all
over town and the police were arresting water wasters. He understood that for the benefit of everyone, water needed
to be conserved, but this seemed excessive to him. A thought flashed through his mind that the report might not be
true. It could be just a scare tactic to stop people from wasting water. Either way, it probably would get peoples’ atten-
tion. Several more cities were named off as now being under martial law. The list was getting so long that Mark didn't
really even pay attention to the names of the cities anymore. The water board announced that they needed to do more
‘maintenance’ so the 7 to 7 no water rule was in effect again to night. When the president came on, the only real news
he had was that he was cutting back on his daily broadcasts. Now, unless there was something urgent, he would only
have his little chats with the country on Tuesdays and Saturdays. He signed off without even mentioning the power.
Five minutes later, people started showing up for the meeting.

Mark started the meeting by asking the gardening committee to give a report. The five-member committee
moved to the front and asked George to speak.

“We finished planting almost half of the corn in the back corner lot. We could use some more volunteers for
tomorrow. We also finished tilling the first 7 private plots today and have about a half of another one done. We'll pick
up again tomorrow. We really need more help with the tilling, especially in the afternoon when it gets hot. I don't like
for the guys to work more than 20 minutes at a time when it’s really hot. If you can help, even for just a 20 minute shift,
it would be appreciated. We also need to buy the seeds for the private gardens. If youre not sure what you need to
plant, please come and see one of the committee members after the meeting and we’ll help you plan what you need. We
want to make a run to the feed store tomorrow and pick up all the seeds that everyone needs, so please get your order
in with us tonight”

A hand went up and George pointed at the woman. “What if we don’t have enough money to buy the seeds we
need?”

“Go ahead and order what you need. We're asking everyone that can to pitch in a little extra to help those that
don’t have the cash. If we don't have enough money, then we’ll get as much as we can.” George explained.

“So, if you can’t buy everything, are you going to take some of my seeds that I paid for and give them to some-
one else?” A man in the back asked.

“No. If you pay for seed, then you’ll get it. But remember, we're all in this together” Mark interjected. “It
behooves us all to make sure that everyone here has enough food. So, if you can spare anything, please help out your
neighbors.”

“Any other questions?” George asked.

When no one had any other questions, Mark asked for a report from the security committee. Chaparo first got
up and told everyone where they were with the preparations for the front of the subdivision. The ditch was dug out and
so were the foxholes. The gate was hung and the fence was coming along. He told the residents that the security com-
mittee was meeting tonight to discuss what they should do next.

When Chaparo was finished, Mark asked if anyone had anything else. Two people raised their hands. One was
Bill, the mechanic, and the other was a Sherry Henderson. Mark called on Sherry first.

“I am becoming concerned about how much school my kids are missing. I was thinking that maybe we could
get another committee formed to look at how we can educate our children if the lights do stay off for an extended pe-
riod”

A murmur of approval spread through the crowd. Someone seconded the motion. Mark asked for a vote and
it was almost unanimous. Then he asked for nominations to the education committee. Someone nominated Jess right
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off the bat. Then Ted was nominated. He tried to get out of it, since he was already on another committee, but the
crowd would not let him out easily. Someone said that they had heard that Lisa home schooled her girls, and she was
nominated also. Mark asked if anyone else wanted to help and two other women, one of them Sherry, raised their hand.
Mark asked them when they wanted to meet, and they agreed on the following day since Ted had his security commit-
tee meeting tonight.

Mark asked Bill what he had and the reverted mechanic reported that the IH truck was now in running order.
Mark asked if he had found a windshield and he said that while he couldn’t find the exact windshield, he had found
a piece of Lexan and made one that covered all of the opening except for just a little on each side where the opening
curved. He had screwed the clear plastic down and duct taped the ends where needed. He warned everyone that no
Windex was to be used on it, and even the windshield wipers would scratch the plastic windscreen. Everyone seemed
pleased to have another truck in Manny’s fleet of grocery getters.

When the meeting was adjourned, everyone stayed around and chatted and then got their water. Mark noticed
that while Jon and his family were absent from the meeting, his wife did come by to get some water.

The security meeting took quite a while. Gunny explained that the next things he thought needed to be done
were to frame in the foxholes with wood and to put sandbags around them. He had some old canvas sandbags but they
would need to make or find a lot more. Susan suggested that perhaps they could use some pillowcases and fill them
with sand and everyone agreed that was a good idea. Gunny said that there was no need to buy sand, they could use
the dirt that they had dug to fill the bags. He also felt that they needed to try to finish the fence as quickly as possible.
Then he explained how he felt they needed more guards on duty. Ted asked him how many they needed and he said
that it depended on what they came up with for watching the sides and back of the property. He said that he felt they
really needed three at the front starting tomorrow. In fact, he wanted to put three guys out of the class he taught today
up front as soon as Jim finished with them. Then he would train the other twenty for gate duty on Thursday and Friday.
He shared the thoughts with the group that he had already told to Mark about the refugees and the danger they posed.
The biggest obstacle they needed to overcome was how to call for more guards if the situation demanded it. Not only
how, but who, and how they would know where to go. They knew that they had 6 or 7 working CB radios. But that was
nowhere near enough to put one in every house. They discussed several options, but none of them seemed like they
would work as quickly as may be necessary. They agreed to think about it some more. When they discussed how to
watch the sides and back of the subdivision, Mark came up with the idea of building towers for the guards similar to
the elevated deer blinds that he used on his lease. He said that a person could make out a deer a good 500 yards away
from one if it had a clear line of sight. Gunny and the others thought this suggestion had merit. Gunny pulled out the
map and put X’s where they could put the watch stands. One on each back corner would cover the back and 500 yards
of the sides. One more on each side fence line about 450 yards back from the county road would cover the rest of the
sides. With two people in each tower and three on the gate, eleven people could cover the entire perimeter. Everyone
started trying to figure out how many men they would need to cover 11 spots, 24 hours a day. Gunny interrupted them
and said that they still needed more people to really secure the neighborhood. Ted asked why they would need more.
Gunny explained that he felt it would be best to have two roving guard teams of two or three men that moved around
the subdivision randomly at night. That would make anyone trying to sneak in after dark have to worry about being
stumbled over by the rovers. The rovers could also fill in for the perimeter guards if they needed a bathroom break. He
also felt that they needed a way to watch the road in both directions. A truckload or two of MZB’s, he said, could be on
the guards at the gate before they knew what was happening or had time to call for backup. He suggested that they put
an observation post on the hill across the street from the subdivision. He had walked up it the other day and looked
around and it gave a good view both ways of at least a mile. The committee agreed to go over in the morning and check
it out.

“So how many do we need on duty at one time, Gunny?” Ted asked.

“Tha ‘leven perimeter guards, one or two in the OP, and two teams o’ three rovers...that’s up ta nineteen men.”
Gunny answered. “Course it'll be less in the daytime.”

“How are we going to do that?” Mark asked. “Even if we went with eight hour shifts and no days off, that’s over
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50 men. And if we go with the 4 hour shifts that Gunny likes, it's more like 100. We don’t have that many men.”

Susan cleared her throat. “Excuse me Mister Macho, but why do all of the guards have to be men?”

Mark turned red with embarrassment. He had fallen into the age-old trap of chauvinism. Gunny just grinned
at him like he was glad it was Mark and not him that got caught. “Sorry, Susan. I guess they don’t have to be, do they?”

“Fuckin’ A” She answered. Mark knew she had used the ‘F’ word to make a point. A point that was all too clear
to the men in the meeting, especially Mark. He hoped she didn’t notice him squirming uncomfortably in his chair.
Chaparo came to his rescue.

“So, Mark, how do you make those towers?” The big man asked.

Mark was doubly thankful for Chaparo right now. He knew that Chaparo already knew how to do it, but he
drew the welder a picture anyway. Then they talked about where the building of the towers should fit in priority wise.
They all agreed that the fence was first and then the hitch for the Jeep. These could come after that, if nothing hap-
pened. If it did, they may need to change the order of his work. Chaparo said that he could use some help. Even if no
one knew how to weld, just a go-fer could increase his production. Mark promised to ask for volunteers tomorrow
at the meeting. They agreed to meet at the gate to check out the hill at 8 oclock in the morning and the meeting was
adjourned.

Mark and Gunny walked back into the house to have a little meeting with their family about food. After talk-
ing it over some they agreed to try to get up to a year’s worth of staples like flour, sugar, and salt. Then they would try
to stock up on things they couldn’t grow like rice, and some canned fruits. If they could get to the store enough, then
they would worry about providing variety for their diet. Mark asked if there was anything else that they might need to
buy before their paper money became useless. George suggested that they buy a grain mill to grind corn. He said they
might even try to grow some wheat and they could make flour if they had a mill. Gunny was concerned with having
enough weapons for all of the guards. Most were using their deer rifles, and while better than nothing, they were too
slow to fire and reload. Mark said that he could check with Jerry and see if he had anything that they could buy. Jess
said that she would like to see if they could buy some clothes. Lisa wanted paper and pencils for the girls’ schoolwork.
Jim said that they could use some AA and D size batteries. Sam wanted to make sure they had plenty of her favorite
shampoo and David was worried if they had enough toiler paper. Everyone agreed that toilet paper was a necessity
and the women put it on their grocery lists for the next day. Since Jim was teaching the guards tomorrow, Mark was
going to take the crew in for groceries. At this point, the family meeting kind of dissolved into multiple conversations
going on at the same time. Mark told George that he would make up any shortfall in the money the garden commit-
tee needed to get the seeds that everyone needed. Jim chimed in that he would split the difference with Mark. A few
minutes later Mark told the other men that they needed someone to help Chaparo with his work. Jim asked if they were
looking for any particular skills and Mark told him that Chaparo would take anyone with welding skills, but he could
just use a go-fer. David, overhearing this, told his father that he would like to work with Chaparo. Mark told his son
that he would talk to Chaparo in the morning about it. But, he warned him that even if Chaparo said yes, this was not
to get in the way of his schoolwork. And that he better take his duties seriously. David promised that he would.

Mark went to bed that night, in the house no less, feeling pretty good about the plans they had made.

Chapter 28 - Insurance

The next morning at exactly 8 oclock, the security committee was at the gate. They walked across and down the
road a few yards and then stepped over the old fence. The hill was only 20 or 25 feet tall and it had been cut through
about halfway up one side to allow for the road. They walked up to the top and looked both directions. You could see
quite a way in both directions. It would be easy to spot a car from at least a mile up here. The gate was about 75 or 100
yards away and this spot gave a commanding view of the entrance to the subdivision. Susan asked Gunny if he wanted
a foxhole on top for the lookout. He told her that it would be better to move it off of the top and toward the road a little.
He explained that it would be too easy to spot someone on the top, but if the Observation Post was moved down so
that there was something behind the lookouts, it made them much less visible. He explained to her that they wanted to
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camouflage the OP as much as possible. The committee members all saw the wisdom in this and Mark saw how having
a guard or two in this position could not only give them some advanced warning of danger, but also give them a tacti-
cal asset in case of an attack on the gate. Ted, just playing devil’s advocate, raised the concern that this property didn’t
belong to them. The members considered that for a moment, but no one had lived here for at least twenty years. There
was an old farmhouse on the large track of land, but it was in disrepair and the owners had been leasing out the prop-
erty for cattle grazing since before the subdivision was built. If the owners or leaseholder showed up, they could work
out a deal with them then, Susan suggested. Until that happened, no one really saw a reason not to build the OP. All of
the volunteers had been assigned to George for the day, but Susan said that they could get started in the morning. She
asked Gunny to supervise the digging of this hole himself and he agreed.

On the way back, Mark talked to Chaparo about David, and he agreed to give him a try. Chaparo told Mark
to send his son on down as soon as he was ready. Mark mentioned that he and Gunny were going to the grocery store
today and Susan asked if she could go with them. Mark told her to be at the house by 9:30. When he got home, he told
David to go on over to Chaparo’s and see what he could do to help the big man. Mark and Gunny walked down to
see how Jim was coming with the guards. Jim was going over the basic mechanics of shooting with them. Each guard
had brought his own weapon to practice with, and they were all lined up on a folding table while they listened to Jim’s
lecture. Mark noticed that there were 3 Mini-14s, an SKS, and a Remington 742 in .30-06. Those were all of the semi
autos. There were 7 lever actions, mostly .30-30s, and 8 bolt actions. Mark could see what Gunny was concerned about.
This was probably a good sampling of the weapons in the neighborhood. While the hunting rifles were powerful and
accurate, they could not sustain any rate of fire. Once Gunny was satisfied that the class was going like he wanted, the
two men walked back to MarK’s to go to the store. Mark, Gunny, Abby, Alice, Lisa, and Susan loaded into Mark’s truck
and headed off to the store.

The line at the store was very long. They got there at a little after 10 and by the time they all got out of the store
it was almost 3:30 in the afternoon. It was funny, Mark thought, to see people standing in line with sack lunches. By
two oclock, when his stomach was growling, he thought it pretty smart. At least they had brought some folding chairs
to sit in while they waited. People in the line were talking mostly about how the water had not come back on until 8:30
instead of 7:00 like the radio had promised. That raised a red flag for Mark. When they had their groceries, they loaded
them in the bed of the truck and headed over to Jerry Drew’s house. When they arrived, Jerry asked Mark how he was
doing after his shootout. Mark answered that he had been so busy that he hadn’t had time to think about it. Then he
introduced the women to Jerry. The gun dealer already knew Gunny. Mark explained that they were looking for some
defensive rifles for the neighborhood that could be bought on a budget, just for insurance. Jerry said that was a good
analogy, because you buy insurance and hope you never have to use it. He asked how many they needed. Mark looked
at Gunny. Gunny said that they could use 20 or more, but if they could get at least 10, that would suffice. Jerry said
that he had some that they could buy, but he quietly told Mark that he couldn’t give him that many rifles on credit.
Mark told the gun dealer that he wasn't planning on taking anything that they couldn’t pay for. Jerry had them drive
him across the street to his father’s house. He went into the house and he and his father came back out and led their
visitors to the back yard. The older Drew had a large metal storage building and he unlocked the huge padlock on the
door. Jerry slid the door back and they went in. Along one wall was a shipping container like the ones that are hauled
on trains and flatbed trucks. It was over 20 feet long and the doors on it were closed and locked with the same kind of
lock as was on the outside door. Mr. Drew unlocked those doors and then stepped back to let Jerry open them. Jerry
took a flashlight and went inside. He brought out two rifles. One was an AK and the other was an SKS. They were both
covered in some kind of smelly grease. He explained about the rifles.

“We bought a bunch of these when they were cheap. The AK type is Romanian and the SKS was made in
China. They both shoot the same cartridge. 7.62x39. The AK takes removable magazines, I have 30s and a few 40s, and
the SKS has a 10 round fixed mag and uses stripper clips. I've seen guys that were good with the SKS reload one faster
than you can change a mag in the AK. Both of these designs are reliable and easy to learn. I don’t like the ergonomics
on the AK, but it's a good weapon. The mags are cheap and so is the ammo.”

Mark looked at Gunny. “What do you think?”
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“I been shot at wit’ both.” The old Marine smiled. “I don't really like shootin’ either one of ‘em, they just feel
clunky to me. But I can tell ya, they’ll get tha job done”

“How much?” Mark asked Jerry.

“The SKSs are $200 each. The AKs are $450 and they come with one 30 round mag. Extras are $10 each.
Ammo is $95 for 1000 rounds. It’s steel cased so you can't reload it. I also have some post-ban ARs, but they are going
to be a lot more.”

Mark would have preferred to buy the AKs. He and Jim had looked at the cash that they had left last night.
Mark had $5600 and Jim had $6300. They had discussed it with the women and felt that they should only spend $5000
on weapons and save the rest for food and other things. If he bought 10 AKs and just 2 extra mags for each one, that
would only leave him enough money for 3000 rounds of ammo. That sounded like a lot, but it would be only 300
rounds per gun. He would have to go with the SKSs. He could buy 15 of them and 1000 rounds for each rifle and still
have some money left. He asked Jerry about the stripper clips.

“They come in packs of 20. Each rifle comes with one pack, after that, they’re 3 dollars a pack” Jerry answered.

“How many SKSs do you have?” Mark asked.

“Lots!” Jerry answered with a grin.

“Give us 15 of them then. Plus 30 extra packs of stripper clips and 20 cases of ammo.” Mark said as an idea
flashed though his mind. “Say, Jerry, how would you trade with us for pre-65 silver coins?”

“Jerry looked at his father. “Dad?”

“90% U.S. silver coins were going for $3.50 to $3.75 a dollar face before the burst” The gentleman explained. “I
don’t know how much it would be worth now, maybe two, three times that or more. I would say $9.00 per dollar face
would be fair to both sides”

“If you want to do it that way, let’s see $3000 for the rifles, $1900 for the ammo, and $90 for the stripper clips
would be $4990. Divided by 9 would be...call it $545”

Mark was always impressed with Jerry’s ability to crunch numbers in his head. Mark was an accountant and he couldn’t
do it as fast as Jerry did, but he came up with the same number. However that wasn’t what he was thinking. “No, I will
pay cash for this stuff, but I want to buy a few AKs with silver”

“How many?”

Mark thought. “Three, plus 15 extra mags.”

“Then that would be...” Jerry paused for a second. “...$165.00 in silver.”

“I'll have to go home and get the money and silver” Mark told the man.

“We have to go to the shop for you to fill out the yellow forms on these. Why don’t we load them up in your
truck, go by the shop, and then I'll go with you to your house to get the money and you can bring me back. That’ll save
you a trip.”

“Alright” Mark replied.

“I would like to buy a rifle too” Susan stated.

Jerry looked at her. “Do you have a Concealed Handgun License?”

“No. But I don’t want to buy a handgun. I want a rifle”

“I'm sorry, I can’t sell you one because I can’t call you into the National Instant Check system. Mark can buy
these because he has a CHL and is exempt from the NIC’s check” Jerry explained to her.

“Can Mark buy it for me?”

“No. That is called a straw purchase and it is illegal”

“Well, what can I do?”

“As far as a gun, nothing. But, I can sell you all the ammo you want.”

“Why would I need ammo if I can’t...” A light turned on in Susan’ eyes. “If I could buy a rifle, what would you
suggest?”

“How much would you want to spend?” The dealer asked.

“No more than I have to, but I want a good one. Something easy to learn on.”

Jerry went back into the container and came out with a hard case. He opened it up and pulled out a brand new
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Bushmaster AR-15. “This is what I think you would be happy with” He went on to explain the benefits of the rifle.

Susan looked over at Gunny and Mark. They each gave her a nod. “How much?” She asked.

“If Mark wanted it, I would sell it to him for $800. Extra 30 round magazines would be $20 and ammo is $150
per case of 1000 rounds.”

“Can I buy the magazines?”

“Yes”

“Well then. I want 5 magazines and 2000 rounds of ammo for an AR. I also want to buy 8 cases of the ammo
for the SKSs.” She looked at Mark.

“Susan, do you have the cash for that?” He whispered.

“Did you forget where I work? When the lights went out I withdrew every penny I had in the bank. I have
plenty of cash.” She smiled.

“You know, Jerry, I think I would like to have another AR. Could I buy that one and just buy 12 cases of
ammo.”

“I don’t see why not.”

They loaded all of the rifles and ammo into the Ford and headed to the gun shop. Gunny watched the truck
while Mark filled out the paperwork, and Jerry went in the back of the shop. He brought out a few old used M-16
magazines that he gave to Susan. He then went back again and brought out a rifle to show to Mark. It was a Century
L1A1. Basically a cheap FAL assembled from surplus parts. Some people called these ‘Franken-FALSs. Mark looked it
over.

“I know it isn’t the quality of the one you lost, but the old boy I got it from said that it shot OK. You still have
all your mags, right?” Jerry received a nod from Mark. “They’ll all work in this one plus it comes with three. If you
want it, I sell it to you for $40 worth of silver”

“I'll take it. Thanks.”

Finished at the shop they went home and paid Jerry. Mark asked Jerry if he would mind sticking around while
they had their meeting. He explained to Jerry that he wanted to talk to him, but he had to be here for a while. Jerry
agreed to wait.

The news had been on when they got home but Mark had missed it. Jess had listened and Mark asked her if
they had said anything about the water not coming back on at 7:00 AM. ‘Not a word’ was her answer. She told Mark
that the radio had reported more cities under martial law. One of them was the Dallas/Ft. Worth metroplex. That got
MarK’s attention. The local news was mostly about the people that had been arrested today for either wasting or hoard-
ing water. She stated that the Water Board was turning off the water from 6 tonight until 8 in the morning. People were
arriving for the meeting and Mark got them started.

He told everyone about the water not coming back on in town until late today and the extended hours of
‘pump maintenance’ tonight. He suggested that if anyone really needed any groceries, they get them in the next day
or two. Manny said that he would be going to the closest Kroger tomorrow, and with the vehicles he had available he
should be able to take anyone that wanted to go. Mark introduced Jerry to everyone and reported that they had bought
15 rifles for the guards that didn’t have any to use. Chaparo reported that the posts for the fence and to block off the
entrance opposite the gate were all set and the men had started running the barbed wire. They expected to finish to-
morrow. He then briefly outlined the security arrangements that had been discussed by the committee. The neighbor-
hood voted on them and they passed. George reported that the repaired tiller had broken again and they only finished
4 of the gardens today. He told the group that in talking with Chaparo, they had decided not to spend anytime fixing it
again and to devote that time to getting the hitch on MarKk’s Jeep instead. The good news was that they did finish plant-
ing the corn in the plowed field and the committee had been able to get almost all of the seed that had been ordered
thanks to some generous donations. One of the guards reported that there had been three groups of people either walk-
ing or riding bicycles past the gate today. All had been loaded down, but only one couple had stopped to ask for food.
They had been given a little and sent on their way. Gunny announced that he would have a short meeting with all of the
guards after this one was done. No one had anything else to announce, so the meeting was adjourned.
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Mark told his family that he had to take Jerry home, but that he wanted to have a meeting with everyone when
he got back. Mark and Jerry talked about what had been happening in town. Their stories were similar but each had a
few things that the other had not heard about. Mark asked Jerry if they were having any problems in their neighbor-
hood. He said that they really hadn’t seen anyone. Even though they lived closer to town than Mark, the road they were
on didn’t go anywhere. Mark asked Jerry what he thought of the setup that they had at Silver Hills. Jerry said that it
looked like they could handle just about any situation especially with their new insurance policy. Mark then asked what
his plans were if things got dicey. Jerry said they were going to all move in to his father’s house. Mark told his friend
that they were all welcome to come out and stay with him if they would like. He told Jerry that he didn't think three
families would be able to stand up to a big group of outlaws even with the firepower they had. Jerry laughed.

“When I said we all were going to move to my dad’s, I didn’t mean just me and Dale. All of my aunts, uncles,
and cousins are coming over too. That would make 29 adults and 14 kids”

“Will all of you fit in your dad’s house?”

“Better than we will in yours. Plus a couple of my uncles have travel trailers that we could pull over with the
Jeep. We also have some tents and stuff. We'll be fine. It'll be like a big family reunion.”

Mark nodded his head as he thought about his family in Waco. “Well, if you need to, the offer stands, for all 43
of you”

“That’s very kind, Mark. Thank you.”

“You're welcome, and thank you for helping us out. I know that you could have made a lot more on those rifles
if you wanted to. You have really been a good friend to us.”

“As you have to us”

Once Jerry was dropped off, Mark’s trip home went quickly. Mark passed a few people walking away from
town on the county road. He wondered how safe that was. Once the MZBs figured out that people were leaving town, it
would be real easy to set up an ambush point and rob them.

When Mark got home, Ted was outside waiting for him. The professor asked if Mark could buy him a rifle
like he did for Susan. He said that he knew he could use one of the SKSs when he was on guard duty, but he felt that
he wanted a rifle of his own. Mark told him that just an SKS and 1000 rounds of ammo would be almost $300 dollars.
Mark knew that Ted didn’t have any cash because he had to loan him the money for the parts to get the Trans Am run-
ning.

“I know that Susan paid $1200 for her rifle and ammo. How much would one of those AK rifles cost?”

“For a rifle and 5 extra magazines it would be $500 and the ammo is $95 for 1000 rounds.”

“So for an AK and 2000 bullets, it would be $690?” The professor asked.

“Yes”

“And the parts you bought to fix my car, they were around $100, right?”

“That’s right” Mark answered wondering where this was going. He didn’t have to wait long for an answer. Ted
reached into his pocket and started peeling 20 dollar bills off of a big wad of money. When he had counted to $800, he
handed the bills to Mark.

“That’s for the car parts and an AK, 5 extra mags, and 2000 bullets.”

Mark was dumbfounded. The words that came out of his mouth were more instinct than a result of conscious
thought. “They’re not bullets. We call them cartridges or rounds of ammunition. The bullets are the projectiles that are
part of the cartridge and that are propelled from the rifle”

“OK, then, I want 2000 cartridges with my rifle”

“Ted, I thought you didn’t have any money?”

“I didn’t, but Susan and I came to an arrangement. I sold her half of my car”

“I see” Mark said, even though he didn’t. “OK, either Jim or I will get it for you tomorrow.”

“Thanks. And we can get on those shooting lessons ASAP?”

“That’s Jim's department, but I'm sure he’ll be able to accommodate you.”

“Good. Well then, I'll see you tomorrow.” Ted left with a spring in his step.

When Mark went into the house, Susan was there and Jim was showing her how to operate the AR. She must
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have sensed that she was interrupting something now that Mark was back because she made Jim promise to help her
sight it in tomorrow and left.

Mark told his family that he wanted them to try and get everything they had to have tomorrow. He said that
he hoped they still had a few days, but he felt that the water situation in town was getting worse and that they couldn’t
afford to gamble on having more than another day. He asked Sam to give them all an update on their inventory of
food. Sam reported that they still had eleven weeks worth of everything they needed. Beyond that, they had enough
staples to last another 14 weeks now. If five people went to the store tomorrow, that should get the staples up to about
9 months worth. Mark thanked Sam for doing such a fine job on the inventory. Then he asked Gunny if there was any
way he could go to the store tomorrow. Gunny said that he had given the guards the day off tomorrow after what Mark
had said at the meeting. He had also assigned guards to the gate that had gone through the gate training already. He
also made sure that the ones he assigned had wives that could go to the grocery store tomorrow. He told the group that
he made a list of the rifles that the guards were using and a list of the ammunition that each man had. Many of the men
had only twenty or thirty rounds for their rifles.

“Some of ‘em had a little cash and asked if’n we could pick ‘em up some ammo. I tol’ ‘em we would. However,
lots of them boys are tapped out and if 'n we could hep ‘em out a little, itd let ‘em use their rifles more and we can use
the ones you boys bought tonight fer ones that don’t have any.” Gunny said.

“What do we need Gunny?” Mark asked.

“Here’s a list of tha boys that had some money and what they wants. And here’s the list of boys that don’t have
no money and what caliber they’s shooting. The nummer next to the caliber is how many rounds they got now. Itd be
nice if we could get upta 1000 fer the boys with the semi-autos and 300 fer the others. I know that’s a lot of ammo, but
whatever we can do would be good. I got $50 face in silver I can pitch in”

Mark looked at the lists for a minute. The list of the ones with no money was over twice as long as the list of
those who did. He handed them back to Gunny. “Well, you’ll probably be going to the Drew’s tomorrow after the store,
so I'll leave it up to you. I can pitch in a little silver too. I also got some money from Ted and he wants us to pick him up
an AK, 5 extra mags, and 2000 rounds of ammo.” Mark went on to tell the family about Ted selling half interest in his
car to Susan.

It was agreed that Gunny, Abby, Jess, Alice, and Jim would go to one of the Kroger stores in the morning. Lisa
and Mark would try to get the other items that they had discussed the night before.

With that settled, Mark asked Jess and Sam how the clothes washing had gone. They were able to get several
loads done before David and Chaparo had come for the generator. They ended up washing three loads by hand. Sam
asked her father if she remembered what she had said to him when they bought the wash tubs. He didn’t and asked her
to remind him.

“I said it was going to ‘Bite. And boy was I right!” She said.

Jess told them that they had washed things that were not too soiled in the tubs. It wasn’t that bad she said, but
if they had to wash some really dirty clothes that way, it was going to ‘bite’ They all laughed. George asked David how
it was going with his helping Chaparo. David told the group that they had finished with the pipes for the fence before
lunch and then they had started on the tractor hitch for the Jeep. He relayed that Chaparo thought they might be done
with it by tomorrow night, if all went well. He said that he learned a lot and that he really enjoyed the work.

The formal part of the family meeting over, everyone chatted for a while before they headed home or to bed.
On their way out to the camper, Mark asked Jess how much she thought they could donate toward ammo for the
guards. She felt that they had already gone above and beyond generosity by buying the SKS rifles and ammo. Mark
agreed, but felt they had to help at least a little. In the end, she agreed to them matching what Gunny was doing.

This night when he went to bed, he didn’t feel quite as good about the preparations as he did the night before.
He didn’'t know why. They were further along than they had been, but something was bothering him. Perhaps it was the
fact that he didn’t think they would be able to go into town for much longer. Whatever it was, it didn’t keep him awake
for long.

When the alarm went off, Mark decided to sleep a little longer instead of running. He turned the windup alarm
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clock off and went back to sleep. The next thing he knew, David was waking him up to come eat breakfast and the
clock said 7:45. Everyone ate and then headed off to do their job for the day. Sam was watching the twins today, and
Mark could tell that she wasn’t thrilled about it. However, there was no one else to do it. He would have to find a way to
make it up to her, he thought. Mark and Lisa took the Jeep. Chaparo had taken all the measurements he needed and he
wouldn’t be ready to start welding on it until late this afternoon at the earliest.

Mark and Lisa had no trouble buying the school supplies and most of the clothing on their list. They bought
socks, underwear, jeans, and other sturdy clothing for everyone. They had to look quite a few places to find a grain
mill, though. They finally found it at specialty store that mostly catered to what Mark would call ‘health food nuts’ It
was expensive, almost $400 cash. But the clerk had said that it was one of the best made. It was called “The Country
Living Grain Mill’ and it was built like a tank. The search for batteries was not as successful. They did manage to find
a few packs, but nowhere near as many they wanted. Mark did find three bottles of the shampoo that Sam liked, and
he bought them for her. Mark and Lisa got home around two and after they had unloaded the Jeep, Mark drove it over
to Chaparo’s. He told Chaparo and his young apprentice about the people he had seen walking and biking out of town
today. It wasn't a mass exodus, but there were definitely more people leaving than they had seen before. Most were on
the interstate and the highways. Some had tried to thumb a ride, but he hadn’t stopped. They chatted for a while and
Chaparo showed him the hitch. It was operated with a high lift jack in stead of a hydraulic pump like the tractor had.
When Mark saw Jim’s Chevy drive by he excused himself and went to the house.

Gunny and Jim were unloading the ammo, and they filled Mark in on the events of the day. The water in town
had come back on later than it did the day before, even though it had been turned off earlier. Jim said the people in
town were getting really spooky about not only the water, but the lawlessness that was getting worse. The big story at
the Kroger was how the police had tried to arrest one of the big gangs that were terrorizing a high dollar neighborhood.
The police had brought the SWAT team in case they had some trouble, but they had not expected that the gang would
have over 50 members with guns. The firefight was terrible, but the police, with their training and better weapons were
winning. That is until they ran out of ammunition. Then the gang members who were still alive cut them to pieces.
That story made them really think about how much ammo they should buy, Gunny said. Even Jess had told the men to
spend whatever they thought was prudent, Jim told his friend. They explained that they had not been able to get much
ammo for the hunting rifles chambered in non-military calibers. .30-30 had what they needed most and they were only
able to get 360 rounds. That was all that the Drews had. They had gotten two boxes for each rifle in a common caliber,
but that was all they could afford of the commercial ammo. Mil-surp, was a different matter though. Jerry had lots
of .223, 7.62x39, .308, and .30-06 that he had bought whenever he could get it cheap. He had made the community a
good deal on it and Jim and Gunny had taken advantage of it. Jim and Mark were carrying the ammo into the shed and
Gunny was separating it out into stacks. When they had carried the last of the heavy cases into the shed and the old
marine had told them where to stack them, Jim went back to his truck for a minute. He carried in three AKs and set
them on the counter.

“This one is for Ted” Jim explained. “And I bought two more.” He handed a big paper bag to Mark.

“What’s this?” He asked as he opened it. Inside the bag were 15 AK mags. Ten of them were 30 rounders and
five were 40 rounders.

“Just a little thank you present from Lisa and me.” Jim smiled.

“You didn’t have to do that”

“I know, but that is just a small token of our appreciation for taking us and Lisa’s parents in. In fact we have
something else that we want you to have.” Jim looked at Gunny and he pointed at a big stack of ammo. Jim walked over
and put his hand on it. “This is for you.”

Mark looked at the ammo. There were two cases of .223, a case of .308, and two cases of 7.62x39. “I can’t accept
this”

“Too bad. It’s yours. Jerry made me a good deal on it since it was for you.”

“Thanks buddy” Mark noticed that Jim and Gunny had gotten a few cases of ammo for themselves as well. He
also noticed that Jim had a Glock pistol like the ones Jerry had sold him for the kids. Jim saw him looking at it.

“It’s for George. He lost his guns in the fire and Lisa asked me to get him a couple. George was too proud to
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ask. Lisa’s mom told her that he felt bad he didn’t have any guns and Lisa told me. One of the AKs is for him too.”

“That was nice of you.”

“Yeah, I guess. Neither of you can tell him how I found out, though. Else I'll have Lisa and her Mom mad at
me. I just did it on my own, understand.”

Gunny just grinned as he mimed putting a lock on his mouth. Mark said that his lips were sealed as well.

“Now, let’s just hope we never need any of this stuft” Jim exclaimed.

“You got that right” Mark agreed.

The men went inside and were given the clothing that had been bought for them. Everyone looked at the grain
mill. The women were all anxious to try it. Mark wondered how long that would last. No one was really surprised about
the shortage of batteries. Mark gave the shampoo to Sam and she almost had tears in her eyes as she hugged her father.
Soon it was time to eat dinner and listen to the news. The national news was mostly about the progress, or lack there
of, toward getting the power back on. It seemed that they were working to get one of the largest transformer manufac-
turers up and running, and that the first transformers they produced would go toward getting other plants working as
well. When it came time to announce the newest cities under federal control, the list was longer than it previously had
been and it contained the city of Houston. That made the two biggest metropolitan areas in Texas now under martial
law. Mark knew that San Antonio was the third largest. The biggest local item on the radio was about the water. The
newsman reported that the big pump that the Water Board had been trying to fix at night for several days was still not
working like it should. They had announced that they were taking it out of service to get it fixed properly. It was going
to be offline for about three days. That meant that for those three days water would be supplied to the city for only four
hours a day. Everyone would have pressure from 8 AM to 12 Noon. Each household was allowed to store one gallon of
water for each person, plus five gallons to flush the toilet with. The Water Board assured everyone that this was tem-
porary, and as soon as the big pump was repaired there would be water pressure 24 hours a day. The only other item of
any interest to everyone around the table was the weatherman predicting a record breaking heat wave for the weekend.
Everyone moaned in unison.

Jess asked what everyone thought the real deal was on the water. Gunny answered that the Water Board was
just looking for some way to keep the water flowing in a reduced capacity without coming right out and say that they
can’'t meet demand. That, he estimated, would start rioting like they had in Cincinnati. The other adults concurred.

The meeting was fairly short. George reported that they finished 5 gardens today. They would be starting on
number 18 tomorrow. Chaparo told everyone he had hoped to be finished with the Jeep tonight, but that it was prob-
ably going to be closer to lunchtime tomorrow. Ted reported that the barbd wire was all strung on the west side of the
gate and the east side was almost halfway finished. They should, he said, have no trouble finishing in the morning.
Gunny asked the guards on duty how many groups had come by today. They said that there were only two. One large
group of 12 to 15 people on bicycles went by and just waved. A couple on foot had come by and the man got a little
testy with the guards. He was insisting that they be allowed to stay. The guard told him that they had to have a sponsor
to move in with and the woman tried to get the man to leave. He started screaming about it being a free country and
demanding that they be admitted. When the guards in the foxhole pulled their rifles up, the man decided to leave, but
he cursed them for a good half mile at the top of his lungs, the guard reported. Gunny wanted to meet with the guards
again for a few minutes tonight. Ted reminded the education group that they were meeting again tonight and then the
meeting adjourned.

Mark and Jim went to the guard meeting and Gunny assigned the shifts for tomorrow. He then took all of the
men to the shed and handed the ammunition that each had bought or been given. They all thanked the sergeant and
headed home. Ted and Susan pulled Jim down to the firing range to sight in and practice with their new weapons. After
they were gone, Mark asked Gunny a question.

“What did you teach the guards to do if someone tried to climb the gate?”

“Shoot ‘em.” The old Marine said without emotion.

“Shoot them?” Mark must have looked even more shocked that he felt.

“Yes. If 'n someone wit’ a weapon is coming at cha, youd shoot ‘em, wouldn’t cha?”
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“But, what if they don’t have a weapon?”

“Don’t matter. If you let them get over the gate and get in scuffle wit’ ‘em, then they might get your weapon.
Then youd be in a real jackpot, Karate Man.”

“I see what you mean, Gunny, but there has to be better solution than shooting an unarmed man?”

“Well, Karate Man, maybe you can train the guards in some of that Kung fu stuff and we might could ‘corpo-
rate it into our gate trainin’. But, I say a guy who will climb over a gate when he’s got a couple of rifles trained on him
has got nuttin’ to lose. An’ you don’t want to get in no fight with a guy that gots nuttin’ to lose”

“Well, maybe we can find a solution somewhere in the middle” Mark suggested.

“Maybe so, Karate Man, maybe so.”

No one was really in the mood to play any games tonight, so everyone hit the sack early. In the morning Mark,
Jim, Alice, and Abby left to go to one of the Krogers. Gunny stayed behind to work on the OP across the road. As Mark
was pulling out of the subdivision, he had a strange feeling that this would be his last trip into town for a long time.

Chapter 29 - TSHTF

When they got to the store, the line was quite short. Mark figured they would be out of the store in a couple of
hours. The people in front of them said that the water was not back on when they left their house. Mark hypothesized
that most people were waiting at home until the water came on so that they could store the water they were allowed
before coming to the grocery. The main subject of conversation in the line at this store was the big shootout between
the SWAT team and the gang. Just before they went into the store, word worked its way up the line that the water had
come on at 10:15. Mark looked back and saw a lot of people walking and riding their bikes to the store. Bicycle theft
had become such a problem that people took their bikes into the store with them. They had the clerk push the basket
for them and they pushed the bike.

When Mark’s crew got out of the store, in a record 2 hours and 25 minutes, Jim suggested that they try to find
some batteries. Look as they may, there were none to be found. Mark wanted to buy some more barrels. They went
to see Breezy and got four more of the blue water barrels. Frustrated by their inability to find small batteries, Mark
thought about what Rodney had told him about golf cart batteries. He decided to see if they could find any. They
wouldn’t help much with flashlights, but they would let him go longer between recharging the campers’ batteries. The
golf courses they went to were all closed. At the last one he tried, he saw someone around the office and called to him.
The man came over and started to tell Mark that the course was closed until the lights came back on. Mark explained
that they didn’t want to play golf. He asked the man if they had any cart batteries that they would be willing to sell. The
man opened the gate and let them in. He told them that all the batteries were discharged and they had no way at the
course to recharge them without any power. He said that he would be willing to sell some extras that he had. When
Mark asked how much the man replied $100 each. Mark thanked the man for his time, but told him that he couldn’t
afford that. As he and Jim turned to get back in the truck the man said $75. Mark half turned and told him that was still
more than he was willing to pay. The man asked Mark to make him an offer. Mark could see that this guy was not going
to take the first offer, so Mark made his first price as ridiculous as the golf man’s had been.

“$15 each”

“$152 They cost $65 new when the power was on. Theyre worth more than that now.”

“Maybe, if they were still new and fully charged.” Mark loved to dicker.

“Well they have to be worth $50 each.”

“That would be a fair price if I could just run down to the ATM and get some cash. But I can’t and no one else
can either. I'll give you $20”

“I couldn’t sell them for that little” The man stated.

“OK, then, sorry to have troubled you.

“Wait...would you give $35

“I don’t know.” Mark rubbed his chin as if he was deep in thought. “No, I think I'll go try the Republic Golf
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Course down the street first and see how much they want.”

“How about $30?” The man was starting to look anxious.

“I'd do $25 each” Mark was matter-of-fact.

“Could you give me $27?”

“I can do that” The bean counter said as he held out his hand. The other man shook it.

They went into the cart garage and the man showed them the batteries. He asked Mark how many he wanted.
Mark told him eight and paid him. The man helped Mark set the batteries by the door as Jim backed his truck up. They
loaded the big six volt batteries and the man let them out of the gate smiling and waving.

“That was a good deal” Jim said as he pulled back onto the road.

“It sure was. I would have paid $50 each if he had started out there. Of course I would have only bought 4
instead of 8” Mark grinned.

This was a section of town that they didn’t frequent often. Mark noticed that the houses were older and that
they were further apart and further from the road than in newer sections of town. As they drove down the street they
heard gunshots. The men instantly went on high alert. Mark grabbed his rifle and Jim slowed the truck down. As they
slowly rounded a bend in the road they could see two men who had been pulling a wagon full of groceries crouched
down behind a stalled car. The men each had a pistol, but most of the firing was coming from a barricade of several
cars that completely blocked the road. There were six or seven guns firing from behind the cars. Mark couldn’t see who
was behind the cars, but it was pretty obvious what was going on. Unless the two with the wagon had a death wish they
clearly had not attacked the prepared position. Jim backed the truck out of the line of fire and stopped.

“What do you want to do?” Mark asked.

“We have to help those guys.” Jim answered.

“Agreed” Mark made sure he had his rifle and the mag carrier that held six 30 round magazines for the CAR-
15. He pulled his Kel-Tec out of his back pocket and handed it to Abby. “Just in case. You two stay here.”

Abby reached into her purse and pulled an S&W Model 60 out. “Give it to Alice”

Mark handed the .32 to Alice. Jim had grabbed some web gear and his M1A. Mark and Jim ducked down
behind the line of cars on the side of the road and ran as best they could in a crouched position until they got to where
the two men were. They had been so intent on the barricade that they hadn’t noticed the two friends closing on their
position. They startled when the friends reached them.

“Where did you come from?” One of the men asked.

“From around the bend.” Jim answered. “Our truck is back around the corner. We'll cover you as you fall back
with your wagon. Then we'll take you home?”

“But that is our home just on the other side of where the cars are parked.” The other man stated.

Mark and Jim looked at each other. The bullets were thumping into the car they were behind, but they would
have to pass through at least two engine blocks to reach the men and none of the shots sounded like the were coming
from high power rifles. Mark looked at the men. One of the men was quite a bit older than the other, and Mark thought
they might be father and son. The older one had a 1911 and the younger one a Beretta. He spoke to the younger one.

“You and I are going to cross the road and get behind the cars over there while the other two give us some
covering fire. Then we'll cover them while they move up a couple of cars. We'll go back and forth a couple of times until
we get around this curve some and have a better angle on them. Then we’ll punch some holes in the cars they’re hiding
behind with our rifles. Ready?”

“OK?” The young man nodded his head.

Mark counted. “One, two, three, GO!”

Jim and the older man popped up and opened fire on the barricade. As Mark ran across the street, he heard the
people behind the cars cursing as they ducked down behind their barricade. When Mark and the younger man were on
the other side and in position, they heard Jim yell.

“Ready...GO!”

Mark and his companion opened up on the ambushers. When they saw that the men across the street had
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reached their next position they dropped back down. Mark could see the young man struggling to change a magazine
in his pistol.

“Just relax” Mark could not believe the words coming out of his mouth. “Take a deep breath, and take your
time. The man did and the magazine was changed and the empty one was put into his pocket. “How are you on
ammo?”

“I have two more clips and an extra box in my pocket.” The young man answered.

“Good are you ready to move?”

The man nodded his head and Mark yelled for Jim and his new partner to cover them. When Mark was mov-
ing he heard someone from behind the cars yell.

“Shit! I'm hit”

“Let’s get the hell outta here!” Another one yelled.

Mark looked and saw seven individuals running down the middle of the street away from them. One of them
had a bad limp and was being helped by another. He looked across the street and saw that Jim had his rifle pointed
in their direction and he was watching their every move. When they were out of sight the four men carefully moved
to behind the barricade. There was some blood and a High Point 9 millimeter carbine that one of them had dropped,
probably the one that was hit. Once the men were sure that the area was clear, they introduced themselves.

“I'm Doctor Jack Mosely” The older man stuck his hand out toward Jim. “This is my son, Robert.”

“I'm Jim Davis” The tall super jock replied as he shook the doctor’s hand. “This is my friend Mark Turner”
They shook hands all around.

“When Mark was shaking the doctor’s hand, he asked a question. “M.D.?”

“No. D.D.S. Thank you both. We didn’t know what to do. We've had a few problems with some undesirables in
the last week or so, but nothing like this. If you two hadn’t shown up, who knows if we would have ever gotten home?
Thank you so much.”

“It’s no problem, Doc. In fact if you hadn’t walked into the ambush first, we would have driven right into it. It’s
really us that need to thank you.” Mark explained.

“I guess we need to try and find the police and make a report.” The dentist said. “And turn this gun in to them.”
He pointed at the inexpensive carbine lying on the asphalt.

“You can do that if you want to, Doc, but you'll have to excuse us if we don’t stick around”

“Why not?”

“I was involved in a little incident like this the other day. Only the other side wasn't as lucky. Anyway, the
sherift took my rifle for ballistic tests and I can’t afford to lose another one. So if you wouldn’t mind, don’t mention our
names.”

“If I call them will they take our pistols?” The doctor seemed appalled at the idea.

“They probably will, and you could be brought up on charges, although I doubt it

“What do you think we should do?”

“If it were me, I'd push these cars back over to the side of the road, pick up the carbine and keep it or bury it or
something, and keep my mouth shut” Mark told the man.

“Well then that is exactly what we are going to do. We can’t afford to lose our pistols. Can you help us push the
cars?”

“Sure” Mark answered.

“I'm going to run back and get the truck” Jim said.

Mark nodded and he and the other two men started pushing one of the cars. Jim drove up in the truck and
helped them push the rest over to where they had been before they had been moved for an ambush point. When they
were done, the dentist asked if they lived around here. Mark told him they lived just outside the county. He didn’t want
to get too specific in case the cops did get involved. The father and son thanked the men again, asking if there was any-
thing they could do for them. Mark and Jim told them no, and warned them to be careful in case the thugs came back.
Then they headed home.

“You know, you were right. If we hadn’t heard those shots, we would have just driven right into that ambush.
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Jim said soberly.

Mark didn't reply right away. “Yesterday, I was thinking that it would be real easy to ambush the people walk-
ing down the road. I never stopped to think that they could do what these jerks did. Ever since last Friday, I have
watched my rearview mirror like a hawk. Now I have to watch in front better too. It’s just getting more and more dan-
gerous. I guess we have got to expect the unexpected.”

“I know one thing”” Alice interjected. “We felt very exposed sitting in the truck with only two little pop guns
to keep us company. When we get home, Jim, you're teaching me and Abby to shoot one of those ugly guns you boys
bought. Excuse my French, but I'll be dipped in shit and called a caramel apple before I come back to town without a
serious rifle”

“That goes double for me!” Abbey chimed in.

Mark put his hands over his ears and turned to face the women. “Please ladies, you’'ll offend my sensitive and
virgin ears with such language”

They all laughed. Mark thought it strange that he could be in a shootout ten minutes ago and making jokes
now. The world had changed completely in less than three weeks. What would the next three weeks bring he wondered,
or the next three months. He wished the lights would come back on. That everything would go back to the way it was.
He had killed men. How could he do that? How could he take another human life? Oh, he had thought about it before.
When he got his CHL he knew he might have to one day. He was sure that he could if he had to. But thinking about it
and doing it were two different things. He was out buying food and dickering over the price of golf cart batteries while
4 men were dead because of him. One of them from a shot he fired. He had actually killed a man with a squeeze of
his finger. A conscious decision he made to take a life. For what? To defend his truck? No. To defend himself and his
friends. But why did he deserve to live and the men who were dead did not? Why? That was the question...why? Why
had the lights gone out? Why had all of this happened? Why did he kill a man? Why could he shoot at people and then
make jokes? Why did he have to wonder why?

Mark tried to think of something else. But he couldn’t make his mind switch gears. It was a runaway train and
he knew where it was heading. He didn’t want to go there, but the harder he fought it, the more powerful it became. He
couldn’t break down in front of Jim and the women. Maybe if it was Jess, but he hated even for her to see him cry. He
was Billy Bob Badass Black Belt damnit! He had to control this...to stop it. But how? He took a deep breath. There, that
slowed it if only for a second. He buried his face in his hands. Hands that had killed a man his mind told him. That was
it. He lost it. The emotional strain had overtaken him. All he could do now was to hope it would let him off before too
long.

His whole body shuddered as he sobbed. Abby reached over the seat and patted him on the shoulder. He could
hear them all telling him that it would be OK. What did they know? Had they ever killed a man? He didn’t want their
sympathy and he didn’'t deserve it. He didn’t deserve to live any more than the man he shot deserved to die. Was the
man he shot a bad man? Maybe. Maybe all they had wanted to do was to scare him. Maybe not. Maybe he was a bad
man. But who was he to decide the fate of another human being? Now he was a bad man...a killer...no...a murderer.
He was the bad man now. He didn’t deserve to live with these fine people. God he had to stop crying. He looked like a
fool. But trying to stop it only made it go faster. The runaway train had its own schedule and Mark was not in control.
He hated it. He hated what he had done. He hated what they had turned him into. He hated them. He hated himself.

He cried for hours, for days, for weeks maybe. But finally, when he no longer had the strength to try to stop the
emotion train, it slowed and let him off. He looked out the window. They were passing the church. Five more minutes
and they would be home. No one spoke.

When they pulled up to the house, Mark just got out of the truck and went into the house. He went to his bed-
room and closed the door behind him. A few minutes later there was a soft knock on the door. He didn’t answer. Jess
stuck her head into the room.

“Mark, can I get you anything?”

Just leave me the hell alone, he thought. But the words didn’t come out. He had no will to say them. He just
looked at her. Who was she? How could she love him? How did he even deserve to be loved?
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She pulled her head out and closed the door behind her. He just sat on the edge of the bed. His mind taunted
him. He had no idea how much time passed. He was completely withdrawn into himself.

He could hear people talking outside, but couldn’t make out what they were saying, even if he had wanted to.
Eventually he vaguely made out Gunny’s voice. “That’s bullshit, George, somebody else can watch the damn gardens for
a day. Someone needs to go with the women and you're the only one can do it. I gotta teach the guards, and Jimbo and
the Karate Man are s’posed to be in the class too. Abby tol’ me that a lot of folks were waitin’ for the water to come back
on ‘fore they came to the store. So, if n you go early, you'll prob'ly be back by midmorning. Now surely it'll be alright
for a couple of hours without you there”

“OK, Gunny, I'll go. But you tell them that we're leaving early. I want to be back when they test out the Jeep.”
Mark barely recognized George’s voice. After that all he could make out were mumbles.

Later there was a loud knock on the door.

“Karate Man. It's Gunny. I'm coming in” The door opened. “You ready to talk?”

Mark shook his head.

Gunny came in and closed the door behind him. “Good, you can listen then.”

Mark just looked at the old man. He didn’t want to listen; he just wanted to be by himself.

“I know how you feel. I been thar an’ I talked to lots o’ guys have been thar too. There’s two things you're goin’
to have to get over. One is the guilt. I can he’p ya some with that. It'll never ‘pletely go away, but it'll get easier to live
with. The other is feelin’ sorry fer yerselt”

Damned old fart. Leave me ALONE! He thought as he stared at the old man.

Gunny continued. “If 'n those guys you shot had been tryin’ to kill Jess, Sam, or David, wouldja have any
doubts ‘bout whether or not you did the right thing then?”

“No”

“Well they was tryin’ to kill your family. In fact, they was tryin’ to kill all of usuns here in Silver Hills.”

“How’s that?”

“If n they killed you, then who's gonna look after your family? If 'n you're no longer around to provide for and
protect them, dudn’t that put their lives in danger?”

“I guess so.”

“I don’t guess so, I know so. An;, like it or not, you're a leader in this community. If'n you get killed, our chances
of making it go down. Maybe not that much, but maybe your bein’ here IS what makes a difference for all of these peo-
ple. You made a difference for that dentist and his son today. You think on that for a while”

“OK, Gunny, I will”

“The feeling sorry for yourself is somethin’ that youre gonna have to work through for yourself. I know what
you been thinking...It’s not fair... Why did I have to be put in that situation?... Who's gonna wanna be ‘round me now?
Well life ain't fair, you were put into the situation ‘cause you could handle it, and your family and your friends love
you. When you decide that you've wallowed in your self pity for long enough, kick yourself in the ass and get it back to
work. We got a lot to do ‘round here, and while you deserve a little time to work through this, we ain’t got much to give

»

ya.

“Thanks, Gunny. I'll be out in a minute.” Mark said.

Gunny left without saying another word. Mark hated it when the old codger was right. He was just mostly feel-
ing sorry for himself now. What time was it? 4:15. Just about enough time to run a mile or two before dinner. Mark put
on his running clothes and went out on the back porch where everyone was sitting.

“Sorry about the show earlier. 'm going to run a couple of miles before dinner.

“Don’t worry about it, buddy”” Jim said.

“It's OK, honey. We're just glad you feel better.” Jess added.

Mark ran down the hill and out of the gate. All of the barbed wire was up. He turned toward the OP that Gun-
ny had been working on. Either they didn't get much done on it, or they had camoflaged it well. If Mark hadn’t known
exactly where to look, he would not have seen anything. He ran down the road a ways and then turned around and
ran home. When he got there he felt better. He asked Gunny about the OP. Gunny said that they needed to frame in
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the inside, but that the outside was 90% done. The family sat and ate and then got ready for the meeting. The news had
brought them no information that was useful or interesting. Perhaps the President would give them some hopeful news
tomorrow. The meeting went smoothly. George told how they were coming with the gardens and Chaparo was ready
to test the Jeep first thing in the morning. It had taken him a little longer than he thought to finish the project. Ted told
that the education committee should have something to present to the group by early next week. Gunny wanted to
have a class tomorrow for the guards that hadn’t had any training. Instead of training them for gate duty right now, this
group would learn to pull OP duty and the roving detail. Then later he would cross-train the groups. He also told eve-
ryone that they were going to put CBs in each guard post and one in the CP or command post. He asked the group for
suggestions on where to place the CP. They needed some place centrally located. Too bad that Jon had gotten so bent
out of shape, Mark thought. His house was almost dead center of the subdivision. Lastly, Gunny asked for any ideas on
how to call reinforcements if needed. When the meeting was dismissed, everyone got their water and headed home.

Mark and most of his group headed for the shooting range with the AKs and the Franken-FAL. The women
and the teenagers were able to shoot the AKs quite well as the stocks were shorter than most American made rifles. The
controls were a little difficult for them to master, but as they shot more, they became more proficient in the operation
of the rifles. Mark sat at the bench to shoot the parts gun Jerry had sold him. He fired one round and found that the
rifle was very close to zeroed. He let the barrel cool and fired a second round. It was within an inch of the first round.
Lucky shot he thought. The sights on this battle rifle were not known for their accuracy. When the barrel had cooled
a second time, he fired again. This shot was touching the first. Darn, he thought, Jerry said the man told him it shot
well, but this is fantastic. He loaded 10 rounds into a magazine and fired them without letting the barrel cool. Now he
could see why the guy had only said it shot pretty good. The first two shot were right in where the three previous had
been. The third and fourth were just a little higher. From the fifth shot on, every shot was higher than the last. By the
time he finished, eight, nine, and ten were three inches high. The rifle walked its groups up as the barrel heated up. He
loaded five more rounds and shot them quickly. Good, once it got three inches high it stopped going higher. The rifle
wasn't the steal he thought it was after the first three shots, but it was still a good deal and he was happy he had bought
it. George shot his new Glock and he liked it. He said that he had never owned a plastic pistol before, but he could now
see why people liked them. They shot well and were easy to operate. Jim reminded him that the pistol was not ‘plastic’.
The frame was made from a special polymer and the rest of the pistol was steel. Mark smiled. Those Glock owners were
always so sensitive to having their firearms called ‘plastic. Mark needed to bring the kids out with their Glocks and let
them shoot. He just didn’t want to do it with so many people. He and Jim would bring them by themselves. When they
were done, it was almost dark. Everyone headed home and sacked out.

It was miserably hot. There was no hint of a breeze and the humidity was stifling. This was the kind of weather
that kept everyone from wanting to live in Texas. Mark tossed and turned all night. He wasn’'t sure how much of it was
from the heat, how much from the guilt that had clobbered him today, and how much from him worrying about the
future. Probably, he decided when it was time to get up, equal parts of all three.

Mark knew he would be leading the PT for the guards this morning, so he didn’t worry about working out.
George had told the women that he wanted to leave by 7:30. At 7:26, he, Jess, Lisa, and Abby headed to the store in Jim’s
truck. It was different to see the women loading up into the truck carrying rifles. However, Mark felt better about them
being in town with them. It was a different world than it had been three weeks ago, and to ignore that fact could be
deadly.

Gunny began the guard training at exactly 8 oclock. He talked to the guys about what was expected of them
and how he wanted them to be in better physical condition. He told them if they had to run from one end of the
subdivision to the other, they needed to be able to do it and fire a weapon with some degree of accuracy when they got
there. He explained that Mark was going to do a light workout with them today and that they would gradually increase
the amount of PT. Mark first stretched them out and then had them do jumping jacks, pushups, sit-ups, and run.
Gunny lectured the guards on how to man the OP first. He went over what to look for, how to call it in, and when, as
a last resort, to use the OP as a firing point. He warned the guards that the OP was a lookout position first. That even
if a firefight started that their primary duty was to report on enemy positions and numbers, and to watch for troops
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that the men in the entrenched positions might not be able to see. Then he did a question and answer session with the
guards. Most of the questions were the ‘what if” variety and Gunny usually had the class come up with the best answer
rather than just giving it to them. Mark was even more impressed with the old vet now that he had seen him teach. No
wonder that men like Breezy sang Gunny’s praises so resoundingly. It was almost lunchtime and Gunny gave the men a
break and asked them to be back by 1:30.

Mark had figured that the shoppers would have been back by 11, but, even thought it was now closer to 12
than 11, they weren't. He and Jim walked over to Chaparo’s to see how it was going with the tractor. Chaparo had used
the Jeep to pull his trailer over to the tree farm this morning in order to get the plow and the disk. He was back and
had mounted the plow on the Jeep’s new hitch, but they had still not tested it. Chaparo said that George had made
him promise that he would wait for the old farmer to try it out. The three of them talked for a while and then the two
friends went home to make some lunch.

Not long after the men sat down to eat a sandwich, Jim’s blue Chevy pulled up to the house. They had no trou-
ble. The reason they were late was they found a little mom and pop fabric store that was open and decided to buy some
cloth and thread. George rolled his eyes when the women started talking about the deals they got in the store. Before
they could go into detail, he excused himself to go try out the plow on the Jeep. Jess said that the lady in the store was
so happy to see someone with cash that she had sold them most of the items they wanted for less than half. Mark asked
them how long it had taken at the store. Abby said that they went quicker than yesterday.

“When we got out, around 10, the line was still pretty short. I asked someone in the back if the water had had come
back on and they told me ‘Not yet” She elaborated.

Jess mentioned that when they left the fabric shop they had seen a couple of big columns of smoke. She said
that she hoped they got the water on in time to put out the fires. Mark and Jim told her that the Fire Department prob-
ably had enough tanker trucks to put out small fires, but they would need pressure to battle any large ones. Mark was
sure that they could radio in and get the water turned on in a section of town if they had to.

Mark had wanted to check on how they were doing with the Jeep, but it was time to head back to class. When
Gunny had been lecturing for about 30 minutes, Manny came screeching up in his Suburban with Mark’s, Gunny’s, and
the MZB trucks in tow. He jumped out of his truck and from the look on his face Mark and everyone else could tell
that something was very wrong.

“What happened?” Gunny asked.

“Everyone in town has gone crazy.” Manny answered. “We were at the store waiting for a group to come out
when a bunch of people came marching down the street destroying everything. They were setting fire to buildings,
turning over cars on the side of the streets, and shooting into the air. When the police officer at Kroger went down and
tried to stop them, the mob beat him senseless. We could see them coming from about three blocks away and they were
getting crazier and crazier and the mob kept growing as they got closer to the store. They set the store on fire while they
hollered about the water still being off. Some of them started running in the store and stealing everything they could
carry. We had people in line and in the store. Fortunately, we got all of our people out before it got really bad. When the
fire started we packed everyone in my sub and Gunny’s truck. The other two had left before the commotion. We were
leaving about the time a busload of cops showed up and a big gun fight started. It was way worse than what happened
to us last week.” Manny paused and looked at Mark. “It looked like the fighting that you see on the news and think
“That’s terrible!’ You don't realize how terrible it is until youre caught in the middle of it. Anyway, we hauled ass out of
there and headed home. We saw people rioting all the way to the edge of town. A couple of people tried to stop us by
standing in the road. I just put my foot on the floor and thank God they all jumped out of the way. A few of them shot
at us too, but it seems like they missed. We met up with the other trucks on their way back to drop off some more peo-
ple and turned them around. When we topped that hill, the one just across the county line that you can see into town
pretty good from, I looked in my rearview mirror and all I could see was black smoke. I know I ain’t going back there
anytime soon.”

Mark walked out from between the houses to where he had a good vantage point toward San Antonio. It
looked like one huge column of smoke was rising from the city. It had finally happened. The shit had hit the fan.
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Chapter 30 - Murphy

Gunny dismissed the class. He told Mark and Jim that the men were too wound up now to learn anything.
They walked back to the house and told the others about what had happened. Lisa said that she could feel the tension
in the air when they were in town. The men asked the women to keep the radio on just in case the news came on early.
They decided to walk down and see how George was doing with his new toy.

They walked to Chaparo’s and he, George, and a group of men and women were in the empty lot behind his
house with the Jeep. Most of the people there were talking about what was happening in town and were not paying
attention to the Jeep. It had the plow mounted on it and Chaparo was driving. Driving wasn’t exactly the right word,
Mark thought. The plow was down in the ground and the Jeep was sitting in one place digging in the dirt with only its
spinning tires.

Mark walked over to see what the problem was. The vehicle didn't have enough traction to pull the plow
through the hard ground. Mark asked Chaparo if he had anything that they could put into the Jeep to add weight to it.
Chaparo and he then went into the welding shop and carried out several bags of concrete. When they had put about
500 pounds worth of the bags in the Jeep, Mark got in the Jeep to try it out. He double checked to see if the transfer
case was in low range and put the transmission into first. When he eased out on the clutch, the jeep moved about two
feet and then started spinning again. He backed up and took another run at it. He moved about another foot or two
and then stopped again. He gave it more fuel and the tires just spun faster. Mark could smell the foul stench of burning
clutch. He backed off the accelerator and turned the wannabe tractor off. One of the garden committee members came
over.

“Only two tires are spinning. One on the front and one on the back. I thought Jeeps were four wheel drives.
Why aren’t all four wheels turning?”

“Four wheel drive means that all four wheels can pull if they have equal traction. But if one wheel on an axle
has less traction than the other one, that one will spin and the other one just sits there.” Mark explained.

“Wouldn't it be better if the wheel with more traction pulled?”

“Sure it would, but that is not the way a differential works. For both tires on an axle to pull you have to have
some kind of limited slip or locking differential. And, I don’t have them on the Jeep”

“We could weld up the spider gears” Chaparo suggested.

“I hate to do that, it makes cornering on dry pavement difficult. But, I guess we’ll have to try” Mark admitted.

They jacked up the plow and pulled the Jeep into the shop. Chaparo got a bucket to drain the differential fluid
into while Mark used a floor jack to lift the Jeep up. They removed the differential cover and Chaparo got out his weld-
ing equipment. They fired up the generator and went to work on the gears. When the back was finished, they repeated
the procedure on the front axle. When they took the Jeep back out to try it, they found that it worked only marginally
better than it had with the open differentials. Mark and Chaparo added more weight to the Jeep by putting one of the
55 gallon water barrels in the back and filling it up with water. The Jeep did not seem to be geared low enough to do
the job. As a last ditch effort, Mark dropped the air pressure in the tires down to about 12 psi. The Jeep started to pull
the plow and they thought they had found the solution until the back wheels spun inside the tires and broke the bead
thereby letting all of the air out.

To say that Mark was upset would be an understatement. He cut loose with a six dollar string of words that
would have made a career sailor blush. He then regained his composure, apologized for his outburst, and asked the
other men there if they had any ideas. None of them did. George said that they could probably use the Jeep to pull
the disc, but that wouldn't really help them unless they found a tractor to plow with. Chaparo said that he would help
George hook up the disc and try it out as soon as he aired the tires back up.

Mark decided to head back up to the house and take a shower before dinner tonight. After he checked to see
if there had been any news and filled everyone in on the lack of success with the Jeep, he went into the camper and
turned on the hot water heater. The ‘whoosh’ of it lighting was a welcome sound. At least something was working, he
thought. He remembered that he had wanted to check the propane level the other night, but had gotten distracted
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before he could. He had filled both of the seven gallon tanks just before the burst and, since they were cooking in the
house, they had only been using gas for the water heater and the refrigerator. He hoped that he still had at least one full
tank. When he opened the compartment that housed the tanks a yellow jacket flew out and stung him on the hand.

“Damnit.” Was the only word he said as he shook the insect off of his hand. He went into the storage shed
and got a can of wasp killer. Then, opening the compartment door slowly, he sprayed the remainder of the small wasp
colony. Now that he could check the tanks, he could see that one of the tanks was completely empty and the automatic
valve had changed to the second tank. Mark estimated that it was two-thirds to three-quarters full. That would only last
another week and a half if they didn’t change their usage habits. He walked over and checked the five-hundred gallon
tank for the house. The gauge read 40%. That was 200 gallons, but how long would that last? He immediately thought
about the gasoline and diesel. He wondered how they stood on those. He remembered that Jim had told him about a
week ago that they had 150 gallons of diesel and 225 of gasoline. He went to the shed. Mark was shocked to find that
there were only about 50 gallons of diesel and less than100 gallons of gas. He had been so concerned about getting
what they didn’t have, that he had given no thought to conserving or replacing what they did have. He knew that they
could siphon gas out of the nonworking cars, but what about diesel? Was there a place that he could get some? And
what about propane? How were they going to replenish that?

He went back to the camper and turned off the water heater. They would be taking showers in the solar heated
ones with everyone else from here on out. He needed to figure out a way to make the shower rationing fair to everyone.
Some way where the people who worked the hardest got rewarded with more opportunities to use them.

Mark went into the house and announced that the hot water heater in the camper was not to be used anymore.
He thought that Sam was going to burst out in tears. She was known to sometimes take three showers in a day, and it
had been a sacrifice for her to cut back to only one everyday since the burst. The announcement that she may only get
one every 3 or 4 days was more than she was ready to accept.

Mark spoke to Jim about the fuel. He was surprised at first, but then reminded Mark that they had been going
into town once or twice each day in every running vehicle. That would slow down now, for obvious reasons. Mark told
Jim he was going to see about getting everyone to siphon the gas out of their stalled cars and put it in the big tank they
had brought from work. Then they could use it to replace the gas they had used going to the store and in the generator.
He said that unless they needed the diesel truck for something that the gas trucks couldn’t do, it was not to be used.
They needed to save the diesel they had until they could find more. Jim agreed.

It was dinner time and time for the President to speak. They sat down to dinner and listened.

My fellow Americans, it is with a heavy heart that I speak to you tonight. I have received word from Europe that the
day before yesterday they were attacked in the same manner that we were. All of Europe, the western third of Russia,
and about half of the Middle East, including Israel, are now without power. We had hoped that we would be able to get
some help from the European Union in producing replacement parts for our power grids. This EMP attack on them
has now put them in the same boat as us. We are, as of yet, still unsure of the origin of this latest burst. But experts feel
that the data we now have from both attacks will help us find the culprits. I ask you to pray for our allies across the
Atlantic, as you pray for our country. We are still proceeding with our own domestic plans to restore the power. It has
proved to be a bigger challenge than we had initially thought, but I know that America is up to that challenge.

Another challenge that faces us is the amount of lawlessness taking place in every major city in the United States. I beg
those of you living in the cities to cooperate with your local authorities. Your government is working to make sure that
food and water is being supplied to everyone that needs it. We now have almost fifty cities under limited martial law
and the local authorities in five more have asked me to institute it in their cities just today. This is tying up a significant
number of military personnel that could be used in relief efforts. Please do not riot or loot. Return to your home and
wait for assistance. If you have emergent medical needs, make your way to the nearest hospital for help. We are all in
this boat together, and together we must work to put it back on course. I will talk to you again on Tuesday. Thank you,
God bless you, and God bless America.
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This is KSTX. Welll be back with the news after this. ..

“What do you think?” Jim asked no one in particular.

“Sounds like someone wants the whole free world in the dark” Jess answered.

“And, it sounds more and more like we are going to be there for a while. Did you notice that he didn’t even hint
at when the power would be back?” Mark followed up.

Everyone nodded their heads.

“We need to get them towers up as soon as possible. With all the riotin’ in town, were gonna see a flood of
refugees just tryin’ to get outta tha city” Gunny observed.

“We can get Chaparo on it tonight, and try to finish them and get them up in the morning” Mark suggested.

“Tomorrow is Sunday. And were going to church?” Jess insisted.

“We need to talk about that” Mark responded. “I don’t kno...”

“The news is coming on.” Jim interrupted.

...fires are burning uncontrolled. The death toll is already estimated in the thousands. The fire department is unable to
do little but try to help evacuate the citizens in the paths of these runaway infernos. The City Water Board has stated
that they are unable to provide water pressure for fire fighting because of the severity of the fires around the pump-

ing station that has the diesel powered pump. The Red Cross is directing evacuees to the airport on the north side and
Kelly USA on the south side. These two facilities have their own water supply and the unused airfields are open enough
to hopetully avoid the risk of fire. If you head to the shelters, please bring blankets or sleeping bags, as the Red Cross
does not have enough bedding for the expected numbers. If you have a tent you are encouraged to bring it as well. The
fire department is recommending that if fire comes within two blocks of your house you should evacuate. With the hot
and dry conditions that we have experienced for the past few weeks, a fire can consume a city block in less than ten
minutes. Even at this station, we are unsure how much longer we will be able to broadcast. Fires are burning five blocks
from here and are coming closer. If you have to leave your house, move away from the fire and make your way toward
the closest shelter. Try to travel in groups with your neighbors. City busses along with local military vehicles are driving
the major streets and transporting evacuees to the shelters.

The rioting and fires seem to be a result of the inability of the Water board to supply pressure today. A spokesperson for
CWaB stated that while they were having some difficulty; the water would have come on later. Now they are unsure of
when pressure can be provided. Fire crews are fighting the fire around the pumping station with the few tanker trucks
they have, but so far have been unable to control the fire.

The mayor has asked the Governor to help bring the rioting under control. The mayor stated that city police were
stretched to their limit before this recent outbreak of violence. No response has come from the Capitol yet, but the
mayor Is expecting an answer later today:

Again, our top story Is the uncontrolled fires and rioting throughout the city. The mayor is plead...

Mark reached over and turned the radio off. Everyone either had tears in their eyes or looked to be on the
verge of it. It was quiet at the table for a long time. Alice finally broke the silence.

“Those poor people” Heads nodded.

After another long silence, Mark spoke. “I don’t think anyone should leave the subdivision until we know what
the situation is going to be like with the people leaving town. If a guy got ‘testy’ the other day, some people are going to
be downright explosive now.”

“But we promised the Preacher wed be back to church this Sunday”” Jess argued.

“I know we did, but that was before the world went to hell in a hand basket. I'm sure the Preacher will under-
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stand”

Jess started to argue, but Mark held up one finger, which meant that he was through talking about it. Mark
could see that she was mad, but she would just have to get over it. People were starting to arrive for the meeting.

Everyone was very excited by the day’s events and the announcement of the burst over Europe. However, for
all that was happening, the meeting started out surprisingly routine. George told where they were on the gardens and
about the bad luck with the Jeep. It would, he reported, pull the disc just fine. But, that was little help right now. The
guards reported on the people that had passed by today. Even though there had been a lot of groups, there had been
no incidents. Gunny asked to see all of the guards once more. Susan announced that the foxholes and OP had been all
framed in. She also said that the gate foxhole and the OP had both been equipped with a CB by Don Wesley. He was
the man that had been the CB enthusiast. Scott Simmons volunteered his garage for a Command Post until something
better could be found. Mark thanked him for the offer and asked him to get with Gunny to set it up.

Mark then told everyone of the fuel situation. He suggested that they siphon the fuel from the stalled cars so
that they would know exactly how much they had to work with. Mark asked if anyone had a problem with putting Jim
in charge of this project, and asking him to monitor the fuel usage from now on. Mark waited for a moment and when
he was about to ask for a motion on the recommendation, a hand went up in the back. Mark pointed at the hand and
said ‘yes’ without seeing whom it belonged to. Jon Olsen stood up to speak.

“You mean you want US to give YOU our gas?” He spat the words out as though they tasted bad.

Mark took a deep breath. “No, Jon, we are asking that people donate to the community stockpile. All of the fuel
is going to be used for the community”

“But some of you have vehicles that you can use whenever and for whatever you want.”

“That’s true. And we have also provided all of the fuel to take everyone to the store for the last three weeks,
the fuel for the generator that we use mostly to pump water for everyone, and the equipment we are using to till the
gardens for everyone. Now we are asking people to help us replenish what has been used”

“Maybe I want to keep my gas myself to make sure that it goes for the good of the community and not for
some joyride.”

“If that is what you would like, then that is fine. No one is required to give their fuel if they don’t want to. Now,
if I could get a motion to that effect, we can vote on it””

The motion was made, seconded, and passed, almost unanimously. Mark adjourned the meeting and the kids
started pumping water for everyone, even Jon, Mark saw.

A man came up to introduce himself to Mark. “Mr. Turner” He held out his hand. “I'm Craig Banks, Susan
Bank’s husband.”

“Mark Turner. Nice to meet you. I thought Susan was divorced?”

“We were. I mean we are, but she asked me to move back in with her”

“That’s nice”

“Yeah. Well, I just wanted to let you know that I would like to help out however I can”

“Thanks. 'm sure we can find something with all of the work we have to do. I'll get back with you, or if you see
something that you can help with, jump right in” Mark said with a smile.

“I'll do that. It was a pleasure to meet you.” The new man said as he walked away.

Mark and the other guards huddled around Gunny for his meeting. He wanted to go ahead and put a person
in the OP and have one roving guard unit of three men working tonight even though they had not completed all of the
training. He asked Jim to get enough SKSs sighted in so that the rovers could carry them if they didn’t have a semi-auto
rifle. He put Scott Simmons in charge of the team that had the 8:00 PM to 2:00 AM shift and Mark in charge of the 2
to 8 in the morning shift. He assigned the OP for 4 hour shifts for the next 24 hours. They would set the temporary CP
up within the hour, Don was getting a CB to set up in there, and the OP was to check in every thirty minutes or if they
saw something suspicious. He told the rovers to concentrate on the front of the subdivision but to vary their move-
ments enough that no one could predict where they might be. He told the guards that were not on duty to have their
weapons ready and if they were called or if they heard any gunshots to report to the CP as quickly as possible. Gunny
announced that Chaparo was trying to get two of the guard towers ready for tomorrow and that they could use some
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help getting them up and securing them in the morning.

Mark decided to go over and help Chaparo with the guard towers for a while. The kids had the generator to
pump water with, so they cut the angle iron with hacksaws. Mark’s hand was a little stiff from the wasp sting and the
sawing made it throb a little. Jon, on the other hand made his head throb a lot. He and Chaparo talked about their dis-
enfranchised neighbor and how best to deal with him. Chaparo thought he needed a swift kick in the seat of his pants.
Mark didn’t disagree, but felt that there had to be a better way to get him back into the fold. Mark’s mind drifted off. He
heard Jim shooting the SKSs. He had never shot one. He wondered if they were as reliable as everyone said. He wished
it wasn’t so hot. This heat may have played a part in the rioting. People were much more irritable when it was hot.

It was what...the seventh of September? They should be getting some kind of a cooling trend soon. Mark’s runaway
thought process was brought to a halt by someone calling his name. It was George.

“Mark, I've been looking for you.” George sounded exasperated.

“Well, you found me”

“Gunny said that we have to plow under some of the corn we planted. He wants nothing growing for a 100 feet
from the fence. Something about the guards having a clear field of view or some crap. I thought that was why you were
building those towers. Hell, that’s almost half of the field that we spent three days plowing and another two planting. I
can’t throw away that much work and then face the men who did it. You have to straighten him out.” George ranted.

“Let’s go find him.” Mark suggested.

When the two men found Gunny it looked like they had to get in line to talk with him. Susan was bending
his ear about another guard class. She stated that some of the women were interested in becoming guards and she
wanted him to start a third class. Gunny was hemming and hawing about he didn't think it was a good idea to have the
women in a position where they may get shot at or have to shoot someone. He had no problem with them manning
the CP or the watch towers, but he didn’t want them on the gate or as part of the rovers. Susan wasn’t buying, and she
let Gunny know in no uncertain terms that she felt his arguments were without merit. Gunny looked over at Mark for
help and while Mark felt for the old Marine and even agreed with him to a degree, he knew a losing battle when he saw
one. Mark just held up his hand slightly waving it from side to side indicating his unwillingness to jump into this fray.
Gunny shot Mark a look that said ‘chicken shit’ and agreed to discuss the matter at the next security committee meet-
ing. This seemed to placate Susan enough that she let the matter drop for now.

George, as soon as he saw an opening in the conversation, jumped right in with his own tirade. Mark probably
would have let the crop matter wait until later. Gunny had just lost a battle and he wouldn't be easily swayed to giving
in twice in a row. Before George could finish his filibuster about why they couldn’t plow under all that work, Gunny
launched a volley back at him about how all the food in the world wouldn’t do them a bit of good if they all got killed
because the guards couldn’t see someone sneaking into the subdivision because of crops planted right against the fence.
Mark could see both men’s points and felt that he would have to help them come to a compromise. He started asking
each of them questions to find what would be acceptable to each of them. At first neither one would give an inch. Mark
thought both of them to be hard-headed old farts, but deep down he was glad that they both took their jobs so serious-
ly. After a while, George agreed to plow under the corn within fifty feet of the fence and Gunny agreed that they could
use that space for crops as long as they were not over knee high. The two old men shook hands and walked off. George
back to the house and Gunny down to Scott’s to check on the CP.

Susan had been watching this whole production in silence. “Is that what it sounded like when Gunny and I
were arguing?”

“More or less” Mark answered.

“Why didn’t you get involved in my argument like you did with George and Gunny?”

“Because George and Gunny were both right about what they were saying, so we had to come to some kind of
compromise. In your argument, you were mostly right and Gunny was mostly wrong.”

“What do you mean... mostly’?” Susan bristled.

“I just mean that women guards do present some problems that we are going to have to deal with.”

“Like what?”
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“Like the fact that some of the men will not want to be on a post with a woman. Some because they don't think
a woman can cover their back as well as a man can.”

“That’s bullshit!” Susan was blunt if nothing else.

“I didn’t say that it wasn't” Mark was starting to see that she had a lot in common with Gunny. “But some will
feel that way. Others will not want to because their wives might not like them spending that much time with another
woman. They may feel that something inappropriate will happen.”

“Guard duty is serious business. None of the people we put there would do something like that” She argued.

“You're probably right. But it only has to happen once and we'll have the biggest can of worms opened that you
can imagine. This community has become somewhat of a family now, and everyone knows everyone else’s business. If
two of the guards were to have an affair, everyone would know about it and it could ruin everything we’ve worked for
so far. Can you guarantee it won't happen?”

Susan thought for a moment. “T don’t think it would, but I couldn’t guarantee it

“Well think about how we can work things so that we can avoid those types of problems and we’ll talk about it
again in a day or two”

“OK?”

“I met your husband.” Mark wanted to change the subject. He had had enough controversy for one day.

“You mean EX-husband” She was emphatic.

“He said you asked him to move back in with you.”

“That lying sack of shit! God I hate his ass.” She was pissed now, Mark could tell by the tone of her voice. “He
showed up here this afternoon with no place to go. He’s the boys’ father. What was I going to do? I offered to let him
stay in the spare bedroom for now. But if he keeps telling lies I'm going to kick his sorry ass out!”

“He seems nice enough. Offered to help out where ever we need it

“Yeah, that’s the way it starts. He's all full of hopes and dreams at first. The next thing you know he’s sitting
in front of the TV all day eating ice cream, drinking beer, and buying crap off of the Home Shopping Channel while
you're at work supporting him. You keep an eye on him Mark. He’s no good”

“OK, Susan, I will” Mark said as they reached the corner.

They each headed home. When Mark got to his house Jim came up to him and told him that one of the SKSs
had broken an extractor.

MarK’s initial response was one word long and cost him a dollar. He told Jim that he would take it to Jerry and
Dale on Monday if he could. He wondered what else could go wrong today and decided to go to bed before it could.
He asked if there was any more hot water in the showers and was told no. This time he just thought it instead of saying
it. He didn’t relish the thought of going to bed without a shower. He went in the camper, took off his dirty clothes and
washed up as best he could in the sink. He got dressed and went in the house to pay his black box. He couldn’t remem-
ber exactly how much he owed, so he took a ten out of his wallet and put it in the box. That Murphy had sure cost him
a lot of money today.

Chapter 31 - The Little Great Compromise

When Mark showed up at the CP for his guard duty, he found that the other members of his crew were already
there. Scott, the leader of the previous shift, was going over the SKS controls with the men who would carry them on
MarK’s shift. Mark looked at the men that had been assigned to him. Paul Jensen, Joe Bagwell, and Ted. Ted had asked
Gunny if he could help out and he had been given this assignment. Ted had his new AK and the other two were carry-
ing SKSs. Mark had brought his Camp .45 with the red dot scope. Gunny had told him that since they were only going
to have one team of rovers, he was going to make it four men instead of three. He also told Mark, since they hadn’t
gone through the training for roving guard duty, what he wanted them to do in case of trouble.

The men started making their rounds. Before the burst, the lights of San Antonio had hidden all but the bright-
est stars. Since then the night sky had been as beautiful as Mark could ever remember. Tonight, though, a bright orange
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glow emanated from town with more intensity than the city lights had ever produced. Mark was thankful that they
were east of the city. The prevailing wind was usually from the southeast as it was tonight. Not only did it keep them
from smelling the burning metropolis, hopefully it would keep the fires from moving in their direction.

Mark occasionally had to remind the men that they had to remain quiet. They walked through their commu-
nity looking for any signs that something was amiss. As Gunny had instructed, Mark kept his group toward the front of
the subdivision most of the time. The quiet gave him time to think.

He thought about everything. What they still needed to buy or trade for, what they needed to do, how they
needed to get organized, and the million other things that three weeks ago he would have said were not even worth a
thought. Now he wished that he had given more thought to what could have happened. His brother had tried to get
him to prepare for Y2K. Mark had ignored him. Mike had spent a lot of money putting up food and other items in
preparation for TEOTWAWKI. That was what he had called it. It stood for the “The end of the world as we know it It
hadn’t happened. Y2K wasn’t even a hiccup. Mark had gotten a good laugh at his brother’s expense. But now the shoe
was on the other foot. It turned out that Mike had been right about TEOTWAWK], just a little early. Mark hoped that
his brother, his sister, and his parents still had the food that they had put back. That would hold them for a while. Mark
remembered that Mike had told him they had enough food to last for six months easy. Even if they had used some of it,
hopefully they would be OK for another month or two. Mark wanted to go check on them, but that would be out of the
question until things settled down a little.

Mark shifted his mind back onto the things that he could do something about. He went over the list of the
things that were a priority. Water was still their number one concern. Sure they could use the generator to pump
enough for everyone to get by. But what if there was no more fuel for it? That wasn’t likely to happen soon, but what if
the generator broke? That was a real possibility. They had been using it pretty hard and if it broke there was no guar-
antee that they could get parts for it. Mark’s mind drifted, as it was so prone to do lately, to what else could go wrong.
They had all been fairly lucky so far. Everyone in the subdivision was working together. Well for the most part, anyway.
No one had been hurt or gotten sick. They didn’t live in town where the people were being burned out of their homes.
They did have water for now, were planting gardens, and had expertise in many of the fields that were now going to
be so important to their survival. But, Mark knew, as Murphy had reminded him so well yesterday, luck runs out. OK,
back on track, Mark thought. Back to his Boy Scout training on survival. Water, food, shelter was what he remembered.
Water was number one. That was obvious. Although they were OK for now, they needed a more reliable source. They
had to find a windmill or some way to pump water that didn’t require the generator. Food was OK for now. They could
sure use a tractor to help with the gardens, but the lack of one wasn't stopping them, only slowing them down. Shelter
was no problem, other than staying cool that is. But Fall was rapidly approaching and it would get cooler sooner or
later. Mark was hoping for sooner. Security had to be their number two priority for right now. All of the planning and
preparing would do them no good if a bunch of MZBs stole what they had. Or worse, he thought for a second. But his
mind didn’t want to spend any time revisiting that possibility.

The rovers were approaching the front of the subdivision by way of the eastern fence line. They turned and
walked toward the gate guards and when they got there, Mark asked how it was going. They told him that it had been
very quiet. Mark hoped that it would stay quiet, but somehow he knew that it wouldn’t. They walked back up to the CP
and checked in there. Mark looked at his watch. It was almost 5 and his shift was half over. Mark and his group of rov-
ers finished their shift without incident.

Mark stopped by Chaparo’s and checked on the towers. The first two were done and Gunny had a crew there
to move them and set them up. Mark watched them put the first one up and then he headed home to get some sleep. It
seemed that he had just gotten to sleep good when Sam came in and woke him up.

“Dad, they need you at the gate”

“What?” He replied groggily.

“They want you at the gate. Someone is there that says they know you.”

“OK?” MarK’s brain was starting to function. He wondered who it could be as he got dressed. He grabbed his
Camp .45 and jogged down toward the gate. Before he was halfway there he could see Rodney’s Charger. He got to the
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gate and told the guards to let Rodney in. They opened the gate and waved the car through. Rodney pulled up to where
Mark was standing and stopped the car. Mark bent down and looked into the car. It was packed full of all kinds of stuft.
Sleeping bags, blankets, and duffel bags filled the back seat that there was barely room for the two young boys that sat
back there. A woman sat next to Rodney in the front seat clutching the old shotgun that Mark had seen on his trip to
Rodney’s house. Only now, the barrel was much shorter. The woman had very pretty features, but her hair was a mess
and she looked like she was in shock.

“What’s going on Rodney?”

“You offered to let us stay here. Does that still stand?” The parts man asked.

Mark thought about how Jon would react to him letting someone else move here. How was Jess going to react
to another family in their house? Maybe he should talk it over with her first. He did make the offer though, and he had
to live up to his word. “Of course it does.” He answered.

“Well, we would like to take you up on it. We watched our house burn to the ground and then we tried to go to
the Kelly shelter. They wouldn't let us in with anything but our clothes. They said that we would have to leave every-
thing else at the gate. The car would stay in the parking lot, and my guns would have to be ‘checked in’ to the armory.
Our tent and our food were to be distributed for the ‘common good’ Most people in line were going for it. Many of
them only had the clothes on their backs anyway. But I wasn't going to give up our stuff. There was no way to make it to
our families on the East Coast, so I thought I would come and see if you were really willing to take us in.”

“Of course we will. Drive up to the last street and turn right. My house is the last one on the right. Pull into the
driveway and I'll be up in just a minute.”

“Thanks Mark. I don’t know what we would have done otherwise.”

“Don’t mention it” Mark said as he patted the door of the immaculate muscle car.

Mark thanked the guards for coming to get him and asked them how their shift was going. They told him that
a lot of people had been coming by and many of them had stopped to see if they could stay here. They had all been sent
sadly on their way except for Rodney and John Greene’s cousin. Mark told them to call for help at the first sign of trou-
ble. They assured him that they would and he jogged back up to his house thinking about how he was going to explain
this to the others.

When he got to the house, Jess, Lisa and Alice were all looking at the black car in the driveway through the liv-
ing room widow. Jess was holding one of the AKs in a non-threatening manner, but in such a way that the occupants of
the car could see it. When Mark walked up to the car, Rodney got out of the car.

“Man, you guys are really serious about your defenses around here” The newcomer said as he nodded toward
the big picture window.

“Yeah, well we've had a few run-ins with some undesirables.” Mark waved to the women to come outside.

“You told me you were putting up a gate, but that was one bad gate. And the guards were polite, but they were
serious about watching me too.”

“We just want to stay safe, and we are serious about it. And, if you want, we could probably use some help with
guard duty”

“Whatever I can do to help. We are just so grateful to have a place to stay.”” Rodney said just as the women were
coming out.

Mark made the introductions all the way around and explained the Roberts’ situation to Jess, Lisa, and her
mother. He expected to get one of those “We'll talk about this later’ looks from Jess, but instead they just swept Donna,
Rodney’s wife, and the two boys, who looked to be around 8 and 10, into the house. The two men followed them in.
The women were seeing what they could do to help. Donna told them about watching the house catch fire and not be-
ing able to do anything about it. Then she told them how Rodney had refused to go into the shelter at the old Air Force
base. They had spent the night in the car on the side of some old country road. The girls were trying to console her as
best they could. Lisa went into the kitchen to cook them an early lunch as they had not eaten today. Alice had her arm
around the new woman and explained that she knew exactly how traumatic it is to see your house burn down. Jess sug-
gested that they move their stuff into the guest room. At that suggestion, Rodney spoke up.
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“We don’t want to intrude. We have a big tent and cots in the trunk of my car. If you could just let us set up the
tent in the yard somewhere, we will be fine”

Jess tried to argue with him, but Rodney would not budge. He insisted that their just letting him stay here was
more than they could expect. Jess kept trying to get him to change his mind. Finally Mark spoke.

“Honey, if they want to stay in the tent for now, then let them. It will probably be cooler than the house, any-
way. When it starts cooling off, if it ever does, then we can talk about it again.”

This solution seemed to satisfy both parties. They all went out onto the back porch to eat. The boys, Tommy
and Timmy, were especially hungry. When they had finished eating, Mark helped Rodney unload the car and put up
his tent. Jess told Mark that she was going to let Donna take a shower as she thought that might help the woman feel
some sense of normalcy. Mark didn't argue.

Mark spent the rest of the day checking on how things were going. The first two guard towers were up and
Don Wesley was installing radios in them. Chaparo with David and some of the other men were working on the other
two towers. George was supervising his crew and they were working on garden number 27. That meant they would be
going to his place next. Jess was excited about getting the first part of their garden put in and already had everything
planned out with Lisa and Alice.

Mark walked down to the gate and found Gunny there with the guards. Mark was a little surprised to see him
‘on duty’. He told Mark that with the number of refugees passing by, he wanted to be here to make sure things went as
smoothly as possible. He said that they were seeing at least one group passing by per hour and some hours as many as
three or four and that quite a few of the groups were carrying firearms out in the open. The funny thing about it, he
said, was that the armed groups tended to be more polite and restrained than the unarmed groups did. Hopefully that
would remain the fact. The two men speculated that if they were seeing this much traffic on this little farm to market
road, it must be much worse on the major highways out of town. Gunny told Mark that he would like to have a security
committee meeting tonight to talk about how to train all of the people that were signing up for guard duty. Gunny’s
other concern was communication for the rovers with the CP and how to call for backup if they needed it. He sug-
gested that if they could find some kind of bell or something to ring in case of trouble, they could use that to signal
everybody. Mark agreed that they would have a meeting tonight. He mentioned that maybe the church had a bell that
the preacher would let them use. Gunny remarked that Mark looked tired and he should get some rest, because he was
pulling roving duty again tonight. Mark sarcastically thanked the old Marine, and headed back to the house to see if he
could take a nap.

It was very hot in the camper but Mark was able to catch about an hour and a half’s worth of fitful sleep. When
he woke up it was almost dinnertime. After he washed up, he headed to the deck. When he got there, he noticed a
brand new picnic table butted up next to the old one.

“Where did this come from?” Mark asked.

“Your son built it” Jess answered.

Mark looked at David. “You did a great job, son” He looked at how the table had been built. “I didn’t hear the
saw running. How did you do it?”

“Mr. Roberts helped me. It’s exactly eight feet long so most of the boards did not have to be cut. The few that
did, we used a hand saw. Then we just screwed it together. I still want to paint it if we can find some paint, but I think it
came out pretty good”

“I'll say. It's wonderful”

David beamed at the complement. Mark turned to Rodney.

“Thank you.”

“David did most of the work” Rodney replied. “I just showed him how to lay it out. You have a fine young man
there”

Mark had a hard time thinking of his son as a young man sometimes. He still seemed a little boy to his Father.
But he was helping Chaparo, who said that David was a good worker, and capable of more than his father wanted to
sometimes believe.
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The news was mostly about the fires in town and how the Fire Department was doing on controlling them.
They had been able to get the City Water Board pumping station safe enough that the CWB had been able to get
the pump back on. This had allowed the FD to completely put the fire out by the pumping station and then work to
save other vital infrastructure. The Police department headquarters and City Hall had been saved. Unfortunately, the
County Courthouse had been lost. Most of the hospitals in the medical center had burned, the newsman reported, and
over 60 percent of the residential and commercial areas of the city were burned or burning. The Fire Department was
using the Interstate Highways as fire breaks and trying to keep the fires from crossing over them. Their spokesperson
hoped that they could stop the fires before too much more of the city was lost. It also was sadly reported that many
people did not leave their homes in time and were trapped in their section of town by surrounding fires. The death
toll was estimated at 20 to 30 thousand. The Fire Department was now asking anyone living inside the Interstate Loop
around town to evacuate to one of the two shelters. Once all the fires are out and we can be sure of your safety, you will
be allowed to return home, the FD spokesperson said.

Gee, Mark thought, how nice of them to ‘allow’ people to go home. He also wondered about how the radio sta-
tion was saved, but the announcer addressed that before he signed off. He explained that since the station was the main
EBS station for this area, they had been placed high on the list of necessary services and been given a high priority by
the Fire Department. There was no mention of the mayor’s request to the governor to bring in National Guard troop.
Perhaps, Mark hypothesized, the governor had not given him an answer yet.

At least there was some good news in the weather. They reported that there was a cool front that should push
through the area tonight or early in the morning and bring some rain and cooler temperatures. That would hopefully
help with the fires in town.

People started arriving for the meeting as soon as the news was over. They seemed to be more talkative about
the happenings in town than they were yesterday. Mark figured that they were over the shock from the horrific news.
He let them visit a little longer than usual before he called the meeting to order. George gave his report first, and then
Ted gave a report on the education committee’s progress. They wanted everyone that was interested in having their
children enrolled in the community school to come by his house in the morning to sign them up. He also asked anyone
who had any textbooks, even old ones, to bring them by. Gunny gave the report about the people that had passed the
gate today since he had been there most of the day. After he told about the number of people that they had turned
away, a woman in the back raised her hand.

“Do we know who the people we turned away were?”

“Whatcha mean?” Gunny asked.

“Like were any of them Doctors or other people that we could use?”

Mark had never heard it so quiet at one of the meetings. Gunny finally answered the question.

“No maam. We only asked ‘em if 'n they knew somebody here. If they didn’t, we sent ‘em on their way. I can see
now that maybe that wasn’t the smartest thang to do”

After another long pause, Scott Simmons spoke. “I make a motion that we form a committee to interview any
people who ask to move in here. Then if the committee feels they would be an asset to the community, they present
their case to the whole group to be voted on”

“I second it!” Someone yelled.

“OK. All in fav..” Mark was interrupted.

“Where are we going to put the people we let move in here?” It was Jon...of course.

“We could ask for volunteers to let them move in with a family that’s not too crowded, or we could put them in
a tent in someone’s yard or one of the empty lots. I'm sure if we found a doctor, we could find a place for him to stay.”
Scott argued with his former friend.

“Well I can see where a doctor might be an exception, but we don’t need anymore people.” Jon was as sweet as
sauerkraut.

“What if some solar energy engineer came by and had a truck load of solar panels?” Susan asked with same
tone that Jon had used.

“Well, I think that if anyone is presented to the group for a vote part of the presentation should be where they
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are going to live. AND...I think this is something that only the homeowners should vote on.”

“Jon, we have talked about this before” Mark was trying to keep his voice from revealing how much he wanted
to put Jon in his place. He hoped he was succeeding. “Everyone here deserves a say in matters that affect us all. I believe
that everyone deserves a vote.”

A few ‘Right on’s and ‘Hell yeah’s could be heard in the crowd.

“I do like your idea about having a place for them to live before the committee presents them to us, and I
would like to amend it to the motion” Mark hoped that would satisty Jon.

“I'm pleased you like at least one of my ideas.” Jon was being sarcastic. “But I still say that the homeowners
should be making the important decisions. We have more guests here now than we do residents. What if they decide to
vote us out of our homes?”

“Do you really think that would happen?” Mark answered with a question.

“Probably not. But it could!” Some of the homeowners, mostly those with no guests, nodded their heads in
agreement with Jon.

“But what's to stop the homeowners from making us do all the work if they are the only ones with votes?”
Scott’s brother-in-law challenged. There were more exclamations from the crowd.

Mark could see that there was a division forming between the homeowners and newcomers. In fact, it was
starting to get ugly, Mark thought. He didn’t know what to say to calm the situation down.

“Mark, I have an idea” Ted interjected much to Mark’s delight.

“Yes, Ted?” The history professor moved to the front.

“In the late 18th century there was a debate much like the one we are having now. The solution they came up
with is called “The Great Compromise. That is how we ended up with a two-house legislature. We could do the same
thing here. Any item that has to be voted on could have to pass both the homeowners’ vote and the whole group’s vote.
That way, the majority couldn’t throw the homeowners out of their houses, and the homeowners can't turn the new-
comers into slaves.”

This seemed to satisfy almost everyone. An old Beatles tune popped into Mark’s head. ‘T get by with a little help
from my friends. Mark thought. It was strange that someone always came up with the right answer. It reminded him of
a Bible verse, “All things work together for good...”

“As far as voting, I guess that will work” Jon conceded. “But I think that only the homeowners should be able
to make and second motions.”

Mark wondered how Jon fit in with that verse. “Jon, I don’t think that is necessary. If someone makes a motion
that the homeowners don't like, they’ll vote it down. Right?”

“I guess so, but I don't like it.” He spat as he folded his arms.

At the moment, Mark was glad that Jon had never reproduced. One of him was way more than enough to
deal with. A motion was made, seconded, and passed by both groups on Ted’s suggestion. Then the same thing hap-
pened with the previous motion. Mark asked for suggestions about who should be on the new committee. Lisa and
Doc Vasquez were nominated since the main skills being looked for were medical. Manny was nominated and Mark
thought it was about time his even temperament and wisdom were recognized. Henry Patterson nominated his wife,
Mary. He said that she had been in the Human Resources office at her company and that she was good at sizing people
up. That made four. Mark knew that committees worked better with an odd number so there could be no tie votes.
When he mentioned this, Ted nominated him. Mark told him that was out of the question, as he was already on the
security committee.

“Excuse my French, but that’s bullshit!” Ted blurted. “You have no problem with me or Lisa being on two com-
mittees, and I suspect no one here has a problem with you being on two either. You haven’t steered us wrong yet, and I,
as I suspect most everyone here, value your opinion. So unless you can come up with a better excuse than that, con-
sider yourself nominated!”

“OK. I give” Mark answered. They voted on the nominations after they were seconded and accepted them by
an overwhelming margin. Gunny was then able to finish his report by asking if anyone knew of a bell they could use to
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call reinforcements to the CP if necessary. He also mentioned that they could use some way to communicate with the
roving guards at night, if anyone had any ideas. Since no one had any other business, Mark adjourned the meeting.

He first called the new committee together and suggested that each one take a 24 hour period to respond to the
gate if any one asked to be admitted. Then if that committee member felt they had skills or anything else that might be
useful to the community, they all be called together to talk to that person or persons. This seemed to be a logical proce-
dure to all of them and they agreed. Mary Patterson agreed to take the first 24 hour watch.

Mark then headed to his security committee meeting. On the way there, Rodney stopped him. He told Mark
that he was impressed with the organization that they had built in the subdivision in such a short time. He also wanted
to know who the troublemaker was and what his problem was. Mark told the parts man that he would have to fill him
in later because he had another meeting to go to.

“That’s what I wanted to talk to you about. The older gentleman asked in anyone had a bell that we could use.
Have you guys thought about using a car horn? You could tie as many together as necessary to get the volume you
want.”

“That’s a wonderful idea, Rodney. Thanks, I'll present it to the committee right now.”

“I thought that you could use these, too.” Rodney handed a plastic Kroger bag to Mark.

Mark looked into the bag and saw four Motorola FRS walkie-talkies. There was also a bunch of Rayovac Re-
newal rechargeable batteries and a charger. Mark didn’t know what to say.

Rodney spoke before he could say thanks. “They were in the shop and they all work. I tested them. I don’t re-
ally have a use for them, and letting you guys use them is the least I can do for letting us stay here. I also want to help
out on guard duty, if you will have me.”

“Thanks, Rodney. Wed be honored to have your help. And thanks so much for the use of your radios.” Mark
smiled as he headed over to Gunny’s.

The members of the security committee all slapped their heads when Mark told them of Rodney’s horn idea.
Then they were speechless when Mark showed them the radios and batteries. Mark also informed Gunny that Rodney
had volunteered to help with security.

Gunny told the committee that he now had 47 more people that had volunteered for guard duty. Eighteen of
them were women. Mark asked if Susan had given any thought to their discussion from last night. She told the men
that while she thought the possibility of any of the women not taking their duties seriously was remote, she felt that
any mixed groups should have at least two members from each sex. That meant that groups smaller than four would
have to be same sex. The men agreed that would probably remove almost any possibility of accusations from spouses
of the guards. Gunny conceded that women be allowed to man any post except for one. He felt that the team on the
gate should be men only. Susan felt he was being chauvinistic and said so. Gunny explained that some of the refugees
might feel that they could push the women around more than men. Gunny agreed that those men would be wrong,
especially if Susan was on duty, he said with a wry smile. But, the fact remained, he stressed, that women would not be
able to deter a belligerent bully as well as a man could. After they discussed it for a while, a vote was taken and Susan
lost that one battle. She did get the men to agree to revisit this policy in a month or two. She also asked that the women
be mixed in with the men for training and that no special allowances be made for them. If a woman couldn’t cut it, just
like the men, then they should be released from guard duty.

Gunny said with all the people they had now he figured that they could go to six hour shifts and work 4 days
on and 2 off. If they could get a few more people, then he could go to four on, three off, which was the schedule that
he preferred. He also wanted to appoint a captain for each guard shift, called Alpha through Delta. He wanted anyone
wanting to switch teams to have to OK it with him. If they wanted to trade days off with one of their team members,
then they would clear it with the captains. Chaparo asked if he had anyone in mind for the captains. Gunny wanted
Scott for Alpha shift, Charley for Beta, Jim for Charley shift, and Mark for Delta. Mark briefly argued that he didn’t
want to do it, but Gunny insisted that all of his picks were based on the person’s proven ability to think on their feet and
the fact that they were all respected by the men. And the women, Susan added with a wink in her eye. The old jar head
then told his fellow committee members that he suggested setting up the training schedule so that each guard trained
with his group one to two hours, four times a week. The all day classes were just too hard to schedule everyone for. Two
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classes would be with Gunny, one with Jim on marksmanship, and one with Mark on unarmed self-defense and hand-
to-hand. He told Mark that meant he would need to teach four classes a week. Mark asked how long he would need to
teach.

Gunny just smiled as he answered. “Until they know everything you know, Karate man”

The committee voted to accept Gunny’s new schedule until he had enough men to improve it. Chaparo in-
formed the group that he should have the guard towers for the back corners finished late tomorrow, or early the next
day. Then he too, would like to be added to one of the night shifts. That would let him do the welding and such that
need to be done during the day.

With the meeting over, and security measures starting to really take form, Mark headed home. When he got
there he found that there had been enough water saved for him to have a quick shower. Afterwards, the adults visited
for a while, mostly getting to know Rodney and Donna a little better. Mark asked Rodney if he would hook up the horn
at the CP like he had suggested. The man was happy to help out. Mark also explained to Rodney about Jon and how
things had gotten so bad. Before he could finish, Lisa asked if anyone else heard Jon’s wife reading him the riot act after
the meeting. No one had, and Lisa told them about it. It seemed that Mrs. Olsen was not too happy with the way her
husband was acting. She told him that he needed to shape up and pitch in, or else. Lisa said she didn’t say what the ‘or
else’ meant, but it didn’t sound good. Mark asked how Jon reacted. Lisa said that he was mad at first, but by the time
she finished he was hanging his head and saying ‘Yes, dear’ Mark hoped that perhaps she had been able to get through
to him. Time would tell.

Since he had to get up at 1:30 to report for Delta shift, Mark excused himself and went to bed. He hated the
shift that he was on. It was the coolest part of the day and the time when one could sleep the most comfortably. But, he
knew that Gunny had given him this shift first for all the right reasons. If he got the easy shift, people could cry favorit-
ism.

When the alarm went off, Mark was amazed at how fast he had gone to sleep. He almost didn’t remember ly-
ing down. He got dressed and reported to the CP at 1:53 AM. It was dead calm and very humid. Mark hoped the front
would get here quickly. Scott was just coming off duty and told Mark that Gunny had moved him to the 8 AM to 2PM
shift starting day after tomorrow. Mark had different men assigned to his crew tonight and they were given one of the
FRS radios by the CP sentry. Mark and his crew started their rounds. It started raining softly a few minutes later. Mark
and his men went by their houses one at a time to pick up their rain gear. Since the Camp .45 was blued steel with a
wood stock, Mark decided to change it for one of the more weather tolerant ARs. The shift again went without a hitch.
It was miserable being in the rain, maybe even more uncomfortable than the heat had been. Oh well, he thought, it was
a dirty job, but somebody had to do it.

As he was walking home from his shift, he noticed the water dripping out of the gutter downspouts on the
houses. Shouldn’t they be catching that water? He made a detour by Chaparos. If anyone could do this, it was the
plumber. He told Mark that he would work on it.

Mark went home, dried oft and put on some clean, dry pajamas. He then crawled into his bed in the house.

He was just about to doze oft, when he felt a warm body slip into the bed beside him. The sound of the rain on the roof
and the feel of his wife beside him almost made it seem as if everything were normal, if only for the moment.

Chapter 32 - Horn Locking

The next few days were almost a blur for Mark. The weather cooled off and it was pleasant at night and not
too uncomfortable during the day. The rain also helped the San Antonio Fire Department bring the fires in the city
under control. Chaparo came up with a way to catch the water off of the roof for each house. It consisted of building
a plywood box and lining it with plastic then running PVC pipe from the gutters to the box. Each box measured 4 by
4 by 8 and would hold up to 960 gallons. Mark had never stopped to figure that one inch of rain over a 2000 square
foot roof would yield 1250 gallons of water. Chaparo was also running pipe so that everyone could fill their bathtubs
up with water first, and then have the rest go to their plywood water tank. Fortunately, Chaparo had plenty of pipe and
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plastic and Mark had a lot of plywood. Rodney got the warning horn, as they were now calling it, hooked up. Gunny
had worked out different signals with the horn to call reinforcement to where they were needed. The FRS radios were
working great. The gardens were coming along a little easier since the rain had softened the ground a little. The first
part of the Turner garden was tilled on Monday morning and by that afternoon Jess had it completely planted. Almost
everyone had signed their kids up for schooling, and that made almost 120 kids from ages 5 to 18 that programs had
to be designed for. That was more that the education committee had planned on, but they assured everyone that they
would come up with some kind of plan. Jim had finished filling the 300-gallon fuel tank and seven of the 55 gallon
barrels with gasoline. He reported that there were still 150 to 200 gallons in the cars that would not run, but he had no
place else to store it. Actually, all things considered, everything seemed to be going pretty well.

Mark taught his first classes to the guards on Tuesday. One in the morning and one in the afternoon. He taught
them some basic self-defense against frontal attacks. He was pleased with the way that the guards were absorbing the
training. He was also enjoying the classes that he was taking from Gunny and Jim. With the weather cooling off, every-
one seemed to be in a better mood. Even Jon had simmered down and had signed back up to be a guard. Perhaps the
little talk his wife had with him had worked. Gunny had wisely assigned him to Charley’s crew, as Jon had not had any
run-ins with him. Charley reported that he was doing a good job, even though he seemed a little under motivated.

The news had little to report except about the fires and the Fire Department putting out all of the hot spots
before they released people to go check on their homes. The refugee traffic had slowed considerably since most people
had already left town or checked into one of the two huge ‘shelters. Nothing more was said about martial law or the
governor bringing in the National Guard. Mark noticed a subtle change in the news. Before the fires in town, there was
little if any local news. Now it seemed that there was no national news as well. Like all of the news was being white-
washed. Even the President, in his Tuesday night speech, basically said nothing. It made Mark wonder what was going
on.

After the Tuesday night meeting, Jess surprised Mark with some news of her own. It seemed that she and Lisa
had volunteered for guard duty and training. Gunny had assigned them both to Beta shift since they would be teaching
school in the morning. Mark was mad at first. He tried to talk her out of it. But she wouldn’t budge. He finally agreed
hoping that she would change her mind once she started pulling duty and saw what was involved.

The ‘talent scouts), as the members of the new committee had come to be called, had interviewed a few people,
but none that they were willing to present to the group. On Wednesday morning, that changed. Mark had just finished
his 2 to 8 shift and was taking a short nap before facing the rest of the day as was becoming his habit. Sam came in and
woke him up.

“Dad, Dad, wake up.” She said as she shook his shoulder.

“What is it?” Mark said as he looked at his watch.

“Lisa needs you at the gate. She says that she has someone that the talent scouts need to talk to.”

“OK.” Mark replied as he got up and started looking for his jeans.

When Mark got to the gate, everyone else was already there except for Doc Vasquez. Mark looked over his
shoulder and saw the good doctor just a few yards behind him. Lisa was talking to a couple who Mark estimated to
be in their early fifties. The man was tall, thin, and mostly bald. The woman was average height, thin, and had long
dark hair. When the whole committee was present, Lisa made the introductions. The couple’s names were Steven and
Jackie Hawkins. Jackie was a kindergarten teacher for one of the larger school districts in San Antonio and Steven was a
junior high school band director for the same district. Upon further questioning, they found out that Steven could not
only play most band instruments, he also was an accomplished guitar player and was not bad on the piano. He had also
been the music director for his church for the last 15 years. The couple did not have any children. And their only living
relative was Jackie’s brother who lived in Florida. They were hoping to find a place to live out of town. They only had a
little food, Steven’s guitar, and some blankets and clothing with them.

Mark and the others were very interested in the story of how they came to Silver Hills. They lived in a small
neighborhood not too far from the airport. One of the planes that had crashed on the day of the burst had burned most
of the area around the small subdivision. Since everything was already burned, it created a firebreak around them.
However, when city officials asked everyone to evacuate to the shelters, the Hawkins obeyed like law-abiding citizens
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do. After a couple of days, people wanted to go home, Steven told the talent scouts. Everyone was told that the Fire
Department was still making sure that the fires would not re-ignite. We were told to come by the admission tent at the
shelter and they had a list by block where the houses were not burned.

“Everyone that I talked to said that they were told that their block was a total loss.” The band director said.
“When I asked them about my house, I was told the same thing. But I didn't believe it. I never saw any smoke from the
direction of our house, and unless someone started a fire in our neighborhood, I don’t think that the fire could have
reached it. On Monday night, some people were starting to get pretty upset about not being allowed to leave. Some
were pretty vocal about it and the soldiers at the shelter arrested a couple of the most belligerent. That calmed the rest
down. But it should have made them madder, I thought. The ones that were taken into custody were not being violent.
They just didn’t go back to their spot when the soldiers told them to. What happened to freedom of speech? Everyone
just gave up and went back to their spot. I did too. But I didn’t plan to stay there”

“When Steven told me what he wanted to do, I thought he was crazy.” Jackie took over the storytelling. “I
always thought that our government officials had our best interest at heart. I knew that sometimes they were a little
misguided, but they meant well, right? Well, when Steven told me that they had arrested people for just saying that they
wanted out of the shelter, I began to think that maybe they weren't interested in what was best for us, but what was best
for them?”

“How so?” Mark asked.

Steven answered. “We wondered why they would want to keep us in the shelter. We sneaked out through a
drainage ditch that goes under the fence. It was easier than I thought it would be. We walked to our house and it was
not even scratched. That's when we figured that it was easier for them to have everyone in a few places. If they declared
martial law, they would have to have a lot more military personnel to keep the peace if people were out and about. Es-
pecially if over half of them were now homeless. There were never more than fifty or sixty soldiers on duty at any time
at the airport, that I saw. They all were carrying rifles and no one came into the camp with any guns. They ran over us
with those handheld metal detectors when we entered the camp. They even took away my little Leatherman tool; you
know the one that folds out into scissors. Nobody could do much of anything except for what we were told to do. There
is no way that they could have patrolled even a fraction of the city with that many soldiers. We think that keeping us in
the shelters was a simple fact of conserving military manpower.”

“Anyway, we got home, ate a couple of cold cans of vegetables and went to bed.” It was Jackie’s turn to relate
the story again. “About three in the morning, we heard glass breaking at our neighbor’s house. A few minutes later we
heard a couple of voices cursing about how there wasn't anything good in there. Then we heard them trying our doors.
Steven yelled ‘Get me my gun!, and they ran off. For the first time in my life, I wished we really owned a gun. We didn't
get any more sleep that night. We spent the rest of the night whispering about what to do. Steven has a colleague that
lives outside of town on a couple of acres. We decided to ride our bikes to his place and see if we could stay there. We
spent the day loading our bicycles, but we didn’t really have anything but a little food and some clothes that would do
us any good. We rested as much as we could and as soon as it got dark, we took off”

Steven tagged back in. “At first we were being really careful not to be seen by the authorities. However, except
for the few times we passed close to where one of the fires was still burning, we didn’t see anyone except what looked
like street thugs and homeless people. One rough looking group told us to give them our bikes, but we turned around
and rode away as fast as we could. Once we got to the totally burned part of town, there was nobody. A little after dawn
we got to my friend’s house. His house was still there, but we couldn’t find him or his family anywhere. The doors were
all unlocked and there was some blood on the kitchen floor. It looked like a tornado had blown through the house.
Man, I hope they’re OK. We figured it wasn't safe to stay there, so we decided to ride further out of town. That's when
we saw your people at the gate”

“I was wondering what was happening at the shelters” Mark observed.

“I expect that if they don’t let people leave pretty soon, it is going to get violent.” Steven projected.

“Mr. and Mrs. Hawkins, do you have any other skills that might be helpful to us?” Mary Patterson asked, in a
voice that Mark was sure prospective employees of her company had heard many times.
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“The only thing I can think of is that I am certified to teach math as well as music. I haven't taught it in many
years, but I did when I first got out of college until I got a full time music position. Lisa told me that you all are starting
a school and that you might need a math teacher and a kindergarten teacher”

Mark looked at Lisa. He would have to talk to her about saying too much to strangers.

“Anything else?” Mary inquired.

Both of them shook their heads.

“Then would you excuse us for a moment.”

“Sure” The man answered. “Let me just say, that if you all let us stay here, we will do our fair share. We don’t
have anywhere else to go, so we can’t afford to disappoint you.”

The talent scouts all nodded their heads as they moved back out of earshot from the couple.

“What do you all think?” Manny asked.

“I say we give them some food, and send them on their way” Mark answered first.

“That’s pretty cold. They don’t have anywhere to go, they are obviously nice people, and they could really help
us teach the kids.” Lisa snapped at Mark.

“Are we going to take them in because they’re nice and they don't have anywhere else to go? We might as well
let everybody who walks by move in.” Mark shot back.

“I agree with Mark.” Mary said. “We don’t need a music teacher, and anyone can teach kindergarten. It might
be nice to have a math teacher, but he hasn’t done that for a long time. The benefits just don’t justify taking in two more
mouths to feed.”

“Mary, I expected the men to be short sighted, but not you. We COULD use a music teacher, and teaching
young children is a lot more complicated than 1, 2, 3’s and A, B, C’s” Lisa looked at Mary sadly.

“I think Lisa is right. Music is important. I think this is a good opportunity to improve our teaching staft. Re-
member, we have 120 kids to school” Doctor Vasquez added.

Everyone looked at Manny. His would be the deciding vote. “I'm not sure which way to vote. I don’t know
that much about education, but if Lisa and The Doc think that these people could help us, then I am going to vote to
present the Hawkins to the group”

“Who are they going to live with? We have to find someone who will take them in before we can take them
before the whole group?” Mary cautioned.

“They can move in with us” Doc Vasquez volunteered.

“I guess that settles it” Mark said. “Doc, you want to take them to your house until tonight?”

The doctor nodded.

“I would say that you need to talk to them about how this is going to work. That if the group does not accept
them, they will have to leave by tomorrow morning at the latest.”

“OK, Mark”

The doctor went and got the Hawkins. Everyone else headed back up to their house. Mark and Lisa walked up
the hill and Mark mentioned to her that she should be careful about how much information she gives out to strangers.
At first she bristled at Mark’s suggestion, but before they got back to the house, she understood what Mark meant. Jess
was in the kitchen when they walked in and Lisa filled her in on the couple they would vote on that night. Jess was very
excited about both of the escapees. Mark asked her why.

“Because children need to be exposed to more than just the three R’s. Art is important, and Music is an impor-
tant art. Music students always do better in their other subjects. There have been a lot of studies that prove it.”

“Why so giddy over a kindergarten teacher though?”

“Let me ask you a question. When you get brand new white belt students in your karate class, who teaches
them?”

“I'do”

“Why? Aren't they learning the most basic things? Couldn’t anyone in your class teach them?”

“Yes, but I like to do it because what they learn at first is what all of their karate is going to be built on. If they
don’t understand what they are doing and why in the beginning...I hate it when you do that!” Mark said.
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“Do what?” Jess smiled.

“You know what. Making me answer my own question. But, now I see why you are excited about Mrs.
Hawkins.”

By meeting time almost everyone knew about the Hawkins. Most had made up their minds and a few im-
promptu polls showed that, while it was close, the couple did not have the votes they needed to be granted admittance
to Silver Hills. Once all of the other business had been completed, everyone was acquainted with the prospective
residents. Lisa brought them up and introduced them to the group and explained why the committee had voted to
bring them before the group for a vote. Mark thought she did a good job of explaining the benefits of having them here.
Obviously, everyone could see the downside to having more mouths to feed. Both of the candidates said a few words to
the crowd about what they could offer and how much they would appreciate an opportunity to help out with the edu-
cation of the children. Mark felt that Lisa might have swayed enough people to her side. He asked if anyone else would
like to say something before they took the vote. Jon raised his hand.

“I was afraid that this was what would happen if we formed this ‘committee’ We said we were looking for a
doctor and you bring us a drum major and a glorified baby sitter. What’s on the agenda for next week? A clown, be-
cause he makes everyone laugh? Let’s get real people. We can't afford to let everyone in here just because they might be
able to help out a little. I say we can’t afford to take them in”

Jon wasn't diplomatic, but he was as calm as Mark had ever seen him be in front of everyone. Not that that was
saying very much, he thought. But he had probably swayed some votes back to the ‘no’ side. Mark asked if anyone else
wanted to say something.

Jess stood up and addressed the crowd. “I want to say that I think we need these teachers. Mr. Hawkins is not
only a music teacher; he is a certified math teacher. We can stand here and debate the merits of having some music
instruction incorporated into our education program. I think music is extremely important, but not everyone agrees.
However, I think that everyone would agree that mathematics is very important. If the music is nothing but a fringe
benefit of having him here then he can earn his keep teaching math. Mrs. Hawkins is an experienced primary educator.
The first three years of schooling are the most important in a child’s education because that is the foundation that their
knowledge base is built upon. They are not just learning their alphabet and to count; they are learning how to learn. If
we can’t...”

Jon rudely interrupted Jess. “You just want them here to make your job easier! You won’t admit that we don't
need them because you're a teacher just like them that get paid mostly to baby sit!”

Mark saw the look on Jess’s face. He had seen it a few times in the nineteen years that they had been married,
and it was never good for whoever made her look that way. He knew what was coming. Mark almost felt sorry for Jon.
Almost.

“Jon Olsen.” She started with her voice barely above a whisper and speaking very slowly and emphatically even
though her face was as red as a fire engine. Each word was spoken slightly louder and more quickly than the one be-
fore. “T have listened to you spew your hateful crap for long enough. You don’t know what you're talking about. I have
been a professional educator for over twenty years. Do you have any experience educating children?”

Jon just shook his head, having the gall to look shocked at the reaction he was getting. Mark wondered what he had
expected Jess to do. If he thought he could intimidate her into just stopping, he obviously didn’t know who he was deal-
ing with.

“Do you even have any experience raising children?” She demanded.

“No. But...”

“Then why don’t you just shut the hell up and let me finish?!”

A roar erupted from the crowd. Some were cheering, others were laughing, and most were doing some form of
both. It took more than a minute for the crowd to quiet down enough for Jess to finish. Mark looked and Jon seemed
to have melted to about half of his former size. The guy just didn't get it. Mark wondered if he ever would. When Mark
called for the vote, the Hawkins were voted in to the community by a landslide. Mark wasn’t sure if it was because Jess
had convinced everyone that they were needed, or if it was because she had said to Jon what most of them wanted to
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say. He suspected the later. Ted asked if the education committee could meet with the Hawkins and the meeting broke
up.

MarK’s alarm clock went off at 1:30. He got up and got ready to pull his shift. It was hard to get up in the mid-
dle of the night, but today was like a Friday to him even if it was Thursday. He had to pull this shift and teach his two
classes today, but then Gunny didn’t have him scheduled again until Sunday night or Monday morning, depending on
how you looked at it. He, David, and a couple of the other men were going down to his deer lease early tomorrow to
see if they could get some meat. He was looking forward to spending some time with his son, even if Jess wasn’t crazy
about them going.

The sky was clear and it was almost a little too cool. There must have been a billion stars in the sky. Mark and
his men made their rounds without incident until almost dawn. Mark’s radio crackled and then a voice came over it.

“CP to Rover One and Rover Two.” Both Mark and the other team responded.

“OP reports a large group heading for the gate from the west on foot. ETA six to eight minutes.”

Mark and his crew started heading to the front. “CP, this Rover One, can OP estimate number of travelers?”

“Stand by Rover One.” There was a pause for the CP to relay the question to the OP and get his answer over
the CB’s. Mark wished they were all on the same frequency. It would make things easier. “Rover One, OP reports best
estimate at twenty five to thirty. He says they are not using any light or sound discipline. He also reports that he can see
a few weapons. He cannot confirm how many”

“Roger that CP. Rover Two, this is Rover One.”

“Go ahead Rover One.”

“Rover Two, proceed directly to foxhole two. I'm sending Ted and Joe to join you. I'm going straight to the gate
foxhole”

“Roger, Rover One. Rover Two is headed to foxhole two and will meet rest of Rover One there”

“CP, do you read?”

“Go ahead, Rover One.”

“Paul, wake Scott up and have him get some of his crew into foxhole three as quick as he can. Give him the
spare Walkie-talkie and have him give me a call when he is in position. Have him send someone to get Gunny.”

“Roger, Rover One. CP is waking Charley shift.”

Mark was trotting as he spoke into the radio. Now that he didn’t need to talk he broke into a full run. It took
less than four minutes from the time Paul had called him from the CP to the time he was in the foxhole with the gate
guards. He could see flashlight beams from where the visitors were coming from. He hoped they would pass the subdi-
vision by. A few minutes later, he heard Scott on the radio.

“Delta shift. This is Charley shift. I am in foxhole three with two of my crew. Don went to wake the Old Man.”

“Roger that, Scott. OK, guys this is what we've been training for. Everybody just sit tight and hopefully they’ll
just waltz right by”

Mark could hear the people coming now as well as see their lights. It was a good sign he thought that they
didn’t know what they were doing. Good for him anyway. The group got closer and closer to the gate. Mark could
see that most of the grownups were carrying bottles. He couldn't tell for sure what was in them, but from the slurred
speech he was betting that it wasn’t Kool-Aid. There were about twenty-five adults and around ten kids. When they got
to the entrance of the subdivision the leader of the pack noticed the heavy gate”

“Whoa! Look at that gate. That'll keep the riff-raft out, I bet” The man was almost hollering. “Anybody there?”

Mark and the others kept their heads down and hoped the drunks would go away. The loudmouth put one foot
on the gate and started to climb.

“Hold it right there!” Mark barked authoritatively.

The drunken man jumped back off of the gate and looked around trying to figure out where the voice had
come from. “Who said that? Where are you?”

“I'm on the other side of the gate. You are not welcome here. Please move on down the road”

“We want to take a little rest. You let us in.” The drunken man demanded.

“I'm sorry; we don’t have a place for you to rest. Please just move along and no one will get hurt”
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“You can’t threaten us. We have some guns.”

“I can see that. We have a lot of guns, and they’re all aimed at you right now.”

The drunken man must have not been too drunk. He changed his tack. “We don’t wanna hurt nobody. We
escaped from that damned shelter and we just want to rest up a little. Couldn’t you let us take a little nap?”

“I'm sorry, but that’s not possible. If you move on down the road a couple of miles I'm sure you can find a
place. Good luck”

One of the women came up and grabbed the loudmouth. “Come on, Kyle, let’s go”

“OK, but these people are damn inconsiderate.” He yelled. “You hear me, you're a lousy host.” The group started
moving down the road. Making all kinds of racket and shining their light all over the place.

Mark breathed a sigh of relief. He didn’t want to get into a fight with a bunch of drunks. When the pack had
ambled out of sight of the OP, Mark gave the all-clear sign. He went back up to the CP and found Gunny there. It was
daylight enough to see now. Gunny told everyone to report to his house for debriefing as soon as Delta shift was over.

By 8:05 all of Delta shift and part of Charley shift was at Gunny and Abby’s house. Abby had a huge dining
room table and she served the men breakfast as Gunny spoke to them. He asked them what happened step by step.
Everyone felt that the encounter had gone fairly well, but there was something that bothered Mark.

“We only had eight minutes notice with a loud easy to spot group of people walking up the road. What if they
had been quiet and hard to spot? Or if they were coming in vehicles? We may have had a minute or less. We need more
time than that. We also need a way to get a backup crew of more than three men in a short time”

“Anything else?” Gunny asked.

“Yeah” Paul Jensen answered. “We could use a way to have everyone on the same radio frequency. Having to
relay a message back and forth slows us down. Plus when I went to get Scott, there was no way for the Rovers to com-
municate with anyone.”

Mark was glad that Paul had mentioned that. Gunny told the men that the security committee would discuss
all of their concerns at their next meeting. He encouraged the men to enjoy their breakfast and told them that they had
done a good job. Everyone finished their breakfast and thanked Abby for the delicious meal. On their way out, Gunny
had a request.

“Karate man, would you stay for a minute or two?”

“Sure, Gunny, what’s up?”

Gunny told Mark that he had heard about the hunting trip that Mark and David had planned. He asked Mark
not to go. When Mark asked why, Gunny said that he needed him here.

“You’s right about needin’ a reserve crew to call if'n things look like they’s goin’ to shit. I need you to be on that
crew for the next few nights. OK?”

“Damnit, Gunny, no. I need a break and I need to spend some time with David. He’s looking forward to this
and I'm not going to disappoint him.”

“I understand how you feel. But now is not the time to go. I'm afraid things is fixin to go to hell in a handbas-
ket and we need all of our best people here. Not out gallivantin’ around where we have to worry about them?”

“Jess put you up to this, didn’'t she?”

“I'm not gonna lie to ya, Karate man. She’s the one that told me about the trip. But nobody’s put me up to
nothin’ since my last commander in the Corp did. I need someone here that I can count on. You're still off for the next
few days. You can do anything you like, just do it here. Spend the next three days with David doing whatever. I'm just
puttin’ ya ‘on call’ for the next three night”

“NO! Find someone else. I'm going.”

“You and the committee put me in charge of the guard schedules. You said I had final say. Are you gonna be
the first one to refuse to comply with the schedule? What kind of example will that set for everybody?

Mark knew that Gunny had him there. He agreed to Gunny’s request, but he didn’t like it.

By the time that little meeting was over, Mark had missed his opportunity to grab a couple of winks before his
morning self-defense class. This was to be his first class with Beta shift. Beta was almost half women. Susan, who was
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on Beta, had accused Gunny of stacking the women into one shift. Gunny had told her that was just the way it worked
out, but Mark had also noticed that almost all of the women were either in Alpha or Beta. His shift did not have any
women and Charley shift only had two. He had mentioned this to Gunny as well and gotten the same answer that Su-
san had.

When his class showed up he first went over the benefits of a physical training program with them. He told
them how to assess their physical condition and gave them a program to improve it. Next, he started going over de-
fenses for frontal attacks. He told the guard that they could not be squeamish or hesitant about defending themselves.

“If someone is trying to hurt you, you have to hurt them bad enough that they don’t want to continue attack-
ing you. That usually means broken bones, dislocated joints, or blood. You need to think about that. Remember, that
if you have to use these techniques, your life is in danger. It is you or them. If you can’t pick yourself, then maybe you
shouldn’t be a guard” Mark wanted to make sure that everyone, especially the women, knew all of the ramifications of
what they were doing.

Mark then explained how to get out of a choke, and bear hug attacks, both over the arms and under the arms.
He demonstrated with a volunteer and then had the guards split into pairs and start practicing. When everyone seemed
to have those moves down fairly well, he started teaching them how to defend against a punch. He showed them the
steps to the defense, the same ones he had used successfully in the Kroger attack.

Mark demonstrated the movements as he spoke. “If a right handed punch is thrown at you, you step to the left
while striking the arm of your attacker with the outside edge of both of your hands. Then you slide your right hand
down to his wrist and grab it. Next, with your open left palm, smash the back of his elbow to dislocate it

Mark asked for a volunteer to help him show what it looked like when the punch was really coming at you. Jon
jumped up and offered to help. Mark was a little taken back. Jon was the last person that he thought would volunteer to
help. However, he had signed up for guard duty, which was an indication that he still felt some kind of obligation to the
community. Or maybe his wife made him do it, Mark thought. Mark fussed at himself for thinking negatively about his
neighbor. He had to give him the benefit of the doubt. Perhaps he was really trying to make amends. Yes, he had strong
opinions. That was no crime. In fact, a dissenting view was good because it made you look at all sides of an issue. Jon
was really an asset by disagreeing with the majority, he just needed to work on the way he presented his disagreement,
Mark told himself. Still, he couldn’t help but wonder what was going through Jon’s mind; especially after Jess had pretty
much humiliated him last night.

“OK, Jon, we're going to do this about half speed.” Then he addressed the group. “When you do this with your
partner, please be VERY careful when you strike the elbow. It does not take much force to really dislocate it” He turned
back to face Jon. “OK, go.”

Jon’s right hand came flying at Mark’s face. If Mark had not been completely ready and if Jon had not slightly
telegraphed the punch, Mark would have been wiping blood from his nose. However, Mark’s block met Jon’s arm just in
time to deflect it so that the fist just barely grazed the side of his face. Mark’s anger flared for just a fraction of a second.
By the time he grabbed Jon’s wrist he had it under control and he finished the demonstration.

Mark was pretty sure that Jon had done it intentionally, but he took responsibility for the misunderstanding.
“I'm sorry, Jon. I didn’t explain myself very well. I want you to go about HALF of that speed next time. Let’s show them
again.

Mark was ready this time. He already had his weight shifted so that he could step quickly and he was watch-
ing Jon’s right shoulder for the first hint of movement, just in case he did the same thing. By the time he noticed that it
was Jon’s left hand coming toward his face, it was too late. There was no way for him to get his weight shifted back so
that he could step to the right. He decided to go ahead and move to the left to try to dodge the punch. Unfortunately,
his reflexes, now 40 years old, were not as quick as they once had been. The punch slammed into his face just below his
right eye. He saw a flash of color that changed from red to purple to blue to yellow and then back to red. Mark’s hand
was on his face and he had stepped back from Jon and turned sideways so that he could sidekick if the jerk closed the
gap to strike him again. All of that happened without him thinking about it. What he was thinking about was how he
was going to grind this bastard into dog meat. He pulled his hand down from his eye and checked his vision. Every-
thing looked a little red. Mark wasn't sure if that was from the punch or because he was so mad. He took a deep breath.
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He wanted to knock Jon into next week, but he couldn’t retaliate in anger. He took another deep breath.

“Jon, please have a seat and see me after class.”

“What’s the matter?” Jon asked sarcastically. “Seems like your Karate mumbo jumbo doesn’t work too good.
Maybe it'll work against one of the girls. That why you want me to sit down? So you can get one of the girls up here?”

“NO, JON!” Mark had to calm down. “I am trying to teach here. And I can’t do that with you playing these
childish games. Now...please sit down.”

“Childish, huh? I guess nothing I do is good enough for you Turners!” Jon was starting to get a little red in the
face. “You wanna teach something! Why don’t you show everybody how to get your ass whooped!”

Jon lunged at Mark. He grabbed the Black Belt around the waist and tackled him. Mark fell on his back with
Jon on top of him. On the ground was the last place a karateka wanted to find himself. You couldn’t kick, or even punch
effectively from this position. Most people with someone on top of them would try to push them off. That uses a tre-
mendous amount of energy, and even someone in good shape would be out of breath in a short time. Fortunately, after
Mark got his black belt, he took a few Ju Jitsu lessons. He couldn’t hold a candle to the guys in the class that had been
doing it for years, but it had taught him some important lessons. Ground fighting was a thinking man’s game. Mark
took a deep breath and made himself relax. Jon seemed to be satisfied to be in the superior position and was not trying
to do anything except punch at Mark’s face. Mark was able to block most of the blows and the ones that got through
were not doing much damage. He dug one of his elbows into Jon’s thigh. This made Jon move back over Mark’s hips.
Mark caught and trapped one of Jon’s hands and then thrust his hips up as fast as he could. That threw Jon off balance
and he wasn't able to catch himself with his trapped hand. He fell oft of Mark and Mark rolled over into Jon’s guard.
The guard is the position in Ju Jitsu where you are between the legs of a person on his back. While it may look that the
person on the ground is in the inferior position, he actually has the advantage. But not nearly so much as the one that
Jon had enjoyed a moment ago. Before Jon could lock his ankles together behind MarKk’s back, which made this posi-
tion very difficult to escape, Mark grabbed Jon’s jeans at the knees and pushed down. He then jumped to the side and
climbed onto Jon effectively reversing the positions that they had started in. Jon must have had some ground fighting
training, probably in the Marines. He tried to do the same thing that Mark had done, but each time he tried to use
his elbows to push Mark back, Mark reached down, pulled the elbow up and returned his knees under Jon’s armpits.
When Jon saw that this tactic wasn’t working he panicked a little and tried to push Mark off. When he placed a hand on
MarK’s chest to push up, Mark would swim his arm between Jon’s and knock the ex-marine’s hand off of him. Jon was
using his energy up quickly and after a moment he switched tactics again. He tried to punch Mark in the groin between
pushes, but Mark kept his body down and all Jon could reach was the outside of Mark’ hips or his ribs. Mark asked Jon
quietly if he had had enough. Between gasps of air, Jon made an unkind comment about Mark and his mother. Then he
crossed the line.

“I'm gonna kill you, motherfucker!” He screamed. “You and that bitch you're married to”

That was it. Jon had pushed the right button. Mark wasn’t mad, he wasn't angry, he was outraged that someone
would threaten his wife. Especially with her in the group to hear it. He felt himself go cold. The next time Jon pushed
up, Mark trapped his assailant’s hand to his chest and jumped up. He had practiced this move so many times in Ju Jitsu
that he had changed positions before anyone, especially Jon who was almost out of gas, could see what happened. Mark
was on his back perpendicular to Jon with one leg across his chest and the other across his neck. He had Jon’s arm with
the elbow pinned between his knees creating a fulcrum. He pulled down on Jon’s arm until he could see the pain in
Jon’s face. It didn't take much to create a lot of pain in this position.

Mark spoke in a low growl where only Jon could hear him. “You will say you’re sorry to everyone in this class
for your behavior, and you will take back what you said about my wife”

“Fuck you!”

Mark raised his hips, moving Jon’s arm to where he had even more leverage. He pulled a little harder. “Last
chance, asshole!” Mark couldn't help it; sometimes there wasn't a word that didn’t cost a dollar that had the correct
meaning. He never minded paying his box at those times. “If I don’t hear what I want in about two seconds I'll bend
your arm backwards till you'll be left handed for the rest of your life!” God, this feels good, Mark thought. He pulled
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just a tad more.

“'M SORRY! I'M SORRY! I DIDN'T MEAN WHAT I SAID! I'M SORRY!” Jon screamed.

Mark let his arm go. He swung his legs off of Jon and hopped up. Then he extended his hand down in an offer
to help Jon up. He was starting to feel a little guilty for enjoying what he had just done. Jon just rolled over and pushed
himself up with his left arm. He then started rubbing his right elbow just staring at Mark with a blank look. Mark
couldn’t interpret what the look meant. He held his hand out toward Jon in an offer to shake hands.

“No hard feelings?” Mark asked sincerely.

“Fuck you!” Jon yelled. He spat on the ground at Mark’s feet and stomped off toward his house, still holding his
elbow.

Chapter 33 - Attrition

The whole class was dumbfounded. No one spoke a word and they just watched Jon walk off toward his house,
most with their mouths open.

Mark decided to dismiss the class. “I guess that’ll be all for today. I'll see you next week.”

Some of Beta shift left, but many of them came up to Mark and told him that he had more patience than they
had.

“You should have broken his arm.” One man told him.

“I'm going to see Gunny right now.” Charley, the leader of Beta shift, said. “I am going to suggest that he be
removed from guard duty”

Susan came up. “What a baby! I can’t believe he would try something like that. You sure put him in his place,
though. That ought to fix his wagon.”

“I'm afraid that I might have made things worse.” Mark admitted.

“I don’t know what else...”

“Excuse me. I need to check on my husband’s eye.” Jess interrupted.

Mark noticed a little edge in his wife’s voice. Could it be that she was jealous of Susan? That might explain why
she signed up for guard duty. Mark realized that maybe he had been talking quite a bit about how much he admired
Susan. But if Jess thought he had any romantic feelings toward her, she was mistaken. Jess looked at his eye and then
called Lisa over to check it out. Lisa said that the orbit wasn't broken and she suggested he get some ice on it to keep
it from swelling so bad. They walked back to the camper and got the ice trays out of the propane-powered refrigera-
tor. Mark looked in the mirror and noticed that his eye was already turning purple. He put the ice on it and sat back to
relax.

A few minutes later Gunny came to speak with Mark. He asked exactly what had happened and listened in-
tently as Mark gave the blow by blow. When Mark was done, Gunny spoke.

“We have to kick him out”

“Yeah, Charley told me he wanted him out of the guards and I knew you would agree. I guess that I do too.”

“I don’t mean jus’ outta tha guards, Karate man. I mean we gotta kick him outta the subdivision.”

“We can't do that, Gunny. He owns a home here. How are we going to kick him out of his own house?”

“I don't rightly know. But are you ever gonna be able to turn your back on him again?” The old Marine asked.

“No. But I don’t know if that is grounds for kicking him out”

“Listen, Karate man, if'n Jon can attack you, what makes you think he won’t attack someone else. You know
things ain't the same as they were a month ago. Our job as guards is to protect ourselves from danger from the outside.
We can't be looking over our shoulders and do that job efficiently. If 'n some of your MZBs get in here and kill us all
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because we weren’t one hundred percent focused on our job, then everything else all of us have worked so hard to build
here is all for naught”

“I see what you mean, Gunny. I guess we could get a group together tonight to discuss it” Mark thought out
loud.

“That sounds like a good start. Whod you have in mind?”

“The security committee, plus Manny, Charley, and Scott. Maybe Doc Vasquez too.”

Gunny agreed with Mark. He suggested that they keep the group relatively small at first. If word got out what
they were talking about, it could push Jon over the edge even more Gunny said.

Mark ate his lunch and then took some aspirin for his throbbing eye. His next class was at two oclock. He
would have checked on how things were going around the neighborhood to keep his mind oft of how much his eye
hurt, but he knew that he would have to tell the story about what happened a thousand times. He decided to read for
a while. He had a new Stephen Hunter book that he hadn’t gotten to yet, but it seemed like a waste of time to read a
novel. He needed to build a chicken coop for the chickens that Manny was hatching for him. He wondered if he had
any books that would help him with that. As he looked through the books in his study, David came into the house call-
ing for him.

“Dad, Dad, are you in here?” The young man called.

“Yes, son. I'm in the study.” David appeared in the doorway, out of breath. “What’s up?”

“The sherift is down at the gate. He wants to see you.” David said between hufts.

“Would you mind walking back down to the gate and showing the sherift back to the house?”

“No sir. I don’t mind at all” David took off running back down the hill.

Mark wondered what the sheriff could want. He didn’'t have to wait long to find out. David showed the lawman
into the house and Mark shook his hand.

“What brings you out here, Sherift?”

“I just wanted to bring your guns back to you.”

“You got done with the ballistic testing already?”

“Actually, no. But with the way things are going in the country, I don’t think the Lab is going to be able to get
to it for a long while. Besides, the boys that ambushed you gave a full confession and no one has shown up to claim the
dead ones. I figured they were better off in your hands than just gathering dust in the evidence locker” The tall man got
a quizzical look on his face. “Nice shiner. What happened?”

“Oh, I was teaching a self-defense class and we had a little accident” Mark said as he prayed that David
wouldn’t say anything.

“Uh huh. Looks like your little accident has a big punch.” The lawman smiled.

“Yeah. I guess so.”

“What kind of self-defense do you teach?”

“Tust the basic stuff we use in American Karate”

“You’re not a black belt, are you?”

“Yes”

“Then why haven’t you been down to my office to register your hands as lethal weapons?” The sheriff said with
a straight face and a gruff voice.

Mark didn’t know what to say. There was no such law, but urban legend had spread this myth around so much
that many people believed it. Surely the sheriff knew the truth. About the time Mark was going to speak the sheriff got
a big grin on his face.

“Had you going for minute, didn’t I?”

“You sure did, I was trying to figure out how I was going to explain to you that it was an urban legend” Mark
was relieved.

“Your guns are in my trunk. Come on out and get them.” Mark followed the sheriff out to his cruiser. As he
opened the trunk he spoke again. “You all have really made some security upgrades around here. Have you had any
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more trouble?”

“Only a little from a bunch of drunk people the other night. But, they left with only their pride wounded a lit-
tle. Other than that, it’s been pretty quiet.”

“We've had a couple of similar incidents in Floresville and one in La Vernia. One of them went bad, though,
and one person was killed and a couple of more wounded before we got it under control”

“That’s too bad. I guess we can’t expect things to be like they were” Mark said as he looked at his Colt Light-
weight Commander like a long lost love.

“I guess not, and it’s probably going to get a lot worse.” The sherift said noticing the look on Mark’ face. “But,
it looks like you all are pretty squared away. That is some gate you have there. And those foxholes and lookout towers
look serious too.”

Mark snapped out of his trance. “Yeah. We just don't want to get caught with our pants down.” Mark thought
about telling the lawman about the OP, the CP, and the other security precautions that they had, but he decided that
he didn’t quite know the man well enough to spill all of the beans. But for some reason, he felt he could trust this man.
Maybe it was the uniform. No, Mark thought, it was more than that, but he couldn’t put his finger on it. He looked at
the sheriff and felt as if he was being sized up in return.

“Listen, I could use some help.” The sherift hesitated as if he were unsure of what to say. “This is a route from
San Antonio that I don’t have the manpower to cover like I want. We are stretched pretty thin just trying to cover the
two highways from the city. If I brought you a radio, would you be willing to let me know if you think we have trou-
ble headed into the county from here? Plus, if something happens, you could contact us without having to drive into
town.”

“I think we can handle that” Mark smiled.

“Good. I'll bring the radio out in the morning.” The Sheriff shook Mark’s hand and left in his cruiser.

Mark went back into the house and put the FAL into the safe. He also unloaded the Gold Cup on his hip that
Abby had given him and replaced it with the Lightweight Commander. The Gold Cup was a super pistol, but it was
heavy. The Commander was a lot lighter and easier to carry. He was glad to have both of his weapons back. It was
almost time for his afternoon class so he headed out to teach.

Everyone must have heard what happened between him and Jon, because no one asked about the black eye.
The class went well and when it was over Mark went home to eat dinner. Everyone listened to the news and then people
started showing up for the meeting. Everyone was chatting and although Mark did not hear any specific conversations
about him and Jon, he was pretty sure that was the number one item being discussed. The meeting was going as usual.
Ted was telling everyone how the education committee had worked out the logistics and how they were going to start
classes for the kids on Monday. He was almost done when Mark saw Jon walking up to the front.

The first thought to flash his mind was that Jon had somehow heard that they were thinking about banishing
him from the subdivision and he had come to apologize. Like that would save him. Too little, too late, Mark thought.
Everyone had gotten quiet to see what Jon had to say. Mark looked at the crowd to see if he could tell how everyone
felt about Jon from the way they were looking at him. He could see disdain in almost everyone’s face. Then suddenly
their looks changed to one of horror as if he had turned into a monster. Mark looked back at Jon and saw the reason for
everyone’s changed expression. Jon’s big Barretta was pointed directly at him.

Time slipped into slow motion just as it had at the Kroger that time. Mark could see that the big pistol was not
cocked and Jon’s finger was not inside the trigger guard. The Marines had obviously trained Jon well in proper weapon
handling. From this, Mark knew that, at least at this moment, Jon had no intention of shooting him. But that could
change in a heartbeat. Jon could put his finger on the trigger and complete the long double action trigger pull in less
than a second. Mark had no doubt that he could do it with deadly accuracy. He weighed his options. Jon was too far
away for him to get his hands on the gun. He practiced gun defenses regularly in his karate class, but the gun had to be
within reaching distance for that to work. He could pull his pistol and hope that Jon missed, but that was unlikely. Per-
haps one of the other men would shoot Jon. However, that might make a bad situation worse. The crowd had parted in
front of Mark as the Red Sea had in front of Moses. If someone shot and missed, it would definitely hit a person on the
opposite side. Even if they hit him, it might overpenetrate and hurt someone else. And, the likelihood that Jon would
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still get a shot or two off after he was hit was almost a given. No, Mark decided, his only chance was to talk his way out
of this, and he had to do it before someone decided to play John Wayne.

“Jon” Mark’s voice was so calm that it even surprised him. “I know we have had our differences, but this is not
the way to solve them.” Mark paused for a moment. “Why don’t you put the gun down and let’s talk about this?”

“NO!” Jon screamed. “I'm tired of talking. You took everyone away from me. Now I'm going to show them that
you are a coward. Now get down on your knees, coward, and beg for your life!”

So that is what this was about, Mark realized. Jon felt that Mark has usurped his authority. And now he wanted
to get even. He probably had no intention of shooting; he just wanted to embarrass the man that had become his nem-
esis. Mark knew that Jon certainly would not shoot until he got what he wanted. After all, if he were dead, Jon would
not be able to get what he wanted. Mark spoke again, with cool confidence in his voice.

“Jon, this is not the way that grown men solve their...”

“Shut the fuck up!” Jon pulled the hammer back on the Barretta and took a step toward Mark. His hand was
starting to visibly shake. “Get down on your knees and tell me you’re sorry for all the shit you've done to me”

He must be getting rattled that his little scheme isn’t working out the way that he planned, Mark thought. He
could see that Jon’s eyes were glazed over like he was sleep walking. Mark thought about what to say next when he
heard another voice.

“Jon Joseph Olsen, have you lost your mind.” It was Jon’s wife. She walked right up to him, stood between
him and Mark, and grabbed the gun to take it away. They struggled for a fraction of a second and a loud sound froze
everyone. No one moved for what seemed an eternity to Mark. Then he noticed the growing red circle on Mrs. Olsen’s
shoulder. She half fell, half sat, on the driveway. Mark could see that she was holding her stomach. Just at that point,
time went into overdrive as if to make up for its laziness for the past minute. Lisa was over to the injured woman as
if by magic. Jon was on his knees with the pistol on the ground in front of him, begging for his wife’s forgiveness. She
looked at him as a mother might look at a mischievous child. Unable to allow the slight annoyance of his behavior to
even slightly disguise the love that she felt for him. Lisa was yelling something at someone in his direction, but they
must not be listening to her. He looked around to she who she was talking to, but there was no one standing close to
him. He realized that she was addressing him.

“Mark! I said get me something to use as a gurney””

Mark turned and opened the garage door. He pulled out a six-foot plastic folding table. He carried it over to
Mrs. Olsen, he realized he didn’t know her first name, and laid it down. He then helped Lisa slide her onto the table,
and several other hands appeared to pick up the makeshift gurney. Lisa led them into the kitchen and they set the table
on top of the island. Doc Vasquez and Jim were the two that had helped Mark and Jon carry the table. Lisa pulled a pair
of scissors out of the junk drawer and started cutting the blouse off of Jon’s wife. Lisa sent Jim to their camper to get her
medical bag. Doc Vasquez had his hands over the shoulder wound in a losing effort to slow the bleeding. Jon was hold-
ing his wife’s hand begging her to hold on. Lisa pushed him back so that she could find the entrance wound. She wiped
the blood oft of the woman’s stomach with a clean dishtowel. Mark saw the blood drain from her face when she saw
where the bullet had entered. She took a deep breath and had the Doc move his hands so that she could check the exit
wound. It was about the size of a quarter and didn’t look too bad to Mark. But, he couldn’t believe the amount of blood
that was pouring out. He saw Lisa trace a line between the two holes with her eyes, and then put the Doc’s hands back.

“Liver and heart?” Doc asked quietly and Lisa nodded her head one time.

“Jon, you need to say whatever you need to now.” The tall blond nurse whispered to the woman’s husband and
killer.

“No. You have to save her. I didn't mean to.” Jon yelled.

“Jon, there is nothing we can do. Even if we could call 911 we wouldn’t be able to get her to the hospital in
time. Her injuries are just too serious and she’s losing too much blood.”

Jon turned to his wife and buried his head into her good shoulder. “Oh, baby, I'm so sorry. I didn’t mean it. I
just wanted to scare him. Please forgive me.”

The woman put her hand on the back of his head in a way that once again reminded Mark of a mother with
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her wayward son. Her colorless lips whispered something in a voice so low that Mark wondered if even Jon could hear
it. In the middle of the second sentence the lips stopped moving and the loving hand slipped from the back of Jon’s
head.

“NO!” Jon screamed. Then he ran out of the house sobbing uncontrollably.

Chapter 34 - Grenades and Good Byes

Everyone left in the room just stared at the dead woman for what seemed like a long time. Mark realized that
he didn’t know the woman’s first name. She had most likely saved his life and he didn't even know her name. He felt
ashamed that he didn’t know her better. His train of thought was interrupted by Doc Vasquez.

“What do we do now?” The veterinarian asked.

Everyone just looked at each other as if they had been asked to find the exact value of pi to the last decimal.
Lisa finally broke this second long silence by offering to clean the body up and wrap it in a blanket. Mark suggested
that they could give it to the sheriff when he brought the radio tomorrow. He would be able to take her to town for a
proper burial.

“What are we going to do about Jon?” Jim asked.

“I guess we'll turn him over to the sheriff, too” Mark answered as he turned to head out the door. “Does any-
one know her first name?” He asked as he stood in the open door.

“It was Marian.” Lisa answered.

Lisa’s answer in the past tense hit Mark like a ton of bricks. His stomach was twisted in a knot the size of a bas-
ketball. He felt the emotional runaway train coming to take him for a ride. He could not afford to let it overtake him.
He focused on what he had to do, and that was to secure Jon until the sheriff arrived, hopefully early in the morning.
That allowed Mark to stay off of the emotional runaway for now, but it somehow told him that it would be back for him
later. Mark decided to consult Gunny on the best way to hold Jon. When he stepped around to the front of his house,
he was surprised to see almost everyone still there. Many were on their knees praying. Others were just staring blankly,
at what Mark didn’t know, and probably neither did they he suspected.

Charley Henderson tried to ask the question on everyone’s mind. “Is she...I mean did she...uh...is she still
with us?”

Mark shook his head one time. He could hear people crying but he couldn’t let himself think about it lest he
join them. He looked at Charley. “Did you see where Jon went?”

“He ran off toward his house.”

“Would you go keep an eye on his house and make sure that he doesn’t go anywhere while I talk to Gunny
about how to handle this situation?”

“What do you want me to do if he tries to leave?”

“Take a couple of the guards with you and stop him with as little force as necessary.” Mark advised.

“What if he still has his gun?”

“Then use whatever force you have to.”

“Understood.” Charley responded.

Charley called a couple of the guards who served on his shift to accompany him and they disappeared around
the corner. Mark walked up to Gunny who was comforting Abbey. Mark hated interrupting, but felt that the situation
demanded it. Gunny didn’t seem too displeased that Mark had called him away from his crying bride. After a brief con-
versation, Gunny agreed that the best course of action was to turn Jon over to the sheriff in the morning. In the mean
time, he would be placed under house arrest and guarded in his own home. Gunny and Mark walked down to Jon’s
house and found Charley and his men surrounding the house.

“Is he still in there?” Mark asked.

“Yes, he hasn't even looked through a window.” Charley confirmed.

“I guess we better go get him.” Mark said.
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“Hold yer horses there, Karate man. Since you're the one that he’s most upset with, I think it’s best if 'n you stay
out here. Me and Charley will fetch him out”

“You're right, Gunny. I'll wait here” Mark answered, hating the fact that the old man was almost always right.

Mark watched the house from the spot that Charley had been using as Gunny and the guard shift leader went
to the front door and knocked. No one answered and they tried again. After a few minutes, Charley tried the door and
it was unlocked. He stuck his head inside and called for Jon. When there was not an answer, the two men entered the
house. Mark wondered if Jon was OK. He might have hurt himself after the accident with his wife. Mark hoped that he
hadn’t. He already felt somewhat responsible for Mrs. Olsen’s death. He had obviously mishandled the situation with
Jon this morning. If he had not lost his temper at what Jon had said, none of this would have happened. But how was
he to know? He was just a man, after all. And men made mistakes. He had certainly made more than his fair share. He
couldn’t understand why all these people expected him to have the right answers. He hadn’t asked to be a leader. And
he really didn’t want to be. Gunny and Charley coming out of the house interrupted his thought spiral into self-pity.

“He ain’t here” Gunny announced.

“Where could he be?” Mark realized that he had asked a question that Gunny couldn’t answer. He hated when
Jess asked him questions like that.

“I don’t know, but we better alert the guards to keep a lookout for him.” The old man did not seem put off by
the ridiculous question.

“I'll go” Mark turned and ran toward the CP at Scott’s house. When he got there, Joe Bagwell was on duty.
Mark asked him to let the guards know that they were looking for Jon and to report in if they saw him. When Joe
relayed the message the gate guards immediately radioed back that Jon had left the subdivision about ten or fifteen
minutes ago. Mark was dumbfounded.

“Which way did he go?”

The answer came back that he had headed to the east. When Mark asked if he had taken anything with him,
he was told that Jon had a large backpack and his AR-15 when he headed out of the gate. He was going to check on a
friend down the road was what he had said to the guards. Mark ran back across the road and reported what had hap-
pened to Gunny.

“I can’t believe they just let him walk out.” Mark said incredulously.

“Calm down, Karate man. All of our security is aimed at keeping people out, not in””

“Well, we better go after him.”

“I wouldn't” Gunny stated flatly.

“Why not?”

“First of all, as soon as he got out of sight from the guards he changed direction””

“How do you know that?” Mark demanded.

“Because that is what I would do. And you need to come see what we found inside. Then I think you'll see
there is no point in goin’ after him.”

Mark followed Gunny into Jon’s house. They walked to the back bedroom and Gunny opened the door. There
were boxes stacked around the walls. Four of them were open and lying in the middle of the room. One of them was
empty. It said ‘MREs’ on the side. One said ‘5.56 NATO - 1000 Rounds. It had two long green plastic packages left in it
that each said ‘Battle Pack, 5.56 NATO, 200 Rounds’ The last two identical cartons were the most interesting. One was
empty, but the other was only about half empty. Mark recognized what was in it without reading the box. It contained
four baseball grenades and eight empty spots where others had been. Mark whistled.

“Yeah, that’s what I said” Gunny stated. “And, there’s several more full cases in the closet. So even if you could
track the sumbitch, and I don’t think we could, he could give us a nasty surprise. Best just to let him go and be glad he’s
gone.

Mark looked at the boxes stacked around the walls as his brain absorbed the words that Gunny had spoken.
Most were MREs but there were quite a few cases of ammo in both 5.56 and 9mm.

“How did he get all this stuff? It all says Property of U.S. Government.”
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“He was in supply, remember.” Gunny reminded Mark. “Those guys always have a way of getting things if'n
they want. Most are honest and don’t, but the ones that aren’t can make out like bandits.”

“You think he ‘liberated’ any weapons?”

“I doubt it. You see, all of this stuft is considered to be consumable. If it gets reported as out of date and de-
stroyed or issued to a unit, no one really questions it. It is expected to be used up. But a rifle is a hard asset. If one is
missing, someone is going to want to know what happened to it”

“I see” Mark said thoughtfully. “And I agree that we better not go after Jon. I'll just let the sherift know what
happened and give him all this stuft”

“Like hell, you will.” Gunny barked.

“Gunny we can't keep all this! It’s all stolen. Plus, if we get caught with grenades they’ll put us under the jail,
not in it”

“Listen up, Karate man, you're slippin’ back into the mindset that the old rules apply. We can use this stuft. Just
think of it as Jon’s gift to us for all the shit he put us through.”

“Well...I guess we could present this to everyone and take a vote”

“You can’t do that. We need to keep this as quiet as possible. If n you're gonna tell everybody, we might as well
give ‘em to the sheriff. Because someone will flap their lips and the whole county will know we got ‘em. If you want to
run it by the security committee, that's OK. But not everyone.”

“Look, Gunny...”

“Look, Gunny, nothing! You put me in charge of security. This is a security matter and I'm puttin’ my foot
down. If’n everyone knows about the grenades it puts the whole neighborhood at risk...whether we turn ‘em in or keep
‘em. Run it by the security committee if 'n you have to. But I'm tellin’ ya, the fewer people know about this, the better.”

“If we turn them in, how does that put us at risk?”

“Because some yahoo will think that we didn’t turn them all in. They will come and try to get them with what-
ever force is necessary.”

“OK, Gunny. I see your point. What do you want to do with this stuff?”

“We'll move it to Abbey’s”

“Right now?”

“No. It’s gettin’ dark, but there’s still too many people out and about. You and Jim and Charley can load it up
in my truck around 4 in the morning and then park it around back and carry it into the garage through the back door.
That way, nobody will see”

“What about the rovers?”

“Oh, I reckon they’ll be doing a drill ‘bout that time.” The old man winked.

After finalizing their plan with Charley and swearing him to secrecy, Mark headed home. He found that the
women had wrapped Marian Olsen’s body and placed it on a table in the garage. They had cleaned up the blood in the
kitchen and were busy sanitizing everything that it might have come in contact with. Mark offered to help, but Jess sent
him out to clean the driveway. Mark knew that she had never trusted him to clean the house to her standard. Mark re-
started the generator and hooked it up to the pump. He then pulled out a hose and started to wash the blood oft of the
driveway. Jim showed up with an old push broom and helped to scrub as Mark sprayed. Mark told him about what they
had found in the Olsen house and about Gunny’s plan. Jim agreed that it was best to keep that knowledge on a ‘need to
know’ basis.

Gunny’s plan worked like a charm and the three men were able to move all of the contraband without anyone
noticing. Mark was back in bed by 5:15 and he slept in until almost 8:00. He got up and ran and did his other PT and
was just starting to fix himself some of Manny’s eggs when the Sheriff arrived. He brought another man with him who
he introduced as Greg Hardy. Greg was the quiet type, but very observant, Mark noticed.

Mark invited the two men to join him for some breakfast and they graciously declined, but took him up on his offer of
a cup of coffee. Mark explained to the sheriff what had happened the night before. The lawman said that he would get
a warrant for Jon’ arrest for all the good it would do. Mark didn’t want to tell the sheriff about what they had found in
Jon’s house, but he didn’t feel right not saying anything. He suggested that anyone who approached Jon should be care-
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ful. He told the sheriff that Jon had been in supply and he might have hardware that law enforcement didn’t come up
on everyday.

“I see” Said the sheriff. “Do you know what he might have?”

Mark swallowed hard and hoped the lean lawman didn't notice. “No. I just suspect he might have had a ba-
zooka or something hidden somewhere.”

“Maybe, we ought to look in his house and see if we find anything” He said in a tone that sounded a little sus-
picious to Mark.

“If you want to, that would be fine. We looked around yesterday and there is nothing in there that we saw.” At
least that wasn’t a lie since they had moved it all, Mark thought.

“Naw. I guess we don't need to. Probably nothing there and we'll most likely never see him again anyway.”

When Mark asked the official about Mrs. Olsen’s body, he said that he could take it, but he felt that with the
current state of affairs, it would be best if the community buried her here and gave her a nice service. Mark saw the
logic in this. Many people had been shocked by what had happened and a funeral service might help them deal with
the situation. After Mark finished his eggs, they went out to the squad car to retrieve the radio that the sheriff had
brought.

As they walked down to the CP to deliver the handheld radio and charging base that the sherift was loaning
them, Greg asked Mark a few questions. Mostly about how they were getting along and how they had come up with the
ideas to do the thing that they were doing.

Mark was careful and selective about what he told the man, but let him know that the whole community had
pulled together. He was curious about why the man was asking questions and said as much. Greg explained that he
and some others were trying to do the same thing on the other side of the county. Mark hoped he would elaborate, but
when he didn’t Mark didn’t push it. On their way back to his house, Mark was questioned about the security arrange-
ments at Silver Hills.

Mark was polite, but to the point. “I'm sorry, Greg, but I don't feel comfortable discussing that.”

Mark noticed that the Sherift and Greg exchanged a short look before Greg answered. “That’s fine. I under-
stand”

When they got back to the house the Sheriff and Greg shook Mark’s hand and thanked him. Then they got into
the cruiser and headed out. Mark wondered what the men’s real agenda had been. The look that they had given each
other told Mark that more was going on than they were revealing. He pushed those thoughts to a back burner in his
mind, however, and concentrated on where they would bury Marian. It only made sense to inter her in her own yard.
There was a particularly large live oak tree in the back that would make a nice resting-place. He would discuss it with
the others.

The next day, Saturday, everyone gathered and they buried Marian Olsen under the stately tree. Almost all of
the men and many of the women had helped to dig the grave. Rodney and David had built a casket and Chaparo had
welded a cross to place on the grave. Roberta Simmons, Marian’s best friend, gave the eulogy. Brother Bob came to give
a few words of comfort and his wife sang ‘Amazing Grace’ like an angel. Mark thought it sad that Marian had no family
at her funeral. But as he looked around at all of the somber faces around the gravesite, he realized that this community
had become a big family. As sad and tragic as Marian’s death was, it had served to galvanize everyone together and
Mark took comfort in that fact.

That night the president gave his ‘Happy Talk’ At least that was what Mark was starting to think of his address-
es as. He didn’t say or promise anything of substance, just told everyone to work together and hope for the best and
everything was going to be OK. Mark wondered if people really believed the empty promises that they heard. After all,
the president was a politician, and they would lie during the best of times. How could anyone take anything someone
from Washington would say at a time like this seriously? I guess most probably do, he thought. Just as a drowning man
will latch on to anything that will raft him up...even if it’s a floating mine.

The next few days went quickly. On Sunday, they went to church. On Monday, the garden committee tilled the
next quarter acre at Mark’s house. Since Jess and Lisa were teaching school during the day now, he and Jim ended up
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planting most of it. On Tuesday, Mark helped Jim with his shooting classes. Each night he pulled his guard duty shift.
All of the shifts were beginning to see a few more people escaping from the city each day. The passerby’s were almost
all small groups or families and didn't give the guards any problems. Some had places that they were trying to get to,
but many didn’t. None of them had any skills that the community would be interested in, but the residents were able to
glean some information from them. It seemed that the situation in the camps was slowly worsening. There was plenty
of food and water, but just not enough space or privacy. Tempers were becoming short and some felt it was time to get
out of Dodge before it really got bad. The escapees reported that the camp guards were understaffed and under moti-
vated, so breaking out was not a hard thing to do. Even though none were invited to stay in Silver Hills, they were given
food and water and any other assistance that the community could spare.

Enough people had signed up for guard duty after Marian’s funeral that now they were working the four days
on, three days off that Gunny liked. Mark liked it too. He would have off every Thursday, Friday, and Saturday. Life was
starting take on a routine that had some feeling of normalcy. Mark wondered how long it would last.

Chapter 35 - Domestic Bliss

Mark woke up at 1:25. It was five minutes before his alarm clock would have done the job. Mark realized that
he must be getting used to this schedule. He found that he didn’t need a nap after his shift as much and now he was
waking up without the alarm. He rose, got dressed, and reported to the CP. Some of his men were already there drink-
ing coftee and quietly visiting. Mark went over to the Coleman stove and old percolator that someone had donated, and
poured himself a cup of the steaming black nectar. He had never been a coffee drinker, but he found that he liked a cup
before he started his shift. Plus, since he was out of Diet Cokes, he had to get his caffeine somehow.

Delta shift started at 2, and Mark required the men to report in by 1:45. That gave him time to make sure that
everyone showed up and to assign posts. Some of the men were having a little trouble adjusting to being on the night
shift, so if one of them showed up a little late, Mark tried to be understanding. He was almost through giving out as-
signments when he saw Craig Banks trying to sneak in to the back as if he had been there all along. Mark would not
have paid it much attention, except that this was the third night in a row that it had happened. He assigned Craig to his
group of rovers. That way he could talk to him about it without making a big deal of it. It wasn’t long after they started
patrolling the neighborhood that Mark had his chance to tell the man how important it was that he showed up on time.

“I know, Mark. I'm sorry. It won't happen again.” Craig apologized.

Two things surprised Mark. The first was good. Craig had not given him a bunch of lame excuses. He had
owned up to his mistake and said that he would not repeat it. It was unusual for someone to not try to justify their be-
havior when they were reprimanded. The second surprise was not good. Craig was chewing gum, so Mark could not be
sure, but he thought he smelled alcohol on Craig’s breath. Craig seemed to be totally in control of his faculties though,
and it was only a guess on Mark’s part, so he decided not to ask. These men were all volunteers, after all, and it wouldn’t
be right to accuse them of something without more than a suspicion.

A few minutes later Mark got a call on his radio. Dwight Rittiman was on Command Post duty tonight.

“CP to Delta leader”

“Go ahead CP”

“OP reports 8 to 10 men approaching from the west. They are moving slowly and quietly. OP is unsure if they
are armed or not. ETA to gate is two to three minutes.”

Gunny had been drilling everyone pretty hard the last week or so and Mark expected to hear the words “This is
a drill’ any second.

“This is NOT a drill. Repeat, this is not a drill.” Was what he heard from the CP. It took a second for it to sink
in.

“Roger, CP. Rover Two, what is your position?” Mark’s mind went into overdrive. They had practiced having
only a couple minutes warning, but never had anyone actually gotten so close without being seen or heard. He had a
feeling in his stomach that said this was big trouble. A feeling that he had come to trust over the years, and especially

Page 173
©2002-2005 David Crawford All Rights Reserved



Lights Out by HalfFast --- www.frugalsquirrels.com

lately.

“Delta leader, Rover Two is at the back fence”

Damn, Mark thought. They couldn’t be further away. “OK, Rover Two, make your way as quickly and quietly to
position 3 as possible. Signal me when you get there”

“Roger that”

“CP, have the reserves assemble at your location and wait. Signal me when they get there. If you hear any gun-
shots, sound the warning horn. Also have the runner get Gunny. I have a bad feeling about this.”

“10-4, Delta leader”

Mark was glad that his group was close to the front. He turned to his men and told them to go to position two.
He would go to the gate foxhole that they were now calling position one. After the previous encounter, they had im-
proved the system they used for this situation. There was now a second person in the CP to get the reserves up and to
wake up Gunny if necessary. The FRS radios had call tones built into them and they had worked out a way to use those
to let everyone know when a group was in position. They had drilled on this pretty hard and everyone was getting
pretty good at it during the drills. Mark prayed that they didn't have to find out how good they were for real right now.

Mark slipped down into the foxhole with the gate guards. He looked to the west and could just make out the
shapes of men on the side of the road. They were moving slowly and cautiously. As they approached, Mark could see
that they were walking in ranger file with 5 or 6 yards between them. They all had weapons held at the ready. Who-
ever these men were, they knew what they were doing. Mark looked back to the east and saw Rover Two slipping into
their foxhole one man at a time about the time the visitors got even with the gate. The man in front held up his hand
and stopped. The men behind him seeing this stopped and crouched down holding their weapons out and looking all
around. The first man held an AR-15 and the second had an AK. The rest seemed to have an odd assortment of deer
rifles and shotguns. Mark froze hoping the men would not be able to see if anyone was in the foxhole as long as he and
the gate guards didn’t move. He turned the volume all the way down on his radio, as he knew that Rover Two would be
signaling him any second. He didn’t want the men on the road to hear anything. Mark watched the second man in line
come up to the first. He could barely make out their whispered conversation.

“Is this it?” The second man asked.

“No.” The first whispered shaking his head. “We still have a ways to go.”

“Then why did we stop?”

“I thought I saw something moving up ahead.”

“What was it?”

“Are you fuckin’ stupid or something, Ripper? If I knew what it was I would have said so. God damn, I teach
you boys all the shit I learned in the Rangers and you come up and ask a fuckin’ stupid question like that” Mark almost
snickered at the aggravation in the first man’s voice.

“Well, where was it?”

“Now that’s a question I can god damn answer. It was about a hundred yards ahead and thirty or forty yards off
of the road”

“I don’t see anything.”

“You see this gate?”

“Yeah. What's that got to do with what you saw?”

Mark could hear the frustration in the first man’s voice. “Whoever put up this gate doesn’t want any uninvited
guests. I bet they are watching us right now. The movement I saw was probably some guys moving into position to
cover us in case we try to get into whatever place this is.”

“So what do we do?”

“They haven’'t made a move yet, so they probably don’t want no trouble. They are most likely watching to see if
we keep going, and that is exactly what we are going to do. No point openin’ a big can of grief that we don’t need.”

“But don’t you think they might have some good shit in there?”

“You are fuckin’ stupid aren’t you?” The first man reached out and slapped the second on the side of his head.
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“Ouch!”

“Shut up. Of course they have some good shit in there. But there are seven of us and who knows how many of
them. Whatever shit they might have ain’t worth dying for. Besides, we already have a place to go”

“OK. The second man said rubbing his head. “But can we stop soon? My feet are killing me. And, I'm hungry
too”

“Damn, Ripper. For a bad mo-fo you sure do whine a lot” The leader snarled. Then his tone changed. “I got a
bad feeling about this place. Let’s get away from here and then we'll look for a place to camp.”

“OK? The second man waved his hand at the others and they slowly moved down the road.

When they were clear, Mark turned up his radio and whispered in it. “Everyone, this is Delta leader. Do not
acknowledge. Just stay quiet and still. Tangos intend to pass on by. Let’s not give them a reason to change their minds.
Delta leader out.”

After about ten minutes, Mark peeked over the sandbags that ringed the foxhole. “OP. This is Delta leader. Can
you still see the tangos?” Mark whispered into the CB radio that was installed in the side of the foxhole.

“They passed out of sight a few minutes ago. It looked like they picked the pace up a little as they got past our
eastern fence.” The reply came back.

“Roger that” Mark switched back to the little FRS radio. With all of the security improvements they had made,
they still didn’t have enough radios to put everyone on the same frequency. “Rover two, resume your rounds. CP, is the
old man there?”

“Affirmative, Delta leader”

“Tell him I'll be there in five minutes as soon as I get my crew out of position two.”

“He says you better shake your ass and be here in three.” Mark could hear the amusement in Dwight’s voice.

“Roger that” He groaned. At least his bad feeling had been wrong. He was grateful for that, even though he still
had it for some reason.

Mark jogged over to the foxhole that his men were in and had them follow him to the CP. When he got there,
Gunny had two hot cups of coffee in his hand. He handed one to Mark. Mark tasted the joe as Gunny spoke.

“Two to three minutes, huh?”

“It was probably closer to four. They were moving slow. But they got way closer to the gate before we saw them
than anyone else ever has. These boys knew their stuff. I overheard the leader say he was in the Rangers. I don’t think
the others were, but the leader said he had taught them what he knew”

“How did our guys do?”

“Good. The drills have really made a difference”

“Rangers, huh? Those boys are pretty good. Not as good as Marines, but darn close. What else did they say?”

Mark gave Gunny the complete rundown of what he had heard. Gunny asked if Mark thought that when the
Ranger said they had a place to go if he meant a place of their own or a place they had already planned to attack. Mark
thought it was the first, but the second fellow asking about the stuff that they had here gave him some doubts.

“I agree” Gunny concurred. “Are you going to call the Sherift?”

“Yes. But I'll do it at the end of my shift. It's probably just a bunch of farm boys trying to get home to see their
momma. No point in waking him up for that”

Gunny agreed, finished the last swig of his coffee, and then hobbled back to his house. Mark and his men con-
tinued their rounds.

At the end of his shift, Mark radioed the sheriff. The lawman agreed that while the men were probably harm-
less, a couple of things did seem a little suspicious. He especially didn’t like the sound of the nickname that Mark had
overheard, and if only the computers were up, he could run it through the system and see what he could find out. He
said that he would send a car out to look around later. They had had some problems in town during the night and all
of his guys were tied up right now. It sounded to Mark like he would like to say more but couldn’t over the radio. Mark
thanked him and signed off.

As Mark walked back to his house his thoughts drifted to his family in Waco. He wondered how they were do-
ing. Before the burst, he had talked to them at least once a week. Now it had been almost a month. He knew that Mike
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had always thought something like this could happen and that he had prepared for it. Mark was sure they were fine,
but he certainly would like to know beyond a feeling. As he approached his house, his thoughts were interrupted by the
sound of Jess’s voice. It had that tone that told him that someone was in trouble with her. He walked through the door
just in time to see David catch the end of a long tirade.

“I hate it!” David yelled back at his mother. “You can’t make me go!”

Mark had never seen his son have this much attitude with his mother. He started to get angry and jump right
into the middle of this fracas. However, he calmed himself down and waited to be invited in. He didn’t have to wait
long.

“Aaarrggg!” Jess turned to look at her husband. “Your son doesn’'t want to go to school. I can’t do anything with
him and I'm already late for class. You have to talk some sense into him!”

Jess grabbed her book bag and stomped out the door. Mark loved his wife, but she sometimes had a way of
alienating even him. First, why was David his son when there was a problem and her son when there wasn't? Second,
why did he have to talk some sense into the boy? She was the smart one in the family. If she couldn’t do it, how was he
supposed to? Mark looked at the boy standing before him. He was turning into a young man, Mark realized.

“You want to tell me what the problem is?”

“They treat me like a baby. I'm in a class with all the little kids and I hate it. I'm not going back and you can't
make me!”

Mark took a deep breath. David was never this stubborn, that was usually Sam’s department. Mark made sure
that his words were calm and well chosen. “If you want to be treated as an adult, then you should act like one. The last
time I checked, I was still your father and telling me what I can and can’t do is not likely to help me see things from
your perspective, is it?”

Mark hated this part of parenting. He guessed that all parents did. It’s a dirty job, but somebody has to do it,
Mark thought. His words had the desired effect.

David hung his head. “No, sir”

“You want to try again?”

“Dad, Mom put me and Joey in the class with all the little kids. Most of them are third and fourth graders. I
don’t think I'm learning anything and I hate being treated like a baby”

“Are you doing the same work as the smaller children?”

“Not exactly, but in music class we have to sing the kiddy songs. And the teachers talk to us like we're in kin-
dergarten. Joey hates it, too”

“Did you try to discuss this with your mother like an adult?”

“Yes, sir. But she told me there wasn't any choice. There aren’t enough kids my age to have a class just for us.
She told me to get over it and get my butt to school. You know Mom.” David finally cracked a small grin at his last
sentence. It was a little thing that the Turner children and their father said quite often to explain the unpredictability of
their mother and wife.

“Yes, sir” Mark grinned back. “I know, Mom.” His face took a more serious look. “I tell you what. I'll talk to
your mom about this. I can’t promise you anything will change, but I'll try. In the mean time, you go back to class and
have a good attitude for the rest of the week and we’ll do anything you want on Saturday”

“Really?”

“Yes, really”

“I want to go to the deer lease and hunt.”

Mark paused. “Well, T don’t know if we...”

“You said anything I wanted!” David reminded his father.

“So I did. OK, you got it. Now, like your mother said, get your butt to school!”

“Yes, sir!”

Mark watched the boy...young man, he corrected himself...run out the door and toward whoever’s house he
was supposed to be at. Mark swallowed hard. He didn’t know if he was more apprehensive about telling Gunny that he
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was going to the lease or talking to Jess about David’s problem. He realized he was being silly. He was way more afraid
of his wife than he was of Gunny. Might as well get the easy one done, he thought. He walked over to Gunny and Ab-
by’s house and talked to the old man. Gunny argued with him a little, but gave in fairly quickly when Mark said that he
would only be gone for the day and agreed to take two or three men with him. The two men talked for a while and then
it was time for guard class. Mark walked with Gunny down to the class. He always enjoyed Gunny’s classes. Gunny
always had a unique method to getting his point across and Mark liked being the student instead of the teacher for a
change. Plus, Gunny always had a drill or exercise that would test how well you paid attention. And woe to anyone who
didn't.

After class, Mark went home for lunch. Jim had been working in the garden and he was washing up in the
kitchen sink. He said hello as his friend walked in.

“Hey, Jim. I promised David I'd take him to the lease on Saturday. You want to go?”

Just then Samantha opened the screen door into the kitchen. “I want to go.” She said.

“We're going hunting” Mark informed her as if she hadn’t heard him right. She never wanted to go, even
though her dad had invited her many times.

“Well, duh?” She tipped her head to the right like when she did her famous blond impression. “What else would
you do there?”

“But you never want to go.”

“That was when I could go to the mall or the movies. Now a hunting trip sounds like big time fun.” She smiled.

“OK, you’re in”

“I'm in, too.” Jim chimed in.

The three of them started setting the dining room table for lunch. The weather had finally cooled oft enough
that they could eat inside. Jess or Lisa had left a big pot of stew simmering on the stove and it smelled really good. The
table was almost ready when Jess, David, Lisa, and the twins came into the house. Mark turned to look at his wife,
expecting that she would be pleased with him for getting David back to school. Maybe, the thought flashed through his
mind, she’ll be happy enough that I'll get a little reward later. He smiled at his bride.

“David tells me that you intend to take him hunting on Saturday” The tone that she had used with David this
morning was now being directed at Mark. There goes my reward, he thought.

“Yeah” Mark drawled out the word, knowing that she hated it. “That’s the deal I made with him to get him to
go to school for the rest of the week””

“Are you going to bribe him with something every week?”

Jess usually didn’t like to argue in front of other people or even the kids for that matter. Something must really
be under her skin. Mark tried to bring the intensity of the ‘discussion’ down to a more civilized level. “No. Just this
one’

“Then what?”

“By then I'm sure you will have found a solution to David’s concerns about his class.”

Mark hoped that would at least put this discussion on hold for the moment, but he could see that his efforts
to de-escalate and end the argument had backfired. Jess’s face turned redder than her hair and Mark braced himself
for Hurricane Jessica. She launched into a five-minute philippic that Mark was able to make little sense of. As he stood
there in the category 5 winds of anger he saw Sam whisper something to Dave. The youngest Turner grabbed the twins
and herded them outside while Sam filled four bowls with stew and followed him. At least his children had the insight
to evacuate before the terrible storm surge reached their level. Jim and Lisa just stood dumbfounded, mouths slightly
ajar. It was as if they couldn’t look away from the fury of the frightening power of nature displayed before them. Just
when Mark thought that the hurricane was blowing itself out, he found that it was only the eye of the storm and he
had best keep his hatches, mostly the one under his nose, battened. The lee side of the storm was a little easier to make
sense of. It seemed that the education committee as a whole had agreed on the class composition and not just her. Mark
also discovered that while there were a lot of high schoolers, there were only a few junior high school kids in the neigh-
borhood. Not nearly enough to justify a separate class for them. The wind then switched direction suddenly as they will
do in a tropical storm and blew from the ‘it’s too dangerous for you and David to go by yourselves’ bearing.
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“Jim’s going with me.” Mark said without thinking.

Lisa’s head snapped around to look at her husband as a tree might snap in the ferocious wind and find its way
to destroy a house or a car. Mark caught the “Thanks buddy’ look from his friend out of the corner of his eye.

“Well, Gunny probably won't let you go anyway.” The howling wind taunted.

“I already talked to him, and he said it was OK as long as I took a couple of guys with me” ‘Na, na-na, na-na,
na! SO THERE!" Mark thought smugly.

The wind grew silent. To the uninitiated it might look as if the storm were over, but not to the seasoned tem-
pest sufferer that Mark had become in his twenty years of matrimony. No, the typhoon was attempting to back out over
the warm sea waters, reorganize itself, intensify, and batter him again in a manner that would make the first time seem
like a summer squall. Mark had seen this before and he had to stop it right now. There was only one force that could
stop a hurricane in its tracks. That was an arctic blast of cold air that Texans called a ‘Blue Northern’

“Listen, you told me to get him to go to school, and I did. If you don't like the way I did it, then don’t ask me for
anymore help. Now let’s eat” It wasn’t so much what he said as the way he said it. His voice had that cold steely sound
that he didn’t use often. He knew that when he used that tone she would not say another word, maybe for several days,
but he had withstood all that he could take.

The four adults sat down to what was the quietest meal that Mark could ever remember. Even the children,
outside at the picnic table, were as quiet a church mice. After lunch, the girls and the kids headed back to school. Jim
and Mark cleaned up the kitchen.

“That was enlightening.” Jim said with just a hint of sarcasm.

“Yeah. That’s what I get for marrying an Irish girl” Mark smiled weakly.

“No. I was talking about you. I never saw a man get the last word in.”

“My friend, I may have won the battle, but the war is far from over. And even if I win, I lose, if you know what I
mean.”

“I'm afraid I do” Jim agreed. “I know exactly what you mean?”

Chapter 36 - Apologies, Debts, and Invitations

It was chilly that night in Mark’s room. Not from the weather. It was still in the upper 60’s and lower 70’s at
night this time of year. It was from Jess. Mark had withstood these ‘freezes’ many times before. The best thing to do was
to be civil and act like nothing was wrong. Then after two or three days the climate would start to warm up.

Mark was off for the next three days, so he slept in on this morning. When he got up, Jess and the kids were
already gone. It was Thursday and he had to teach his two classes, but other than that he could do what he wanted. He
fixed himself a big breakfast and sat down to enjoy a peaceful meal. Afterwards, he headed over to Manny’s to see if he
would like to go hunting. Manny was excited about the prospect of getting some meat. He asked if he could bring his
son-in-law and Mark agreed. Then Manny invited his friend out back to have a look at something.

When they got to the chicken coop, Mark could see several chickens scratching in the dirt with chicks in tow.

“Your investments are growing.” Manny said with a smile. “It will not be long before they are mature.”

“Thanks, Manny. I can’t tell you how much I appreciate this.”

“Mi amigo, it is I who appreciates how much you have done for me and my familia

After visiting with Manny for a few more minutes and cementing the plans for the hunting trip, Mark headed
over to teach his morning class. It went without incident, as did the afternoon one. The atmosphere was still cool at
dinner and even the meeting seemed subdued. Someone brought up the empty house that Jon and Marian had once
occupied and asked if it should be given to someone else to live in. While a few people spoke up with ideas about what
to do with the Olsen house, most seemed to be taken by surprise at the suggestion that the house be occupied. In the
end, everyone agreed to think about what to do and discuss it at a later time.

On Friday, Mark spent part of the day getting ready for his trip. He checked the truck and filled it with fuel. He
pulled the rifles and shotguns that they would use out of the safe and checked to make sure they were clean and ready.
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He pulled out the ammo they would need and packed it into a big duffel bag along with skinning knives, a bone saw,
and some ziplock bags. He pulled out and cleaned up all of his ice chests. He had run the generator a little longer than
usual last night to freeze some of his ice bottles and all of the ice cube trays that everyone had lent him. He would do
the same tonight.

The rest of the day he spent planning out and starting on his chicken coop. He had estimated the size of Man-
ny’s coop and tried to duplicate it. He had searched through the literature in his study for help on building his, but he
couldn’t find anything that helped. He had set the poles for the corners and was starting to nail the plywood up on the
sides when Gunny came hobbling up.

“Hey, Karate man, what cha workin’ on?”

“I'm building a chicken coop, Gunny. Manny has some chickens for me and they’re almost big enough to move
over here. I can’t wait to have our own eggs”

“Man, that do sound good. Where’s your trench?”

“Huh?” Mark stared at the old sergeant blankly.

“The trench to bury the sides of the coop in. You know, so’s the ‘coons ‘n’ ‘possums can't dig in”

“You're supposed to do that?”

“Don’t you know nothin’? If n you don’t, you'll have every varmint in the county stealin’ your eggs and killin’
your chickens. Didn’t you ask George about this?”

“I didn’t want to bother him. He’s been so busy with the gardens and all”

“Well you could have looked it up in a book” Gunny chided.

“I looked for one, but I don’t have any that tell how to build a chicken coop”

“Where’s them books I gave ya when you fixed my truck?”

Mark looked up at the sky and slapped his forehead. When he looked back down, Gunny was smiling like the
Cheshire Cat.

“I always wondered why your forehead was so flat” Gunny teased.

“I completely forgot about those books.” Mark turned and walked into his shed. A moment later he walked
out with the box that Gunny had given him a month ago. He pulled out the “Back to Basics” book and started flip-
ping through the pages. When he found the section on chickens there was a detailed plan for a coop. He studied it for
a minute and then looked up to thank Gunny for reminding him about the books. The old man was nowhere in sight.
Mark just shook his head and laughed to himself. The old geezer could sure move quickly and quietly when it suited
him, he thought. Mark went back to the book and saw that he didn’t have to change his plans much. He pulled out a
spade and started digging a 12-inch trench around the perimeter. He was almost finished when Sam called him for
dinner. Normally he would have finished what he was doing before he went in, but that would only give Jess a reason
to stay mad at him longer. She hated it when he didn’t come straight to dinner when it was ready. He put up his tools,
grabbed the box of books and headed into the house. He set the box down on the counter.

“What you got there, Mark?” Jim asked.

“It’s those books that Gunny gave me when we fixed his truck. I had forgotten about them until Gunny re-
minded me. I found a plan to build the chicken coop.”

“Let me look at those.” Lisa requested. She pulled one of the books out and started flipping through the pages.
Then she pulled another out. “Look at this, Jess. They show how to do a lot of things the old fashioned way. There is
even a section on herbal medicines.”

“Really?!” Jess exclaimed. She moved over to look at the books with Lisa and the two of them were oohing and
ahing over all of the information. Jess looked over at Mark. “These are wonderful. You said that Gunny gave them to
you?”

Mark nodded his head. It was the first time she had really spoken to him since the big fight.

“Remind me to thank him.” She said smiling.

Everyone sat down to dinner and the conversation quickly turned to the big hunting trip. Everyone that was
going was obviously excited, and even Jess and Lisa seemed a little eager at the prospect of getting some fresh meat.

“What all are you going to hunt for?” Lisa asked.
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“We'll hunt for deer, hogs, and turkey first thing in the morning and late in the afternoon. During the middle
of the day, we'll do a little dove hunting” Mark answered.

“Is deer season open?” Jess inquired.

“Technically only if you're hunting with archery equipment. But, I don’t think the game wardens are going to
be very strict in these circumstances, even if they can get out into the field”

“Well, make sure you bring me a turkey or two. I just love wild turkey on the grill”

“We know, Mom.” David grinned. “That’s what you always tell us”

“I just have to make sure that you don’t forget what I like” She shot back at David, but winked at Mark where
no one else could see. Mark was a little confused at the signals she was sending. She should still be mad for a day or
two. Or maybe even longer. He couldn’t think of a time since they had been married that she hadn’t been mad for at
least three days after a big fight. He decided to put it out of his mind and join in with the happiest conversations that
he could remember since the burst. They listened to the news after dinner, but, as usual, there was nothing new. At the
meeting the subject of the Olsen house came up again. Someone suggested that it be saved for a doctor to live in, if they
ever found one. Somehow that suggestion didn't sit well with Mark. He didn’t feel comfortable with giving the house
to anyone. Evidently, he wasn't the only one with such feelings as several people spoke up and said exactly what he
was thinking. Scott Simmons suggested that perhaps the CP could be moved into the Olsen garage. He said that it was
more centrally located than his garage. He also said that he really needed his garage back since some of his friends had
come to stay with him. This suggestion was voted on and approved. Plans were made to move everything over to the
Olsen place over the weekend. Scott seemed to be very pleased. Mark looked around and realized that while they were
not having the population explosion that they had seen, their community was still steadily growing. Before the meet-
ing was adjourned, Mary Patterson suggested that perhaps it was time for another street dance. That suggestion was
met with tremendous support. Since the children now had school, next Friday night was agreed on. Mary was put in
charge, since it was her idea, and the official meeting was concluded.

Most everyone stuck around for a little while, as had become customary. Mark still pumped water for those
who needed it and this was the time that the showers were taken. Most people just hung around to visit with each
other. Some of the women gathered around Mary to discuss the party plans. Manny came up and reconfirmed the
departure time for in the morning. He told Mark that he was really looking forward to tomorrow. Mark verified that he
was anxious to go as well. When the crowd had thinned out a little, Mark headed for his room. It would be a long day
tomorrow and he wanted to get some shuteye.

Inside his bedroom, Mark laid out the clothes that he would wear in the morning. He heard a soft knock and
turned to see his wife’s head poking through the doorway.

“Are you getting ready for bed?” She asked sweetly.

“Yeah, 3:30 comes early.” He tried not to sound too shocked that she was talking to him.

“I wanted to tell you how sorry I am about getting mad at you the other day. I was wrong.” She said as she
opened the door all the way and nervously fidgeted with the doorknob. After what seemed a long moment she spoke
again. “Aren’t you going to say anything?”

“We've been married for almost 20 years and this is only like the third time you've apologized to me. I guess
I'm in too much shock to say much of anything”

“Even so, when somebody says they’re sorry, you should say something.” She took a step toward him.

“Okay. How sorry are you?”

“Why don’t you let me show you?” She whispered as she closed the door behind her.

* ok %

“Mark, Mark! Wake up!”
Mark opened one eye and looked at his wife. “What?”
“Someone’s at the door. She says she needs your help.”
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Mark had been sleeping deeply and his brain was not in gear yet. “She who? Help with what?”

“I didn’t catch her name. She said her family was being attacked!”

“Where? In the subdivision?” His brain was starting to work. He jumped out of bed and into the clothes he had
laid out the night before. He glanced at his watch and saw it said 12:30.

“No. She lives somewhere else. She said her father knows you.”

Mark grabbed his boots and socks and went to the living room. Standing there was one of the guards, Mark
recognized him, but couldn’t remember his name, and a tall thin black girl that he estimated to be 18. Mark could tell
that she was pretty, but she was a mess. She was dressed in black sweats and running shoes. Her hands were visibly
shaking, her face was puffed up from crying, and she was perspiring to the point that her sweatshirt was soaked.

The guard spoke first. “Mark, this girl came running up to the gate asking for you.”

Before Mark could respond, the girl started talking in one long run on sentence. “Are you Mr. Turner? My dad
sent me to get you...oh my God...he said you would help us...I hope I got here in time...he said you would know what
to do...they said they would kill him and then...oh my God...what they said they would do to me and Mom...it’s hor-
rible...we have to get back and help them...you will help us won't you?”

“Calm down. Just take a few deep breaths.” The girl did as Mark instructed. Now, what is your name?”

“My name is Trini. Trini Jones. My dad is Ralph.”

“Ralph Jones, the lawyer?”

The girl nodded her head.

“Okay, Trini. Tell me what happened”

The girl started to get excited again. “We woke up when they started shooting at the house. There was a cross
burning in the front yard and some men were yelling at Daddy. He started shooting back and they all went and hid
down in the ditch. He made me dress all in black and come run to get you.”

“How many men were there?” Mark asked.

“I don’t know for sure. Maybe four or five? It could be more...I'm just not sure Mr. Turner”

“That’s OK, Trini” Mark tried to assure the girl. “Don’t worry, we're going to help you” He turned toward the
guard. “Get down to the CP and have the rovers meet me there in five minutes. We'll need all of the FRS radios. Also,
have the CP duty guard wake the reserves. Tell them they have five minutes. And this is not a drill. Then have him call
the sheriff and tell him that Ralph Jones” house is being attacked on county road 228”

“You got it, Mark” The man wheeled around, went out the door, and ran toward the Command Post.

Mark looked at Jess. “Wake Jim up and tell him what’s going on. Tell him to have his truck at the Command
Post in five...make that four minutes. I'm going to get Gunny. You take care of Trini.”

“NO! I'm going with you.” Trini insisted.

“OK. I don't have time to argue. But you will do exactly what I tell you.”

The tall girl nodded her head. Jess had already gone to get Jim. Mark ran back into his room and came back out
with his FAL and a bag of loaded magazines. His Colt was already on his hip. He and Trini sprinted out to the Jeep and
headed for Abby’s house. One of the guards was already knocking on the door when Mark got there. Gunny answered
about the time Mark reached the door.

“Gunny, we have a situation at the lawyer’s house. The one that helped us after the MZB shooting. Now he has
a bunch of MZBs or KKKs or something at his house. Can you come with us and bring your truck for some of the men
to ride in?”

“Sure. Didja wake the reserves?”

“Yes, sir”

“OK, then give me a minute and I'll be down to the CP” Gunny disappeared behind the door.

Mark drove his Jeep down to the CP. Most of the men that he had requested were already there. The guard that
had brought Trini up to the Turners’ was filling them in. Mark spoke as some of the last men were arriving. He quickly
told them what was up and said that this was strictly a voluntary mission. Jim drove up a few seconds later and Gunny
was less than a minute behind him. Gunny got out of his truck and spoke briefly with Jim and then a couple of the
reserves. Jim got out of his truck and the two neighbors climbed into MarK’s Jeep. Two of the reserves climbed behind
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the wheels of the trucks. Every man there climbed into one of the pickup trucks. Mark climbed behind the wheel and
started down the hill with the trucks in tow. The gate was already open and the vehicles made a quick right turn onto
the county road.

As they drove, Gunny asked Trini questions. “How many are there?”

“I think four or five” The girl had seemed to have regained most of her composure.

“Where are they in relationship to the house?”

“When I left, they were all in front as far as I could tell. A couple of them had been behind the house, but when
Daddy started shooting at them they ran back to the front and got into the ditch with the others”

“Are there any houses close to yours?”

“No. We have ten acres and it’s farmland all around us”

“How much cover is there around the house?”

“What do you mean?”

“Are there lots of trees and stuff for people to hide behind?”

“Most of the property around the house is pretty clear. There are a couple of big trees close to the house but
then it is all grass for quite a ways. Maybe 50 or 60 yards. Then it is thick brush on the sides and in the back. There is
not much between the house and the road.

“OK. Good. How long ago did this start?”

The girl looked at her watch. “I left the house 33 minutes ago. It probably started 10 minutes before that.”

Mark raised his eyebrows. That meant that Trini had run from her house to Silver Hills in about 25 minutes. It
had to be over three miles, he thought. Not bad. Mark turned oft onto the gravel road that the Jones house was on.

“Did they seem to be in a hurry?” Gunny inquired.

“Daddy said he knew how these guys work. They want to go nice and slow and scare their victims as much as
possible. He figured I could make it to Mr. Turner’s and get help before they did much beside shoot out the windows in
the house.”

Gunny nodded his head thoughtfully for a moment and then spoke to Mark and Jim. “Cut off the headlights
and slow down. I don’t want them to see or hear us”

“But, Gunny, maybe we could just scare them off if they see us coming.” Jim objected.

“Jimbo, you ever scare off a big rat?”

“Yeah”

“What happened?”

“He came right back”

“That’s right. The only way to get rid of a rat is to catch him. Trini, tell Mark when we get about a quarter mile
from your house so he can stop.”

Less than two minutes later the convoy was stopped and everyone was listening to Gunny’s instructions. Oc-
casionally a shot could be heard from up the road. More often than not, it would be followed by a string of obscenities.
When Gunny was finished laying out his plan, he asked for questions.

“What do I do?” Trini demanded.

“I want you to stay here and tell the sheriff where we are and what our plan is in case he shows up before we get
our trap set”

“Okay, Sir”

“Anything else?” The old man asked the men as if he knew there wouldn’t be any more questions. “Then let’s
move out.”

Mark took the four men that were assigned to him and crossed the fence on the opposite side of the road from
the house. Their assignment was to cross the field in front of the house far enough away that the MZBs wouldn’t detect
them and come back out onto the road on the far side of the house. Jim was crossing the fence on the house side and
making his way behind the home with his men. Gunny had the oldest and slowest men with him. They would make
their way down the road and complete the triangle. Mark and his men jogged slowly across the field. There wasn't
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much of a moon out and Mark didn’t want any of his men falling and making noise or getting hurt. When they had
reached the far side and were starting to recross the fence, Mark heard Jim radio Gunny that he was in position. Mark
and his men, once across the fence, eased down into the deep ditch on the side of the road they had crossed the field
on. They crept closer to the house until they were within 100 yards of the MZBs. From this distance Mark could make
out almost everything that was being said between the attackers and Ralph Jones.

“You might as well come out, nigger. Sooner or later we're gonna getcha anyway. If we have to, we’ll burn you
out” The voice was vaguely familiar to Mark.

A shot came from the house. “Why don’t you come try, you bastards. I got plenty of ammo, and I'm not going
anywhere. Just stick your head up and see what happens.”

A volley of shots came from the ditch. “Suit yourself, mud duck. But if we have to smoke you out, it’s gonna be
hard on you. Come on out and we'll do you quick. Then we'll let your women go. Otherwise, we’ll make them scream
while you watch”

The only answer Ralph gave was three quick shots from his rifle.

Mark whispered in the radio that he was ready. Gunny confirmed that he had received the message and then
asked Jim if he could see any MZBs on his side of the house.

“Negative.” Jim replied. “There’s not really any cover back here. We're over 150 yards behind the house and
there are only two or three places that a man could hide.”

“OK, then. It looks like they’re all in the ditch in front of the house. I'm gonna tell them to surrender. If they
start shooting, Mark and I will open up on them. If you still don’t see anyone, move up behind the house and use it for
cover. Then we'll have them in a three way crossfire”

“Roger”

Mark looked toward Gunny’s position. He could not see the old man, but he could hear him. “You men attack-
ing the house. You are totally surrounded by a superior force. Lay down your weapons and come out in the open with
your hands on your head. You will not be harmed if you...”

Mark saw the muzzle flashes and then heard the answer from the MZBs. He pulled his rifle in tight to his
shoulder concentrated on the spot where he saw the first flash and squeezed the trigger. The .308 bucked and he let it
come back to level and repeated the process. After a very few seconds the firing from the MZBs had ceased and a mo-
ment later so did that from his and Gunny’s positions. Mark could not believe how quiet it was. Even the crickets had
stopped chirping.

A voice shattered the silence. “OK...were coming out...don’t shoot!”

Mark saw one man rise up out of the ditch with his hands on top of his head. A second later two more joined
him. Then two more, and finally another.

Mark heard Gunny on the radio. “Jim, you and your men move up to cover these guys. Then Mark and I will
move up and secure them.”

“Okay, Gunny.”

Mark had a bad feeling. He hoped that Ralph was all right. But that was not really what was bothering him. It
was something else. He hated when he felt this way. And it had been happening too often lately. Like the other night
when...

Mark keyed his radio. “Everybody, hold your position. Something’s wrong.” He moved the little Motorola from
in front of his face and yelled toward the MZBs. “Ripper?!”

There was a long silence, then a voice called back. “How do you know my name?”

Mark quickly spoke into the radio. “Gunny, there’s another one somewhere!”

Gunny called to the six attackers. “Is that all of you?”

Mark could see six heads swiveling back and forth. Finally, someone answered Gunny. “Yeah, this is all of us”

Mark saw Gunny step out of the ditch and toward the men. He couldn’t believe that Gunny bought the lie. He
was going to get himself killed if he didn’t stop. Mark raised the radio back to his lips to try and talk some sense into
the old man. ‘BOOM!” Mark was startled by the shot and saw dirt spray up just in front of one of the MZB’s.

“Ya god damn liars. Ya got to the count of three ta tell me where tha other one is or I'ma gonna shoot one of yews in tha
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head. One...two...

Mark recognized Ripper’s voice. “He’s in the ditch crawling away!”

A voice came from closer to Mark than he was comfortable with. “Ripper, you asshole!” Mark saw the hands
come out of the ditch across the road only ten or fifteen yards from him. “I give up”

Mark and two of his guys handled the crawler, who Mark realized was the leader from the other night, while
everyone else patted down and disarmed the other six.

The former ranger looked at Mark and the radio in his hand. “T heard you on the radio. How did you know
there were seven of us?”

“Remember the big gate you stopped in front of the other night?”

The man nodded his head.

“I was on the other side”

“Damn. What you figure the odds of that are? Does my luck suck, or what?”

“I guess it does” Mark agreed. Then he saw red and blue flashing lights. “But it’s improving”

“How do you figure?”

“We're going to give you to the sheriff”

“How is that good luck?”

“We could just let Mr. Jones take care of you.” Mark half grinned.

The look of hate in the younger man’s eyes at the mention of Ralph’s name was unmistakable. His jaw clenched
shut, and Mark, somewhat surprised at the intensity of the hatred, had no desire to converse with him further. One of
the arriving deputies handcufted the attacker and herded him over to where the sheriff was. Mark followed. Ralph was
explaining what had happened with his wife beneath one arm and Trini under the other. Both of them were crying.

“...anyway, when they all went back around front, I had Trini run out the back and go get Mr. Turner. I knew
he would come help us” The big man looked from the sherift to Mark. “Mr. Turner, thank you so much. Now, I owe
you.

Mark smiled at the bear of a man. “How ‘bout we just call it even?” The big man just nodded his head.

“Ralph, besides the obvious, any reason you can think of why these guys would want to hurt you?” The sherift
asked.

Ralph’s big paw came up and rubbed his chin. “When I was a prosecutor for Bexar County, I put a lot of guys
away. Even some Klan guys. Other than that, I don’t know”

“Well, I'll haul them to jail. Probably at least one of them will talk. I'll let you know.” Then the sheriff turned to
Mark. “Mr. Turner, can I have a moment with you?”

“Sure” Mark and the sherift walked oft a ways.

“You did a good thing here, Mark. I probably would have gotten here on time, but last night I was tied up on
the far side of the county and I don’t think I would have made it. I feel better knowing you’re on this side of the county.
Listen, Monday at 10 in the morning I'm having a meeting at my office. Can you come?”

“Sure I can. What's it about?”

“You'll see when you get there. Bring that old Marine sergeant with you and your friend Jim, too.”

“Okay, Sheriff. We'll be there” Mark told the lawman as he walked back toward his squad car.

The sherift turned back toward Mark. “If you don’t mind, pick up Ralph, too” With that he climbed into his car
and left.

Chapter 37 - The Hunt

Mark walked back over to Ralph and his family. The big man was still bear hugging his wife and daughter. His
big arms reached all the way around both of the thin women. When he saw Mark, he relaxed his grip and made an
introduction.

“Honey, this is Mark Turner, the man I sent Trini after. Mr. Turner, this is my wife, Valerie.”
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“Mr. Turner, I don’t know how we can ever repay you. The sheriff told us that you called him, too. If you hadn’t
done that or showed up when you did, who knows what would have happened? We owe you our lives.” The woman said
as she vigorously shook Marks hand.

“I doubt that, Mrs. Jones. Besides, I was just doing what neighbors are supposed to do”

“How did you get here so quickly with all of these men? It seemed like I had no sooner sent Trini to get you
and you were here.” Ralph asked.

“You can thank Trini for that. The way I figure it, she ran about 3 miles in 25 minutes. I run almost everyday
and I couldn’t have done it nearly that fast”

It was too dark to see if Trini blushed, but she did drop her head like she was embarrassed. She kicked at some
gravel in the driveway with the toe of her shoe. “I just ran as fast as I could. I guess all that time on the track team paid
off”

“She is a good runner” Ralph bragged. “But you all must be fairly organized to be able to get this many men
together so quickly”

“Yeah. Gunny, the older gentleman over there, has us pretty ship shape when it comes to security. In fact, we
used one of our contingency plans tonight. We just modified it since it was set up for inside the subdivision.”

“You must sleep better at night with that kind of security” Valerie stated.

Mark nodded his head thoughtfully. Everyone just stood silently for a moment, then Mark broke the quiet.
“Listen, would you all like to come stay at our place for a few days? Or for as long as you would like. Then you can
come back and clean up all the broken glass and stuft when you're ready”

“That is such a kind offer, Mr. Turner...” Valerie Jones started sounding like she was going to accept the invita-
tion until she was cut off by her husband.

“...But we wouldn’t want to impose.” The bear finished.

Mark could see the woman look up toward her husband and saw that she squeezed the tree trunk of an arm
that she was holding. Mark had been married long enough to know that the woman didn’t agree with her husband and
was using her most polite form of nonverbal communication to tell him so.

“However,” The big man added. “ I have an old travel trailer in the pole barn out back. If you wouldn’t mind
pulling it over to your place, we could stay in that. I know the woman folk would like to get away from here for a day or
two.”

Mark smiled. “I think we can handle that” He turned to Jim. “Can you pull a travel trailer back to Silver Hills
for Ralph?”

“You bet” MarK’s friend replied.

Ralph sent his wife and daughter into the house to get some clothes and food. He led the men around back to
his pole barn with a flashlight while Jim was getting his truck. The barn was a three-sided affair made out of old tel-
ephone poles and weathered corrugated tin. Mark could see that it was big enough to hold three vehicles. However he
couldn’t see inside. Ralph shined his flashlight on the right side of the barn and Mark saw a nice looking 26 or 28 foot
travel trailer. Mark was also able to discern that the section in the middle was filled with hay.

“You have some live stock?” He asked the lawyer as he pointed at all of the hay.

“No. Trini used to have a horse, but he got some kind of nerve disease and we had to put him down?”

“That’s too bad”

Jim’s headlights swept across the two men and then his backup lights came on as he backed his Chevy up to the
trailer and Mark began cranking up the tongue so that it would match the height of Jim’s hitch.

“This is a nice camper, Ralph. Do you all camp much?”

“Naw. We've never used it. I had a client that owed me some money and I took the camper instead. I had big
plans for us to take a long vacation one summer, but we've never been able to get around to it. In fact, I was thinking
about selling it before the burst. Now, I'm glad I didn’t”

Mark changed the subject. “You told the sherift that you used to be a District Attorney?”

“An Assistant District Attorney.” Ralph corrected. “Right after I got out of law school. I quit after Trini was
born just because I was scared something like this would happen. And, as proud as I was of the work I was doing, I
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couldn’t risk my family’s safety”

“I understand completely.”

Mark, once the tongue was high enough, directed Jim back so that he could couple up the trailer. The brake
light connection was different than the one of Jim’s truck, but that was okay. Mark would just follow them in the Jeep. It
wasn't like they would see anyone else on the road anyway. Mark hollered at Jim to pull it around front. As the camper
was pulled past them Mark noticed that one of the tires was a little low and he asked Ralph if he had an air pump.

“Yeah, I think so.” The lawyer answered as he walked around the hay and into the left side of the barn. Mark
could hear him rummaging around for a minute. “Mark, could you come hold the light for me?”

Mark pulled a small Mini-Mag flashlight out of his pocket and walked to the other side of the building. When
he shined his light into the shed, he stopped dead in his tracks.

“Come on in here and help me find the blasted air pump. I swear the girls just use something and then throw
it anywhere. It’s a miracle I can ever find any of my tools.” The big man grumbled. He turned and looked at Mark. “Are
you okay? You look like you saw a ghost”

“You...you have a tractor?” Mark stammered not believing he was really seeing the old faded blue Ford.

“Yeah” Ralph answered as he turned back to look for the pump. “The burst fried it just like my truck. Are you
going to help me look for the air pump or not?”

“Can we use it?”

“Sure we can use it, but we have to find it first”

“No. The tractor”

“I told you it won't start” Ralph was starting to sound a little irritated.

Mark shook his head like he was trying to bring himself back to reality. He tried to break the hypnotic trance
that the tractor had placed him under, but he couldn’t stop looking at it. “I know...but if we could get it to run, could I
borrow it to use at the subdivision?”

“Of course you can borrow it. It’s just an old tractor” The irritation in the man’s voice turned to humor. “You
ask like it was my daughter and you wanted to marry her” Then he got serious again. “Now, are you going to help me
find the air pump, or not?” Ralph turned back to his workbench, obviously unaware of the significance of the tractor.

“How old is it?”

“The air pump?” The aggravation in Ralph’s voice did not register in Mark’s head as his mind raced ahead to
telling George that they might have a tractor.

“No. The tractor”

“Listen here. What friggin’ difference does it make how old it is? I said you could borrow it! Now you want to
get picky about how old it is! Why won’t you just shut the hell up about the tractor and help me find the god damned
pump!”

The tirade by the bear had broken the spell of the tractor. Mark started laughing as if he had just heard the
funniest joke in the world while Ralph looked at him like he had gone stark raving mad. Mark caught his breath and
apologized to the big man. He worked his way back into the barn and held the light while he explained how they had
been looking for a tractor and how they couldn’t get any of the newer models to run. Once Ralph understood, he
laughed as well. After a few minutes, they found the pump and went around front where everyone else was waiting.

Ralph hooked the pump up to the low tire and started pumping while Mark told the men that had come with
him about the tractor. Everyone was happy as they loaded up into the vehicles to go home. Mark looked at his watch.
It read 4:45. They were supposed to have left for the deer lease at 4. By the time they got back to the subdivision and
settled Ralph’s family, it would be close to 6. That would put them at the lease way after daylight. Plus, he needed to see
about finding parts for the tractor and getting it running. He would just have to explain to David that they would have
to put the trip off for a week.

When they got home, Mark and Jim helped Ralph set up his RV. Mark was explaining to Jim about postponing
the hunting trip when David came out over to where the men were working. Mark could see that he was ready to go
and figured that he had been waiting impatiently for the last couple of hours.
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“I guess we can’t go now, huh, Dad?” The boy asked with only the slightest trace of hope in his voice. “Mr. Her-
nandez and Victor went home a few minutes ago and Sam said she was going back to bed. They said to get them if we
were still going”

Mark instinctively looked at his watch and didn’t even see what time it was. “It’s getting pretty late, son. We
wouldn’t get there until well after daylight. We can try for next Saturday.” He said trying to cheer the teenager up.

The boy’s head dropped as he mumbled. “If nothing happens then.”

Mark saw the disappointment in the young man’s demeanor. He hated letting his son down. After all, David
had kept his end of the bargain and gone to school all week without complaining. “David. Who cares if we miss a little
time in the morning? Let’s go. Run get your sister back up and then run down to the Hernandez’s and tell them were
leaving in 15 minutes.”

David seemed to grow six inches. “Yes, sir!” He snapped a crisp salute at his father and ran off toward the
house like a lightning bolt.

“What about the tractor?” Jim asked his friend.

“Gunny should still be awake. Would you run over there and ask him if he would get with your father-in-law
and Rodney in the morning about getting it fixed. They can handle it”

“Yes, sir!” Jim mimicked David’s response and salute as he headed to see Gunny.

Mark heard the back door slam as David ran out of the house and down the road to Manny’s house. Mark
finished showing Ralph how to level the trailer. A minute later Sam came out of the house and walked over toward the
truck carrying a cooler that was full of sandwiches.

“Hi, Trini” She said as she passed.

“Hi, Samantha.” The tall girl replied. It seemed to Mark as if they expected to see each other at O dark thirty in
the morning.

A few minutes later the hunting crew was heading down the road. Mark asked Sam how she knew Trini.

“From school. We're in the same grade”

“Are you guys friends?”

Sam laughed. “No, Dad. We have some classes together, but we don’t hang out. She’s nice and all but she’s a jock
and I'm a band nerd”” The girl stated incredulously.

“What was I thinking?” Mark said satirically. It seemed that the sarcasm was lost on Sam. He didn’t remember
friendships in high school being based on one’s choice of extra-curricular activities. It had been a long time since he
was in school, though. Maybe he was just getting old. Perish the thought, he smiled to himself. Others may be getting
old, but he was still in his prime! “Yeah, right!” the little voice in his head told him with the same sarcasm that he had
used a moment ago.

Mark stayed on the back highways and took his time, watching for any stalled cars that might be still on the
road and for any signs of danger. The way was all clear however. They reached the lease about 30 minutes after daylight
and Mark dropped everyone off where they would be hunting as quickly and quietly as possible. Manny and Victor
took separate blinds, David hunted with Jim, and Mark and Sam took the spot that almost always produced turkey.
Mark was glad to spend some time with his daughter. It gave them a chance to talk about what had happened since the
burst. Sam seemed to be adjusting well to everything except the shower situation. When they had been in the blind for
about an hour, a group of seven turkeys came out. One was a good-sized young jake and with Mark’s whispered coach-
ing, Sam made a perfect head shot with a .22 magnum rifle.

At 11:30 the father and daughter made their way back to the truck. Mark had heard several shots and was
anxious to see what everyone had harvested. They drove around to pick up everyone. Manny had killed a big spike
buck. Victor was upset with himself for missing a fat doe. Jim and David hadn't seen anything. The group went over to
the big field where the campsite was. The skinning rack was kept there and they cleaned the deer and the turkey then
got the meat into the ice chests so that it wouldn’t go bad. Mark made Sam help clean her turkey, but he did most of the
gross parts himself. When they were done, they broke out the sandwiches and lemonade and ate. David kept noticing
a few doves flying into the field and was excited to get his shotgun out. He gobbled down his lunch and started hunt-
ing before anyone else. When he had downed his third bird, the men decided that he had a big enough head start. They
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all pulled out their shotguns and started hunting. Sam told her dad that she wanted to dove hunt. Mark pulled out his
old Browning A-5 Sweet Sixteen that he had brought just in case of this hoped for development. He showed her how to
load it and gave her a brief lecture on the mechanics of wing shooting. The two of them found a shady spot far enough
away from the others and started looking for birds. It took Sam quite a few tries to finally get her first bird, but, for
Mark, the wait was worth it. To see his mall rat daughter enjoying the outdoors the same way he did made him very
happy. A few minutes later, David came walking over.

“How many do you all have, Dad?” The smiling teenager asked.

Mark could tell from the look on his son’s face that he had already limited out, but he played the game anyway.
“Sam has three and I have five. How ‘bout you?”

“I got my twelve” His face was beaming. “I beat everybody. Jim only has ten so far, and Mr. Hernandez and
Victor have fourteen between them.

“That’s great son...good shooting”

“Thanks. Sam, you have three already?”

The girl nodded her head quietly. She seemed a little embarrassed that she was behind everyone else. Mark
knew how competitive she was and he hoped that she wasn't too discouraged that her little brother was already limited
out.

“That’s fantastic.” David exclaimed. “The first time I dove hunted, I only got one bird all day. And you still have
the best part of the day coming. You're doing great.”

Sam’s face reverted back to the big smile. “Thanks, bubba!”

Mark was proud of his son for bragging on and encouraging his sister. That was not something that he was
used to seeing. It seemed that this crisis had brought some maturity out in both of his children. He was very proud of
both of them.

Just a few moments later Jim came and announced that he was done. He and David decided to get their rifles
and hike over to the blind in the next field. Mark asked Sam what she wanted to do and she replied that she wanted to
keep dove hunting. Mark went over and talked to Manny and Victor. He told them to take the truck and go back to the
blinds they were in this morning whenever they were ready. By the time he got back to Sam, she was smiling bigger
than ever.

“Dad...Dad...I got two more while you were gone” About that time, she caught sight of another bird lazily
making his way back from the field. Mark saw her shotgun come up with a natural ease. Sam swung the scattergun,
Mark heard the shot, and then he saw the bird crumple and fall. She walked over, never taking her eyes off of the spot
where the dove fell, picked up the bird and put it in her birdbag. When she looked back at Mark, the look on her face
was priceless.

There were more and more birds as it got later and the father and daughter had both limited just before sunset.
They walked back over to the campsite and sat on the picnic table. Manny had left the cooler with the drinks in it for
them. Mark opened the ice chest and removed two bottles of water. He saw that the guys had all put their birds into
separate ziplock bags and placed them in the ice. Mark and Sam dressed the birds while they waited for the other hunt-
ers. When they pulled back up with the truck, David and Jim had each killed a feral hog, Victor had not missed his fat
doe a second time, and Manny had added a turkey to his bag. David had also taken a big gobbler. The men made short
work of skinning and quartering their game, and by 8 oclock they were headed for home. The mood was even more
festive than it had been in the morning.

On the way, Manny asked Mark and Jim a question. “My oldest daughter and her husband live in Austin. Do
you think it would be possible for me to take a couple of trucks to get their family and their stuff?”

Mark was the first to answer. “I don't see why not, Manny. I have been thinking about the same thing myself.
My parents and my brother and one of my sisters live in Waco.”

“How many are there, Manny?” Jim asked.

“Probably six. My daughter, her husband, and three kids, plus her mother-in-law most likely.”

“That should be easy to do between your Suburban and Big Red here. We could even borrow Chaparo’s trailer,
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if you think they have that much stuff” Mark suggested.

“When do you think we could go?”

“I have guard duty in the morning from two until eight, but I don’t see why we couldn’t go tomorrow. Maybe
leave at eleven? That’ll let me get a little shuteye before we go”

“That sounds great, Mark. Again, I owe you.”

“Well, maybe you can help me go to Waco later in the week?”

“It's a deal”

It seemed like no time at all before the happy group of hunters was at the gate to ‘Silver Hills. One of the guards
came out and opened the gate. He held his hand up to stop Mark as he was pulling through. Mark rolled down his win-
dow.

“What’s up, Greg?”

“You better get straight to your house.” The man’s tone was deadly serious. “Gunny and one of the other guys
got shot!”

Chapter 38 - The Sickening News

Mark dropped the clutch and the big truck seemed to leap up the hill. He had barely stopped the red beast
when everyone was piling out and running for the back door. When Mark stepped inside the first thing he saw was
Gunny sitting at the kitchen table with his arm in a sling.

“What happened? Are you OK? Who else got shot?” Mark demanded with the others standing behind him.

Gunny answered the questions in reverse order of the way they were asked. “Your friend Rodney got shot
twice. He’s in bad shape. Lisa an’ Doc Vasquez are still workin’ on him down at Doc’s house” The old man paused as he
squeezed his wife’s hand. Mark had not even noticed her sitting next to Gunny. “I'm fine. I just took one to the meaty
part of my arm. Not much more ‘n a scratch really. We went to go get the parts for the tractor. Rodney, George, and
me.

“Is George OK?” Jim interrupted.

“Yeah, he’s fine. In fact he was so cool under fire that I'dda sweared he was in the Corp” Gunny paused, shak-
ing his head. “This is all my fault. I shoulda been more careful. Anyway, the three of us went over to Mr. Jones” house to
look at the tractor. Rodney said he had parts that he thought would work in it, and George was so excited to see if we
could get it to run, that we headed straight into town to get ‘em. I made you take some extra guys with you on your trip,
an’ I shoulda followed my own advice. Drivin’ through town was weird. A lot of the neighborhoods were burned to the
ground. Some were totally deserted and some of them were trashed. A couple had people in them going about their
business. In those two, other than the fact that almost everybody was armed, it was almost like nothing was wrong.
They watched us like a hawk, but when we waved, they waved back”

“When we got to Rodney’s shop, it had been vandalized. All the doors and windows were broken and lots of
his stock had been strewn everywhere. We were real careful goin’ in, but no one was around. We hadn’t even seen one
person in the neighborhood. The cash register and some other things were missing, but Rodney said that none of them
were really worth anything. I had George watch the front and I watched the back while Rodney got the parts. It took
him some time to sort through the mess and find what he wanted, but he finally did. I looked out the front before we
went out, but the bastards had hidden behind some cars and I didn’t see them. I just assumed it was all OK and we
went waltzin’ out the front door like we was goin’ ta Sunday school. When we had just all cleared the door, they popped
up and started shooting. There were four of them across the street and down about 30 yards. If they had waited until we
were in the car, they probably would have mowed us down like bowling pins. Rodney got hit in the thigh and the right
side of his chest. He fell back and I pulled him back into the store. When I grabbed him up is when they got me in the
arm. I found some clean shop towels and a roll of tape and bandaged him up as best I could. George was shooting back
at the MZBs with his pistol and was keepin’ ‘em pinned down behind the cars pretty good. In fact, he did real good. I
just had to remind him not to shoot from the same spot every time. The MZBs only had pistols too, thank God, and
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they wouldn't penetrate the cinderblock building unless they hit the same spot several times. If 'n theyd had rifles, wed
a been in deep kimchee. I had Bertha with me and I ran up to one o’ the windas and peeked out. One of ‘em popped

up to shoot at George and I tagged him. The buckshot folded him in half like a dollar bill. After that they just stuck
their hands up to shoot. I got Rodney’s SKS and watched for where they were all shooting from. When I knew where
they all three were, I started shooting through the car bodies. Thirty seconds later, it was over. George covered me with
Bertha while I went over to make sure they was all down for good. Then we got Rodney into the back seat of his car
and headed home. I thought about takin’ him to a hospital, but I figured he would get tended to faster here. I didn’t
even know if’n the hospital was still there or not. We decided to take the expressway. I was afraid of runnin’ inta a MZB
roadblock, but we decided the risk was worth it to get Rodney here as quick as possible. We almost did, but we was too
quick for ‘em?”

“What happened?” Jim asked.

“That car of Rodney’s is a fast sumbitch. So fast that it kinda scared me. We was makin’ good time. Someone
had bulldozed all of the stalled cars off of 410 so we didn’t have to worry about hitting one. They were sitting sideways
on the sides of the road. Anyway, I was doin’ 120 and my foot wasn't even on the floor” Gunny’s eyes got big. “We were
coming up on that long bridge that crosses the river. You know the one I'm talkin’ ‘bout, right?” He asked no one in
particular.

Everyone nodded their heads but no one said anything.

“I could see a couple of cars sitting sideways just on my side of the bridge and a bunch more on the far side. I
didn’t give it much thought, I figured those were stalled on the bridge and whoever cleared the road had pushed them
there. As soon as we hit the bridge, I saw a bunch of MZBs come out from behind the cars on the other side and start
pushing them into the road. I glanced in the mirror, and there were some more pushing the ones I had just passed too.
I hit the accelerator and the car rocketed up to 140 miles per hour. We got past the bridge before they could block it off.
If we had been just toolin” along at a normal speed, we would have been trapped. They took a couple of pot shots at us
once we passed, but they didn't hit nothin’ After that, we didn’t have no more trouble and we got here pretty quick”

“How was Rodney doing?” Mark asked.

“He was in an’ out as we was coming home and havin’ trouble breathin’ He lost a lot of blood. The leg wound
isn’t that bad, but Lisa said the chest shot went through his lung. She told me while she was patchin’ up my arm that
they had got the bleeding stopped and reinflated his lung, but it was touch and go. She went back down to Doc’s house
a little while ago to watch him while Doc got some sleep. I'm sorry ‘bout this, Karate Man. I shoulda made us come
back here and get a couple a more guys afore we went to town.”

“Gunny, nobody could have done any better than you did. It’s a different world now than what we were used
to. This could have happened to any one of us. I'm just glad you were there to handle the situation and get everyone
back here quickly. We just have to make sure, all of us, that we don’t forget that we can’t let our guard down for even a
second.” This was the first time that Gunny had needed a pep talk, Mark thought. “What about Rodney’s family? Where
are they?”

“They’re all down at Doc’s too. Jess is with them.”

Mark turned to his children and told them to unload the coolers out of the truck and to switch out the ice
bottles so that the meat would stay cold. Manny asked Victor to help them. Then Mark, Jim, and Manny headed to
the Vasquez’ house. When they got there, Jess and Rodney’s wife were sitting on the front porch on a bench. Jess had
her arm around the woman who, Mark could tell, was an emotional mess. The boys were asleep on a blanket on the
ground. Mark never knew what to say in difficult situations and this one was no different. As he approached the two
women on the bench, Jess looked up at him. The look on her face told Mark that the news was not good. Mark knew he
had to say something.

“I'm so sorry, Donna. We're all praying for him.” He choked out.

The woman looked up at him with vacant eyes and then nodded her head. Mark heard Jim and Manny offer
their words of comfort and hope. Jess stood up and pulled the men to the side.

“Lisa said that his chances aren’t good, but that if he makes it until morning he might have a shot.” She ex-
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plained. “Manny, do you know your blood type?”

“I think it’s B positive.”

“Rodney is O negative. We only found one other person in the neighborhood who has the right blood type. It’s
Sherri Henderson. Lisa took two pints of blood from her. She was looking quite pale when Lisa was done with her. Lisa
said she might be able to get another pint tomorrow, but Sherri is very petite and Lisa isn’t sure.”

“Maybe the sheriff could see if the hospital has any blood.” Jim suggested.

“We checked with him. He checked it out, but called us back and said that the hospital had only had enough
fuel for their generator for two weeks. They got some more, but not before they ran out and all of the blood went bad.
He said that he checked with all of the surrounding counties and all of them were either in the same situation our
hospital is in, or that they had already used up their entire supply of O negative. I didn’t know it, but you can give O
negative blood to anyone. Unfortunately, it’s fairly rare and those with that type can only take their type. Lisa said we
were lucky to even find one person here with it

“I've been thinking.” Jess continued. “And, I think I know what we should do with Jon and Marian’s house. We
should turn it into a hospital. Doc had to spend a lot of time finding the things he and Lisa needed to operate. If we
turned the Olsen house into a hospital, they could have those things out all the time”

“That sounds like a good idea.” Manny said.

“I agree” Mark stated. “We can vote on it tomorrow night.”

Mark looked at his watch. It was almost time for him to report for guard duty. He excused himself to walk back
to his house. He asked Manny to walk with him.

“Manny, I'm concerned about taking our little road trip tomorrow. With what happened today with Gunny and
Rodney, I think we should put it oft”

“I understand” Manny replied. “But, I still feel like I have to go. Even if it is just me and my Suburban.”

“I'm not saying we won't go, Manny. But, what good does it do to go if we can’'t be sure of the safety of those we
are going to get. 'm just saying let’s plan this out better, and if that means we don’t go until later in the week, at least we
can be confident we can get there and back without anyone getting hurt or killed”

“I guess you are right, Mark. I see why everyone looks up to you. You always make the right decisions.”

“That’s a load of crap, Manny, and you know it. All of those people are wrong. I'm not any smarter than anyone
else. And, anyone who looks up to me is seriously mistaken. I am just a man and I make a lot of mistakes.” Mark was
short. He immediately felt bad for snapping at Manny. He looked over at his friend to apologize, but the big grin on
Manny’s face stopped him.

“To the people that live here, you ARE our leader. You better get used to that fact, mi amigo .” Manny paused,
seeming to enjoy watching his friend squirm. “Tell me something, is it more likely that everyone who lives here is
wrong, or that you are wrong?”

“Just because everyone thinks something, it doesn’t make it true.” Mark argued.

“That may be so, but just because you don't believe it, that doesn’t make it not true. Right?”

Mark looked sideways at the Hispanic philosopher. “You told me you never finished high school. When did
you take a logic course?”

“I didn’'t” Manny smiled. He reached up and pinched the top of his ears together. I just used to watch a lot of
Star Trek, and guess who my favorite character was?”

“OK, Spock. I give in. For now that is” Mark smiled back. “I'll talk to you tomorrow.”

“Aye aye, Captain Kirk. Live long, and prosper.”

Mark winced at the corny reference and left Manny standing on the corner trying to make the Vulcan greeting
sign.

When Mark got back to his house, not only had the kids unloaded the coolers, but they had also placed all of
the firearms next to the safe and David was putting up all of the ammo. Mark thanked the kids, then grabbed his Mar-
lin Camp .45 and headed down to the CP. He got there a few minutes early and watched as the other members of Delta
team arrived. They all knew about Rodney, and the mood was quite somber. Mark gave them an update on his condi-
tion and they said a prayer for him. Mark had planned to take gate duty tonight, but since he hadn’t had much sleep, he
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decided to pull rover duty instead. Moving around would help to keep him awake. When it was 1:45, Mark noticed that
he was one person short. He looked at Gunny’s schedule, and noticed that Craig Banks was the missing guard. Mark
remembered that Craig had promised not to be late again when they had talked before. Mark would be a little firmer
with him when they talked this time. He gave out the assignments and told Joe Bagwell, who was on CP duty, to send
Craig out to his team of rovers when he showed up.

Mark and Paul Jensen started their rounds with Mark in the lead. Mark’s mind raced from thought to thought.
He thought about Rodney, then what Manny had told him about being the leader, to how they could safely go to Austin
and Waco. He wondered what the Sheriff wanted, what unexpected event might happen, how long the lights would be
out, what did all this mean to the future of ‘Silver Hills’ and to the country, for that matter. There were so many ques-
tions, and so few answers. Then his mind drifted back to Rodney. Who would take care of his family, if he died? Who
would be the next person to get injured? How could he keep all of these people safe? How can I even...

“Hey, Mark?”

“Yeah, Paul, what is it?”

“Are we going to go around this block again?”

“I don’t know. Should we?”

“Well, we've been around it four times in a row. Maybe we should move to the next one”

“I'm sorry, Paul. I've got a lot on my mind. Would you mind taking the lead?” Mark was embarrassed that he
hadn’t been paying attention.

“No problem.” Paul responded with an understanding smile.

Mark physically followed Paul, but his mind went back to the problems that were troubling him. He looked at
his watch after a little while and saw that it was almost time for his shift to be over. He wondered where Craig was. He
called Joe on the radio and was told that Craig had not shown up yet. Mark and Paul headed over to Susan’s house to
see if anything was up. After walking around the house and seeing that everything looked OK, Mark decided to knock
on the door. He hated to wake Susan and her boys up, but he was worried about Craig. After a minute he heard Susan.

“Who is it?”

“Susan, it’s me, Mark Turner” He heard the deadbolt turn and then the door opened. Susan stood there in her
bathrobe with the AR in her hands. Any other time it would have seemed comical. Now it seemed like good sense. “Is
Craig here?”

“No. He has guard duty tonight.”

“I know, but he never showed up.”

“That son of a bitch! I heard him leave about 1:30. I told you not to trust him. When he gets back, 'm going to
rip him a new one” Susan was as mad as when Craig had introduced himself as her husband.

Mark thought for a second. “Don’t say anything, OK. Let’s give him some rope and see if he’ll hang himself
with it. I'll talk to him later and see what he says.”

“OK, Mark. I'll see you later”

Mark noticed that the usually full of spunk woman looked down. “Are you OK?”

“Yeah, I'm just tired. One of the boys is sick. He was up half the night puking. I just need some sleep.”

“Maybe you should take him to Lisa.”

“She and Doc have bigger things to worry about right now than a kid with a bug. How is Rodney?”

“He was still alive when our shift started. I'm going to check again as soon as we're done with our shift. If your
son is not better in a day or two, make sure you get with Lisa”

“Thanks. I will” Susan promised as she closed the door.

Just what I need, another problem, thought Mark. He and Paul finished their shift and then Mark headed back
over to Doc’s. He saw that there was a light in the kitchen and he lightly knocked on the back door. Doc answered and
invited him in.

“How’s he doing?”

“He’s still hanging in there” Doc whispered.
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“That’s a good sign, right?”

“Yes. But we're still a long way from being out of the woods. Even if he recovers from the wounds, we still have
to worry about infections and the long-term effects of being shot. We don’t know even how much nerve damage there
may be in his leg. But, the longer he hangs on, the better his chances.

“OK, Doc. If anything changes, can you let me know?”

“You bet.”

Mark walked home. He didn't remember ever feeling this tired.

* ot

Mark looked at his watch when he woke up. He could not believe that it said 1:30 in the afternoon. He had
slept for seven hours. When he went into the kitchen, Jess was cutting up some of the meat they had brought home
yesterday. When she saw him she stopped.

“That’s the latest you've slept in a long time.”

“Yeah, I guess I was pretty tired. Have you heard anything about Rodney?”

“Yes. Lisa came home for lunch and said his blood pressure is up a little. He is still in critical condition, but it
seems that he is improving”

“That’s good. How’s Donna and the boys?”

“The boys are OK. Donna is still a basket case. Lisa is really worried about her. If Rodney doesn’t make it, no
telling how bad she might get”

“Hopefully, we won’t have to find out” Mark said thoughtfully. “Do you know where Jim is?”

“He, George, and Ralph went to see if they could get the tractor running and bring it over here”

“Good. I'm going to Gunny’s. We've got a problem with Craig Banks. He didn’t show up for guard duty last
night”

“There’s something about that man that I don't like.” Jess said with a sour look on her face. “It’s probably the
way he acts likes he’s God’s gift to women. He’s trouble if you ask me.”

Mark laughed. “Susan told me the same thing.”

“Then why did she let him move into her house?”

“She told me she did it for the boys.”

“I guess I would do the same thing. I'm just glad I was smart enough not to marry that big of a jerk”

“Thanks...I think”

“I didn’t mean it like that” She winked. “But you better keep an eye on him. He's a snake.”

“We will” Mark assured her as he walked out the door.

Gunny agreed with Mark that they should give Craig enough rope to hang himself. If he did, they would re-
move him from guard duty, but there was little else they could do. Guard duty was, after all, voluntary. Mark also talked
to the old marine about how they could safely get to Austin and Waco and back. They hashed it around for over two
hours and finally came up with a plan. If Mark could get all the pieces in place, they would try a trip to Austin later in
the week.

When he got home, Jim and Ralph were hooking the plow that they had borrowed from the Christmas tree
farm to Ralph’s tractor under George’s supervision. It seemed that that parts Rodney had found dropped right in and
according to Ralph, the tractor had never run so smoothly. As soon as the plow was attached properly to the three-
point hitch, George climbed on and plowed the rest of the land that Jess had staked out for their garden in only a few
minutes. He pulled the medium sized blue Ford back over by the shed with a big smile on his face.

“We should be able to finish all of the plowing and discing of the gardens within a week” He announced. “Then
we can start on the vacant lots. They should go quick too.”

“That sounds good, George.” Mark said as the old farmer climbed down. The four men all high fived each other
and then went inside to eat.

At the meeting, Lisa gave an update on Rodney’s condition. He was still slowly improving. Mark told everyone
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about Jess’s suggestion to turn the Olsen house into a hospital. It was approved almost unanimously. George told every-
one about the tractor and that seemed to lift everyone’s spirits a little. After the meeting, Mark found Craig.

Craig apologized and explained that he had started on his way to guard duty, but felt a migraine headache
coming on. He went back to the house to take his medicine, but it kept getting worse. He would have come to let some-
one know, but it got so bad that it was excruciating to even move. He didn't want to wake Susan up to report in for him
because she was really tired from little Craig being sick. Finally, his headache started getting better, and he fell asleep.
Mark mentioned that Susan heard him leave, but didn’t hear him come back in. Craig explained the wind caught the
door and slammed it when he left, but that he was extremely quiet when he came back. Mark wanted to believe the
man, but something kept him from buying Craig’s story. He would check with Susan again on the possibility that
things could have happened like Craig had explained.

That night on guard duty Mark took the gate. It was quiet until 4:30 when the OP called that they had sighted a
small group approaching. They had already passed the westernmost border of the subdivision and were moving slowly
toward the gate. Mark cursed under his breath that they hadn’t seen the intruders earlier. He called the rovers and had
the CP alert the backups. The men responded quickly, but by the time they were in position, the travelers had moved
up even with the gate. Mark was surprised that he was not able to see them until they were very close. There were 4 of
them. All dressed in Black and all carrying rifles. Mark hoped they would pass on by without causing trouble.

“Hello at the gate.” Mark heard someone whisper. He hunkered down into the foxhole and motioned for his
men to stay quiet.

“Hello at the gate.” The voice was a little louder this time. “I know you’re in there”

“Yes. What do you want?” Mark responded peeking over the edge of the foxhole.

“We don’t want any trouble. We would just like some water, if you can spare some.” The man was standing in
plain sight. His rifle was slung across his back and his hands were away from his body. His companions, though, were
across the road covering him. Their weapons were pointing at the ground, but they were ready if anything happened.

“What guarantee do I have that you won't start trouble?” Mark called.

“Look, we know that you have at least ten or twelve guys watching us. Wed be idiots to start something”

“Who told you that?” Mark wondered who had compromised their security measures.

“No one told me. I have a little night vision scope and I saw you.”

Mark was relieved and concerned all at once. Relieved that he didn’t have to go on a witch-hunt for a blab-
bermouth, and concerned that someone could just sit back and watch them without their knowledge. Mark radioed
that he was coming out to talk to the stranger. The two of them cautiously approached the gate and shook hands when
they got there. The two men chatted for a minute and then the stranger waved his partners over to the gate. The three
of them stood up, slung their weapons, and walked over to the gate. Mark could see that it was a woman and two
teenage girls. The man introduced his family. He explained that they were making their way to a weekend cabin their
family owned on the San Marcos River. He had plans in place for years to go there if anything happened, but he never
expected to not be able to drive. He had different routes picked out in case the Interstates and highways were jammed.
This route was one of his options. Although it was very indirect, it was the least populated and that was why he had
chosen it now that they were walking. Mark asked how he knew that they were friendly. He rationalized that bad guys
did not usually block off the exits. Mark could see the logic in his thinking. He asked the man why they hadn’t started
out sooner. The man told him that when their cars wouldn’t run his exit strategy had gone to hell. The fires were getting
close to their neighborhood, so they were forced to go to the Kelley shelter. He elaborated on what had happened.

“We went to the shelter with only our sleeping bags and tent. I only planned on being there for a couple of days
so we didn’t take anything else. They told us to pick a spot and set up camp. I set up as close to the back fence as they
would let us get. After a few days, when the fires were out, they told us that our house was burned and that we couldn’t
leave. I told them that we had another house in the country, but they still wouldn’t let us leave. Right then I knew that
something wasn't right. Only a very few people were allowed to leave. Some, who lived close to the base, insisted that
there had not been any smoke from their neighborhood and they were told that they had to stay. The list said that
their block was burned, and that was that. A few days later, some of the ‘guests’..that’s what the people in charge called
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us...rioted. The officials brought out one of those big runway fire trucks and sprayed the rioters down and then hauled
some of them off. I decided that we would escape as soon as possible. I started looking for ways out, but the security
was pretty good. Since Kelley had been an Air Force base, there were no easy ways in or out. The only way out, other
than the gates, was over the ten-foot fence with barbwire on the top. Fortunately, it was designed more to keep people
out, so the barbwire leaned out instead of in. Unfortunately, they watched the fences like a hawk. After the ‘guests’ saw
how the rioters had been dealt with, everyone toed the line for the most part. There were rumors that some ‘guests’ at
the north side shelter had been shot. I think that it may have been spread deliberately just to keep us in line”

Mark interrupted the man’s story. “We have a couple that escaped from the north side shelter. They didn’t say
anything about people getting shot, but they said that any troublemakers got arrested.”

“That fits with what happened where we were. I kept trying to find a way out, but was not having any luck.
Tension in the camp was getting higher and higher until two nights ago, all hell broke loose. When they rolled out
the fire truck this time, the rioters rushed it and turned the water on the guards. It looked like a Chinese fire drill and
guards were leaving their posts to help their comrades. I saw our chance. We grabbed our sleeping bags and headed to
the fence. I climbed up and threw my bag over the barbwire and we climbed over. There were a lot of people doing the
same thing. The guards started shooting at us. I think they were just shooting over our heads, because I didn’t see them
hit anyone. But I can tell you that the sound of bullets whistling over your head can turn you into a world class sprint-
er. The man and his family laughed a little.

Mark laughed with them. “I know what you mean.” Then he thought about the rovers. “Excuse me a minute.”
He pulled out his radio and told the rovers that they could go back to their routes. Then he called one of the gate guards
and asked him bring some water to the gate.

“You do have a good set up here” The man said appreciatively.

“Pretty good.” Mark answered not wanting to reveal too much. “Please, finish your story.”

“Okay. We high tailed it home and saw that our house was just as we had left it. We went in, ate, and talked
about what to do. We decided to walk to our family’s weekend place. We packed what we could into some old back-
packs and took off right then. We have been walking at night and resting during the day. I figured it was safer that way.
I've been scouting the road ahead with my little scope here. You all have the best security detail that we’ve seen so far”

“You've seen others?”

“Yes. Mostly just one or two guys keeping watch. But there was a subdivision in town that had blocked off the
streets with cars and had quite a few guys guarding the streets.”

“That’s interesting.” Mark commented as the other guard showed up with a five-gallon bucket of water. The
family all pulled out various containers that they were using for canteens and filled them. Everyone drank deeply
and then refilled the bottles. The man thanked Mark and said that they needed to be on their way. Mark asked if they
needed anything else and the man said that they had plenty of food to make it to where they were going. When Mark
asked the man what he had done before the burst and he replied that he had been a supervisor in a textile plant. Mark
shook the man’s hand and wished them luck. Then he watched them walk out of sight.

The next morning when the four men that the sherift had invited to town arrived at the meeting, they were
surprised at how many people were there. The sheriff came over to the foursome when he saw them and inquired about
their injured man. Jim reported that he was still improving and that Lisa now thought he had a better than even chance
to make it. The sherift said that he hoped the man pulled through and then excused himself to talk with some other
people. Mark had not expected to see this number of people, he estimated that there were at least sixty or seventy, and
he was now even more confused about what the sheriff wanted.

A few minutes later the meeting began. The Sherift introduced the County Commissioners, the county Judge,
the mayors of Floresville and La Vernia, and some other dignitaries. Then he took a deep breath.

“The reason we asked you all here today is to let you know some things that are going on and to get your help
in deciding the best plan for our county to deal with what is happening and what may happen.” The sheriff paused as a
small murmur rolled through the assembly. “Let me give you an overview of what we know. First, the shelter at Kel-
ley suffered a massive riot on Friday night and over 60 percent of the people fled. Reports are that the Airport shelter
is also turning into a powder keg that will blow up at any time. We believe that we will soon see a massive amount of
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refugees coming through our county looking for a place to live.”

A louder murmur rippled through the crowd.

“Next, the Texas Department of Criminal Justice has let us know that they are releasing all non-violent felons.
Most of the county jails in the state have already released all of their prisoners held for misdemeanors. We are con-
cerned that while these criminals were non-violent, they may become violent given the current state of affairs.”

A clamor of concerned voices crescendoed through the throng.

The sherift held his hands up. “There is one more problem that I need to tell you about.” The audience finally
quieted. “We have unconfirmed reports...not much more than a rumor right now...that there is some kind of virus on
the West Coast. No one knows if it is naturally occurring, or if it is an engineered attack. However, the best information
we can get indicates that it is highly contagious and that the mortality rate may be as high as fifty percent.”

A pin dropping could have been heard.

Chapter 39 - New Friends

moment later curious, frightened, and angry voices erupted as one and destroyed the silence. Questions were
hurled at the podium from all directions like Nolan Ryan fast balls. The sheriff held his hand up in the air and asked for
quiet. He had to ask several times, but finally the crowd quieted back down.

“Please, one question at a time” The lawman pleaded. He pointed to a man in the front row with his hand up.

“Yes?”

Mark could hear the man ask his question, but the words did not register on his brain. He felt as if someone
had just cut a hole through his chest. One big enough to drive a truck through. The first two announcements that the
sheriff had made, while unsettling, were not unexpected. Mark felt that they were fairly well prepared for large groups
of refugees and even some groups of neer-do-wells. But how was he supposed to protect his people from a killer virus?
He caught himself. His people? Who did he think he was? Moses? Or maybe he had been listening to Manny and the
others too much. He didn’t mind helping out, but he had no desire to lead anyone. Except for his family and maybe a
karate class that was. But he would never be the King of Silver Hills. He had to make sure that everyone in the subdi-
vision understood that. He came back to reality in time to hear the sheriff introduce Doctor Ken Phillips to the im-
promptu council.

“In addition to having a practice here in Floresville for the last 25 years, Doctor Ken is also our county medical
examiner and chairman of the Board of Health”

The doctor walked from the back of the room to the podium. “Most of you know me. I like to hope for the
best, but I also like to be prepared for the worst. I don’t think we need to over react to this illness. We don’t know for
certain if it even exists. But, if it does, and if it’s truly a virus, then there is little we can do to stop it if it makes it here
from California. However, we have several reasons to be optimistic. First, as I said before, it may only be a rumor.
Hopefully we will know more in the near future. Second, if it is not a rumor, California is a long way when transporta-
tion is as limited as it is in these circumstances. It may never make it here. And lastly, even if it does get here, it may
have mutated to a less-deadly form by that time.”

A few other people asked the Doctor some questions, but he was not able to tell them much more that what he
had already said. He sat down and the sheriff stood back up.

“OK, the reason that we are here is to come up with responses to these threats. Any ideas?” The sherift asked.

“Yeah” One man yelled. “Let’s barricade off all the routes into the county and not let anyone in.”

A large portion of the crowd seemed to agree with the man.

“That is something we have considered.” The sheriff announced nodding over his shoulder at the men on the
platform with him to indicate who was included in his ‘we’ “But there are several problems with that solution. First, the
highways through our county belong to all of the people of Texas, not just to us. We can close down the county roads if
we want, but it would not be legal to shut off the state highways.”

“Who cares if it’s legal or not. This is a matter of survival.” The same man yelled at the sheriff. He seemed to be
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somewhat of a hot head. However, Mark saw many of the people in the room nodding their heads in agreement with
him.

“I care and so do my deputies. But even if we tried to stop everyone from entering on the highways, what is to
stop them from travelling cross country. We don't have enough men to completely surround the county. Plus some of
them will have family and friends here that want to take them in. Others will just want to pass through. Only a small
percentage will be troublemakers. We shouldn’t punish everyone just because of a few.”

Mark could see many of the same people nodding their heads in agreement with sheriff now. Some of them
were even saying, “That’s right””

Several other suggestions were made over the next few minutes, but they all presented at least as many prob-
lems as they solved. The sherift suggested that they all think about it and have another meeting the same time next
week. Everyone seemed agreeable to that so the sheriff moved to another item.

“As most of you know, my deputies and I are stretched pretty thin. I have been hopeful that the lights would
come back on soon and that everything would return to normal. However, it seems that the possibility of that is more
and more remote with each passing day. There are two groups of people represented here today, that have formed what
could best be described a citizens’ militia. I want to use these groups as prototypes to organize people throughout the
county into groups that can help us in the Sheriff’s Department.”

“Militias are a bunch of skin heads and fat rednecks. We don’t need any of them in our county.” It was the same
hothead as before. Mark didn’t know who the man was, but he didn't like his attitude. He did have a point though.
Mark had seen a documentary on Militias on CNN after the Oklahoma City Bombing. In fact, Timothy McVeigh, the
bomber was part of a militia.

The Sherift took a deep breath. “That is not totally true, Barry. While ‘Militia’ has become a dirty word in the
last few years, that has not always been the case. Militias fought with the Colonial Army against the British in the
American Revolution. Militias made up the forces that fought for Texas’ independence against Santa Anna. Texas did
not have an organized Army. It was citizens that had had enough of unfair rule from Mexico who came together to
form an unorganized army that won freedom for our great State. All ‘Militia’ really means is an unorganized group of
citizens that come together to help each other. Whether they were fighting tyranny, Indian attacks, or outlaws, they
were a militia. If we don’t want to call it a militia, we don’'t have to. But that doesn’t change what it will be. A group of
Wilson County citizens who want to protect our county from harm.”

Mark had never heard it explained that way. What the sheriff wanted to do made sense.

“The first person I want to introduce is Greg Hardy.” The Sheriff pointed into the crowd and a man stood up.
Mark recognized him as the man who had come out with the lawman and asked him so many questions. “Greg lives in
LaVernia and he has organized his neighbors into quite a force. Four times they have repelled groups that attacked the
town. If not for him and the ‘LaVernia Irregulars’ as they call themselves, some of the citizens of LaVernia might not be
with us today”

The group clapped for Greg. He looked embarrassed by the gesture and sat down quickly with a wave of his
hand. The sheriff continued.

“The next person I want to recognize...” Mark looked around the room, wondering if he knew the other militia
leader as well. “...is Mark Turner from ‘Silver Hills”

Mark was dumbfounded. He felt himself being pushed up from both sides by Jim and Gunny. His legs some-
how straightened and he was standing as the people around him applauded. He realized he must have looked like a
deer caught in the headlights of impending doom. He heard the sheriff go on about how their group had withstood
a running gun battle and how he had helped the preacher and about they had just a couple of nights ago saved Ralph
Jones and his family from a bunch of hoods. As Mark listened, his surprise slowly turned to anger. Anger that Sheriff
Thompson had blindsided him. Anger that these people now thought he was some kind of example for them to follow.
Anger that they were clapping and cheering for him like some kind of gridiron legend. He took a deep breath to calm
himself and then sat down. It seemed an eternity before the applause stopped.

“What I want to do is to meet with these men and their associates to come up with a plan to train and organize
our county force” The sheriff paused. “And what I would like for all of you to do is talk to your friends and neighbors
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and see how many would be willing to help us out. It would be strictly voluntary, but the benefits to us all could truly
be the difference in life and death. Does that sound good to everyone?”

Everyone nodded their head up and down like the porpoises at Sea World that wanted the trainer to throw
them a fish. The Sheriff dismissed the meeting, reminded everyone to return next week, and then asked a few people to
accompany him to his office to discuss a training plan. On the way there, Mark pulled the lawman oft to the side.

“You blindsided me, Curt. I didn’t want to be a part of this”

“I'm sorry. I was afraid if I told you what I really wanted, you wouldn’t show up. I can see now that I was prob-
ably right”

Mark just glared at the sheriff.

“Look, Mark, whether you wanted to be involved in this or not, you are. You were involved before I asked you
here. You were involved before those assholes in that truck tried to kill you. You were involved as soon as the lights
went out. You are just beginning to realize how involved you are and that is what you are mad about. You're not re-
ally mad at me. Now you just need to accept the fact that you are involved up to your eyebrows and deal with it” Curt
smiled. “Now, let’s get to work.”

Mark looked down at his boots. “I guess you're right. I am involved up to here” He held his hand even with the
top of his thinning hair. “T guess I better accept it. But, that doesn’t mean I have to LIKE it” He smiled.

“Well said, my friend. Well said” The lawman laughed.

When they got into the sherift’s office, Mark recognized everyone but the man that was standing next to Greg.
The sherift introduced him as Greg’s lieutenant, Rob Bowers. The lawman then turned to Ralph, who he had also asked
to see.

“Counselor, I have some info on the guys that attacked your house. Have you ever heard the name Lee Ray
Jenkins?”

The big lawyer rubbed his chin for a moment. “That sounds familiar...oh, yeah...he was the Klan boy I put
away for beating up an old black man during Fiesta one year. That was back in the late 80%...I think”

“That’s the one. Turns out our ringleader the other night is his baby brother looking to get even for his brother
spending the rest of his life in jail”

“Jenkins only got five years. He should have been out long ago”

“That’s not how it worked out, Ralph. Seems he got shanked in the shower one night and died a couple of days
later”

“I see” Ralph seemed sad that the Klansman had died. Mark wondered why a black man would be sorry that
some KKKer died. He didn’t think he would if he were in Ralph’s shoes.

Curt addressed the whole group with his main topic. “I had already talked with the county commissioners and
the mayors about starting our militia. At first they wanted me to deputize an additional 100 men. I told them that I
didn’t have the equipment to supply that many people with the minimum amount of gear that would be required to do
the job. Plus, transportation would be a major problem. We only have 12 running patrol cars. Finally, the state require-
ments for being a deputy sheriff necessitate a peace officer’s commission. And there is no one in the county author-
ized to teach the class. In the end, they agreed that having a militia was the best solution. I hope to get five or six more
groups like you all have. If they are spread out evenly throughout the county, it should give us the ability for each group
to cover a small part of the county and call the Sherift’s Department for backup. What we need to do is talk about how
we are going to train the people that volunteer. Mark, your group is the biggest. Would you mind sharing what you all
are doing?”

“Gunny is actually in charge of our security detail. Why don’t we let him fill you in? Gunny?”

The grizzled veteran told about the training schedule that he had set up. Members of their security detail spent
about 8 hours a week in training. Two with Mark on fitness and unarmed self-defense, two with Jim on marksmanship,
and four with him on anything and everything else. Gunny also told them how he conducted drills while the men, and
women he was reminded, were on duty. Once Gunny was finished describing their training program, Curt asked Greg
to fill everyone in on their program. Greg turned the floor over to Rob.
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“We only train once or twice a month, but we have been at it longer than you guys in Silver Hills. We have 28
people in our security detachment. Since the burst, we've had some newcomers want to join, but so far we haven’t felt
we needed them. Plus, they don't have our group standard equipment.”

Rob’s opening statement had created several questions in Mark’s mind. But before he could verbalize them, Jim
jumped in.

“How long have you been at it?”

“Well, Greg started developing our subdivision four years ago. Most of our residents have been there and train-
ing with us for at least two years”

“Two years!” Mark exclaimed. “I wish we had that kind of time under our belts. You said something about
group standard equipment?”

“Every homeowner has a list of standard equipment that they agree to buy as soon as possible. That is part of
the agreement they make when they buy a lot from Greg. It includes things like weapons and radios that we use for our
security force. They also agree to spend a certain amount of time per year training with the group.” Rob explained.

Mark could see the raised eyebrows on the faces of his friends. Gunny asked a question.

“So, whatchur standard weapons?”

“First is a mil-spec AR-15 and a Glock 34. Every adult member of the family needs at least those two. After that
are optional things like M1-As and Mossberg 590’s. Plus every family has to have at least two GMRS radios.”

Rob went on to explain that they trained as a group on weekends. Sometimes just a few hours and sometimes
for the whole weekend. Mark was beginning to see these people had done before the burst what they had done in Silver
Hills since the burst. He saw the wisdom in doing this, but couldn’t imagine how they had gotten a group to agree to all
of this stuft before it became so obviously needed. He mentioned this fact to the men from LaVernia. Greg explained
that he had become concerned about the Y2K bug in 1998. He said that he found a network of survival groups on the
net and that some of these people helped him develop a plan. His business as a rural real estate developer allowed him
to take one of his projects and turn it into a haven for like minded individuals. He and some friends, including Rob
and Curt, were the first to move into ‘Promise Point’ After the Millenium bug turned out to be nothing, they felt it was
prudent to stay prepared for any other kind of disaster. “Boy are we glad now that we did” He ended.

“You sound a little like our old boss, Reginald Davis.” Mark stated. He saw Greg and Curt look at each other.
“Do you know him?”

“Not personally” Curt answered. “Only by reputation. Some of the same people that helped us get started tried
to help him out as well. I didn’t know that you worked for him.”

“You said they TRIED to help him out?” Jim asked.

“According to what I heard, Mr. Davis is not always receptive to the ideas of others. I hope this doesn't offend
you, since you work for him, but he tends to be a hard liner with his group” Greg was almost apologetic.

“I don’t think we work for him anymore” Mark laughed. “We noticed ‘the hard liner thing’ and told him we
didn’t want to stay at his ranch. He lost it. He truly could not believe that we turned him down. He never said the
words, but it was clear to Jim and I that we didn’t have jobs anymore”

The men talked some more about how to train the new people that would want to help. They came up with
several good ideas and decided to see how many volunteers they had before determining which plan to go with. When
the meeting broke up, Greg asked Mark if he had a minute. The two men walked out of the Sheriff’s office onto the
courthouse lawn.

“I had just wanted to apologize to you for not being more forthcoming when Curt brought me over to visit
your place. I should have told you that we had a group, but I didn’t know if I could trust you or not at that point.” Greg
began.

“That’s okay.” Mark responded. “As I remember, I didn’t trust you enough to answer all of your questions either.
I guess that trust has to be built up slowly” He paused. “I am still amazed that you all were able to get a group together
before the stuff hit the fan. It seems to me that it would be hard to keep everyone on the same page. Heck, even when
solutions look obvious to me now, there is always at least a dissenter or two in our group.”

“Yes. We have that problem too, sometimes. But most of the time everybody gets along pretty well. And when
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they don’t, majority rules” Curt concurred. “I wanted to let you know that Curt and I both were amazed at how much
‘Silver Hills’ had accomplished in less than a month. It took us over a year to get to basically the same point at ‘Promise
Point’ It is a real testament to your leadership.”

There someone goes again, thought Mark, giving me credit I don’t deserve. “It really is a testament to people
pulling together and doing what is necessary.”

“That’s true, but people are funny animals. In a crisis they almost always do one of two things. They either turn
on each other, or they band together. The difference between the two is usually leadership. But I didn’t ask you out here
to debate human nature with you. I really wanted to ask you if there was anything we could do to help you?”

Mark thought for a moment. “Our biggest concern is water. We are pumping water out of my well for the
neighborhood with a generator. It is working fine for now, but if the generator breaks or, God forbid, this thing goes
on long enough that we run out of gas, we are going to be in trouble. I had tried to trade for an old windmill, but Mr.
Davis wouldn't trade with us. Do you have any idea where I can get a windmill?”

Now it was Greg’s turn to think. “I just might. Let me check it out and I'll get back to you later this week?”

“Thanks. Is there anything we can do for you?”

“Actually, there is. Do you think your garden expert could come look at our gardens? They don't seem to be do-
ing as well as they did last year, and we can't figure out why.”

“I'm sure George would be glad to help you all out” Mark offered. With that the two men shook hands and
Mark and his crew headed home.

The trip home was filled with conversation of the day’s events. Mark’s mind was preoccupied with mostly two
items. The killer virus and his family in Waco. He prayed that the virus was only a rumor. But something in his gut told
him it wasn’t. How could they protect themselves from an invisible killer? He would rather face a whole boatload of
MZBs empty handed. The virus made it imperative that he go to Waco soon. If he waited, it might be too late. When
they were about halfway home, Ralph asked an unexpected question.

“What would it take for us to stay at Silver Hills indefinitely?”

Mark had actually thought about that possibility, but he didn’t think that Ralph would want to leave his home
for more than a few days. He didn’t keep the former defensive end waiting for an answer. “You are welcome to stay as
long as you want.”

“I thought we had to be voted in by everyone, or something.”

“That’s only if no one knows you. If you have family or friends willing to put you up, then nobody can say
squat about you staying. You can stay on my place for as long as you like”

“So, I guess that makes us friends?” The black man asked jokingly.

“No. Family” Mark answered with his own smile.

“How do you figure that?”

“Listen, Ralph, I have heard people talking. And except for the fact that you are taller than I am, they can
barely tell us apart. They say we might be twins.”

“Is that so? Only by our height can they tell us apart, huh?” Ralph rolled his eyes.

“Well that and...I kind of hate to mention it, 'm so humble and all...the fact that ’'m way better looking than
you.

A collective groan went up from the other men. Mark’s joke had served to lighten the mood in the truck and
the men continued to rib each other the rest of the way home.

Chapter 40 - Homecoming

Wednesday morning when Mark was finished with his Guard duty shift, he went home to get ready to go for
Manny’s daughter and her family. He had a lot on his mind. His most significant issue at the moment was how the trip
to Austin would go. They had practiced the convoy plan that he and Gunny had come up with. They felt that it gave
them the best chance for success. They had even simulated a roadblock and the different ways that they could choose to
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deal with it. If this trip went well, and Mark prayed that it would, then they would go to Waco on Saturday.

The President had given his biweekly speech last night and Mark noticed a subtle difference in the leader’s
tone. He had urged those in shelters to stay there and everyone, no matter where they were, to cooperate fully with
those in charge. He warned that any civil disobedience, looting, or interfering with the government’s plans to control
this crisis would have to be dealt with severely given the extraordinary circumstances. In the end he praised the Ameri-
can citizens for pulling together in these difficult times and he assured them that food and medicine would continue to
be provided to all those in government shelters. Mark supposed that the man might just be tired, but it sounded as if he
were almost desperate.

Rodney was holding on, but he was still unconscious. Lisa was getting a little more optimistic about his
chances, but said that she would feel a lot better once he woke up. Donna seemed to be doing better, and Lisa had been
keeping her busy helping to set up their new hospital.

Mark walked out to his Jeep with his FAL and a backpack with his spare magazines, ammo, and emergency
supplies. The Jeep looked funny. Chaparo had welded together a louvered grill guard that would hopefully protect
the engine compartment from gunfire. The windshield had been lowered and a rest for a rifle had been mounted on
the dash so that the driver could theoretically shoot and drive at the same time. Mark’s truck also looked different. It
too had a new grill guard and the stock bumper had been replaced with a huge heavy pipe in case they needed to ram
through a blockade. Mark placed his weapon and pack into the Jeep, which would be the lead vehicle, and waited for
the others to arrive. It wasn’t long until Manny drove up in his Suburban with Chaparo’s trailer on the back. He had
Victor with him who would drive the truck. Scott Simmons, Dwight Rittiman, and Joe Bagwell all walked up together.
They would sit shotgun in the three vehicles that were already here. A moment later, Professor Petrie drove up in his
Trans Am with Gunny in the passenger seat. They would bring up the rear of the convoy. The right side t-top had been
removed which would give the rider a 360-degree field of fire. They were taking the FRS radios to communicate. Since
there were only three, Manny would rely on hand signals from Victor or Ted.

The men loaded up and headed out of the subdivision. Manny, Mark, and Gunny had selected the route they
would use which was made up of mostly back roads and minor highways. Unless something compelled them to change
the route, they would come back the same way. This made the round trip about 50 miles further than the most direct
way, but the men felt the lesser risk was worth the extra fuel.

Mark took the lead with Victor and Manny following about a minute behind. Ted stayed far enough back that
he barely could see the trucks in front of him. His job was to keep someone from sneaking up behind them. If another
vehicle tried to attack him, he would radio to the trucks ahead and they would set up a quick ambush on the sides of
the road while Ted hauled butt up to them. Mark’s job in the front was to cautiously round all curves and top all hills
looking for any road blocks or attack points. The truck and the Suburban would stay back until Mark gave them the all-
clear sign. If the Jeep ended up in an ambush, Mark and Joe, his co-pilot, could shoot back out of the open jeep while
they backed out of the danger zone. The convoy would try to keep their speed to about 45 miles per hour.

A little over halfway, Mark topped a small rise and saw several burned out cars at the bottom of the hill where
there was a bridge over a creek. Two were completely off of the road, but one was about halfway out in his lane. He
slammed on the brakes and had Joe radio for the others to stop. He was over 300 yards from the cars and could not see
anyone. He thought it might be the same kind of roadblock Gunny had seen the other day, but the cars didn’t seem po-
sitioned right and he couldn’t see anything moving. He pulled his binoculars out of his pack and looked the area over
as well as he could. He could still not see anyone. He radioed back to the others what was going on. Gunny had the rest
of the vehicles move to the top of the modest hill. He instructed Victor to watch behind them and the others to cover
the Jeep. Then he told Mark to slowly drive down to the choke point and see what happened. Mark eased his CJ into
first gear and then placed his FAL on the dash rest. Joe had one of the AKs and it was at the ready also. The hair on the
back of Mark’s neck stood up as he released the clutch and the Jeep crept down the hill. It seemed an eternity passed
each second as Mark wished his eyes had x-ray vision. When they were fifty or sixty yards from the burned out wrecks,
Mark suddenly stomped on the brakes. He still could see nothing dangerous, but his nose had picked up a scent that
made him wretch. He looked over at Joe and saw from the hand over his nose and mouth that the smell was equally
offensive to him.
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“What happened? What happened?” Gunny’s voice crackled over the radio.

“Something smells awful down here” Mark replied.

“Did you see anything?”

“No. Not yet”

“Move on across the bridge, then. If'n you get past the cars and still don’t see anything, stop and we’ll come on
down. But be ready, Karate man. If’n they’s trouble after you pass them cars, haul ass on through and we’ll give ‘em hell
from up here”

“Roger that, Gunny.’

Mark held his breath and slowly drove across the bridge and past the three cars. He drove another 40 yards
and stopped. Fortunately, the wind was blowing from this direction and it kept the smell down to a tolerable level at
this distance. Mark took a good look around and then gave clearance for the others to come down. He hopped out of
the Jeep with his rifle and slowly walked back toward the cars. Gunny had instructed Victor and Scott to hold their
position in the truck on at the top of the hill and keep watch in both directions. The other two vehicles stopped at the
bridge about the same time Mark and Joe reached the first car. The two men looked into the car. Joe was instantly sick.
Mark, somewhat assisted by his previous experiences, but mostly because he had skipped breakfast, just gagged a cou-
ple of times. Someone had piled several bodies into the car and set it on fire. Unfortunately, the fire must have burned
out before it totally consumed them and they were starting to decompose badly. Mark called Gunny and the others
over and told them what was making the terrible stench. Gunny examined the cars for a few minutes while everyone
else made their way back to the Jeep for a drink of water. Mark saw the old man approach the car turned funeral pyre
and look in at the bodies. He wasn't sure, but it appeared that even Gunny was struggling to keep his breakfast down.
After a few minutes, the grizzled marine hobbled up to the others and gave his report.

“It looks to me like the ones in the car were manning this road block. Looks like they bit off more than they
could chew. The cars are all shot up from the side like they were crossways in the road and not the front like they would
be if they had been coming down the road. There are a couple of old sawed off shotguns and a .30-30 in the car with the
bodies. The stocks are burned up but you can still tell what they were. But whatever punched holes through those cars
were bigger than some old scattergun or a cowboy rifle. Could have been a group like us coming through that didn’t
take kindly to being hijacked, or it could have been a meaner group of MZBs. Whoever they were, they weren't fiddle
fartin’ around. All of the bodies have been shot at least three or four times.”

“So what should we do?” Manny asked.

“We go on, but real careful” Gunny answered.

Mark walked over to the trailer attached to Manny’s Suburban and removed a jerry can of gas.

“What cha doin, Karate man?” Gunny demanded.

“I think we should finish up disposing of these bodies. It seems wrong to me to just let them decompose, and
we don’t have time to bury them.”

“Your heart’s in the right place, Mark. But we don't know if we can really spare the gas, and I don’t think we
should send out any smoke signals that might give us away.” Gunny explained.

“But we can't just leave them here like this!” Mark insisted.

“I don’t think we have a choice” Gunny reasoned. “Tell you what. If n we come back this way and it looks like
we don’t need the extry gas, you can finish the job up. Sound OK?”

“I see your point. Yeah, that'll be OK”

The men loaded back into their vehicles and the convoy resumed its course. The rest of the trip was unevent-
ful. When they reached Manny’s daughter’s neighborhood, the entrance was blocked off with two eighteen wheeler
tractors. Dirt had been piled up beside the road on both sides and there were men with rifles behind the piles. Mark
stopped as soon as he saw the barricade. The rest of their convoy had bunched up once they had cleared the city limits
and the trucks behind Mark had to slam on their brakes to keep from rear-ending the Jeep. The sudden appearance of
four vehicles coupled with the sound of squealing rubber seemed to make the guardians of this urban area quite nerv-
ous. Mark got on the radio.
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“I don’t like the looks of this” He announced to those with the other radios. Before anyone could answer him, a
voice came from behind the roadblock.

“Don’t move or you will be fired upon.” The voice instructed. “Tell us what you want.”

“We're here to see my friend’s daughter” Mark called.

“What’s her name and address?”

“I don’t know...just a minute.” Mark started to use his radio.

“Yeah, right mister. We haven't heard that one before. Now you and your friends back up real slow and head on
down the road before we have to show you how we deal with unwelcome guests.”

“No really. Let me ask my friend” Mark franticly keyed the little Motorola FRS. “Manny. Manny.” No answer.

The voice responded. “No really...yourself. You have 30 seconds to be gone or we will open fire”

“Mark. Remember Manny doesn’t have a radio. Ask Victor.” The tension in Joe’s voice was daunting.

“Victor, what’s your sister-in-law’s name and address? Quick.”

“Her name is Letty Washburn. I don’t know her address. Her husband’s name is Ed and their son’s name is
Robby”

Mark repeated Victor’s answer to the voice. He explained that Letty’s father did not have a radio and that’s why
he couldn’t give them the address.

“Just a minute.” The voice called. After what seemed an eternity, but was probably no more than 15 seconds,
the voice returned. “OK, have the father come up and give us the address. No weapons and no funny business.”

Mark turned in his seat and waved at Manny to come up to the Jeep. When he stepped out of his truck, Mark
told his friend what the voice had instructed. Manny left his rifle behind and walked up to the barricade with his hands
out from his sides. When he reached his destination, Mark saw a head pop up from behind the dirt pile. It spoke briefly
with Manny and then Mark saw another man run into the neighborhood. Several minutes later, the man came running
back with another man, a woman, and a small boy in tow. The woman and the boy sandwiched Manny in a giant hug.
The man shook his hand vigorously. A few seconds later one of the big rigs started up and pulled forward. A man, who
Mark guessed the voice belonged to, stepped out and waved the convoy through. When the Jeep pulled past the big
truck, the man who had come back with the runner jumped into the back seat.

“Hi. 'm Ed. Go on up and take the second left”

He finished guiding them to his house and then, when everyone was there, introductions were made all
around. Manny explained that they had come to move the Austinites to his house if they wanted. Letty and Ed jumped
at the invitation. They explained that while they were getting by, they had to rely on others more than they would like.
The grocery stores were still operating, but the selection of food had grown more and more limited over the past few
weeks. Ed did not own any firearms and he was unable to help with the security of their neighborhood. And while
those who did had been quite nice and fair, they had also set themselves as the executive committee over the commu-
nity. They made the job assignments and decided what days trips to the store would be taken. Ed and Letty were tasked
with helping procure and purify water for the neighborhood. The city water had stopped working two weeks after the
burst. They were carrying water back from a creek about half a mile away and then boiling it outside over wood fires.
Each person was only allowed 10 gallons of water per week.

When Manny asked Ed about his mother, the younger man’s head dropped.

“Mom died two days after the burst”

“I'm so sorry.” Manny empathized. “What happened?”

“I think the burst ruined her pacemaker. We found her in her flower garden with the bucket she used to water
her plants. Her heart probably slipped out of rhythm and without the pacemaker to regulate it...” The man had tears in
his eyes.

Letty slipped her arm around her husband’s waist and consoled him. After a minute she asked her father what
they needed to bring and he gave her a quick list.

The men from Silver Hills loaded the beds and the table and chairs onto the trailer. Letty and Ed packed their
clothes and the little food they had into the suburban and the back of the truck. Letty also packed most of her cook-
ware and some of her dinnerware. Ed had a few hand tools and a chainsaw in the garage that also was loaded in the
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truck. Robby, when told to pack some of his most important things came out of his room with a box of toys. Lying on
top was a Super Nintendo game system. His grandpa got a good laugh upon seeing the video game and then explained
to the boy that there was no electricity at his house as well. The two of them went into the nine-year-old’s room to put
the useless electronic toy back. A minute later, Manny came running up to Mark with something in his hands.

“Mark! Look! Robby has a set of walkie-talkies. They’re just like the ones Rodney gave us.”

Mark looked at the radios and they were FRS radios. He turned their switches, but only one of them came
on. Robby explained that he had accidentally left the other one on and the batteries had run down. Mark asked if they
could borrow the radios and Robby was glad to help out. Mark asked the family if they had anything else that might
help them. Ed said that he had a nice notebook computer but that the battery had run down on it. Mark explained that
they could charge it when they ran the generator and suggested that it might be useful. When nothing else could be
thought of, everyone loaded into the vehicles and the convoy headed out of the Washburn’s neighborhood. Ed spoke
briefly with the men at the entrance before they turned toward Silver Hills. The trip home was uneventful and, except
for stopping to burn the bodies at the roadblock, they made no stops.

Joe spent most of the time during the trip home talking about how he and his wife were not getting along well
lately. He attributed it to the big adjustment they had made in their lifestyle since the burst. Mark listened for a while,
but he soon had heard all of Joe’s domestic problems that he could stand. His mind kept wandering back to the attack
on Ralph and his family. There was something about it that troubled him. He just couldn’t put his finger on it. Probably
because of all the whining that prevented him from focusing. He wanted to tell Joe to shut up, but knew that it would
hurt the man’s feelings if he did. One thing he could focus on was the fact that he would find someone else to ride shot-
gun with him on the trip to Waco.

When they got to the big gate, it was almost dark and Charley shift had just come on. Jim was at the gate and
he opened it for the convoy. Mark pulled through far enough for all of the vehicles to enter. In his mirror, Mark saw Jim
close the gate and then briefly speak with Gunny. Jim then made his way up to the Jeep.

“Gunny said you all had no problems.” Jim confirmed as Mark nodded his head. “That’s good. Unfortunately, I
have some bad news.”

“What is it?”

“Rodney died this afternoon. Lisa thinks it was a blood clot.”

MarK’s heart fell to his stomach. He felt sad and angry all at the same time. “How’s Donna?”

“Not good. Lisa had to give her something to calm her down and send her to bed”

Mark thanked his friend. He drove to Manny’s house and was somewhat cheered up to see the happiness that
his daughter’s and grandson’s homecoming had brought. After they had unloaded the trucks and trailer, Mark drove
home. When he walked into the kitchen, Jess, Lisa, Abby, Alice, and George were there. The look on Jess’s face told
Mark that everyone was taking this badly. Mark looked at Lisa next. It was obvious that she had been crying a lot. Her
face was all swollen and red. Mark had to ask the questions, but he waited for Gunny to arrive so that Lisa could relate
the particulars just once. A few minutes later, the old man came in and asked what had happened. Lisa explained that
she thought it was a pulmonary embolism. In layman’s terms, a blood clot that formed in his lungs, broke loose, and
moved to his heart. She started crying again as she explained. George told the guys that Chaparo was building a casket
and that they had tentatively scheduled the funeral for tomorrow afternoon. He had taken Abby and Alice down to talk
to Brother Bob about performing the service and he had agreed. Mark asked about Donna and Jess told him that she
had fallen apart. Lisa had given her some sedatives and sent her to rest. The boys were doing OK under the circum-
stances, although they had spent most of the day crying. They were now asleep with their mother in the tent.

Mark and Gunny then had to answer questions about their trip. They filled the others in, but expurgated the
gory parts of the roadblock. Everyone was happy that Manny’s family had been rescued, but it did little to relieve the
sadness of Rodney’s passing. Even though he had been here only a short time, he had become a part of the family. Mark
and Gunny thought that tomorrow would be fine for the funeral. Everyone said goodnight and headed for bed.

Mark and Jess headed for their room. Jess lit a candle and sat down on the bed. She began to quietly sob. Mark
sat beside her and held her. He didn't say anything. His thoughts bounced from the happiness of Letty’s, Ed’s, and Rob-
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by’s homecoming, to the sadness that Rodney’s death had brought. Mark wasn't sad for Rodney. He had gone home
and was having a homecoming of his own in heaven, after all. The sadness he felt was for Donna, Timmy, and Tommy.
How would they get along without their father and husband? How would his family get along if something happened
to him? Who would take care of them? Of course Jim would step up, but it should be family that filled in if the un-
thinkable happened. He had to go get his brother and the rest of his family. Mike was the one that he could count on if
something happened. He squeezed Jess to him a little tighter.

The next thing Mark knew, the wind up alarm clock was going off. He and Jess had fallen asleep crossways
on the bed in their clothes. He unwrapped his arms from around his partner and tried to stretch the cramps out of
his back to no avail. He rolled over and looked at the glow-in-the-dark hands on the clock. They read 1:30. He got up,
turned the alarm off, and threw a light blanket over his wife. He picked up what he needed from the bedroom and shuf-
fled into the study to put on his boots and to get his Camp .45 out of the safe.

When he showed up at the CP the radioman from Charley shift informed him that they had been seeing an
increased amount of traffic from town. Mark asked if there had been any trouble and was told that only one group had
gotten a little mouthy with Jim. Mark was chatting with his guys when he saw Craig arrive. Mark looked at his watch
and noticed that he had barely made it on time. The Delta shift leader made his duty assignments for the shift. He had
intended to sit in one of the towers tonight, but decided that it might be better if he was already at the gate in case of
trouble. Everyone moved out to their station. Mark met Jim at the gate post.

“Heard you've been busy.” Mark told his friend.

“Yeah. Eight or nine groups came through. Most of them earlier. We even had a little excitement.”

“What happened?”

“A group came through about 11 and gave us some trouble until they noticed we had them covered. They
were demanding that we give them food, water, and camping gear. The leader kept whining that it wasn't fair that we
had stuff that they didn’t. I told them we could help them a little on food and that they could have all the water they
could carry. But that wasn't good enough for them. They had a couple of guns and said that if we didn't give them what
they wanted, they would come in and take it. I convinced them that wasn't likely to happen by having the guys in the
foxholes shine their flashlights at the gate. When I told the leader that we had five armed guys in each hole, you should
have seen his eyes get big. They were so taken back that they left without the food and water that we would have given
them?” Jim was grinning.

“Did they seem like criminals or gang members?”

“No. Just like regular people. I think the aggressiveness came from being scared. I guess if I had no place to go
and no food, I would be scared for my family too.”

Mark just nodded his head. He climbed down into the foxhole and started his watch. A couple of groups came
by during Delta shift, but only one stopped and asked for some water. Other than that it was very quiet. He thought
about all the things that were going on. When he was relieved by Alpha shift, he felt tired and looked forward to taking
a nap until his morning self defense class. He trudged up the hill.

When Mark got to the house, Timmy was leading Jess out of the back door by her hand.

“What are you doing?” He asked.

“Timmy’s having trouble waking his mother up and it’s time for breakfast.”

“I mean, why aren’t you at school?”

“We cancelled it for today”

“OK?” Mark didn’t have to ask why. He followed Jess and the boy back to the Roberts’ tent. Jess went in with
Timmy. He could hear Tommy inside.

“Please wake up, Mommy. Please.” The older of the two boys pleaded.

“Donna!” Mark heard his wife’s voice. “I know you’re sleepy from the medicine that Lisa gave you, but you have
to wake up. Donna. Are you lis...”

Mark heard Jess gasp and he knew instantly that something was wrong. He rushed into the tent and saw that
his wife’s face was pale. He looked down at the cot that Donna was lying on and noticed that she too was pale. He
reached down and touched her forehead. It was cold. Colder, it seemed, than anything he had ever touched. He looked
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at the boys and knew that they could see from the look on his face that something was wrong.

“Maybe Mommy needs her medicine to wake up” Timmy suggested.

“No. Her medicine is to keep her from being sad. Not for waking up.” Tommy scolded his younger brother.

“What medicine?” Mark asked.

“It’s in her purse” Tommy said as he reached into the bag and pulled out a vial. He held it up to Mark. “See”

Mark took the vial. It was empty. He looked at the label. Paxil. Mark didn’t know what that was. Maybe she had
overdosed. He looked at Jess. “Go get Lisa.”

Jess moved out of the tent and Mark squatted down between the two boys. He pulled them to him and took
a deep breath. “Boys, I know the last few days have been really hard for you, but I have some bad news for you. Your
Mommy has gone to be with your Daddy in heaven. I guess she missed him too much.”

“NO!” Tommy screamed and he and his brother started crying into Mark’s shoulders. Jess came back with Lisa
and they both had tears in their eyes. Lisa checked the body for a pulse and then looked at Mark and shook her head.
Mark, however, already knew what she was trying to tell him.

Chapter 41 - Good-byes and Gifts

Mark had Jess take the boys inside the house. He showed the empty vial to Lisa and asked her what it was.

“Paxil is a strong anti-depressant.” She answered.

“Do you think she ODd on them?”

“No. I think she ran out. See here on the bottle. This was a 60 day script. It was filled about a month before the
burst. If she took it everyday like she was supposed to she would have run out eight days ago. I don’t know exactly how
long it stays in your system after you stop taking it, but probably like two or three days. More than likely the benefits
that this gave her wore off about the same time Rodney was shot”

“No wonder she was such a basket case” Mark whispered as if he didn’t want Donna to hear him.

Lisa’s eyes began to fill with tears again. “I'm so sorry I didn’t know. I should have noticed the signs. If I had,
maybe things would be different.”

“We don’t know that, Lisa. We don’t even know how she died. Now, I need you to pull yourself together and
figure it out” Mark was a little stern.

“OK, Mark” Lisa said as she sniffled one last time. She asked Mark to excuse himself while she examined the
body. After a few minutes, she called Mark back in.

“There are no wounds or signs of anything physical. An overdose, whether intentional or accidental, is what
makes the most sense. I looked through her purse, though, and there is nothing in it that she could have ODd on”

“Maybe it’s not in her purse” Mark suggested.

“That’s possible, but I doubt it. Women keep their medicine in their purse. But let’s look to make sure.”

The two of them looked through the tent but could not find anything that Donna could have taken that would
have killed her.

“If she didn’t OD, then what else could have happened?” Mark asked.

“Maybe she had an allergic reaction to the sedative I gave her, or even an insect sting, but I don't think so.
There’s no trace of any kind of reaction. And she obviously died very peacefully”

Mark and Lisa stepped out of the tent. A few people had gathered around. Mark could see others coming up
the street. The grapevine in Silver Hills had always been capable, but since the Burst, it had become a communication
powerhouse. The speed at which this kind of news traveled was mind-boggling. Some of the residents would want to
know what happened. Some would ask what they could do to help. Others were coming just because it seemed right to
be with everyone else. Whatever their reason, they came. After only a few moments almost a third of the neighborhood
was standing in Mark’s yard.

“What happened, Mark?” One of them asked.

“Donna Roberts died last night.”
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“How?”

“We aren't sure.”

“Did she kill herself?”

“That is a possibility, but we just don’t know. It could have been anything” Mark did not want to give anything
away on the remote possibility that foul play had a hand in this tragedy.

“What can we do to help?” Someone asked.

Mark told them that there was nothing they could do right now. He promised to let them know if something
was needed. They asked about the boys and the arrangements. Someone suggested that Rodney’s funeral should be
postponed and that he and Donna should be buried at the same time. Everyone agreed. People hung around and talked
or prayed for a while, then they headed back for their houses or duties.

Don Wesley came up to Mark. “I can’t believe she’s dead. We saw her last night.”

“When?”

“Right after our shift started. It must have been around 2:30”

“Who all saw her?”

“All of us in Rover 2. She was walking toward your house. The funny part was, she seemed happy”

Lisa heard Don and asked him a question. “Where was she coming from?”

“I don’t know. I thought she was just out for a walk. She was walking up the hill”

“Could she have been coming from the hospital?” She asked.

“Yeah, I guess so. She was pretty close to there.”

“Oh my God.” Lisa started running toward the new hospital. Mark and Don followed her. When they got to the
old Olsen house, Lisa went straight to the kitchen. Mark saw that almost all of the cabinets were opened and they were
filled with various medical supplies and medications. On the counter were three bottles with the lids off. Mark saw
tears pouring out of Lisa’s eyes again. Lisa started reading the bottles.

“One of these is Diazepam. It's the Vet equivalent of Valium. That's what I gave her last night to calm her down.
I don’t know what the others are” The tall blond told the two men.

“Don, would you mind running over and getting Doc?” Mark asked.

Don nodded his head once and was gone. Lisa started to cry almost hysterically. Mark walked over to her and
patted her on the back. She spoke to him one or two words at a time between the sobs. “This...is all...my fault...She...
saw...where...I got...the...tranq...qualizer...from?

“Lisa, this is not your fault. People make their own decisions. And even if the drugs did make it easy for her,
she would have found another way if they had not been available. People always find a way to do what they want. I'm
glad she did it with drugs instead of a bullet. Imagine how much more traumatic it would have been for her boys to see
her with a hole in her head”

Lisa paused for a second while that image sunk in. It seemed to slow her rate of crying for a moment. “But she
couldn’t make good decisions in a depressed state. She needed her anti-depressants to cope. It wasn’t her fault”

“That may be true, but she knew she needed her medicine and chose not to tell anyone that she was out. She
still made a choice”

“But you don’'t understand...I...should...have...seen...that...she was...in troub...ble...I am...respons...
sible...for..”

Mark had had enough. Sam used to cry like this when she was little. He had a hard time dealing with it then,
and he certainly couldn’t deal with it now from a grown woman. He used the voice he employed when a five or six year
old was misbehaving in his karate class. It was calm but authoritative in a ‘you don’t want to find out what happens
next’ kind of way.

“Lisa, stop crying. I do understand. I understand that things are different than they were six weeks ago. Every-
one has to take responsibility for themselves. We are now responsible to grow our own food, to protect ourselves, and a
lot of other things that we used to take for granted. YOU are the one that needs to understand these things. People are
dying everywhere. We can not help them all, especially if they don’t try to help themselves. We are too busy trying to
survive to nursemaid everyone.” Mark realized he was started on a rant. He brought himself back on track. “This was
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not your fault and I don’t want to hear you say it was again. Do you understand?”

Lisa’s eyes were as big as saucers. Her look reminded him of a young karate student that had just been busted
in front of the whole class. She nodded her head. It was all Mark could do not to bark “You say ‘Yes, Sir’ to me when I
ask you a question.” like he would have to that miscreant five year old. Fortunately, Don and Doc arrived just in time to
break the tension.

“Hey, Doc. We've had some bad luck this morning” Mark greeted the Vet somberly.

“Yes. Don told me. Let’s see what she took” He walked over to the counter and picked up the first bottle. “This
one is Diazepam. It’s very similar to Valium. This is Robaxin. It’s a muscle relaxant...pretty strong one. And this...this
is Meperidine. It’s basically Demerol. The three together would make a good euthanasia cocktail. You wouldn'’t feel any-
thing. Just go to sleep and never wake up. It looks to me like she knew what she was doing. Either that or she was really
lucky” The doctor blushed with embarrassment. “I didn’t mean...I guess I meant ‘unlucky”

“It's OK, Doc. We knew what you meant.” Mark assured him.

They walked out of the hospital and talked about getting Chaparo to work on a big metal cabinet that they
could lock the dangerous stuff up in. Doc said that he would go talk to the welder right now. Mark looked at his watch.
It was already time for his class. He walked over to his outdoor classroom and could see that no one was in the right
frame of mind to practice self-defense. He dismissed the class and sent word that the afternoon class was also can-
celled.

If he had been tired when his shift was over, he was exhausted now. He didn’t know why, he hadn’t done any-
thing to tire himself out. But, all he wanted was to go home and go to bed. He dragged into the house, drank a glass of
water, and went to his bedroom. He was pulling his boots off, they must have weighed 20 pounds each, when Jess came
in.

“Mark?” She was almost whispering.

“Yeah?”

“About the boys?”

“How are they?” He asked, mad at himself for forgetting about them.

“I made them eat and then they cried themselves to sleep in the guest room.”

Mark nodded his head with his last ounce of energy.

“Have you thought about what is going to happen to them?”

“No.” He said flatly. Not because he was irritated, but because he was so tired. “Why?”

“Somebody has to take them.” She answered softy.

That only made sense. Mark nodded his head. Maybe the Music teacher and his wife would want them.

“I think I know the perfect people to take them.” Her voice softened even more.

Mark looked at her.

“They have a lot of experience with children. And they have room for them, too.” She smiled.

She was selling him now. He knew the drill. He was supposed to ask who. But he was just too tired. Couldn’t
she see that? Didn’t he have enough on his mind? He got angry. “God Dammit, Jess! Just tell me who!” He was instantly
sorry. He could tell her, but it wouldn’t do any good. She would get mad and stomp out of the room. At least he could
go to bed in peace. He decided to apologize anyway. It was the right thing to do. “I'm sorry, Babe. I'm just really tired.”

He was surprised at her reaction. “It's OK. I know you're real stressed out right now, but, I think this is impor-
tant. That is why I am talking about it right now. A lot of people may want the boys and we need to make sure they go
where they have the best chance at a normal childhood.”

“OK. That makes sense. Who do you think should take them?” He asked

“Us”

Mark didn’t think he had heard her right at first. But the look on her face told him that she had said exactly
what he had heard. He started getting angry again. “What?”

“You heard me.” Now her voice was forceful. “I don’t want you to decide right now. In fact I don’t want to talk
about it anymore right now. Just promise me that you will think about it
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He cooled off instantly and the last smidgen of strength drained from his body. He nodded his head. He fin-
ished stripping down to his underwear and somehow got under the sheets. “T’ll think about it. I promise. Wake me up
in a couple of hours, will you? I don’t know why I'm so tired” He closed his eyes and heard the door shut. That was the
last thing he remembered.

When his eyes opened, it took him a minute to come back to reality. When he did, he realized how refreshed
he felt. He didn’t know why, but he always slept better during the day, especially since the burst. Maybe it had some-
thing to do with being able to relax and not having to be on alert for danger like he felt he had to at night. He looked
at the clock and saw that it was 2:45. He had slept for over 4 hours. No wonder he felt so good. He got out of bed and
stretched. He owed his box a dollar, but he had quit carrying money a few weeks ago unless he was going somewhere.
He looked around on the dresser and found some loose change. He counted out a dollar in nickels and dimes and put
them in the black box. Then he dressed and walked to the kitchen. Something smelled good.

He could hear Jess in the living room reading a book. He looked and saw Tommy, Timmy, and the twins with
Lisa listening intently to the adventures of Gulliver. The boys were snuggled into Jess, one on each side. Lindsey and
Lacy were sitting on the love seat next to their mother. Jess looked happy to have someone to read to. He remembered
how she used to read to Sam and David just like this. But they were long ago too big for such behavior. Jess really did
want the boys. Her mother had told Mark before they were married about how Jess used to bring home every stray dog
and cat in the neighborhood. She just had a need to nurture. That's why she became a teacher. But these boys were no
stray puppies. They would need a lot of love and care to get past the terrible curve that fate had thrown at them.

Jess looked up and saw his head sticking around the corner. “Hi, Honey. How was your nap?”

“Wonderful. I thought you were going to wake me a little after noon.”

“I was, but you really needed some rest and there was nothing important going on, so I decided to let you
sleep. There’s some red beans and rice on the stove if you're hungry. And Alice made some cornbread. It’s in the oven”

“That sounds good. Where’s Jim?”

Lisa answered. “He’s helping over behind the hospital”

Mark knew she meant digging Donna’s grave. He also noticed that if Lisa was mad at him for scolding her this
morning, she didn’t show it. “Thanks.” He told the women and then went back into the kitchen to eat. Lisa came in a
minute later.

“Thanks for snapping me out of my self-pity this morning.” She said softly enough not to be heard in the next
room.

“No problem.” He answered at the same volume. “Next time it might be me that needs the same from you.” He
smiled.

“I asked Tommy if his Mom had ever worked at a veterinarian’s office. He said no, but that she used to work for
an Animal Doctor. Isn't that cute? I guess that's how she knew what to take”

Mark just nodded his head sadly and Lisa went back to the living room.

He ate and then headed down to see how the digging was going. The men had finished and were just standing
around looking down into the two empty holes. One had been dug yesterday and one today. Mark stared down into the
graves and the enormity of their situation came rushing back in on him. He asked Jim if they could talk. The two men
excused themselves, and walked down toward the gate.

“Tim, I need a favor”

“Anything. You just name it.”

“I need you to stay here instead of going to Waco with me”

“I thought you needed my truck?”

“I do” Mark explained. “But, I need you to stay here. If something happens to me like it did to Rodney and I
don’t get my family from Waco, I need you to take care of Jess and the kids”

“Nothing is going to happen to you, Mark”” Jim said with conviction.

“I hope you're right. But with how things are going, I don’t think that any of us knows what tomorrow holds. I
can’t risk something happening to both of us”

“I guess I see the wisdom in that. If something happened to me, you would take care of Lisa and the girls,
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right?”
“You can count on it” Mark promised.
“Then why don’t you let me go to Waco, and you stay here”
“Because they are my family. I have to go”
“I let you go get Lisa’s parents. You can let me go get yours.” Jim argued.
“That was different. Things weren't so bad then.”
“I can see that I'm not going to win this one.” Jim conceded. “So, I'm not going to argue with you any more.”
“Good” Mark smiled.
“You just remember that I get to win next time.” Jim winked.
“Twill...ITwill”

* k%

The double funeral was very emotional for everyone. The whole community, except for Beta shift that was on
duty, came to the graveside service. Mark wasn't sure if people were crying more for Rodney and Donna or because this
whole incident had brought the reality of what the world had become crashing home.

Mark choked out the eulogy since he knew Rodney best. Brother Bob delivered a beautiful message. And his
wife sang several songs angelically. When she sang ‘Amazing Grace’ as they were lowering the coffins into the graves,
every eye was filled with tears. Mark felt that the service was very nice, under the circumstances, and did Rodney
and Donna justice. In fact, except for some idiot that drove by on the county road honking his horn like a nincom-
poop during the eulogy, the service could not have been better. That is unless it wasn't needed at all. Jess held Timmy
through the whole funeral and Sam was holding Tommy’s hand. Timmy quietly cried the whole time, but Tommy tried
to be brave. At the end, though, he ended up with his face in Sam’s stomach sobbing uncontrollably. Sam did her best to
comfort him and it made Mark look at his daughter in a whole new light.

When the service was over, people milled around, not sure of what to do. The party had been postponed until
next week. Mark was talking to Chaparo when one of Beta shift’s gate guards came up to him. He told Mark that there
ware two men waiting for him at the gate. They were the ones that were honking their horn. Mark and Chaparo started
for the gate with the guard. Jim and Gunny spotted them heading off and fell in behind them.

“What’s up Karate Man?” Gunny asked.

“I don’t know. Two men at the gate asked for me. I guess we'll find out quick enough?”

When the five men reached the gate, Mark could see that it was Greg Hardy and Rob Bowers from ‘Promise
Point’ They were in an older Dodge diesel truck that was hooked to a trailer. The trailer was full of what looked like
scrap metal. Mark walked up to the driver’s side.

“Hey, Rob. Greg. What’s up?”

“Mark we apologize about blowing the horn. We had no idea that you were having a funeral. We're really
sorry” Greg explained.

“It's OK. How could you know? What's with the scrap iron?”

Greg feigned being offended. “We bring him a present and he calls it scrap iron.” He said to Rob.

Rob played along. “I guess if he doesn’'t want it, we could just take it to his old boss, Mr. Davis.”

“OK, I'm sorry if I hurt your feelings. If you really have any, that is” He said to get his own dig in. “So, what did
you bring me?”

“Nothing much.” Greg was still playing as if his feelings were injured. “Just a windmill””

“Really! You're kidding? Thanks! Come on up to my house. Man this is great. I don't know how to thank you.
Can you stay for dinner?” Mark was talking rapid fire. “Jim, Gunny, they brought us a windmill. Can you believe it?”

The men climbed into the bed of the truck and Greg directed Rob to Mark’s house. When they got there, Mark
sent David to get George. Other men started arriving at the Turner house as word of the windmill spread through the
community like wildfire. The men were falling all over themselves, thanking the visitors when David returned with
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George. When George saw what was in the trailer, a big grin spread across his face. He heartily thanked the men for
the gift. The two gift bearers told him it was no problem and they even offered to come back tomorrow and help put
the windmill up. Mark explained that he was going to Waco in the morning to see about his family there. Perhaps they
could come later next week, he suggested. The mention of a trip piqued the interest of the men from ‘Promise Point.
They said that they had some residents who wanted to go get or check on their extended families, but that they were
worried about the safety of a road trip. Mark explained how they were employing a convoy to keep the risk as low as
possible. Rob and Greg were fascinated and Rob asked if he could come along to see how it worked. Mark warned
him that it could be dangerous and that he could not guarantee his safety. Rob assured him that he was well aware of
the danger, but that it was a risk he was willing to take to see if this was a technique that they could use. Greg said that
he would still be willing to come help with the windmill tomorrow if there would be anyone who wanted to get it up.
George and Jim immediately volunteered. Several of the other men, including Chaparo, also volunteered. They talked
about the best place to put it up and George suggested that the Hernandez well would be a natural place. It was at the
top of the hill and right at the end of the road that ran the middle of the subdivision. They could pump water into a
tank if they could find one and gravity feed water down the hill with hoses. Manny was agreeable to the suggestion.
With that decided, the gathering broke up and everyone headed back home. Mark and his guests headed oft toward the
back porch for dinner when Manny asked for a minute with Mark.

“My son-in-law, Ed, wants to volunteer to ride with you in the front tomorrow. He feels he owes it to you for
coming to get him.”

“He doesn’t owe me anything, Manny. We all went to get him, but if he wants to come, I won't stop him. Can he
shoot? I need someone that can shoot pretty well with me in the lead vehicle”

“He can shoot. He was in the reserves for a while to help pay his way through college”

“Great” Mark said thinking that this was a way to get out of having to listen to Joe griping about his personal
problems all the way to Waco and back. “T'll see you guys after the meeting and we’ll go over our game plan.”

After dinner and the meeting, the group bound for Waco gathered at Mark’s for a rundown. He reminded
everyone that the primary plan was to go up tomorrow, spend the night, and come back on Sunday. Everyone needed
sleeping bags and whatever else they needed to overnight. Mark went over the primary and the two backup routes. He
gave everyone the names of all of his family members and their addresses just in case they needed them as they did
when they went to Austin. Gunny reminded everyone what their job was in case of any hostile contact from either the
front or the rear. They were adding another truck, but other than that everything would work as it had before. They
also had a radio for each vehicle now so they shouldn’t have to worry with hand signals, but the old marine made eve-
ryone go over them just in case one of the radios died.

“Murphy;,” Gunny explained, “likes to show up when you least expect him?”

Gunny then made sure that Rob and Ed had weapons. Rob had his HK 91 with him, plus a Kimber 1911. Ed
didn’t have a rifle and when he was told that he could borrow one of the AKs, he informed the group that the only
weapon he was familiar with was the M-16. Mark offered to let him use the Colt SP1 that he had gotten from Jerry
Drew. Gunny reminded everyone to bring plenty of ammo.

Mark assigned Joe to drive Jim’s truck, thinking that it would soften the blow of being replaced in the lead
vehicle. He asked Dwight to ride with Joe and assigned Rob to shotgun duties with Manny. They would leave at first
light. Rob asked if he could spend the night here and borrow a sleeping bag for the trip so that Greg wouldn't have to
get up so early to bring him back. Mark agreed and had him use the camper since his family had moved back into the
house with the cooler weather. With the meeting over, Mark got Rob settled in the camper and then headed for his own
bedroom.

When he got there, he noticed that Jess had three candles burning in the room. At least one of them was scent-
ed. He stripped down to his shorts and sat on the foot of the bed. Getting some rest yesterday had helped his disposi-
tion some, but he still felt like the weight of the world was on his shoulders. Getting the windmill was a blessing, but
now it had to be installed and gotten to work. And now, they needed a tank to store the water in. He had to get this trip
to Waco behind him. He still needed to help train the county militia. And he had to decide what to do with the Roberts
boys. No one had mentioned them at the meeting tonight, but everyone was still quite subdued from the funeral. He
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heard the door open. Jess came in and smiled at him.

“What’s the matter?” She asked.

“Just thinking about all the things we have to get done.” He answered.

She climbed onto the bed behind him and started rubbing his shoulders. She was a master at working his
kinked up muscles. He felt as if she were manipulating him to get what she wanted, but he was beyond calling her on it.
Besides, the massage felt so good. His suspicions were confirmed a minute later when she asked him a question.

“Have you thought about the boys any?”

“Yes” He answered. If she wanted to play him to get what she wanted, why shouldn’t he play along. It wouldn’t
change what he would ultimately decide, but if it got him some special attention, who did it hurt? “But I need to think
about it some more”

“Did you notice that no one said anything about them at the meeting?” She queried as she dug her thumbs
deep into his shoulders.

“Oooohhhh. That’s good” He moaned. “Yes, I did notice.” To his delight, she continued for another few min-
utes. She stopped and asked the next question that he was expecting.

“When do you think we might make up our minds?”

‘She’s good” Mark thought. He knew that her mind was already made. She had said ‘we’ to make sure that he
remembered that it wasn't just his decision. He also knew that if she didn’t like his answer, his special attention time
was over. He decided he had to tell her the truth. However, he really hoped that she liked it.

“Let me get back from Waco and then we’ll sit down and really talk it out” He mentally crossed his fingers.

“That sounds fair” She answered.

What the hell did that mean? He wondered. Was that the right answer or had he blown it? He couldn't tell from
her reaction. She smiled at him and reached into the dresser. She usually slept in flannel pajamas, but Mark noticed
that the ones she pulled out were silk. All right! He thought. He leaned back in the bed and watched as she removed
her clothing. When she was down to her underwear, he noticed something.

“You've lost weight” He blurted out.

She turned and faced him. “Really?” She ran into their bathroom. He knew that she was going to climb on
the scale. What an idiot he was. If she hadn’t lost any weight she would be disappointed and his special attention time
might go down the drain. Why hadn’t he just kept his big mouth shut? She always had a hard time losing weight.

She would diet for weeks on end to only lose a pound or two and then he had to put up with her mortification for an
interminably long period. He heard the scale flop down on the floor with a metallic clank of inevitability. He heard the
spring wind up as she stepped on the scale and he could see in his mind’s eye the dial sweeping back and forth not un-
like a Vegas slot machine. Would he hit the jackpot or would he crap out? He heard her squeal, but didn’t know if it was
good or bad. She came running out of the bathroom like a teenager and leapt like Supergirl over the bed and landed
astraddle him. She kissed him hard on the mouth.

“Seven pounds.” She kissed him again. “I've lost seven pounds!”

MarK’s ‘special attention time” had just shifted into overdrive.

Chapter 42 - Uninvited Guests

Mark awoke to the sound of gunfire. He looked at the clock and it read 11:37. He pulled on his jeans and a T-
shirt, grabbed his Camp .45 and his boots and ran outside. The firing was coming from the front of the subdivision. It
was only sporadic. Mark ran down to the CP. He heard footfalls behind him and turned to see Jim with his M1A, trying
to keep up. When the two men got to the CP, they asked what was going on. Peter Hogan was the radio operator and he
told them what he knew.

“Greg Gentry thinks it’s a crew of 6 that came by the gate about 30 minutes ago. They got real mouthy with the
gate crew, but backed off when they saw how many guys we had covering them. They walked off to the east, but Greg
thinks they came back”
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“Where are they?” Jim asked.

“Tower 2 says they're at the northeast corner of the subdivision in the ditch across the road”

“Can the OP see them?”

“Abe said that the angle is too steep for him to see them.” Peter replied.

“Who are they shooting at?” Mark asked as he was lacing up his boots.

“They’re just taking pot shots at the gate”

“Where are the rovers?”

“Rover 1 slipped back into the western foxhole. Rover 2 is on their way here. They should be here...”

“Right now.” Don Wesley, the leader of Rover two said. Mark noticed that Ralph was with him.

“Good! Here’s what we're going to do.” Mark indicated that he was talking about Rover 2 plus Jim and him. He
pointed at the map of the subdivision that Gunny had drawn before he had come to live here. It was tacked up on the
wall of the CP. Mark put his finger on the CP and traced the route they would take as he talked. “We’ll run down Silver
Mine Road to the eastern fence. Then we'll run down the fence line until we get even with the last house. We'll have to
have some cover fire to get into the foxhole. So we'll split in half. Jim and I will go first while the rest of you cover us.
We'll call in for the gate and tower 2 to give us some cover, too. We'll run down the wood fence behind the houses and
jump in the foxhole. Then we'll cover the rest of you. Any questions?”

The three rover’s eyes were as big as saucers, but no one said anything.

Mark turned to Peter. “Radio everyone our plan. And make sure that Tower 2 knows we’ll be coming up be-
hind them. I don’t want to get shot by our own guys. And call the Sherift’s Department.” He turned back to his group.
“Let’s move.”

Mark took the lead and jogged down the street. It was a cloudy night, but enough of the almost full moon
shone through the clouds to have enough light to see a few yards ahead. When they got to the fence, they turned left
and headed toward the county road. Mark slowed his pace a little. The ground was a little uneven and he didn’t want
his guys out of gas for the sprint down to the foxhole. A few seconds after he had turned the corner, he caught a dim
flash of light about fifty yards on this side of tower two. He immediately stopped and raised his hand in a fist to signal
his team to stop. Ralph, who had just started guard classes, had been too close behind Mark and he bumped into the
point man hard enough to knock him down. Fortunately they were in an empty lot that George had plowed, so the dirt
was soft. If it had happened any other time it would have been funny. Mark’s Camp .45 landed in the dirt beside him.
Mark picked himself and his carbine up. He rose to a kneeling position and signaled for the other rovers to get down
with him. He pointed to his eyes and then toward where he had seen the light. He strained his eyes and could make
out a shadow of a person. He saw the intruder bend over for a second and when he stood back up, there were two. The
second was easier to see since he had on lighter clothing. Mark caught a glimpse of another person running up to the
fence on the other side and then they disappeared. He assumed that the attackers had left one or two guys on the road
to create a distraction and then the others were trying to sneak in behind the watchtower. Clever plan, Mark thought.
Lucky we came this way or it might have worked. He figured that the guards in the tower were only watching the side
where the firing was coming from. Mark signaled for Don to give him the FRS radio. He quietly radioed the CP and
had Peter inform the men in tower 2 that there were some uninvited guests crossing the fence on their south side. He
wanted them to wait until they were all on this side of the fence and then to shine a light on them and tell them that
they were surrounded. Mark hoped that they could surprise them and take them without any bloodshed. As he was
talking, the cloud cover cleared from around the moon a little and his ability to make out the strangers improved some.
He watched as three more people appeared. Then, when they started to move toward the middle of the subdivision, one
of the tower guards turned on a flashlight and shined it on them. At 50 yards the light was not very bright, but Mark
could see that some of the intruders were women.

The tower guard yelled. “Freeze right there! We have you surrounded! Throw down your weapons and put your
hands over your head. Do it now!”

Mark thought that the man had probably seen too many episodes of ‘Cops. However, he hoped that the au-
thoritative voice and command would have the desired effect. The answer came in less than a second. A single shot
rang out. At that instant, the time warp that he had experienced several times before found him again. Mark watched
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the flashlight fall. It seemed to take forever for it to hit the ground. He had no idea if the guard had dropped it, or if he
had been hit. He raised his weapon to fire at the raiders. The electric red dot scope was not on. He lowered the weapon
back down so that he could reach the control and whispered for his men to open fire. He heard the .30 caliber booms
from Jim’s and Ralph’s rifles. The SKSs that Don and Steve Parsons had made a distinctive sound. Mark reached for the
rheostat on top of his scope and found that the adrenaline pumping through his system had degraded his fine motor
skills to the point that turning the control was difficult. The intruders were firing back at his group now and he could
hear projectiles whistling over his head and occasionally see dirt kick up in front of his group. He finally got the scope
activated and looked through it. Mark took aim at one of the attackers. He took in a deep breath, exhaled half of it, and
steadied the dot on the center of the kneeling man. When the dot was where he wanted it, he squeezed the trigger. The
little carbine went off with a pop. It almost sounded comical next to the rifles that the others were shooting. Mark was
shocked to see the man still kneeling in the same spot, firing his weapon back so that the muzzle flashes winked at un-
even intervals. How could he have missed? He fired again with the same result. The third, fourth, and fifth shots did no
better. Mark’s mind was racing. No one had hit any of the raiders. What was going on? Jim was an excellent shot. Mark
looked at him. He was slowly and deliberately firing.

“Jim, why haven't you hit any of them yet?”

“I can’t see my sights!” The athletically built shooter answered.

That made sense. That was probably why the raiders hadn’t hit any of them either. That’s why Mark liked the
little red dot scope for night. But why hadn't he hit anyone? He realized all of a sudden that his carbine was sighted
in at 50 yards and his targets were over three times that far away. His fat slow bullets were in the dirt long before they
reached the target. He raised the sight so that it was centered about two feet above the head of the man he was trying
to get. He pulled the trigger quickly and emptied the rest of the 10 shot magazine. It didn't appear that he had hit the
man, but he must have been getting close. The attacker dropped down to a prone position and kept firing. Mark ejected
the empty mag and inserted a fresh one in its place. He hit the slide release and reshouldered the little Marlin. When he
had aligned the sights to where he wanted them, he pulled the trigger. Nothing happened. Mark muttered a dollar word
under his breath. He checked the carbine and saw that the slide had not moved all the way into battery. He pulled back
on the handle, ejecting a round, and let it go. The slide banged home with a satistying clank. He looked to his left and
saw Ralph struggling to get a magazine out of his pocket. Steve was attempting to reload his rifle with a stripper clip,
but adrenaline had seemed to more than just slightly impair his motor skills. Mark aimed and fired twice more before
the little rifle jammed again.

“Shit!” This time he did not mutter.

He repeated the drill to clear the weapon, but this time the bolt did not close all the way when he let go of it.
He tried again only to find that it only went about halfway this time.

“Damn it!” He said loud enough for Jim to hear him.

“Are you hit?” His friend asked. He looked to see Jim rocking home a fresh mag. Don was looking through his
sights like he was trying to thread a needle and he couldn't see the hole.

“No. My rifle is jammed. I think it’s got dirt in it.”

“Then get on the radio and tell the guys in the tower to put some fire on these assholes.” Jim instructed.

Mark did as he was asked. Then he laid the radio down beside Jim. “I'm going back to the CP to get another
rifle. I'll see if I can pick up some of the reserves and come at them from the other side.”

“Roger, that” Jim said as he squeezed off another round.

Mark turned and ran back the way they had come. He stayed stooped over so that he wouldn’t present a good
target for the MZBs. It was slow going, but he could stand up and run full out as soon as he rounded the corner onto
Silver Mine. The fresh plowed dirt was like sand at the beach and his calves were burning by the time he reached the
street. As he rounded the corner there were four strange riflemen walking toward the CP. Mark’s heart jumped into his
throat. The seriousness of the situation hammered him between the eyes as if it were a 9-pound hammer.

Time slipped out of slow motion and into fast forward. Questions flew past his head like the bullets had only
seconds ago. What should he do? What could he do with a jammed rifle? Could he get them all with just his Colt? How
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many more squads did these MZBs have? What was their goal? Did the community stand a chance? How could he
warn everyone?

Mark made himself slow down and think. The quickest way to warn everyone was to get to the CP. To do that
he had to get past the four MZBs walking in front of him. He laid his carbine down on the street as quietly as he could.
Fortunately, the gunfire both from the crew he just left and the gate guards masked the metallic click of blued steel on
asphalt. He drew his Colt and ran on his toes as quickly and quietly as he could. He had nine shots in the pistol. Two
rounds for each intruder with an extra for just in case. He had done this drill at an IDPA pistol match. You started on
one side and fired one round into each perp. Then came back the other way and bestowed another hollow point to each
of the targets. He had to get within five yards of the intruders to insure solid hits in the dark. He was still over 25 yards
away. As he ran toward them, his mind absorbed everything about them that it could. They were all different sizes.
Their clothing ran the gamut from camouflage BDU’s to designer jeans. They all carried their weapons differently. 20
yards now. None of their weapons matched. One was carrying a Mini-14, one some kind of short barreled shotgun, one
what appeared to be an old Winchester lever action rifle, and the last an AR-15. He was within 15 yards now. His toes
were cramping from running on them. He noticed their shoes. Two had boots, one tennis shoes. And one, the shortest
one, the one with the Winchester, had on sandals. Women’s sandals. He stopped dead in his tracks. He couldn’t shoot a
woman. But he had to. If he didn’t she or one of the others might kill one of his friends. Maybe he could shoot the men
and she would give up. Or maybe she would turn and put a hole in him with that old cowboy gun. No, he had to stick
with his plan. When she crossed the fence with hostile intentions she became an MZB, not a woman. He started run-
ning toward them again. The space had opened back up to about thirty yards. Focus on the problem, he told himself.
He would start on the right and work to the left. Right between the shoulder blades. It was horrible to think about
shooting someone in the back. However, he had no choice. He had to warn the rest of the subdivision and this was the
only way that he could get to the...

Mark realized that all of the shooting had stopped. What had happened? The MZBs must have realized it at the
same time. They froze in place for a second. Then they began to look at each other. Mark became aware that his feet
had stopped moving. He was still over twenty yards away from the invaders. Could he get them from here? He raised
his Colt to determine if he could see the sights. The biggest of the MZBs must have seen him move from a corner of his
eye. He wheeled around to face Mark and the other three whirled in unison as if they were playing ‘Simon says. Mark’s
mind went blank. What was he to do now? He couldn't see his sights well enough to ensure a hit at this distance and
even if he could, he would get one or maybe two of the MZBs before they shredded him with their long guns. Maybe
they didn't know that. Even if they did, maybe none of them would want to be the one that didn’t make it. Mark had
never been much of a poker player, but he prayed that he could bluft his way through this one. He almost didn’t believe
he was doing this. The voice coming out of his throat seemed as if it were coming from somewhere else.

“The first one to move, dies.” He hoped it was dark enough that the MZBs couldn’t see his hands shaking. “Lay
your weapons on the ground in front of you and step back five steps.”

The intruders just stared at him. They seemed to not even be breathing. Mark saw the woman look at the man
beside her, the one with the shotgun. So he was the leader. He seemed familiar. Mark barked out another order. “Put
your weapons on the ground, NOW! You have 5 seconds or I will have my men open up on you.” Mark took a deep
breath and tried to stop his hands from shaking. “ONE!” No one was moving. “TWO!” They still stood like statues.
“BOB! JOE! The one with the shotgun gets it first” He was running out of chips to bluff with. He wanted to look
around and see if there was any cover if this didn't work, but he knew that would give him away. “THREE!”

The woman started to lay her rifle on the ground, but the leader reached out and placed a hand on her arm to
stop her. He hollered back at Mark. “Mister, you've got no one else out here. Otherwise wed of seen or heard them. You
lay down your pistol and maybe YOU’LL live through this!”

“You can believe that if you want to, but you didn’t see or hear me until I wanted you to. There are five armed
men surrounding you. You can’t see them, but if you want to bet your life that they aren’t there, just move that shotgun
an inch. I promise you it will be last thing you will ever do. FOUR!”

“You're lying” The man called back. “Tell your guys to show themselves.”

Mark knew he had heard that voice before. But his mind turned to other things. His bluft was not working.
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When he said ‘Five, they would know for sure that he was lying. Was this it for him? It had only been yesterday that he
had talked to Jim about taking care of his family if something happened. Had his subconscience been aware of some-
thing? How would Jess and the kids do without him? What kind of man would his son become? How many grandkids
would he have had? So many questions that he might not ever know the answer to. Well, he would do everything he
could to stick around for the answers. The odds were stacked heavily against him, but he wouldn't give up. If he could
just get some kind of edge. Nothing huge, just enough to help him a little. A plan appeared in his head.

“When I count the next number, you all will be dead. But I've buried enough people in the last few weeks to
last me a lifetime”” That part at least was true. “I'm going to have my men step out so you can see them. Be very careful
to not make any threatening moves or they will shoot first and ask questions later” He couldn’t believe that he had just
used such a corny cliché. Too late to worry about it now. When the MZBs turned to look he would open fire and move
back and to his left. Maybe hed get lucky. He called out loudly “OK, Joe. You and your men step out so these guys can
see you.

Mark was praying for all he was worth. He watched the leader. As soon as his head turned, Mark would try
to kill him first. He strained his eyes for all they were worth trying to see his front sight. Movement behind the MZBs
broke his concentration. Four ghosts appeared from behind some bushes in one of the yards. Had God heard his prayer
and sent some deceased old veterans back to help him? They looked like they had come from the beaches of Norman-
dy. Four of the countless souls that had perished a half century ago. The apparitions moved with difficulty through the
atmosphere as a human would when walking through water. They had a mechanical gait as if they were older than time
itself. Mark blinked twice to make sure that his eyes were not deceiving him. Perhaps he just wanted to see something.
Perhaps he was already dead and didn’t know it. Maybe these were the angels that God had sent to bring him home.

“If 'n I wus you, I'da do like the Karate man said an’ lay my weapons on tha ground!”

Mark felt tears rolling down his cheeks. Gunny’s voice was the sweetest sound he had ever heard. The sound
of salvation. Four MZB guns clattered to the ground with a sound that assured Mark he was still alive. Gunny, George,
Abby, and Alice moved up and each one covered an MZB.

Mark moved up and gathered the dropped weapons. The leader, who Mark now recognized as one of the refu-
gees who had been given some water a couple of days ago, looked at him.

“You said you had five men.”

“I lied” He flatly told the man. Then he turned to Gunny. “There might be other groups besides these two,
Gunny”

“Don’t think so.” Gunny showed Mark one of the FRS radios that Manny’s grandson had given them. “Jim ra-
dioed a minute ago ‘n’ said that the guys they captured told him there was only one other group, and you got ‘em. But, I
got Roverl goin’ ‘round the perimeter. Jus’ in case.”

“You mean WE got them.” Mark smiled.

Gunny ordered the MZBs to walk to the CP with their hands on top of their head. Mark fell in behind his four
saviors and carried the captured weapons. He walked to within earshot of Gunny.

“How did you know that I needed help?”

“We didn’'t” The old Marine replied. “When we heard the shootin, me ‘n’ George got up an grabbed our rifles.
The girls insisted on coming with us and I didn't have time ta argue wit’ ‘em. We was walkin’ down to the CP when we
saw these four comin’ up the street. We hid in the bushes and was gonna ambush ‘em when they got closer. We neer
saw you ‘till you started hollerin. Why were you following them?

“I had to get to the CP to warn everyone there might be more MZBs. They were in the way and the only thing I
could think to do was to take them out.”

“Where’s your rifle?”

“It's jammed. All I had was my pistol”

Gunny slowly nodded his head as he absorbed what had happened. “Takes some mighty big ones to face down
four bad guys by yerself” He winked.

When they got to the CP, Mark got some zip ties and bound the hands of the four intruders. He looked down
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the center road and saw Jim and the other guys marching their prisoners up. Peter reported that the sheriff was on his
way. He told Mark that the two attackers in the front had crossed the road and entered the ditch on this side of the
road. When they did, Abe Evans in the OP shot one of them and the other had surrendered immediately. One of the
gate guards was bringing him up. The one Abe had shot was dead. When Jim arrived with his charges, one of them had
been wounded in the shoulder. Jim sent Ralph up to get Lisa so she could look at the wounded man. Mark zip tied the
others, two men and two women, and sat them with his four. Jim also recognized the man who appeared the leader of
this attack. He was the man who had argued with Jim and the gate guards. It appeared that he and his small crew had
set up camp just down the road and had recruited some other passers by to help them attack. They had also scouted the
neighborhood as best they could to try and find the best way in. When asked about what they intended to do if they
gained control, the attackers didn't seem to have thought that out completely. When Greg Gentry marched the last liv-
ing attacker up to the CP, he was promptly restrained with the makeshift handcuffs and put with his companions. After
that, it only seemed like a few minutes before the sheriff arrived.

He and a couple of deputies were in a squad car and they were followed by an old pickup pulling a horse trailer.
The lawman pointed at the trailer and told his men to load the bad guys into his new paddy wagon. Mark noticed that
bars had been welded over the windows and once the door was shut and locked, it would be impossible to escape from.
Lisa arrived, with Jess in tow, and bandaged the wounded man. The wound was through and through and should heal
fine, she noted to the sheriff, but he should be checked out at the hospital. The sheriff assured her that Dr. Ken would
take a look at him. Jess came to see how Mark was. He really wasn't in any hurry to share how close he had come to
dying with his wife. He asked her if she would go pick up his carbine, and she scurried off to retrieve it. The sherift took
a few minutes with everyone who had been involved to get their story. Mark stayed off by himself thinking about what
could have gone wrong, and how lucky they had been. He had to talk to Gunny, but it seemed to him that they did not
have enough security. He realized that the man Jim had argued with had been planning this for at least two days. Now
that he thought about it, that was what had bothered him about the attack on Ralph’s. The fact that the attackers had
watched their intended victims before attacking. What if either of the attacks had been done by a large group or, worse
yet, someone that really knew what they were doing? If an experienced group of raiders watched them long enough,
he was sure they could find a chink in the Silver Hill's armor. Mark looked up and saw that there were more and more
people coming down to the CP to see what had happened. Jess returned about this time and handed him his carbine.
She must have sensed that he wasn't in a talkative mood because she just squeezed his arm and went over to where Lisa
was standing. He unloaded the little carbine and could feel that the action was gritty. It seemed as if the dirt he had
dropped it in had worked its way into the inner workings. That was what had caused it to jam. He tried to clean some
of the dirt out with his fingers, but he really needed to take the Marlin apart to do the job correctly.

Mark noticed that the Sherift spent quite a few moments with Gunny. When the big officer came to talk to Mark, it
seemed that everyone followed him over. Curt had a big shit-eating grin on his face.

“Faced down four pistoleros by yourself, huh?”

“I wasn't by myself” Mark said matter-of-factly.

“You didn’t know that. Gunny’s right. You got some stones on you, boy”

“I was just trying to save my hide, that’s all”

“Way I hear it, you were trying to save everyone’s hide. People trying to save themselves usually just run the
other way”

“Well, I was close. If Gunny and them hadn’t shown up, Id either still be running or dead.”

“That might be true, but you're still ] W in my book”” The sherift smiled like a Hollywood pretty-boy.

LW

“Yeah. John Wayne”

The crowd behind the lawman erupted into applause, laughter, whistles, and cat calls. Mark blushed. He was
no John Wayne and he knew it. Don Knotts, maybe, but not John Wayne. If these people had seen his hands shaking
before, they would not be cheering now. This was the kind of attention that he didn’t want or need. It almost pissed him
off, but that wouldn’t solve anything. So, he did the only thing he could think of. He turned around and headed up the
hill to his house.
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The sherift hollered after him. “Where you going, Duke?”

Mark wheeled around and almost told the top law enforcement officer in the county where to go and what to
do when he got there. Instead, his sense of humor kicked in.

In his best impersonation of John Wayne he said, “I'ma goin’ to the hacienda to change my shorts, pilgrim.”

The eruption from the crowd was twice as loud as before.

Chapter 43 - Going the Distance

When Mark woke up, there was just a hint of grayness peeking through the window. He wasn't sure at first if
the events of last night had been real or only a dream. As he sat up in bed, he realized that it had been real. His ribs
hurt where Ralph had knocked him into the dirt. He hadn’t gotten much sleep. Between Jess, the shootout, and the
adrenaline, he had squeaked out maybe three hours. That would just have to do, he thought, he had to get to Waco. He
stood up and pulled on his clothes. When he walked into the kitchen, Jess had packed a small basket with food.

“Good morning, JW.” She smiled.

“Please don't”

“Why not?”

“Because I'm not John Wayne” He said emphatically.

“Jeeze. It’s just a joke. Don’t be so serious about it.” She scolded.

Mark took a deep breath in through his nose and blew it out of his mouth. “You don’t understand. I can take
the joke, but it only reinforces the falsehood that people think I am some kind of hero. I am not perfect. I'm just a man.
A man that makes mistakes. I made a bunch last night. Some of them came this close to getting me killed.” He held his
thumb and forefinger a fraction of an inch apart.

“But you were so brave.”

“That’s just it. I wasn’t brave. I was scared shitless. I was only trying to save my own ass by bluffing” He argued.
“I don’t want these people to see me as a hero. Because, one day I will disappoint them. It will only take one little mis-
take that gets someone killed. Then they will lose faith in this image that they have of me. And what will happen then?
Will they finally realize that they can only depend on themselves, or will they lose all hope? Can you see why I don't
want that responsibility?”

“I can understand your concern, but no one expects you to be perfect. You weren't just trying to save yourself
last night. If that were true, then, like the sheriff said, you would have run the other way when you saw those people
heading for the CP. You were putting others before yourself. That is why these people look up to you. That is why they
trust what you say, because you always try to do the right thing. And that is one of the reasons why I love you”

“But trying to do the right thing does not mean that things will always work out right. It does not mean that I
know what is right. And, most of all, it does not mean that I will be able to accomplish the right thing even if I do know
what it is. I am afraid that people think that I do and I can. They think I am some kind of fearless leader that will never
lead them astray. I'm not a leader, let alone a fearless one.”

“You're right. You're not a fearless leader. And a fearless leader is not what we need around here. What we need
is a fearful leader. A leader that fears for our safety and well being. And that is what you are.”

“I am not a leader” Mark insisted.

“Honey, a few minutes ago you told me that you were a man that makes mistakes. Right?”

“That’s right”

“Then is it possible that you are mistaken now?”

“Yes...I mean no...I mean...Damn!” Mark hated it when she turned his own words against him. Plus, now he
owed two more dollars to his box in addition to what he owed from last night. “I have to go. We'll talk more about this
when I get back”

“OK, sweetheart.” She kissed him goodbye. “You be careful, OK?”

“I will” He said as he headed out the door with the basket and his gear.
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“We'll have a big celebratory dinner when you get back with your family”

“That sounds great.” He hollered over his shoulder.

Everyone was ready to go when Mark got to his Jeep. They all loaded into their pre-assigned vehicles and
headed out of the subdivision. Mark, with Ed riding shotgun, led the way. The first third of the route was the same
one they had used to go to Austin earlier in the week. Because he was familiar with the roads, Mark was a little more
relaxed than he would have been.

“So, Ed, what did you do before the lights went out?”

“I worked for the State. I was an auditor in the Comptroller’s office”

“I see” Mark said. “And how did you and Letty meet?”

“We met in college. She sat down beside me in Philosophy my sophomore year and I thought she was the most
beautiful girl I had ever seen. We started dating and six months later, we got married.”

“Six months? Kind of a short time to get to know each other, isn’t it?” Mark asked.

“Yeah, I guess. Letty got pregnant and we sort of had to get married. She had to drop out of college to take care
of the baby so it was pretty rough on us for a while. Manny helped us out some, and when Robby started school, Letty
went back to school. She finished her degree a couple of years ago and got a good job with the city. Things were really
starting to go good for us, financially, and then this happened.”

“This is going to make things hard on a lot of people for a long time.” Mark said as he started to wonder if Ed’s
whining was any better than Joe’s. He decided to try and turn the conversation to a more positive note. “On the other
hand, we're really lucky to live where we have room to grow our own food and to have the good neighbors that we do”

“I guess.” Ed agreed half-heartedly.

Mark wondered if this guy ‘guessed’ about everything. “I appreciate your volunteering to ride up front with
me.” He told Ed.

“You're welcome, I guess. But, I didn’t really volunteer. Manny made me do it. He said I owed you for coming
to get us”

Mark looked over at his passenger. He didn’t quite know what to make of Ed’s confession. “And how does that
make you feel?” God, he sounded like a shrink, he thought.

“I guess he’s right. Letty said he was, anyway. I just don’t like the thought of getting shot at, or worse yet, having
to shoot at someone.”

“You have a problem with defending yourself?”

“I don’t know if I could kill somebody, if that’s what you mean.”

“But you were in the reserves. You must have known that you might have to go to war”

“I never gave it much thought. I just joined to help pay for school after Letty got pregnant.” Ed explained.

Mark, all of a sudden, didn’t feel so good about having someone like Ed riding shotgun. He drove a few miles
without saying anything. It started misting and Mark pulled the Jeep over to put the top up. While he was stopped,
he told Ed that he needed to discuss some things with Gunny, and would he mind switching places for a while. Ed
seemed happy for any reason not to be in the front, so Mark radioed for Ted to bring the old war dog up to him. Once
Gunny and Ed had switched places, and some of the others had used the opportunity to relieve themselves from too
much morning coffee, the convoy was on its way again. Mark explained to Gunny about Ed’s reluctance to defend
himself. Gunny ranted about how the kid had no balls and little brains. He also had some choice words about Manny
for putting them in a bad position. It seemed that the louder Gunny got, the harder the rain fell. After a while, Gunny
calmed down. Unfortunately the rain didn’t lighten up with him, Mark got down to business.

“Ever since those idiots attacked Ralph’s house, something has been bothering me. I couldn’t figure it out until
after we were attacked last night, though. The attackers watched us before they attacked. They had plans, fortunately
they didn’t work, but they weren’t just random attacks. None of our defenses are really geared toward a planned, well-
orchestrated, and multi-pronged attack. Have you thought about that?”

“Yeah. But I thought wed have more time before we had to worry about it.” Gunny said.

“You mean you knew something like this could happen?”

“Of course. If it hadn’t of happened sooner or later, I'da been surprised.”
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“Then why haven't you trained us for it?” Mark demanded.

“Because everyone has to learn to walk before they can run” Gunny explained. “And, I didn’t think it would
happen this fast”

“So, what are we going to do about it now?”

“We've got to start patrolling outside the subdivision to see if anyone is watching us”

“I see. Any ideas about how we’re going to do that?”

“I got plenty of ideas. But we have to figure out how we can cover all the posts if we pull the best guys off of
guard duty, which are the ones I want on the patrols.” He explained.

The two men discussed various options. However, each one had a downside. The best option they came up
with was to eliminate one of the shifts, and go to three 8-hour shifts. Gunny didn’t like keeping guys on normally bor-
ing guard duty for that long, but it seemed to have the least negatives. Perhaps, if they got more men to sign up for
guard duty, they could go back to four shifts.

Mark had another question for Gunny, but he wasn't sure that he really wanted the answer. He decided that not
knowing was worse than the truth. “What do you think is the worst case scenario that we might have to defend our-
selves against?”

“A division of Marines with artillery and air support.” Gunny said looking Mark in the eye.

“I'm serious.” Mark said as if he was fussing at his son.

“So am I” Gunny shot back. “If the government goes any more whacko, they may try to force us into shelter
camps with the military”

“What could we do?”

“Against that kind of firepower? Surrender or die”

“Well, let’s hope that doesn’t happen. Let me rephrase my question. What is the worst case that we could de-
fend ourselves against?”

“I would say three or four hundred MZBs with some light automatic weapons. Any more than that we might
be able to repel, but the cost in lives wouldn’t be worth it”

“How could we defend against so many? We have less than a hundred guards” Mark asked.

“The defenders advantage is at least three to one. In some cases it can be seven or eight to one.”

“I see. So, how many would we lose against three hundred?”

“If 'n we knew they were coming, maybe only a dozen or so. If n they hit us by surprise, it could be fifty to a
hundred or more. It depends on how many casualties they’re willin’ to take.”

“And you think fifty to a hundred would be worth it?” Mark asked in disbelief.

“If’n it saved everyone else and our houses and gardens, yes”

Mark was quiet for several minutes thinking about what Gunny had said. He couldn’t disagree with the old
man. They had a place that they could live on for quite a while, if they had to. And it would be worth it to him to trade
his life so that his kids could have a future. He wondered how they could keep the worst from happening and asked.

“We need to get everyone trained, including the women and older kids, and have at least some kind of weapon
for each of them. Then we have to make ‘Silver Hills” as uninviting as possible”

“How are we going to do that?”

“I don’t know, Karate man. But the way things are going to hell in a hand basket, we better figure it out pretty
quick”

Mark was going up a hill and had an odd feeling about it. When he got to the top he recognized why. This was
the spot where they had finished burning the bodies on Wednesday. But things had changed. The rain was quite heavy
now and he had had to look twice to make sure that he was not seeing things. The small car turned funeral pyre had
been pushed into the ditch and the other cars were now blocking the road. Mark slammed on the brakes and skidded
sideways a little as he stopped. Gunny was immediately on the radio telling the other drivers that they might have a
problem. Mark put the Jeep in reverse and backed up beyond the crest of the hill to where they were out of the line of
fire from the potential attack. No one had fired at them, and neither of them had seen anyone manning the obstacle,
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but Mark wanted to check it out thoroughly before he put his men or his vehicles at risk. He and Gunny slipped out
of the Jeep and crawled to where they could see the roadblock. Mark looked through his binoculars for a minute and
announced that he could not see anyone. He handed the field glasses to Gunny. The older man fought with the focus
adjustment for a second and then took several moments scanning the obstacle. When he handed the glasses back to
Mark, he concurred that no one was visible. He also informed his companion that there was smoke coming from the
chimney of the farmhouse that was about 500 yards the other side of the bridge.

“Did you notice any signs that that house was inhabited on Wednesday?” Gunny asked.

“No. But that doesn’t really mean anything. I suspect that most people who live out in the country are trying to
keep a low profile” Mark observed.

“Maybe so. But somebody pushed those cars out into the road. And I can't think of a good reason why some
farmer out in the middle of nowhere would want to do that. Especially if'n he was tryin’ to keep a low profile”

“What do you want to do?” Mark asked the combat vet.

Gunny ran the options and the two men weighed each one. The best solution seemed to be to have two men
sneak down to the road block and make sure it was unmanned while the others covered them. Then, if possible, for
them to push one of the cars off of the road far enough for the convoy to pass. Gunny radioed for the other four vehi-
cles to move up behind the Jeep. When everyone was there, the old sergeant filled them in and asked for volunteers to
scout the prospective trouble spot. Manny, Victor, Mark, and Rob each had a hand in the air as soon as the request was
made. Gunny looked at the men and picked Victor and Rob for the op.

“You can’t send him.” Mark objected as he looked at Rob. “He’s our guest.”

“And he’s also the most qualified” Gunny said. “After you disappeared last night, I got to talk with him for a
while. He was with the San Antonio Police Department on their SWAT team. So, he knows how to handle himself and
this type of situation.” Gunny turned to Rob. “Here’s the radio. If n the cars are empty, try to push one oft the road. If
you can't, radio up and we'll send the red truck down to do it while you cover it. At the first sign of trouble, get back
here while we cover you. Any questions?”

“Piece of cake” Rob said. “You ready, Victor?” He waited for his partner to nod. “Let’s rock”

The two men started down the hill. Rob had Victor follow about five yards behind him. Mark noticed that he
also stayed in the ditch and jogged slightly bent over to keep his outline as inconspicuous as possible. The rain, though
not a hard as before, was still coming down steadily. Mark was glad he had a good raincoat. It was a brown camouflage
knee length jacket that Jess had bought from Cabelas. Thankfully, it was made of a breathable material so that he didn’t
sweat too much while wearing it. He looked at what the other men were wearing. Gunny had an old GI poncho on.
Some of the men had various types of jackets on and a couple had on garbage bags that they had cut holes for their
arms and neck in. Gunny told Mark to keep his binoculars up and watch both the cars and the house for any sign of
movement. Fortunately, he didn't see any. When the two men reached the blockade, they quickly looked the cars over
and radioed up that all was clear. Then they easily pushed the smaller car onto the shoulder. Gunny had everyone load
up and move out. The five vehicles stopped momentarily at the bridge to pick up the two men who were already there.
Gunny told the convoy to stay together until they topped the next hill and then to start spacing out into their normal
formation.

When the Jeep passed the house with the smoking chimney, Mark noticed that there were ten or twelve mo-
torcycles under the carport. He pointed them out to Gunny. They watched the house for any sign of life, but nothing
was moving. After a few miles the convoy had spread back out and Mark continued his conversation with Gunny about
their neighborhood’s security. Mark told Gunny about what had happened with his carbine the night before. Gunny
explained to Mark, that while the Camp .45 was a fine little weapon, it was not designed like a military weapon. He
suggested that Mark use his FAL or one of the ARs he had bought.

“Shoot, if’'n you want somethin’ that’ll work when it’s dirty, you otta carry one of them AKs. I think you could
bury one of them things in a mud hole for a week and itd still shoot every time you pulled the trigger” He said.

“I'm also worried about our ability to effectively fight in the dark” Mark said. “I could aim with my red dot, not
that it did me much good after my rifle jammed, but the other guys couldn’t see their sights for squat.”

“That is a problem. We could try and get some of them red dots like you got and put them on some rifles, but
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watta we goin’ to do once the batt’ries run out?”

“I don’t know. I know they make tritium night sights for pistols. The Drew boys are real big on them. Maybe
they make the same thing for rifles”

“That’s them radioactive glow sights, right?” Gunny asked.

“Something like that. I know they’re supposed to last like ten or twelve years. When we get back, maybe we
should run to town and see if Jerry has any?”

“Sounds like a plan to me. You want some coffee?”

Mark nodded his head and Gunny poured two cups of the liquid gold out of his thermos. He handed one to
Mark and then took a sip of his and then made a sound that let Mark know that the warm nectar had the desired effect.
Mark tasted his and found it especially satisfying. The conversation turned to the county militia that the sheriff wanted
to train. Gunny and Mark agreed that they should dedicate one day a week to the cause even if it hurt the training of
their own men. Having a large countywide group to deal with problems could be very beneficial. If it stopped trouble
before it got to them, well, there was no way to put a value on that. But it would be a monumental task. Mark couldn’t
imagine how the sheriff could effectively train so many men. Gunny suggested that he already had a plan and only
needed some help to do it.

“Why would you say that?” Mark asked the grizzled veteran.

“Look at how well he and those guys in that ‘Promise Point’ were ready for the stuft to hit the fan. He had to
have some kind of contingency plan for something like this”

“Then why wouldn’t he have just told us what he wants to do?”

“Think about it, Karate man. What does he do for a living?”

“He’s the sheriff”

“And, how did he get to be the sheriff?”

“The people voted for him” Mark said failing to see where Gunny was going.

“And how did he get the people to vote for him?”

“What has that got to do with what we’re talking about?” Mark asked impatiently?

“You know, Karate man, your heart is in the right place, but you better learn to engage that gray matter be-
tween your ears sometimes. He’s a damn politician. He got elected by getting people to think that he would do what
they want him to do. He’s doing the same thing now. If he insisted that he was going to do things a certain way, people
might oppose him. So he gets them to think it’s their idea.”

“You think so?”

“I'm sure of it. And you should take a lesson from him on how to handle things like this. It mighta made things
go smoother with Jon”

“Are you saying that what happened with Jon was my fault?” Mark asked incredulously.

“No. Jon was wrong, and you were right. But you could have helped the situation. We all could have”

“How?” Mark was having a hard time believing that he could have done anything different.

“By not making him feel and look so wrong. Once he had alienated everyone, he could only see one way out. If
we had tried to make him part of the solution instead of the problem, maybe things would have worked out differently.
That is what politics is. Making everyone feel that they are part of the team and that what they say carries at least a little
weight”

Mark thought about what Gunny was saying. Maybe he could have handled Jon better. But maybe he did the
best he could. That was why he didn’t want to be the leader. Maybe his best wasn't good enough. Maybe he could make
Gunny understand.

“I know you're right, Gunny. But I don’t know if I'm capable of being political. I never have been good at it. At
work, I always said exactly what I thought. That’s probably why I never made it out of middle management.” He ex-
plained. “That’s why I don’t want everyone thinking I'm the leader. I'm just not the right man for the job. And, I don't
want it

“That’s exactly why you are the right man for the job.”
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“Huh?” Mark was puzzled.

“Listen, Karate man. Anybody that wants the job probably wants it for the wrong reasons. You are only do-
ing it because you know it has to be done. I can appreciate that you don’t want to do it, but you have to. A new leader
would have to gain the trust of everyone, and that might take a long time. Time we don’t have. So whether you like it
or not, you're it. And since you are, you have to try to do everything you can to make it work. Even if it means learning
politics”

“But, you don’t understand, Gunny. I...” Mark was cut off by the old marine.

“I understand perfectly” Gunny emphasized the T. “You are the one that don’t understand. You don’t have to
like it...you jus’ have to do it!”

Mark was quiet for several minutes after being chastised. When he finally spoke his voice was subdued. “You
may be right...maybe I do have to do it. But you are dead right about one thing...I don't like it!”

The two men laughed. A minute later, Mark asked another questions.

“How do you know the sheriff is just being political?”

“There’s politics in every job. You learn to play them, or you don’t get very far”

“But it couldn’t have been that way in the Marine Corps. You guys were all straight shooters, right.”

Gunny laughed so hard that the sip of coffee he had just taken shot out of his nose and onto the dash. When he
caught his breath and had wiped his face off with his sleeve, he spoke. “Damn you, Karate man. Don’t you ever do that
again. Thank God, the coffee had cooled off” He winked at the younger man. “Every government job is highly political.
Especially if youre a NCO in the Marine Corps.” Gunny’s voice got bitter. “You don’t know what politics is until you've
have some REMF Academy puke chewing your ass. All because you didn’t dot all the I's and cross all the T’s on your
requisition to get your men the ammo they needed to fight for a god damned hill that you had taken and given back
to the enemy three times in the last two weeks.” Gunny smiled and his voice returned to normal. “I almost lost all my
stripes for that one”

Mark looked at his watch. It was a little after noon. He was getting hungry and the Jeep needed to be filled. He
radioed the other vehicles and everyone agreed that it was a good time to stop. Mark found a long straightaway on the
little farm to market road and pulled the Jeep oft onto the shoulder where they could see almost a mile in both direc-
tions. A minute later, the two pickups and the Suburban pulled in behind. Not long after that, the Trans Am pulled up.
Since it was still raining the men ate in the four door Ford or in the Jeep. There was little talking as sandwiches were
eaten with ferocity. When Mark was finished with his two, he pulled on his coat and got two jerry cans out of the back
of Jim’s truck. He was filling the Jeep with them when Ted came up to talk to him.

“Ed is driving me crazy. He just keeps whining about how he doesn’t want to be here. He just goes on and on
about it’s not fair and how Manny made him come. And for someone who worked for the government, he has some
strange ideas about how they should handle things. Youd think we were all subjects instead of citizens if you listened to
him. He actually told me that he thinks things would be better if only the military and police had guns.”

“OK, Ted, I'll put Gunny back with you.”

“Thanks.” The professor smiled.

“You need any gas?”

“No, I still have half a tank”

“Why don’t you go ahead and put a jerry can’s worth in anyway as long as we're stopped.”

“Good idea.” Ted said as he grabbed one of the cans that Mark had gotten.

“Hey, get your own!” Mark teased.

Ted’s face got red. “Sorry” He put the can back down and headed to Jim’s Chevy.

Mark didn’t really want Ed with him, but he couldn’t pawn him off on anyone else. Or could he? Manny had
made him come along. Maybe he should ride with him. Mark asked Manny if he could speak with him for a minute.
Manny came over and Mark explained that Ed was griping about being on the trip and how he said he couldn’t shoot at
someone in defense of himself. Mark suggested that it might be best if Ed was in the middle vehicle where the chance
of him having to fight was the least. Of course it was only coincidence that Manny’s Suburban was the middle truck.
Manny apologized to Mark and then went to find Ed. Mark almost felt bad for the young man when his father-in-law
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pulled him to the side and started chewing on him. Mark knew that Manny’s parents had moved to Texas from Mexico
before he was born, but he couldn’t help but wonder if there wasn’t a little Italian blood in Manny from the way he was
flailing his hands as he was talking. After what must have seemed an eternity to Ed, but was really only a minute or two,
Manny stomped back to the Suburban. Ed slinked over to Mark like a puppy with his tail between his legs.

“Mr. Turner, I'm sorry for being so much trouble. I really would like to ride shotgun with you. You can count
on me to do what ever you say.”

Mark felt awful. He wasn't sure if it was because he had gotten Ed in so much trouble, or if it was because now
he had to let him ride with him in the Jeep again. Probably some of both, he figured. “Don’t worry about it, Ed. Go
ahead and climb in and we'll get going in a minute.”

A couple of minutes later, the convoy was back underway. Ed didn’t seem like he wanted to talk much. He only
responded when Mark talked to him, and then in as few words as possible. Mark was actually glad for the peace and
quiet. It gave him time to think. Before he knew it, they were on the outskirts of Waco.

Mark’s youngest sister, Monica, and her husband and three kids lived in an upscale neighborhood on the south
side of Waco. Their house was bigger than Mark’s, but it sat on a tiny lot. They called it a ‘garden home’ which seemed
especially silly to Mark now. You couldn’t have grown a fraction of what a family would need to survive on that lot,
even if it didn’t have a house taking up most of it.

When Mark turned off of the Ranch Road onto the street that led to his sister’s house, he immediately knew
that something was terribly wrong. The stench, though not as strong as he had smelled at the roadblock a few days
ago, was unmistakably the same. He mashed the accelerator down as if he still had time to get to Monica’s house before
whatever had happened could reach her. Many of the houses were burned and those that weren't had gang graffiti all
over them. Mark told Ed to get his weapon ready. The young man, obviously nervous, put the AR-15 across his lap with
the barrel pointed away from the driver and his hands squeezing the grip as his eyes darted from house to house. Mark
was glad that Ed at least seemed ready to fight if need be. His sister’s house sat at the end of the street on a cul-de-sac.
When the Jeep got close enough to Monica and Jeft’s house that Mark could see it, his heart jumped into his throat.

All of the windows were broken out and the doors were ajar. There were bullet holes riddled across the structure. Mark
stopped in front and stared disbelieving into the house.

There were bodies lying just inside the open door.

Chapter 44 - Rocky’s House

Mark turned the ignition off and jumped out of the Jeep. He didn’t even think to grab his rifle or pull his pistol.
He ran to the door and looked at the bodies. They had swollen up to what he imagined was almost twice their normal
size. The stench was unbearable and he pulled a handkerchief out of his pocket and covered his nose with it. The three
faces, though badly misshapened by bullet holes and the swelling, belonged to no one that he knew. The two men and a
woman had tattoos all over their arms and some on their necks and legs. Most were of poor quality, and Mark won-
dered if perhaps they had been done in prison. They all appeared to have been in their late teens or early twenties. He
looked up and saw Ed, standing fifteen or twenty feet from the door, staring at the bodies like he could not figure out
what they were.

Past the staring young man, the three trucks had stopped behind the Jeep. Mark could see the Trans Am com-
ing up the street at a rapid pace. Ted steered the muscle car around the trucks and brought it to a halt beside the Jeep.
Gunny exited the Pontiac with surprising agility and started barking orders to the four drivers. He told them to space
out around the vehicles to guard them. He had the riders follow him up to the house with their long arms. When he got
to the door and saw Mark without his rifle, he promptly reprimanded him and told him to at least pull his pistol. Rob
looked at the bodies and told the group that they had been gang members and, from the looks of them, had been dead
for about three days. Gunny had Rob, Joe, and Dwight circle the house and make sure that there were no surprises in
the backyard. When they came back with nothing out of the ordinary to report, he had Joe and Dwight return to the
backyard and guard the back door. With all the entrances to the house covered, he told the others to follow him into
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the house.

“You don’t expect me to go in there?” Ed shuddered as he asked, never taking his eyes off of the dead bodies.

Gunny looked at the young man with disdain. “What’s amatter? You never seen maggot chow before?”

The young man’s eyes grew to the size of silver dollars. He then bent over and hurled his lunch onto the small
front lawn. Mark thought he saw the faintest hint of a smile in the old man’s eyes.

“Why don’t you help guard the trucks when you're finished pukin” Gunny said.

He then assigned Rob to help Mark clear the house while he watched their backs. Rob nodded his head at the
old man then looked at Mark for an indication of where to start. Mark tilted his head toward the kitchen. The three
men cleared the downstairs room by room. The rooms were full of empty liquor bottles, beer cans, and drug parapher-
nalia. They found another dead body in the garage. It was as lifeless as the almost brand new SUV that it laid next to.
The young man had the same type of tattoos as the other bodies and appeared to have been dead for about the same
amount of time. Rob pointed out that the dead man had his throat cut. Mark was amazed that the blood covered prac-
tically the whole garage floor. They went back into the house where Mark and Rob headed upstairs while Gunny stood
at the bottom of the stairs where he could make sure that no one could sneak up behind them.

When Mark pushed open the first bedroom door, he was not prepared for what he saw. He had become some-
what calloused to the sight of dead bodies since his firefight with the MZBs that had attacked the preacher. However,
the sights in this room would have haunted even the most battle-hardened man. There were four more young gang
members that had been bound and obviously tortured to death in the most horrible and unspeakable ways. The other
two bedrooms had more bodies in them in the same condition. Mark began to visibly shake. He could not imagine
what kind of person could do these things to another human being. He noticed that it was getting hard to see clearly,
and then realized it was because his eyes were full of tears. Whatever these young gang members may have perpetrated
during their lives could never justify the suffering they must have endured during their last hours.

When the upstairs was declared clear, Mark came back downstairs relieved that he had not found any of his relatives in
the house. Rob explained to Gunny what they had found and reported that some of the bodies upstairs had been dead
for only about a day.

“It looks like some of them lasted a couple of days. I've never seen anything like that” Rob explained. “T heard
about stuff like this a couple of times, but never seen it. I don't know if I'll ever be able to get that picture out of my
mind?”

“Who do you think did it?” Gunny asked the former law enforcement officer.

“These kids were just wanna-be bad-asses. I'd say they ran into a group of real hardened sickos.”

“MZBs” Mark interjected sadly.

“MZB?” Rob asked.

“Yeah, Mutant Zombie Bikers”

“Fits. Anyway, I don’t know if the gang was living here and the MZBs ambushed them, or if they were looting
houses and pissed off the MZBs somehow. I think that is the most likely scenario. The MZBs probably chased them
down the street and cornered them in here. There were a couple of bodies further up the street. They could have been
the kids” lookouts or they got capped first. What ever happened, I would say that they made some tactically unsound
decisions.”

“No shit” Gunny said.

“They’re probably at my Dad’s house.” Mark said to no one in particular. “My sister and her family, I mean.
Let’s get out of here. There’s nothing in here that’s worth taking and I'm like Rob. I'm going to have nightmares about
this shit for the rest of my life. Man, it reeks in here” Mark covered his nose with the cloth again and headed out the
front door.

Gunny and Rob came out a minute later. Gunny gave the men the PG rated version of what had happened and
instructed them to be very watchful as they drove to MarKk’s parents’ house. The men loaded up and headed out. When
they were back on the ranch road, Ed looked over at Mark and asked a question.

“Was it that bad upstairs?”

“I don’t think you really want to know. Why do you ask?”
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“You didn’t blink twice when you looked at the dead people down stairs. In fact, you almost looked happy. But
when you came back outside, you looked like you were scared.”

“I wasn’t happy those people were dead, if that’s what you mean. I was happy that it wasn’t my family, that’s
all. And I am scared. I didn’t know it was possible for people to turn into such animals. Now, if you don’t mind, I don’t
want to talk about it any more.”

“OK. The younger man said as he looked nervously from side to side of the road. Mark noticed that he
gripped the AR as though someone might snatch it away from him. Maybe what he saw and heard about will change
his way of thinking, Mark thought.

It was less than fifteen miles from his sister’s house on the south side of Waco to where his father and brother’s
houses shared a two-acre tract on the northern outskirts of town. However, it felt like it was three hundred miles to
Mark. Victor had to call him three times on the radio to tell him to slow down a little. It was almost sunset, and Mark
felt an overpowering desire to get there before dark. At least it had stopped raining for the moment.

Mark was a little concerned when the gate was open. As he turned down the driveway and cleared the huge
ancient oaks that obscured the house from the road, Mark felt as if his world had shattered. Both houses were burned
to the ground. Faint curls of smoke rose lazily to the sky from a few lingering hot spots. They took with them the last
wisps of hope Mark had of ever seeing his family again.

Mark shut off the Jeep and sat staring at the ruins. The only building standing was his dad’s metal storage
building that sat toward the back of the property. It had gang graffiti across the front of it. Mark could not imagine that
his dad and brother had succumbed to ordinary gang-bangers. It would have taken some bad MZBs to take them, espe-
cially if Monica and Jeff were here. Mike had quite a collection of guns, most of them military type rifles, and he knew
how to use them. He had attended at least two shooting courses at a well-known ranch turned school in the Texas hill
country. Mark prayed that they went quick and not like the poor souls at Monica’s house.

Someone tapped on the plastic window of the Jeep. Mark looked and saw Gunny standing there. Mark opened
the door and stepped out. “I can’t believe they're all dead, Gunny.”

“You don’t know that. Maybe they’re in a shelter in town.” Gunny suggested.

“Not likely. Mike was always harping on how the government had overstepped its authority and how they
wanted to put free thinking Americans into ‘reeducation’ camps someday and how they would never get him into one
alive. I always considered him to be a little over the top. Sometimes I would even tease him, telling him he needed a
tinfoil beanie. Anyway, he wouldn’t have gone to anything like a government shelter.”

“Maybe your dad talked him into going.”

“My old man was so conservative, hed have made us look like a couple of socialists. I never once heard him say
the word ‘government’ without a few choice adjectives before it. At least when my mother wasn't listening. He wouldn’t
have gone either”

“Then they could have bugged out” Gunny said.

“That’s possible, I guess.” Mark thought he was starting to sound like Ed with the guessing. “Mike had prepared
this place for the Y2K bug that never happened. Dad bought into it some and helped out all he could. Mike tried to get
me to stock up a bunch of stuff, but I just did enough to get him oft of my back. I kind of got a kick out of him being so
wrong. Anyway, they had everything they needed to stay here. Truth be told, I expected to get here and find them in
better shape than we are in. I don’t see them walking away from all of their preparations without a fight”

Most of the men were standing around listening to Mark and Gunny’s conversation. Two of them were stand-
ing guard behind the vehicles.

“I better go see if they’re in there” Mark added nodding at the remains of one of the houses.

Gunny reached out and grabbed Mark’s arm to stop him. Then he asked Rob if he had ever worked any fire
scenes. When Rob nodded his head, Gunny asked him if he would have a look around. Rob moved off, pulling Victor
to help him. Mark was grateful, he didn’t know if he could bear to see the charred bodies. The old man turned his at-
tention back to Mark.

“OK, assuming they bugged out, where would they go?”
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“My house would be the logical place, but it’s too far with no transportation. There was a state park not too
far from here that they liked to camp at, but I don’t think Mike would go there. They may have turned it into a refugee
camp. Even if they didn’t, there would be too many people there. There are also some woods that we used to play in
near here. I guess that’s the best possibility.”

“OK, then we check out the woods as soon as Rob is finished checking things out” Gunny said. He didn’t have
to say that it depended on whether Rob found anything or not. They all watched as Rob moved slowly around both
of the destroyed houses, prodding and poking around with a shovel he had gotten out of one of the trucks. He stud-
ied several spots intently. It made Mark hold his breath every time Rob stopped somewhere for more than a moment.
However, some of the places he stopped seemed like unlikely spots to find anyone. He looked at both driveways for a
while and he spent several minutes looking at Mike’s gun safe that was in the garage. After a concise examination of the
property, including a brief look at the storage shed, Rob returned to the cluster of men.

“Good news. I don't see any bodies in the rubble” He reported.

Mark was relieved. At least there was still a possibility that they were alive.

Rob continued. “The houses were probably set on fire separately. There are no burn marks on the ground
where the fire traveled. So unless it was from some floating embers, somebody burned them both intentionally. The
houses are burned too completely for me to tell if they took any rifle fire. The shed has no bullet holes, but that doesn’t
really mean anything as far back as it sits. However, there are some bullet strikes in some of the trees around your
brother’s house. And I found some blood on the ground. I don't think it was your family though. It is all behind the
trees on the opposite side from the house. Where you would expect the MZBs, as you call them, to be if they attacked
the house.”

“You think the MZBs could have killed them and drug them off?” Mark asked.

“Possibly, but not likely. If that happened, then why burn the houses. The houses were probably burned to get
the occupants out, or in retaliation for kicking some MZB butt.” Rob then had a question for Mark. “Do you know
anyone named ‘Rocky’?

“I know a stockbroker in San Antonio named Rocky. He's a friend of a friend, really”

“Anybody that your brother or dad might know named Rocky?”

“No. Not that I know of. Why?”

“Someone spray painted ‘Rocky’s House’ on both driveways and on the shed.” Rob explained.

“It was Mike!” Mark explained excitedly. “Rocky was what we called this squirrel that lived here when we were
kids...you know...Rocky and Bullwinkle. He lived in this knothole in one of the trees in the back. Dad always threat-
ened that he was going to concrete it up and we would beg him not to. That must be what Mike is referring to. We need
to look in that knothole”

“Which tree was it?” Manny asked.

“That one” Mark pointed as he and the other men ran toward the tree like kids on Christmas morning.

The knothole was about ten feet from the ground. Victor, who was almost as big, tall, and close to Jim’ size, put
his back to the trunk and clasped his hands together to give someone a leg up. “Come on, Ed. You're the lightest.”

“I'm not sticking my hand in there to get bit.” Ed said. Several of the men gave him a look.

“Can you lift me?” Mark asked.

“Sure. Stand on my shoulders.”

Mark did as the younger man said. He was surprised at how easily Victor lofted him up. He started to reach
into the hole, but realized that one of Rocky’s descendants might be living in there. If so, he would be around Rocky
VIII. Wasn’t that how many Rocky movies Sly had made, he wondered as he smiled to himself. He knocked around
the opening, but nothing came out or made any sound. He carefully reached into the tree and felt a plastic bag. Upon
removing it, he could see that there was a note inside a ziplock bag.

He climbed down and unzipped the bag. The note was short. Mark read it out loud.

September 19th
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Dear Butthead,

I knew you would come. Everyone is OK. We got attacked by a bunch of nazi skinheads. We kicked their ass, but they
threatened that they would be back. Dad, ]., and I figured we better go to plan B in case they did. We moved out and
camped for a couple of days. They did come back with a big group and I watched them burn the place down. It was hard
not to waste some of them, but it would have put us all at risk. We've decided to come see you. I have heard on the short-
wave that things are not nearly as bad in your neck of the woods. With no running vehicles and not enough bicycles, we
decided we would walk. We don’t want to stay on the roads any more than necessary, anyway. We have a route planned
out, but I hesitate to put it in this letter in case someone else finds it. I hope to be there in 10 or 12 days. Go to the tree that
you fell out of when you were eight. Ten yards west is some buried treasure. I hope you brought the truck. Bring it back to
your house for me. Thanks.

Your Brother.

“Smart cookie” Gunny said. “No names and no places for anybody to know but you.”

“What’s the date today?” Joe asked.

“It’s the 28th. Tomorrow is ten days” Dwight said. “They may be there when we get back”

“Sorry, guys. Looks like we came up for nothing” Mark said.

“Maybe not. Where’s the tree he’s talking about?” Gunny asked.

“In the woods I was telling you about” Mark answered.

“It'll be dark in half an hour. Can we camp there outta sight?”

“I think so. Let’s go see. Was there anything in the shed?”

“No. Looks like someone cleaned it out.”

“Then let’s load up and move out” Gunny ordered.

The men got into the trucks and cars and followed Mark’s Jeep about half a mile down the road. He turned into
a large wooded lot that was probably eight or ten acres in size. That didn’t seem very big now, but Mark remembered
that this place seemed a universe to itself when he was young. He, Mike, and their friends spent countless days play-
ing on this lot. Mark was able to find a path through the trees wide enough to drive to a small clearing that was out of
sight of the road. Gunny had the drivers park the vehicles around the outside of the clearing. It reminded Mark of an
old western movie where they circled the wagons. The men got out and Gunny immediately had two of the men stand
guard. He had Victor and Rob, who were fast becoming friends, scout the perimeter of the lot. The other men quickly
pulled out the tents and set them up inside the circle of Detroit steel as quietly as they could in the falling light. Rob
and Victor reported that everything was clear. There was a house on the eastern side, but it appeared to be uninhabited.

When camp was set, and everyone had eaten, Gunny assigned the guard shifts. Two men would take two hours
each. Joe and Manny had the first shift. Mark had 10 to 12 with Dwight. When that was all settled, Mark grabbed the
shovel and headed for the cache that his brother had left. He found the tree and paced off ten yards toward where the
sky was barely pink. When he swept the leaves away, he could see where the dirt was fresh. It was easy to shovel and in
no time he was down eighteen inches or so. There was a metallic clank and he quickly shoveled enough dirt off to see
the top of a 55 gallon drum. Dropping down on his knees, he swept the remaining dirt off of the top. Then, with Gunny
holding a small flashlight, he read “2 of 4” in Mike’s handwriting. Mark grabbed the barrel and tried to pull it out. It
was way too heavy. Several of the others tried to help him, but they were only able to move it a fraction of an inch.
Mark started digging around the sides of the barrel and quickly found two of the other drums. When he had cleared
the dirt to a little over halfway down the side, the men were able to pull the barrel out of the hole. Victor volunteered
to shovel out the next one and Mark, now drenched in sweat, was happy to let him. Victor easily cleared out the next
two. Mark saw Manny elbow Ed so that he would take a turn. Ed reluctantly took the shovel and awkwardly climbed
down into the hole where the three liberated drums had been. He hacked at the dirt ineffectively with the tool wielding
it like a six year old with a ten-pound sledgehammer. When he had spent almost as much time as it had taken Victor to
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dislodge two barrels, Manny had all he could stand.

“Give me the shovel” He ordered his son-in-law.

Ed handed the shovel up and then crawled out of the hole with 